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In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming compliance with the tax covenants described herein, and
the accuracy of certain representations and certifications made by the Issuer, the Institution and the School described herein, interest on the Series 2021A Bonds is excluded
JSrom gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Bond Counsel is also of the opinion
that interest on the Series 2021A Bonds is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code. Bond Counsel is further of
the opinion that interest on the Series 2021A Bonds is exempt from personal income taxation imposed by the State of New York or any political subdivision of the State of
New York, including The City of New York. Interest on the Series 2021B Bonds is not excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and is not exempt from
personal income taxes imposed by the State of New York or any political subdivision thereof (including The City of New York). See “TAX MATTERS — SERIES 2021A BONDS”
and “TAX MATTERS - SERIES 2021B BONDS” herein regarding certain other tax considerations.
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The above-referenced Build NY Resource Corporation Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A (Seton Education Partners — Brilla Project) (the “Series 2021A Bonds”)
and Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series 2021B (Seton Education Partners — Brilla Project) (the “Series 2021B Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A Bonds, the “Series 2021
Bonds”) are special limited revenue obligations of Build NYC Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”) payable exclusively from the Trust Estate as described in this Limited Offering
Memorandum. Undefined capitalized terms on this cover are defined in the text hereof or in APPENDIX D, APPENDIX E or APPENDIX F of this Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Series 2021 Bonds are special limited revenue obligations of the Issuer, payable as to principal, Redemption Price and interest, from and secured by
(i) certain unconditional payments to be made by the Institution (as defined herein) pursuant to the Loan Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Loan
Agreement”), between Seton Education Partners, a Wyoming not-for-profit corporation (the “Institution”) and the Issuer, (ii) a pledge of certain funds and
accounts established under the Indenture of Trust, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Bond Indenture’), between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon,
New York, New York, as trustee (the “Trustee”), and (iii) leasehold mortgage liens on and security interests in the Mortgaged Property (as defined herein),
including the Facilities (as defined herein). Neither the State of New York (the “State”) nor any political subdivision thereof, including The City of New York,
New York (the “City”), shall be obligated to pay the principal or Redemption Price of, or the interest on, the Series 2021 Bonds. That certain Master Trust
Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of November 1, 2021 between the Institution and the Bank of New York Mellon, as Master Trustee (the “Master
Trust Indenture”), as suppl ted by Suppl tal Master Trust Indenture Number 1 dated as of November 1, 2021 between the Institution and the Bank of
New York Mellon, as Master Trustee (the “Supplemental Indenture”; the Master Trust Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture, the “Master Indenture”) and
that certain Master Covenant Agreement dated as of November 1, 2021 by and among the Institution, Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools, and the Bank
of New York Mellon (the “Master Covenant Agreement”) sets forth certain covenants and obligations of the Institution with respect to the Master Notes (as
defined herein) and the Series 2021 Bonds. Neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or any political subdivision thereof, including the City,
is pledged to the payment of the Series 2021 Bonds. The Series 2021 Bonds will not be payable out of any funds of the Issuer other than those pledged therefor
pursuant to the Bond Indenture. The Series 2021 Bonds will not give rise to a pecuniary liability or charge against the credit or taxing powers of the State or
any political subdivision thereof, including the City. No recourse will be had for the payment of the principal of, or the interest on, the Series 2021 Bonds against
any member, officer, director, employee or agent of the Issuer. The Issuer has no taxing power.

The Series 2021 Bonds will be issued by the Issuer pursuant to the Bond Indenture. The Series 2021 Bonds will be payable from (i) amounts held by the Trustee under the
Bond Indenture; and (ii) loan payments to be made by the Institution under the Loan Agreement. The obligation of the Institution to make such payments is secured by the Master
Indenture, under which the Institution is obligated to make payments on the promissory notes issued pursuant thereto according to the terms thereof. The Institution’s obligations
under the Loan Agreement will be secured by two promissory notes, each in the principal amount of the respective series of the Series 2021 Bonds, each dated November 23, 2021,
from the Institution to the Issuer and endorsed to the Trustee issued pursuant the Master Indenture (together, the “Master Notes”) The Master Notes will constitute Debt under the
Master Indenture and will be secured equally and ratably with all other obligations issued or to be issued under the Master Indenture (other than any Debt issued as Subordinate
Debt) by the pledge and assignment of a security interest in the Master Trust Estate (as defined herein) of the Institution, including, without limitation, the Pledged Revenues of
the Institution, the funds established under the Master Indenture and by the Mortgage (as defined herein). The Institution has entered into subleases (the “Subleases”), with Brilla
College Preparatory Charter Schools, a New York not-for-profit education corporation (the “School”) whereby the School leases the Facilities from the Institution. Rent payable
to the Institution under the Subleases are expected to be in amounts sufficient to pay loan payments under the Loan Agreement. The Institution and the School have made certain
covenants pursuant to the Master Covenant Agreement. See “THE PROJECT AND PLAN OF FINANCE,” “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021
BONDS,” and “APPENDIX J” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Proceeds derived from the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds will be used by the Institution, along with other available funds (a) to refinance two loans in the aggregate
outstanding amount of approximately $10,916,553, which loans financed leasehold improvements in 70,000 square feet of space in a building located at 2336 Andrews Avenue
North, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as a site for the Brilla Pax Elementary (“BPE”) and Brilla Caritas Elementary (“BCE”) schools (the “Andrews Avenue North Facility”),
(b) to refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,115,854, which loan financed leasehold improvements in 17,571 square feet of space in a building located
at 500 Courtlandt Avenue, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the Brilla College Prep Middle (“BCPM”) school (the “Courtlandt Avenue Facility”), (c) to refinance
aloan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,630,011, which loan financed leasehold improvements in 28,478 square feet of space in a building located in 413 East 144th
Street, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the Brilla College Prep Elementary (“BCPE”) school (the “East 144th Street Facility”), (d) to fund a debt service reserve
fund for the Series 2021A Bonds and Series 2021B Bonds, and (e) to pay for certain costs and expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds. See “THE PROJECT AND PLAN
OF FINANCE” and “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds will be payable on May 1 and November 1 of each year, commencing May 1, 2022. The Series 2021 Bonds will be issued as fully registered
bonds in the minimum authorized denomination of $100,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof in the name of Cede & Co., as registered owner and nominee for
The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”). Purchases of the Series 2021 Bonds will be made in book-entry form only. Purchasers of beneficial interests will
not receive physical certificates. The Series 2021 Bonds are subject to redemption as described in this Limited Offering Memorandum. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” in this
Limited Offering Memorandum. An investment in the Series 2021 Bonds is subject to certain risks. See “RISK FACTORS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum. Investors must
read the entire Limited Offering Memorandum, including the Appendices hereto.

Investment in the Series 2021 Bonds involves a significant degree of risk and is speculative in nature as described under “RISK FACTORS” herein and
under other sections of this Limited Offering Memorandum.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS MAY BE PURCHASED ONLY BY “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS” OR “ACCREDITED INVESTORS” AS SUCH TERMS
ARE DEFINED HEREIN. SEE “INVESTOR SUITABILITY STANDARDS” IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM.

SEE THE INSIDE FRONT COVER FOR THE MATURITY SCHEDULE FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS

The Series 2021 Bonds are offered, subject to prior sale, when, as and if accepted by RBC Capital Markets, LLC (the “Underwriter”) and subject to an opinion as to the
validity of the Series 2021 Bonds and the tax-exempt status of the Series 2021A Bonds by Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York, Bond Counsel to the Issuer, and to the
approval of certain legal matters for the Issuer by its General Counsel, for the Institution and School by its special counsel, Hunton Andrews Kurth, LLP, Austin, Texas, and for
the Underwriter by its counsel, Arent Fox LLP, Washington, DC, and certain other conditions. It is expected that delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds will be made on or about

November 23, 2021 through the facilities of DTC.
Capital
N Markets

RBCH

This Limited Offering Memorandum is dated November 10, 2021.



MATURITY SCHEDULE

BUILD NYC RESOURCE CORPORATION

$14,595,000
TAX-EXEMPT REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021A
(SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS - BRILLA PROJECT)

$2,535,000 4.000% Series 2021 A Term Bond due November 1, 2031, Price of 115.699 to Yield 2.230%.,
CUSIP No. 12008E SF 4"

$5,805,000 4.000% Series 2021 A Term Bond due November 1, 2041, Price of 112.564% to Yield 3.147%.
CUSIP No. 12008E SG 2°

$6,255,000 4.000% Series 2021 A Term Bond due November 1, 2051, Price of 110.988% to Yield 3.411%.
CUSIP No. 12008E SH 0"

$650,000
TAXABLE REVENUE BONDS, SERIES 2021B
(SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS — BRILLA PROJECT)

$650,000 3.625% Series 2021B Term Bond due November 1, 2025, Price of 100.000.
CUSIP No. 12008E SJ 6"

* Copyright, American Bankers Association. CUSIP data contained herein is provided by CUSIP Global Services, which is managed by S&P
Global Market Intelligence, a part of S&P Global Inc. CUSIP numbers have been assigned by an independent company not affiliated with the
Issuer, the Institution, the School or the Underwriter and are included solely for the convenience of the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds. None of
the Issuer, the Institution, the School or the Underwriter is responsible for the selection or uses of these CUSIP numbers, and no representation is
made as to their correctness on the Series 2021 Bonds or as indicated above. The CUSIP number for a specific maturity is subject to being changed
after the execution and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds as a result of various subsequent actions including, but not limited to, a refunding in
whole or in part of such maturity or as a result of the procurement of secondary market portfolio insurance or other similar enhancement by investors
that is applicable to all or a portion of the Series 2021 Bonds.

TPriced to first call date of November 1, 2031.



No person has been authorized by the Issuer, the Underwriter, the Institution or the School to give any information
regarding the Series 2021 Bonds, the Institution, the School, the Project, the offering contained herein and related matters
or to make any representations other than those contained in this Limited Offering Memorandum and if given or made, such
other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by any of the foregoing. This Limited
Offering Memorandum does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy in any state in which it is
unlawful for any person to make such offer or solicitation. The information contained in this Limited Offering Memorandum
has been furnished by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Institution and the School and other sources which are believed to be
reliable. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject to change without notice, and neither the delivery of
this Limited Offering Memorandum nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any circumstances, create any implication that
there has been no change in the affairs of the parties referred to above since the date hereof.

The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Limited Offering Memorandum. The
Underwriter has reviewed the information in this Limited Offering Memorandum in accordance with, and as a part of, the
Underwriter’s responsibilities to investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.

Neither the Issuer nor any of its members, agents, employees or representatives has reviewed this Limited Offering
Memorandum or investigated the statements or representations contained herein, except for those statements relating to the
Issuer set forth under the captions “THE ISSUER” and “LITIGATION - The Issuer.” Except with respect to the information
contained under such captions, neither the Issuer nor any of its members, agents, employees or representatives makes any
representation as to the completeness, sufficiency and truthfulness of the statements set forth in this Limited Offering
Memorandum. Members of the governing body of the Issuer and any other person executing the Series 2021 Bonds are not
subject to personal liability by reason of the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds. Other than the information under the caption
“THE ISSUER” and “LITIGATION - The Issuer,” the Issuer assumes no responsibility for this Limited Offering
Memorandum and has not reviewed or undertaken to verify any information contained herein.

References in this Limited Offering Memorandum to State law, the Series 2021 Bonds, the Bond Indenture, the Master
Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Covenant Agreement, the Mortgage, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, and other
documents do not purport to be complete. Potential investors should refer to such statutes and documents for full and
complete details of their provisions. Copies of such documents are on file with the Trustee and the Institution.

The Chancellor of the City School District of the City of New York (the “Chancellor”) has not participated in the
preparation of this Limited Offering Memorandum or any other disclosure documents relating to the Series 2021 Bonds.
The Chancellor does not assume any responsibility as to the accuracy or completeness of any information contained in this
Limited Offering Memorandum or any other such disclosure documents.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN REGISTERED UNDER THE SECURITIES ACT, AND NEITHER
THE INDENTURE NOR THE MASTER INDENTURE HAS BEEN QUALIFIED UNDER THE TRUST INDENTURE
ACT OF 1939, AS AMENDED, IN RELIANCE UPON EXEMPTIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH ACTS. THE
REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE APPLICABLE
PROVISIONS OF LAWS OF THE STATES IN WHICH SERIES 2021 BONDS HAVE BEEN REGISTERED OR
QUALIFIED AND THE EXEMPTION FROM REGISTRATION OR QUALIFICATION IN OTHER STATES CANNOT
BE REGARDED AS A RECOMMENDATION THEREOF. NEITHER THESE STATES NOR ANY OF THEIR
AGENCIES HAVE PASSED UPON THE MERITS OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS OR THE ACCURACY OR
COMPLETENESS OF THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE
CONTRARY MAY BE A CRIMINAL OFFENSE.

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM, INCLUDING THE APPENDICES HERETO, CONTAINS
STATEMENTS WHICH SHOULD BE CONSIDERED “FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS,” MEANING
THEY REFER TO POSSIBLE FUTURE EVENTS OR CONDITIONS. SUCH STATEMENTS ARE GENERALLY
IDENTIFIABLE BY THE WORDS SUCH AS “PLAN,” “EXPECT,” “ESTIMATE,” “BUDGET,” OR SIMILAR
WORDS. THE PROJECTIONS CONTAINED IN APPENDIX A ATTACHED TO THIS LIMITED OFFERING
MEMORANDUM ARE NOT A HISTORICAL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE BUT ARE
FORWARD LOOKING PROJECTIONS OF FUTURE, PROJECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE. THE
ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH FORWARD-
LOOKING STATEMENTS OR IN THE PROJECTIONS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS,
UNCERTAINTIES, AND OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR
ACHIEVEMENTS DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS,
PERFORMANCE, OR ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING



STATEMENTS OR IN THE PROJECTIONS. THE SCHOOL DOES NOT EXPECT OR INTEND TO ISSUE ANY
UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS OR TO THE PROJECTIONS
IF OR WHEN ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON WHICH SUCH
STATEMENTS OR FORECASTS ARE BASED, OCCUR.

THE ORDER AND PLACEMENT OF MATERIALS IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM,
INCLUDING THE APPENDICES HERETO AND INFORMATION INCORPORATED HEREIN BY
REFERENCE, ARE NOT TO BE DEEMED TO BE A DETERMINATION OF RELEVANCE, MATERIALITY
OR IMPORTANCE, AND THIS LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM, INCLUDING THE APPENDICES
HERETO AND INFORMATION INCORPORATED HEREIN BY REFERENCE, MUST BE CONSIDERED IN
ITS ENTIRETY. THE OFFERING OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS IS MADE ONLY BY MEANS OF THIS
ENTIRE LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM.

IN MAKING AN INVESTMENT DECISION, INVESTORS MUST RELY ON THEIR OWN EXAMINATION
OF THE INSTITUTION, THE SCHOOL AND THE TERMS OF THE OFFERING, INCLUDING THE MERITS
AND RISKS INVOLVED. THE SERIES 2021 BONDS HAVE NOT BEEN RECOMMENDED BY ANY FEDERAL
OR STATE SECURITIES COMMISSION OR REGULATORY AUTHORITY. FURTHERMORE, THE
FOREGOING AUTHORITIES HAVE NOT CONFIRMED THE ACCURACY OR DETERMINED THE
ADEQUACY OF THIS DOCUMENT. ANY REPRESENTATION TO THE CONTRARY IS A CRIMINAL
OFFENSE.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE TO BE PURCHASED FOR INVESTMENT ONLY. THE SERIES 2021
BONDS MAY NOT BE SOLD, PLEDGED OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY
EXCEPT TO QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS OR ACCREDITED INVESTORS. FOR CERTAIN
RESTRICTIONS ON RESALE, SEE “TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS” HEREIN. THE SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL
NOT BE TRANSFERABLE EXCEPT TO HOLDERS THAT ARE QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS OR
ACCREDITED INVESTORS. SEE “TRANSFER RESTRICTIONS” IN THIS LIMITED OFFERING
MEMORANDUM. INVESTORS SHOULD BE AWARE THAT THEY MAY BE REQUIRED TO BEAR THE
FINANCIAL RISKS OF THIS INVESTMENT FOR AN INDEFINITE PERIOD OF TIME.
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SUMMARY INFORMATION

The following is a summary of certain information contained in this Limited Offering
Memorandum. The summary is not comprehensive or complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference
to the complete Limited Offering Memorandum (including the Appendices hereto). This Limited Offering
Memorandum speaks only as of the date shown herein, and the information herein is subject to change.
Undefined capitalized terms used below are defined in APPENDIX D, APPENDIX E or APPENDIX F
hereto or elsewhere in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Issuer Build NYC Resource Corporation (the “Issuer”) is a not-for-
profit local development corporation created pursuant to
Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the
State of New York (the “NFP Corporation Law”), and is
authorized by the NFP Corporation Law to issue the Series
2021 Bonds. See “THE ISSUER” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Institution Seton Education Partners (the “Institution”) is a Wyoming
not-for-profit corporation, and an organization described in
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”). See “THE INSTITUTION” and
“APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

School Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools is a New York
not-for-profit education corporation, exempt from federal
taxation pursuant to Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. The
School operates five public charter schools under four
separate charters, and currently serves more than 1,600
students in grades K-8. See “THE SCHOOL” and
“APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum. See
also “CHARTER SCHOOL FUNDING IN THE STATE OF
NEW YORK” and “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK EDUCATION
LAW?” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Series 2021 Bonds The Issuer is issuing its Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds, Series
2021A (Seton Education Partners — Brilla Project) (the
“Series 2021A Bonds™), in the original aggregate principal
amount of $14,595,000 and its Taxable Revenue Bonds,
Series 2021B (Seton Education Partners — Brilla Project) (the
“Series 2021B Bonds” and, together with the Series 2021A
Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds™), in the original aggregate
principal amount of $650,000 pursuant to an Indenture of
Trust, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Bond Indenture”),
between the Issuer and The Bank of New York Mellon, as
trustee (the “Trustee”). The Issuer will loan the proceeds
derived from the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds to the
Institution pursuant to the terms of a Loan Agreement, dated
as of November 1, 2021 (the “Loan Agreement”), between
the Issuer and the Institution.
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Plan of Finance and
Use of Proceeds

Security for the
Series 2021 Bonds

The Series 2021 Bonds will be issued in minimum authorized
denominations of $100,000 or any integral multiples of
$5,000 in excess thereof (“Authorized Denominations™). See
“THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be used by the
Institution, along with other available funds a) to refinance
two loans in the aggregate outstanding amount of
approximately $10,916,553, which loans financed leasehold
improvements in 70,000 square feet of space in a building
located at 2336 Andrews Avenue North, Bronx, NY, which
currently serves as a site for the BPE and BCE schools (the
“Andrews Avenue North Facility”), (b) to refinance a loan in
the outstanding amount of approximately $2,115,854, which
loan financed leasehold improvements in 17,571 square feet
of space in a building located at 500 Courtlandt Avenue,
Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPM
school (the “Courtlandt Avenue Facility”), (¢) to refinance a
loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,630,011,
which loan financed leasehold improvements in 28,478
square feet of space in a building located in 413 East 144th
Street, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the
BCPE school (the “East 144™ Street Facility”), (d) to fund a
debt service reserve fund for the Series 2021A Bonds and
Series 2021B Bonds, and (e) to pay for certain costs and
expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds; See
“THE PROJECT AND PLAN OF FINANCE,” “SOURCES
AND USES OF FUNDS” and “APPENDIX A” in this
Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Series 2021 Bonds will be secured by and payable from
an assignment and pledge of (i) all money held under the
Bond Indenture, including the Series 2021 Bond proceeds
initially deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund for the
Series 2021A Bonds and Series 2021B Bonds, (ii) the Master
Notes secured by and payable from the assets held under the
Master Indenture, (iii) the interest of the Issuer in the Loan
Agreement (except for the Issuer’s Reserved Rights), and (iv)
loan payments due from the Institution under the Loan
Agreement.

The obligation of the Institution to make such payments
is secured by that certain Master Trust Indenture and
Security Agreement dated as of November 1, 2021 (the
“Master Trust Indenture”), as supplemented by
Supplemental Master Trust Indenture Number 1 dated
as of November 1, 2021 (the “Supplemental Indenture”;
the Master Trust Indenture and the Supplemental
Indenture, collectively, the “Master Indenture’) under
which the Institution is obligated to make payments on
the promissory notes issued pursuant thereto according
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to the terms thereof. The Institution’s obligations under
the Loan Agreement will be secured by two promissory
notes, each in the principal amount of the respective
series of the Series 2021 Bonds, dated November 23,
2021, from the Institution to the Issuer and endorsed to
the Trustee issued pursuant the Master Indenture
(together, the “Master Notes”). The Master Notes will
constitute Debt under the Master Indenture and will be
secured equally and ratably with all other obligations
issued or to be issued under the Master Indenture (other
than any Debt issued as Subordinate Debt) by the pledge
and assignment of a security interest in the Master Trust
Estate, including, without limitation, the Pledged
Revenues of the Institution, the funds established under
the Master Indenture and by the Mortgage (as defined
herein). The Institution and the School have made
certain covenants pursuant to that certain Master
Covenant Agreement dated as of November 1, 2021 by
and among the Institution, the School, and the Master
Trustee (the “Master Covenant Agreement”).

The Institution leases the Facilities (as defined herein) from
certain churches of the Archdiocese of New York pursuant to
(a) that certain Lease between the Institution and Roman
Catholic Church of St. Nicholas of Tolentine, dated as of
October 1, 2019 (as amended, the “Andrews Avenue North
Lease”), (b) that certain Lease between the Institution and
Roman Catholic Church of Saint Rita of Cascia and Saint
Pius V, successor by merger to Church of St. Pius, Borough
of Bronx, N.Y. City, dated as of January 17, 2013 (as
amended, the “East 144™ Street Lease”), and (c) that certain
Lease between the Institution and Roman Catholic Church
of Saint Rita of Cascia and Saint Pius V, successor by merger
to Church of St. Pius, Borough of Bronx, N.Y. City, dated as
of August 1, 2016, as amended (the “500 Courtlandt Avenue
Lease, and together with the East 144™ Street Lease and the
Andrews Avenue North Lease, collectively, the “Leases”).

The Institution subleases the Facilities to the School pursuant
to individual Subleases. Rent payable to the Institution by
the School under the Subleases is expected to be sufficient to
enable the Institution to pay rent under its Leases, debt
service for the Series 2021 Bonds and pay other costs, and
make required deposits, for the 2021 Bonds pursuant to the
Loan Agreement. Pursuant to the Mortgage, as security for
all Debt issued under the Master Indenture, the Institution
will assign and pledge to the Master Trustee all of the
Institution’s interest in and to the Subleases, including all of
its rights, title and interest in all rents, income, receipts,
revenue and profits arising from the Subleases. Pursuant to
the Master Covenant Agreement, the School will pay all
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amounts of rent payable under the Subleases directly to the
Revenue Fund under the Master Indenture to be applied
toward debt service on all Related Bonds, including the
Series 2021 Bonds.

The Institution will enter into (i) the Assignment of Leases
and Rents (Andrews Avenue North Facility), (ii) the
Assignment of Leases and Rents (Courtlandt Avenue
Facility), and (iii) the Assignment of Leases and Rents (East
144th Street Facility) (collectively, the ‘“Assignment”)
pursuant to which the Institution will assign its interest in the
Leases to the Issuer and Master Trustee.

The New York State Charter Schools Act (the “Charter
Schools Act”) prohibits the School from pledging or
assigning Education Aid Payments (as defined herein), and
other amounts payable by the New York State Department of
Education (the “Department of Education”) to the School in
connection with the construction, acquisition, reconstruction,
rehabilitation, or improvement of a school facility.

As security for the Debt issued under the Master Indenture,
the Institution will grant mortgage liens on and security
interests in the Institution’s leasehold interest in the
Mortgaged Property, including the Institution’s leasehold
interest in the Andrews Avenue North Facility pursuant to the
Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement related to the
Andrews Avenue North Facility, the Institution’s leasehold
interest in the Courtlandt Avenue Facility pursuant to the
Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement related to the
Courtlandt Avenue Facility, and the East 144™ Street Facility
pursuant to the Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement
related to the East 144" Street Facility, each dated as of
November 1, 2021 (collectively, the “Mortgage™), and each
to be executed by the Institution in favor of the Issuer and the
Master Trustee, as assigned by the Issuer to the Master
Trustee under the terms of an Assignment of Leasehold
Mortgage and Security Agreement (Andrews Avenue North)
related to the Andrews Avenue North Facility, an
Assignment of Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement
related to the Courtlandt Avenue Facility (Courtlandt
Avenue), and an Assignment of Leasehold Mortgage and
Security Agreement related to the East 144™ Street Facility
(East 144th Street), each dated as of the date of issuance of
the Series 2021 Bonds (collectively, the “Assignment of
Mortgage™).

Pursuant to a Master Covenant Agreement, dated as of

November 1, 2021 (the “Master Covenant Agreement”),

between the School, the Institution, and the Master Trustee,

the School will make certain covenants for the benefit of the

Master Trustee, including that the School will comply with
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Special, Limited Obligations

the terms of the Subleases, for the benefit of the holder of the
Master Notes and any additional Debt issued under the
Master Indenture.

There will be established under the Bond Indenture a Debt
Service Reserve Fund for the Series 2021 A Bonds and Series
2021B Bonds and, within such Fund, a Series 2021A Debt
Service Reserve Account into which the Trustee shall
initially deposit an amount equal to $969,400, and a Series
2021B Debt Service Reserve Account into which the Trustee
shall initially deposit an amount equal to $65,000
(collectively, the initial “Debt Service Reserve Fund
Requirement” for the Series 2021 Bonds). Amounts in the
Debt Service Reserve Fund may be used by the Trustee only
to pay principal, Sinking Fund Installments and interest on
the corresponding Series of Series 2021 Bonds in the event
that monies provided in the Bond Fund under the Bond
Indenture are not sufficient.

See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR
THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED
REVENUE OBLIGATIONS OF THE ISSUER,
PAYABLE AS TO PRINCIPAL, REDEMPTION PRICE
AND INTEREST, SOLELY FROM THE TRUST
ESTATE. NEITHER THE STATE OF NEW YORK
(THE “STATE”) NOR  ANY POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION THEREOF, INCLUDING THE CITY
OF NEW YORK, NEW YORK (THE “CITY”) SHALL
BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OR
REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE
SERIES 2021 BONDS. NEITHER THE FAITH AND
CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE
OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
INCLUDING THE CITY, IS PLEDGED TO SUCH
PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. THE
SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL NOT BE PAYABLE OUT
OF ANY FUNDS OF THE ISSUER OTHER THAN
THOSE PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE
BOND INDENTURE. THE SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL
NOT GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OR
CHARGE AGAINST THE CREDIT OR TAXING
POWERS OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION THEREQOF, INCLUDING THE CITY.
NO RECOURSE WILL BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT
OF THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF,
OR INTEREST ON, THE SERIES 2021 BONDS
AGAINST ANY MEMBER, OFFICER, DIRECTOR,
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Risk Factors

Optional Redemption

Mandatory Redemption

Extraordinary Mandatory

Redemption

Purchase in Lieu of Optional
Redemption

EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF THE ISSUER. THE
ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER.

Purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds involves a degree of risk.
A prospective purchaser of the Series 2021 Bonds is advised
to read this entire Limited Offering Memorandum including
the Appendices attached hereto in their entirety, particularly
the section entitled “RISK FACTORS” in this Limited
Offering Memorandum, for a discussion of certain risk
factors, which should be considered in connection with an
investment in the Series 2021 Bonds.

The Series 2021A Bonds maturing after November 1, 2031
are subject to optional redemption, on or after November 1,
2031, in whole or in part at any time (but if in part in integral
multiples of $5,000 and in the minimum principal amount of
$100,000), at the option of the Issuer (which option shall be
exercised only upon the giving of notice by the Institution of
its intention to prepay loan payments due under the Loan
Agreement), at redemption prices as set forth in this Limited
Offering Memorandum plus accrued interest to the date of
redemption. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS — Redemption
of Series 2021 Bonds — General Optional Redemption” in this
Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Series 2021B Bonds are not subject to optional
redemption.

The Series 2021 Bonds are also subject to mandatory sinking
fund redemption as set forth in this Limited Offering
Memorandum. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS -
Redemption of Series 2021 Bonds — Mandatory Sinking Fund
Installment Redemption” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Under certain circumstances, the Series 2021 Bonds are also
subject to redemption prior to maturity upon the occurrence
of certain events. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS -
Redemption of Series 2021 Bonds — Mandatory Redemption
from Excess Proceeds and Certain Other Amounts”, “—
Extraordinary Redemption”, “— Mandatory Redemption
Upon Failure to Operate the Facility for the Approved Project
Operations, Material Violation of Material Legal
Requirements, False Representation or Failure to Maintain
Liability Insurance”, “—Mandatory Redemption Upon
Termination of any Lease or any Sublease” and “—
Mandatory Taxability Redemption™ in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

In lieu of calling the Series 2021 Bonds for optional
redemption, the Series 2021 Bonds shall be subject to
mandatory tender for purchase at the direction of the Issuer,
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Exchange and Transfer

Payment

Form

Tax Status

upon the direction of the Institution, in whole or in part (and,
if in part, in such manner as determined by the Institution) on
any date on or after November 1,2031, at a purchase price
equal to the applicable Redemption Price for any optional
redemption of such Series 2021 Bonds, plus accrued interest
to the purchase date, as described in “THE SERIES 2021
BONDS — Redemption of Series 2021 Bonds — Purchase in
Lieu of Optional Redemption” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

While the Series 2021 Bonds remain in book-entry only
form, transfer of ownership by Beneficial Owners may be
made as described in “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” and
“APPENDIX K — BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM?” in
this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Interest accrues on the Series 2021 Bonds at the rates set forth
on the inside front cover of this Limited Offering
Memorandum from their date of issuance and is payable on
November 1 and May 1 of each year, commencing May 1,
2022 (or, if any such day is not a Business Day, the
immediately succeeding Business Day, each an “Interest
Payment Date”). The Series 2021 Bonds mature as set forth
on the inside front cover of this Limited Offering
Memorandum. Interest on and the principal of the Series
2021 Bonds is payable as described under the heading “THE
SERIES 2021 BONDS — Interest; Maturity; Payment” and
“THE SERIES 2021 BONDS — Redemption of Series 2021
Bonds — Mandatory Sinking Fund Installment Redemption”
in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Series 2021 Bonds will be registered under a book-entry
system in the name of The Depository Trust Company
(“DTC”) or its nominees. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS”
in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York,
Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming compliance
with the tax covenants described herein, and the accuracy of
certain representations and certifications made by the Issuer,
the Institution and the School described herein, interest on the
Series 2021A Bonds is excluded from gross income for
federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”). Bond
Counsel is also of the opinion that interest on the Series
2021A Bonds is not treated as a preference item in calculating
the alternative minimum tax imposed under the Code. Bond
Counsel is further of the opinion that interest on the Series
2021A Bonds is exempt from personal income taxation
imposed by the State of New York or any political
subdivision of the State of New York, including The City of
New York. Interest on the Series 2021B Bonds is not
S-7



Continuing Disclosure

Delivery Information

Legal Counsel, Underwriter and
Trustee

Additional Information

excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes
and is not exempt from personal income taxes imposed by the
State of New York or any political subdivision thereof
(including The City of New York). See “TAX MATTERS —
SERIES 2021A BONDS” and “TAX MATTERS — SERIES
2021B BONDS” herein regarding certain other tax
considerations.

Pursuant to the requirements of Securities and Exchange
Commission Rule 15¢2-12 (17 CFR Part 240, § 240.15¢2-12)
(the “Rule”), the Institution and the School have agreed for
the benefit of the Registered Owners and Beneficial Owners
of the Series 2021 Bonds to provide certain financial
information, other operating data and notices of material
events. The Institution and the School have not been subject
to any prior continuing disclosure undertaking under the
Rule. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE,” and
“APPENDIX I — FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
AGREEMENT” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Series 2021 Bonds are offered when, as, and if issued by
the Issuer and accepted by the Underwriter, subject to prior
sale and the approving legal opinion of Bond Counsel and
certain other conditions. It is expected that delivery of the
Series 2021 Bonds will be made on or about November 23,
2021 through the facilities of DTC in New York, New York,
against payment therefor.

Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York, is acting as Bond
Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the
Institution and the School by its special counsel, Hunton
Andrews Kurth LLP, Austin, Texas, and for the Underwriter
by its counsel, Arent Fox LLP, Washington, DC. RBC
Capital Markets, LLC, New York, New York will serve as
the Underwriter for the Series 2021 Bonds. See
“UNDERWRITING” in  this Limited  Offering
Memorandum. The Bank of New York Mellon, New York,
New York, will serve as the Trustee and the Paying Agent for
the Series 2021 Bonds and will serve as Master Trustee under
the Master Indenture. Certain fees that are payable with
respect to the Series 2021 Bonds to various counsel, the
Underwriter, the Trustee and Master Trustee are contingent
upon the issuance and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds.

The summaries of or references to constitutional provisions,
statutes, resolutions, agreements, contracts, financial
statements, reports, publications and other documents or
compilations of data or information set forth in this Limited
Offering Memorandum do not purport to be complete
statements of the provisions of the items summarized or
referred to and are qualified in their entirety by the actual
provisions of such items, copies of which are either publicly
S-8



Audited Financial Statements

Projections

Permitted Investors

available or available upon request and the payment of a
reasonable copying, mailing and handling charge from the
Underwriter, 300 Conshohocken State Road, Suite 760, West
Conshohocken, Pennsylvania 19428, or the Trustee, 240
Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10286, Attention:
Corporate Trust Administration.

The audited financial statements of the School for the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2021 are included in this Limited
Offering Memorandum as APPENDIX C-1. The financial
statements in APPENDIX C-1 were audited by Mengel
Metzger Barr & Co, LLP, Rochester, New York. See
“APPENDIX C-1 - AUDITED  FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS OF BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY
SCHOOLS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED JUNE 30,
2021 in this Limited Offering Memorandum. The audited
financial statements for the Institution for the years ended
June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 are included in this Limited
Offering Memorandum as APPENDIX C-2. The financial
statements in APPENDIX C-2 were audited by D.K. Weiss,
Holt & Associates, PLLC. See “APPENDIX C-2 -
AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SETON
EDUCATION PARTNERS FOR THE FISCAL YEARS
ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019” in this
Limited Offering Memorandum.

The Financial Projections (the “Projections”) in “APPENDIX
A — BRILLA’S FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS” are
projections of the future financial performance of the School
based upon certain assumptions made by the School and
contained therein. The Projections will not be updated to
reflect final pricing of the Series 2021 Bonds. NO
ASSURANCES CAN BE GIVEN THAT THE
OPERATIONS OF THE SCHOOL WILL EQUAL OR
EXCEED THE PROJECTED FUTURE FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE SET FORTH IN THE PROJECTIONS.
The Projections are for the five fiscal years of the School
ending June 30, 2022 through June 30, 2026.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS MAY BE PURCHASED ONLY
BY “QUALIFIED INSTITUTIONAL BUYERS” OR
“ACCREDITED INVESTORS” AS SUCH TERMS ARE
DEFINED HEREIN. SEE “INVESTOR SUITABILITY
STANDARDS” HEREIN.
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LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM

BUILD NYC RESOURCE CORPORATION

$14,595,000 $650,000
TAX-EXEMPT REVENUE BONDS TAXABLE REVENUE BONDS
SERIES 2021A SERIES 2021B
(SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS - (SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS -
BRILLA PROJECT) BRILLA PROJECT)

INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT

The following is a brief introduction as to certain matters discussed elsewhere in this Limited
Offering Memorandum and is qualified in its entirety as to such matters by such discussion and the text of
the actual documents described or referenced. Capitalized terms not defined herein have the meanings
assigned in APPENDIX D, APPENDIX E or APPENDIX F or the documents with respect to which the
term is used. Definitions contained in the text hereof are for ease of reference only and are qualified in their
entirety by the definitions in APPENDIX D, APPENDIX E, APPENDIX F or the documents with respect
to which such terms relate. The Appendices to this Limited Offering Memorandum are an integral part of
this Limited Offering Memorandum and each potential investor should review the Appendices in their
entirety.

General

Build NYC Resource Corporation, a not-for-profit local development corporation created pursuant
to Section 1411 of the Not-For-Profit Corporation Law of the State of New York (the “Issuer”), will issue
its Tax-Exempt Revenue Bonds, Series 2021A (Seton Education Partners - Brilla Project) (the “Series
2021A Bonds”), in the original aggregate principal amount of $14,595,000 and its Taxable Revenue Bonds,
Series 2021B (Seton Education Partners — Brilla Project) (the “Series 2021B Bonds” and, together with the
Series 2021 A Bonds, the “Series 2021 Bonds”™), in the original aggregate principal amount of $650,000,
pursuant to an Indenture of Trust, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Bond Indenture”), between the Issuer
and The Bank of New York Mellon, as trustee (the “Trustee”). The Issuer will loan the proceeds of the
Series 2021 Bonds (the “Loan”) to Seton Education Partners, a Wyoming not-for-profit corporation (the
“Institution”) and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended (the “Code”), pursuant to a Loan Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Loan
Agreement”), between the Issuer and the Institution. Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools, a New
Y ork not-for-profit education corporation (the “School”) and an organization described in Section 501(c)(3)
of the Code, assumes certain provisions of the Loan Agreement pursuant to a Use Agreement, dated
November 1, 2021 (the “Use Agreement”). See “APPENDIX F - FORM OF LOAN AGREEMENT” in
this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be used by the Institution, along with other available funds
(a) to refinance two loans in the aggregate outstanding amount of approximately $10,916,553, which loans
financed leasehold improvements in 70,000 square feet of space in a building located at 2336 Andrews
Avenue North, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as a site for the BPE and BCE schools (the “Andrews
Avenue North Facility”), (b) to refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,115,854,
which loan financed leasehold improvements in 17,571 square feet of space in a building located at 500
Courtlandt Avenue, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPM school (the “Courtland
Avenue Facility”), (c) to refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,630,011, which
loan financed leasehold improvements in 28,478 square feet of space in a building located in 413 East 144th
Street, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPE school (the “East 144™ Street Facility”),
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(d) to fund a debt service reserve fund for each of the Series 2021A Bonds and Series 2021B Bonds, and
(e) to pay for certain costs and expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds (the “Project™). See
“THE PROJECT AND PLAN OF FINANCE,” “SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS” and “APPENDIX
A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

The School and the Institution have entered into subleases shown on “APPENDIX J” attached
hereto (the “Subleases”). Rent payable to the Institution by the School under the Subleases will be sufficient
for the Institution to pay loan payments under the Loan Agreement.

Pursuant to (i) a Master Covenant Agreement, dated as of November 1, 2021 (the “Master Covenant
Agreement”), among the School, the Master Trustee and the Institution and (ii) a Use Agreement, dated as
of November 1, 2021 (the “Use Agreement”), between the Issuer, the Trustee, and the School, the School
will make certain covenants for the benefit of the Trustee and the Master Trustee, including that the School
will comply with the terms of the Subleases, for the benefit of the holders of the Series 2021 Bonds and any
Additional Bonds issued under the Bond Indenture.

Loan of Series 2021 Bond Proceeds; Mortgage and Other Security

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be loaned by the Issuer to the Institution pursuant to the
Loan Agreement, and the Series 2021 Bonds will be payable from and secured by a pledge of payments to
be made by the Institution under the Loan Agreement and promissory notes from the Institution to the Issuer
and endorsed to the Trustee pursuant the terms of the Loan Agreement (together, the “Series 2021 Notes”),
which, if fully and promptly paid, will be sufficient to pay when due the principal of, Sinking Fund
Installments for, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds. Pursuant to the terms
of the Master Covenant Agreement, the School will pay all rent payments under the Subleases directly to
the Revenue Fund under the Master Indenture to be applied toward debt service on all Related Bonds,
including the Series 2021 Bonds. Such payment of rent by the School to the Institution under the Subleases
and during the term of such Subleases which expire prior to the maturity date of the Series 2021 Bonds is
anticipated to be sufficient to make all payments required to be made by the Institution under the Loan
Agreement. The Charter Schools Act prohibits the School from pledging or assigning Education Aid
Payments (as defined herein), and other amounts payable by the New York State Department of Education
(the “Department of Education”) to the School in connection with the construction, acquisition,
reconstruction, rehabilitation, or improvement of a school facility.

As security for Debt issued under the Master Indenture, including the Master Notes, the Institution
will grant a lien on its leasehold interest in the Facilities pursuant to a Leasehold Mortgage and Security
Agreement related to the Andrews Avenue North Facility, a Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement
related to the Courtlandt Avenue Facility, a Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement related to the
East 144™ Street Facility, each dated as of November 1, 2021 (collectively, the “Mortgage”), and each to
be executed by the Institution in favor of the Issuer and the Master Trustee, as assigned by the Issuer to the
Master Trustee under the terms of an Assignment of Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement
(Andrews Avenue North) related to the Andrews Avenue North Facility, an Assignment of Leasehold
Mortgage and Security Agreement related to the Courtlandt Avenue Facility (Courtlandt Avenue), and an
Assignment of Leasehold Mortgage and Security Agreement related to the East 144™ Street Facility (East
144th Street) (collectively, the “Assignment of Mortgage”). The Institution will cause the Master Trustee
to deliver the Master Notes to the Trustee, to provide payment for, and secure the holder of the Master
Notes and any additional Debt issued under the Master Indenture. The Master Notes will constitute Debt
under the Master Indenture and will be secured equally and ratably with all other obligations issued or to
be issued under the Master Indenture (other than any Debt issued as Subordinate Debt) by (a) the pledge
and assignment of a security interest in the Master Trust Estate of the Institution, including, without
limitation, the Pledged Revenues of the Institution and the funds established under the Master Indenture
and (b) a lien on the real property and other personal property of the Institution as described in any
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Leasehold Mortgage to certain trustees for the benefit of the Master Trustee. See “APPENDIX F - FORM
OF LOAN AGREEMENT” and “APPENDIX G - FORM OF MORTGAGE” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Issuer will pledge to the Trustee, for the benefit of the holders
of the Series 2021 Bonds, all of its interest in the Loan Agreement (other than the Issuer’s Reserved Rights)
to secure payment of the principal of, Sinking Fund Installments for, redemption premium, if any, and
interest on the Series 2021 Bonds. Pursuant to the Mortgage, the payment of the principal of, Sinking Fund
Installments for, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds will be secured by a
mortgage lien on and security interest in the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Facility, subject to certain
“Permitted Encumbrances” described in the Mortgage. Pursuant to the Mortgage, the Institution will assign
and pledge all of its interest in the Sublease and the rent payments to the Master Trustee as security for all
Debt issued under the Master Indenture including the Master Notes. The obligation of the Institution to
make loan payments under the Loan Agreement is an absolute and unconditional obligation of the
Institution. However, the Institution will not have any other sources of revenue other than rent payments
received from the School under the Subleases, and the ability of the Institution to generate additional
revenues is limited in the event that the Education Aid Payments received by the School are not sufficient
to enable the Institution to make the required loan payments under the Loan Agreement. See “SECURITY
AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” and “APPENDIX E - FORM OF
BOND INDENTURE” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Leases and Assignment

The Institution leases the Facilities (as defined herein) from certain churches of the Archdiocese of
New York pursuant to (a) that certain Lease between the Institution and Roman Catholic Church of St.
Nicholas of Tolentine, dated as of October 1, 2019 (as amended, the “Andrews Avenue North Lease”), (b)
that certain Lease between the Institution and Roman Catholic Church of Saint Rita of Cascia and Saint
Pius V, successor by merger to Church of St. Pius, Borough of Bronx, N.Y. City, dated as of January 17,
2013 (as amended, the “East 144™ Street Lease”), and (c) that certain Lease between the Institution and
Roman Catholic Church of Saint Rita of Cascia and Saint Pius V, successor by merger to Church of St.
Pius, Borough of Bronx, N.Y. City, dated as of August 1, 2016, as amended (the “500 Courtlandt Avenue
Lease, and together with the East 144™ Street Lease and the Andrews Avenue North Lease, collectively,
the “Leases”).

Subleases

The Institution subleases the Facilities to the School pursuant to individual Subleases. Rent payable
to the Institution by the School under the Subleases is expected to be sufficient to enable the Institution to
pay rent under its Leases and debt service for the Series 2021 Bonds. Pursuant to the Mortgage, as security
for the Master Notes, the Institution will assign and pledge to the Master Trustee all of the Institution’s
interest in and to the Sublease, including all of its rights, title and interest in all rents, income, receipts,
revenue and profits arising from the Sublease. Pursuant to the Master Covenant Agreement, the School will
pay all amounts of rent payable under the Subleases directly to the Revenue Fund under the Master
Indenture. See “APPENDIX J” in this Limited Offering Memorandum for copies of the Subleases and
“APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum for further discussion of the Subleases. The School
and the Institution will enter into (i) the Assignment of Leases and Rents (Andrews Avenue North Facility,
(i1) the Assignment of Leases and Rents (Courtlandt Avenue Facility), and (iii) the Assignment of Leases
and Rents (East 144" Street Facility) (collectively, the “Assignment”) pursuant to which the Institution will
assign its interest in the Leases to the Master Trustee.



Debt Service Reserve Fund

On the date of the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, there will be established under the Bond
Indenture a Debt Service Reserve Fund for the Series 2021 A Bonds and Series 2021B Bonds and, within
such Fund, a Series 2021A Debt Service Reserve Account and a Series 2021B Debt Service Reserve
Account, into which the Trustee shall initially deposit an amount equal to $969,400 for the Series 2021A
Bonds and $65,000 for the Series 2021B Bonds (collectively, representing the initial “Debt Service Reserve
Fund Requirement” for the Series 2021 Bonds). Amounts in each account of the Debt Service Reserve
Fund may be used by the Trustee only to pay principal, Sinking Fund Installments and interest on the
corresponding Series of the Series 2021 Bonds in the event that monies provided in the Bond Fund under
the Bond Indenture are not sufficient.

See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS - Debt
Service Reserve Fund” and “APPENDIX E - FORM OF BOND INDENTURE — Custody and Investment
of Funds - Debt Service Reserve Fund” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Continuing Disclosure

The Institution and the School will agree in the Continuing Disclosure Agreement to provide certain
annual financial reports, certain periodic quarterly financial reports and notices of certain other events with
respect to the Series 2021 Bonds. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and “APPENDIX I — FORM OF
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Additional Bonds

Pursuant to the Bond Indenture, upon complying with certain prescribed conditions, Additional
Bonds may be issued from time to time on the terms and conditions and or the purposes stated in the
Indenture. If issued, Additional Bonds will be equally and ratably secured under the Bond Indenture with
each other and with the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds. See “SECURITY AND SOURCES OF
PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS — Additional Bonds” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Additional Debt

Pursuant to the Master Indenture, upon complying with certain prescribed conditions described
below, the Institution may issue additional Senior Debt (on parity with the Master Notes) or Subordinate
Debt payable from and secured by the Pledged Revenues. Such additional Debt may be issued if the
following conditions are met:

(i) Sufficient funds are evidenced as follows: (A) delivery of an Officer’s Certificate stating that, for
either the Institution’s most recently completed Fiscal Year or for any consecutive 12 months out of the
most recent 18 months immediately preceding the issuance of the additional Senior Debt or Subordinate
Debt, the Pledged Revenues equal at least 1.10 times the Annual Debt Service on all Senior Debt and
Subordinate Debt then Outstanding prior the issuance of the additional Senior Debt or Subordinate Debt;
and (B) delivery of new or amended Leases reflecting an increase in the aggregate Pledged Revenues
payable by Brilla thereunder in each Fiscal Year to an amount equal to at least 1.20 times the projected
Annual Debt Service, including the Senior Debt or Subordinate Debt to be incurred. Such calculation shall
take into account the Lease Revenues for the Fiscal Year immediately following the completion of the new
or improved Participating Campuses, and shall assume that the proposed additional Senior Debt or
Subordinate shall have been outstanding for the entire year; or

(i1) In lieu of the requirements described in clause (i) above, the Institution delivers an Officer’s
Certificate stating that, based on the audited results of the operations for the most recently completed Fiscal
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Year, the Pledged Revenues equal at least 1.10 times Maximum Annual Debt Service on all Senior Debt
and Subordinate Debt then Outstanding as well as the additional Senior Debt or Subordinate Debt; and

(ii1) So long as any Debt is secured by the lien of the Leasehold Mortgage upon any real property of the
Institution, the Institution shall obtain and provide to the Master Trustee a new title policy or an
endorsement of the title, if permitted by the laws of the State of New York, issued in connection with the
Debt increasing the coverage thereunder by an amount equal to the aggregate principal amount of the
additional Senior Debt or Subordinate which is secured by the Leasehold Mortgage.

If additional Debt is being issued for the purpose of refunding any outstanding Debt, the reports or
certificates required by clause (i) or (ii) above to be delivered will not apply so long as both the total and
the Maximum Annual Debt Service on all outstanding Debt after issuance of the additional Debt will not
exceed both the total and the Maximum Annual Debt Service on all outstanding Debt prior to the issuance
of such additional Debt.

The Institution reserves the right to incur Subordinate Debt that is secured by a subordinate lien on
all or a portion of the collateral within the Trust Estate and may make regularly scheduled payment on such
Subordinate Debt so long as no Event of Default exists or is continuing under the Master Indenture.

The Institution further reserves the right to incur Debt that is not secured by a lien on either the
Pledged Revenues or any property included in a Leasehold Mortgage. Such Debt may be secured by a lien
on all or any portion of assets financed therewith and revenues therefrom or any other revenues of the
Institution not included in the Master Trust Estate.

For additional information, see “APPENDIX D - FORM OF MASTER INDENTURE.”
Special Covenants of the School; Additional Indebtedness

The Master Covenant Agreement requires the School to comply with certain financial covenants
and places certain restrictions on the incurrence of indebtedness by the School as described herein under
“SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS - Special Covenants of
the School; Additional Indebtedness”. Pursuant to the Loan Agreement, the Institution may incur additional
indebtedness, including Additional Bonds issued pursuant to the Bond Indenture; provided in all cases that
such indebtedness shall meet the requirements set forth in the Master Covenant Agreement and shall be
incurred to benefit the School.

Bondholders’ Risks

Certain risks associated with an investment in the Series 2021 Bonds are discussed under “RISK
FACTORS?” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Miscellaneous

This Limited Offering Memorandum (including the Appendices hereto) contains descriptions of,
among other matters, the Bond Indenture, the Master Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Use Agreement,
the Mortgage, the Subleases, the Assignment, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Issuer, the
Facilities, the Institution, the School and the Series 2021 Bonds. Such descriptions and information do not
purport to be comprehensive or definitive. All references to documents described herein are qualified in
their entirety by reference to such documents, copies of which are available for inspection at the designated
corporate trust office of the Trustee.



THE ISSUER

The Issuer is a not-for-profit local development corporation created pursuant to the Not-for-Profit
Corporation Law of the State of New York (the “State”), as amended, at the direction of the Mayor of the
City of New York, New York (the “City”). The Issuer is not an agency of State or City government. The
Issuer is authorized by the Not-for-Profit Corporation Law of the State and the Issuer’s Certificate of
Incorporation and By-Laws (i) to promote community and economic development and the creation of jobs
in the non-profit and for-profit sectors for the citizens of the City by developing and providing programs
for not-for-profit institutions, manufacturing and industrial businesses and other entities to access tax-
exempt and taxable financing for their eligible projects; (ii) to issue and sell one or more series or classes
of bonds, notes and other obligations through private placement, negotiated underwriting or competitive
underwriting to finance such activities above, on a secured or unsecured basis; and (iii) to undertake other
eligible projects that are appropriate functions for a non-profit local development corporation for the
purpose of relieving and reducing unemployment, promoting and providing for additional and maximum
employment, bettering and maintaining job opportunities, carrying on scientific research for the purpose of
aiding the City by attracting new industry to the City or by encouraging the development of or retention of
an industry in the City, and lessening the burdens of government and acting in the public interest.

The Issuer has offered and plans to offer other obligations from time to time to finance eligible
projects for other eligible entities. Such obligations have been and will be issued pursuant to and secured
by instruments separate and apart from the Bond Indenture.

The Series 2021 Bonds are special, limited revenue obligations of the Issuer payable solely out of
certain funds pledged therefor. Nothing in the Series 2021 Bonds or the Bond Indenture shall be considered
as pledging or committing any other funds or assets of the Issuer to the payment of the Series 2021 Bonds
or the satisfaction of any other obligation of the Issuer under the Series 2021 Bonds or the Bond Indenture.

Neither the Issuer nor its members, directors, officers, agents, servants or employees, nor any
person executing the Series 2021 Bonds, shall be liable personally with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds
or be subject to any personal liability or accountability by reason of the issuance thereof. Accordingly, no
financial information regarding the Issuer or its members, directors, officers, employees or agents has been
included herein.

Neither the State nor any political subdivision of the State including, without limitation, the City,
is or shall be obligated to pay the principal or redemption price of or interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, and
neither the faith and credit nor the taxing power of the State or the City is pledged to such payment. The
Issuer has no taxing power.

The Issuer has not prepared or assisted in the preparation of this Limited Offering Memorandum,
except for statements under the sections captioned “THE ISSUER” and “LITIGATION—The Issuer”, and
except as aforesaid, the Issuer is not responsible for any statements made in this Limited Offering
Memorandum. Except for the execution and delivery of documents required to effect the issuance of the
Series 2021 Bonds, the Issuer has not otherwise assisted in the offer, sale, or distribution of the Series 2021
Bonds. Accordingly, except as aforesaid, the Issuer disclaims responsibility for the disclosures set forth in
this Limited Offering Memorandum or otherwise made in connection with the offer, sale, or distribution of
the Series 2021 Bonds. The Institution and the School have agreed to indemnify the Issuer against certain
liabilities relating to this Limited Offering Memorandum.

THE INSTITUTION

The Institution is a Wyoming not-for-profit corporation and was formed on June 11, 2008. The
Institution subleases the Facilities to the School pursuant to each Sublease. The Institution is an organization
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described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code which is exempt from federal income taxation under Section
501(a) of the Code (except with respect to “unrelated business taxable income” within the meaning of
Section 512(a) of the Code) and which is not a “private foundation” as defined in Section 509(a) of the
Code. The Institution operates as a Wyoming not-for-profit corporation and as such is governed by the law
applicable to such entities and its bylaws. The Institution’s bylaws provide that the Institution is managed
and controlled by a Board of Trustees. The Institution serves as the Charter Management Organization
(“CMO?”) to the School. The CMO contract, dated January 21, 2020, gives the Institution the authority to
manage the School. For more information with respect to the Institution, the Institution’s history,
management, and operations, see “APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

THE SCHOOL

The School is a New York corporation established under the laws of the State and exempt from
federal taxation pursuant to section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. The
school operates five (5) public charter schools under four (4) separate charters (each a “Charter” and
collectively, “Charters”) and currently services more than 1,600 students in grades K-8.

The School has a provisional charter in good standing from the New York State Board of Regents.
The School has been duly established as a charter school under the Charter School Act, and its charter to
operate Brilla Pax Elementary School, Brilla Caritas Elementary School, Brilla College Prep Middle School
and Brilla College Prep Elementary School which it intends to operate at the respective Facilities has been
duly issued thereunder.

The School’s first Charter, originally granted by the New York State (the “Board of Regents”) in
2012, includes Brilla College Prep Elementary (“BCPE”) and Brilla College Prep Middle (“BCPM”), each
located in the Mott Haven community of the Bronx. Brilla’s second Charter, Brilla Veritas Elementary
(“BVE”), was granted in 2016 by the State University of New York (“SUNY”) and is located in the Melrose
community. The BCPE/M Charter was merged with the BVE Charter in 2017 to create a single education
corporation authorized by SUNY. BCPE/M was successfully renewed for a 5-year term in 2018. Brilla
Caritas Elementary (“BCE”) and Brilla Pax Elementary (“BPE”) were subsequently awarded Charters in
2019 and are located in the University Heights community of the Bronx. Under the current agreement with
the SUNY, the School is authorized to operate BCPE and BCPM through June 30, 2023, BVE through June
31, 2022 (with the renewal application being submitted in August of 2021) and BCE and BPE through July
31, 2025.

The School operates as a New York corporation and as such is governed by the law applicable to
such entities and its Charters and bylaws. The School’s bylaws provide that the School is managed and
controlled by a Board of Trustees. For more information with respect to the School, the Charters and the
School’s history and operations, see “APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

THE PROJECT AND PLAN OF FINANCE

Proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds will be used by the Institution (a) to refinance two loans in the
aggregate outstanding amount of approximately $10,916,553, which loans financed leasehold
improvements in 70,000 square feet of space in a building located at 2336 Andrews Avenue North, Bronx,
NY, which currently serves as a site for the BPE and BCE schools (the “Andrews Avenue North Facility”),
(b) to refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,115,854, which loan financed
leasehold improvements in 17,571 square feet of space in a building located at 500 Courtlandt Avenue,
Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPM school (the “Courtlandt Avenue Facility”), (c)
to refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately $2,630,011, which loans financed leasehold
improvements in 28,478 square feet of space in a building located in 413 East 144th Street, Bronx, NY,
which currently serves as the site for the BCPE school (the “East 144™ Street Facility™), (d) to fund a debt
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service reserve fund for the Series 2021A Bonds and Series 2021B Bonds, and (e) to pay for certain costs
and expenses associated with the issuance of the Bonds.

See “APPENDIX A” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.)



SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Following are the estimated sources and uses for funds (excluding investment income) associated
with the Project and the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds:

SOURCES AND USES OF FUNDS

Seton Education Partners
Series 2021AB
Build NYC
Seton Education Partners
(Brilla Public Charter School), New York

BB+
Tax-Exempt
Sources: Series Taxable Series Total
Bond Proceeds:
Par Amount 14,595,000.00 630,000.00 15,245.000.00
Premium 1,814,609.25 1,814.609.25
16,409,609.25 6350,000.00 17,059,609.25
Other Sources of Funds:
Transfer from Prior DSRF 175,755.00 175,755.00
Required Equity Contribution 413,000.00 413,000.00
588,755.00 588,755.00
16,998,364.25 650,000.00 17,648,364.25
Tax-Exempt
Uses: Series Taxable Series Total
Project Fund Deposits:
Andrews Refinancing 10,945,593.57 10,945,593.57
Courtland Refinancing 2,128,169.36 2.128,169.36
E.144th Refinancing 2,626,608.51 2,626,608.51
15,700,371.44 15,700,371.44
Other Fund Deposits:
Debt Service Reserve Fund - Tax-Exempt 969.400.00 969,400.00
Debt Service Reserve Fund - Taxable 65,000.00 65,000.00
969,400.00 65,000.00 1,034,400.00
Delivery Date Expenses:
Cost of [ssuance 274,537.10 486,003.15 760,540.25
Underwriter's Discount:
Underwriter's Discount ($9.75/Bond) 53,655.08 08,983.67 152,638.75
Other Uses of Funds:
Additional Uses 400.63 13.18 413.81
16,998,364.25 650,000.00 17,648,364.25

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.)



DEBT SERVICE SCHEDULE

The table below sets forth the amounts required to be paid with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds,
assuming no prepayments or redemption prior to maturity. All amounts shown in the table below are gross
debt service prior to the application of any earnings on amounts deposited in the Debt Service Reserve Fund
and the other funds and accounts established under the Bond Indenture.

Period Ending
November 1 Principal Interest Annual Total
2022 570,245.91 570,245 .91
2023 607,362.50 607,362.50
2024 285,000 607,362.50 892,362.50
2025 365,000 597,031.26 962,031.26
2026 385,000 583,800.00 968,800.00
2027 395,000 568,400.00 963,400.00
2028 415,000 552,600.00 967,600.00
2029 430,000 536,000.00 966,000.00
2030 445,000 518,800.00 963,800.00
2031 465,000 501,000.00 966,000.00
2032 485,000 482,400.00 967,400.00
2033 505,000 463,000.00 968,000.00
2034 525,000 442,800.00 967,800.00
2035 545,000 421,800.00 966,800.00
2036 565,000 400,000.00 965,000.00
2037 585,000 377,400.00 962,400.00
2038 610,000 354,000.00 964,000.00
2039 630,000 329,600.00 959,600.00
2040 665,000 304,400.00 969,400.00
2041 690,000 277,800.00 967,800.00
2042 715,000 250,200.00 965,200.00
2043 745,000 221,600.00 966,600.00
2044 605,000 191,800.00 796,800.00
2045 630,000 167,600.00 797,600.00
2046 655,000 142,400.00 797,400.00
2047 535,000 116,200.00 651,200.00
2048 560,000 94,800.00 654,800.00
2049 580,000 72,400.00 652,400.00
2050 605,000 49,200.00 654,200.00
2051 625,000 25,000.00 650,000.00
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CHARTER SCHOOL FUNDING IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK

This section provides a brief overview of the State’s current system for funding charter schools.
Prospective purchasers of the Series 2021 Bonds should note that the overview contained below and the
summary of relevant State law provisions contained in APPENDIX B hereto are provided for the
convenience of prospective purchasers but are not and do not purport to be comprehensive. Potential
purchasers should note that the law applicable to charter schools in New York has developed over time and
is subject to further changes in the future. See “RISK FACTORS - Changes in Law; Annual Appropriation;
Inadequate Education Aid Payments” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

General

Charter schools in the State are eligible to receive funds from State, federal and private sources.
The principal source of charter school funding in the State is “Charter School Basic Tuition” which is paid
directly to a charter school by the school district of residence of each student enrolled in the charter school.
The enrollment of students attending charter schools is included in the enrollment, attendance, membership
and, if applicable, count of students with disabilities of the school district in which the pupil resides. The
amount of Charter School Basic Tuition for a particular school year paid by a school district is derived from
formulas based on the school district’s “Expense Per Pupil” as defined in the State Education Law. See
“Charter School Basic Tuition” below for a more detailed description. In addition, the school district of
residence of a student with a disability attending a charter school is required to pay directly to such charter
school any federal or state aid attributable to such student in proportion to the level of services for such
student with a disability that the charter school provides directly or indirectly (any such payments, together
with Charter School Basic Tuition, are referred to herein as “Education Aid Payments”). Such amounts
may be reduced pursuant to an agreement between the school and the charter school as set forth in the
charter. See “Federal and State Aid Attributable to a Student with a Disability” below for further detail. In
the event a school district fails to make the payments described above, the State comptroller is directed to
deduct from any State funds which become due to such school district an amount equal to the unpaid
obligation, which the State comptroller will then pay to the charter school. In 2014, the Charter Schools
Act was amended to provide for facilities assistance to charter schools under certain circumstances. Such
assistance may be in the form of co-located space within a school district facility, alternative private space
or, under certain circumstances, rental subsidy payments in an amount determined pursuant to the Charter
Schools Act. See “Facilities Access Payments/Rental Assistance” below for a more detailed description.
See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW”
in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Charter School Basic Tuition

Charter School Basic Tuition is calculated according to a series of statutory formulas, which are
detailed and complicated. By way of overview, a description of the Charter School Basic Tuition formula
is provided in this section. Pursuant to Section 2856 of the Charter Schools Act, Charter School Basic
Tuition is equal to the school district’s “Expense Per Pupil” for the year prior to the “Base Year” (i.e., the
school year immediately preceding the current year) increased by the percentage change in the state total
“Approved Operating Expense” from two years prior to the Base Year to the Base Year, with certain
adjustments set forth for each school year. See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW - Financing of Charter Schools” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum for a detailed description of the Charter School Basic Tuition for each school year. The
calculation for Expense Per Pupil is a function of Approved Operating Expense for the year prior to the
Base Year divided by the sum, computed using year prior to the Base Year pupil counts, of: (i) “Total
Aidable Pupil Units” and (ii) “Weighted Pupils With Disabilities.” See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF
CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW - Charter School Basic Tuition” in this
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Limited Offering Memorandum for a detailed discussion of the Charter School Basic Tuition formula and
applicable definitions, including “Approved Operating Expense.”

For this purpose, “Total Aidable Pupil Units” is the sum of (i) the school district’s “Adjusted
Average Daily Attendance” for the year prior to the Base Year multiplied by the “Enrollment Index” for
the Base Year, plus (ii) the “Additional Aidable Pupil Units” for the year prior to the Base Year.

Adjusted Average Daily Attendance. For purposes of computing Adjusted Average Daily
Attendance, the average daily attendance of public school pupils in a full-day kindergarten and grades 1-12
is counted as the basic unit, with the attendance of such pupils in one-half day kindergartens counted as
one-half of such basic unit. The sum of all such units of attendance is the Adjusted Average Daily
Attendance. Adjusted Average Daily Attendance is calculated by: (i) determining the number of religious
holidays which fall on a school day within a school year according to regulations established by the
Commissioner; (ii) deducting the aggregate attendance on such religious holidays from the total aggregate
attendance, by grade level; (iii) deducting such religious holidays from the total number of days of session,
by grade level; and (iv) computing the adjusted average daily attendance for the school year.

Enrollment Index. Enrollment Index is computed by dividing the public school enrollment for the
current year by public school enrollment for the Base Year, with the result carried to three decimal places
without rounding. “Enrollment” means the unduplicated count of all children registered to receive
educational services in grades K-12, including children in ungraded programs, as registered on the
applicable enrollment reporting date. “Public School District Enrollment” means the sum of: (1) the number
of children on a regular enrollment register of a public school district on such date; (2) the number of
children eligible to receive home instruction in the school district on such date; (3) the number of children
for whom Equivalent Attendance must be computed on such date; (4) the number of children with
disabilities who are residents of such district who are registered on such date to attend certain programs
under the New York Education Law; (5) the number of children eligible to receive educational services on
such date but not claimed for aid; and (6) the number of children registered on such date to attend certain
programs pursuant to the New York Education Law.

Additional Aidable Pupil Units. Additional Aidable Pupil Units is the sum of: (i) the attendance of
summer session pupils multiplied by 12%, and (ii) the “Weighted Pupils With Special Educational Needs.”
Weighted Pupils With Special Educational Needs is calculated by multiplying pupils with special
educational needs by 25%, with the result rounded up to the next whole number.

Weighted Pupils With Disabilities. Weighted Pupils With Disabilities is calculated as the
attendance of pupils with disabilities who have been determined by a school district committee on special
education to require any of the following types and levels of programs or services, and who receive such
programs and services from the school district of attendance during the Base Year, multiplied by a special
services weighting determined as follows:

1) for placement for 60% or more of the school day in a special class, or home or
hospital instruction for a period of more than 60 days, or special services or programs formore than
60% of the school day, the special services weighting is 170%;

(i1) for placement for 20% or more of the school week in a resource room or special
services or programs including related services required for 20% or more of the school week, or in
the case of pupils in grades 7-12 or a multi-level middle school program or in the case of pupils in
grades 4-6 in an elementary school operating on a period basis, the equivalent of five periods per
week, but not less than the equivalent of 180 minutes in a resource room or in other special
services or programs including related services, or for at least two hours per week of direct or
indirect consultant teacher services, the special services weighting is 90%.
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The Charter School Basic Tuition is set annually in June. School districts are required to pay no
later than the first business day of July, September, November, January, March and May the appropriate
payment amounts as specified in the New York Education Law relating to the Charter School Basic Tuition.
The payments are made in equal installments, adjusted for any supplemental payments due or overpayments
to be recovered for the prior school year. See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS
OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW - Financial Obligations of Charter Schools, Public School Districts
and Education Department” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Federal and State Aid Attributable to a Student with a Disability

In addition to the Charter School Basic Tuition, school districts are required to pay directly to
charter schools any federal or state aid attributable to a student with a disability attending the charter school
in proportion to the level of services for such student with a disability that the charter school provides
directly or indirectly. Such amounts may be reduced pursuant to an agreement between the school and the
charter entity set forth in the charter. See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF
NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW - Financing of Charter Schools” and “- Public School District Payments
to Charter Schools” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

State aid attributable to a student with a disability attending a charter school is calculated as the
sum of: (i) “Excess Cost Aid” payable to a public school district pursuant to the New York Education Law
based on the resident weighted enrollment in the charter school of pupils with disabilities receiving special
services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the charter school in the current school year; and
(ii) any apportionment payable to such public school district pursuant to the New York Education Law that
is based on the cost of special services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the charter school to
such pupil in the current school year. Excess Cost Aid is calculated as the product of: (i) excess cost aid per
pupil calculated pursuant to the New York Education Law; (ii) the proportion of the weighting attributable
to the student’s level of service provided directly or indirectly by the charter school pursuant to the New
York Education Law; and (iii) the student’s enrollment in such charter school in the current school year.

Federal aid attributable to a student with a disability attending a charter school, and receiving
special education services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the charter school, is calculated
as follows:

(1) for the first year of operation of the charter school, the allocation that would be
attributable to the charter school pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 1411 and 1419 for a pupil who is identified
as a student with a disability, who is included in a report to the Commissioner of pupils so identified
as of December Ist of the current school year, or for such other pupil count as specified by the
federal government for the current school year, provided that the enrollment of such students in the
charter school during the current school year is used for this purpose until such report, or a report
of such other pupil count, has been received by the Commissioner; and

(i1) for the second year of operation of the charter school and thereafter, the allocation
that would be attributable to the charter school pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 1411 and 1419 for a pupil
who is identified as a student with a disability, who is included in a report to the Commissioner of
pupils so identified as of December 1st of the Base Year, or for such other pupil count as specified
by the federal government.

Payments for federal or state aid attributable to a student with a disability to charter schools must
be made by the school district in six substantially equal installments each year beginning on the first
business day of July and every two months thereafter. See “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN
PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW - Financing of Charter Schools” in this Limited
Offering Memorandum.
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Facilities Access Payments/Rental Assistance

In March 2014, Section 2853 of the Charter Schools Act was amended to grant a subset of State
charter schools a new statutory right to request access to facilities. Charter schools in the City that
commenced instruction or added grade levels in the 2014-2015 school year or thereafter are eligible to
request co-location within a public school building. Upon such request, such charter school must be
provided access to facilities pursuant to the Charter Schools Act, either in co-located space in a school
district building, alternative private space provided by the school district at no cost to the charter school,
or, upon a successful appeal by the charter school, in the form of rental assistance payments from the school
district (“Facilities Access Payments™). For eligible charter schools that have expanded grade levels during
the 2014-2015 school year or thereafter, the Facilities Access Payments are calculated, as the lesser of (a)
actual rental cost of an alternative privately owned site selected by the charter school or (b) 30% of the
product of Charter School Basic Tuition and, for a new charter school commencing instruction on or after
July 1, 2014, the charter school’s current year enrollment, or, for a charter school which expands its grade
level, the increases in enrollment from the school year prior to the first year of the expansion, to the current
school year. See also “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK
EDUCATION LAW?” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS
General

The Series 2021 Bonds will be issued in the original aggregate principal amount of $15,245,000.
The Series 2021 Bonds will bear interest as set forth on the inside front cover hereof. Interest on the Series
2021 Bonds will be payable semi-annually on November 1 and May 1 (or, if any such day is not a Business
Day, the immediately succeeding Business Day, each an “Interest Payment Date”) of each year,
commencing on May 1, 2022. Interest on the Series 2021 Bonds will be calculated on the basis of a 360-
day year of twelve 30-day months.

The Series 2021 Bonds will be issued in the form of fully registered bonds without coupons in
minimum authorized denominations of $100,000 or any integral multiple of $5,000 in excess thereof (an
“Authorized Denomination”). The principal of, interest on, and premium, if any, on the Series 2021 Bonds
will be payable when due by wire of the Trustee to The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York
(“DTC”), which will in turn remit such principal, interest and premium, if any, to Participants, which
Participants will in turn remit such principal, interest and premium, if any, to the Beneficial Owners of the
Series 2021 Bonds as described in this Limited Offering Memorandum. See “APPENDIX K - BOOK-
ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM?” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

In the event the Series 2021 Bonds are not registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of
DTC, or another eligible depository as described below, the principal, Purchase Price or Redemption Price
of, and Sinking Fund Installments for the Series 2021 Bonds will be payable by check or draft or wire
transfer to the persons in whose names such Series 2021 Bonds are registered on the bond registration books
maintained by the Trustee as Bond Registrar at the maturity or redemption date thereof, or with respect to
any payment in full of any Series 2021 Bond either at final maturity or upon purchase or upon redemption
in whole, only be payable upon presentation and surrender of such Series 2021 Bonds at the designated
corporate trust office of the Trustee, as described in the Bond Indenture. Interest payable on each Series
2021 Bond on any Interest Payment Date will be paid by the Trustee to the registered owner of such Series
2021 Bond as shown on the bond registration books of the Trustee as Bond Registrar at the close of business
on the Record Date for such interest, by check or draft mailed to such registered owner at his address as it
appears on the bond registration books, or at the written request by any registered owner of Series 2021
Bonds in the aggregate principal amount of at least $1,000,000, by electronic transfer, as described in the
Bond Indenture.
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Interest on any Series 2021 Bond that is due and payable but not paid on the date due (“Defaulted
Interest”) shall cease to be payable to the owner of such Series 2021 Bond on the relevant Record Date and
shall be payable to the owner in whose name such Series 2021 Bond is registered at the close of business
on a special record date (the “Special Record Date”) for the payment of such Defaulted Interest, which
Special Record Date shall be fixed as provided in the Bond Indenture.

Redemption of Series 2021 Bonds

General Optional Redemption. The Series 2021 A Bonds shall be subject to redemption, on or after
November 1, 2031, in whole or in part at any time (but if in part in integral multiples of $5,000 and in the
minimum principal amount of $100,000) at the option of the Issuer (which option shall be exercised only
upon the giving of notice by the Institution of its intention to prepay loan payments due under the Loan
Agreement) at a Redemption Price of 100% of the unpaid principal amount of the Series 2021 A Bonds to
be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption.

The Series 2021B Bonds are not subject to optional redemption.

Mandatory Sinking Fund Installment Redemption. The Series 2021 A Bonds shall be subject to
mandatory redemption by the Issuer prior to maturity, in part by lot, at a Redemption Price equal to one
hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof, together with accrued interest to the Redemption
Date, from mandatory Sinking Fund Installments on the dates and in the principal amounts set forth below,
provided that the amounts of such Sinking Fund Installments shall be reduced by the credits provided for
in the Bond Indenture:

Series 20214 Term Bonds Maturing November 1, 2031

Mandatory Redemption
Date
(November 1) Mandatory Redemption

2026 $385,000
2027 395,000
2028 415,000
2029 430,000
2030 445,000
2031%* 465,000

Series 20214 Term Bonds Maturing November 1, 2041

Mandatory Redemption
Date
(November 1) Mandatory Redemption

2032 $485,000
2033 505,000
2034 525,000
2035 545,000
2036 565,000
2037 585,000
2038 610,000
2039 630,000
2040 665,000
2041%* 690,000
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Series 20214 Term Bonds Maturing November 1, 2051

Mandatory Redemption
Date
(November 1) Mandatory Redemption
2042 $715,000
2043 745,000
2044 605,000
2045 630,000
2046 655,000
2047 535,000
2048 560,000
2049 580,000
2050 605,000
2051* 625,000

*Final Maturity

The Series 2021B Bonds shall be subject to mandatory redemption by the Issuer prior to maturity,
in part by lot, at a Redemption Price equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount thereof,
together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date, from mandatory Sinking Fund Installments on the
dates and in the principal amounts set forth below, provided that the amounts of such Sinking Fund
Installments shall be reduced by the credits provided for in the Bond Indenture:

Series 2021B Term Bonds Maturing November 1, 2025

Mandatory Redemption
Date
(November 1) Mandatory Redemption
2024 $285,000
2025% 365,000

*Final Maturity
Mandatory Redemption from Excess Proceeds and Certain Other Amounts. The Series 2021 Bonds
shall be redeemed, at any time, in whole or in part by lot prior to maturity in the event and to the extent:

@A) excess title insurance or property insurance proceeds or condemnation awards shall
remain after the application thereof pursuant to the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture,

(i1) excess proceeds shall remain after the release or substitution of Facility Realty or
Facility Personalty, or

(1i1) certain funds received by the Institution pursuant to any capital campaign which

are earmarked for specific Project Costs shall remain with the Institution and shall not be required
for completion of the Project or related Project Costs as provided in the Loan Agreement,

16



in each case at a Redemption Price equal to one hundred percent (100%) of the principal amount
of the Series 2021 Bonds to be redeemed, together with interest accrued thereon to the Redemption Date.

Extraordinary Redemption. The Series 2021 Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity, at
the option of the Issuer exercised at the direction of the Institution (which option shall be exercised only
upon the giving of notice by the Institution of its intention to prepay loan payments due under the Loan
Agreement), as a whole on any date, upon notice or waiver of notice as provided in the Bond Indenture, at
a Redemption Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the unpaid principal amount thereof plus accrued
interest to the Redemption Date, if one or more of the following events shall have occurred:

(1) The Facility shall have been damaged or destroyed to such extent that, as
evidenced by a certificate of an Independent Engineer filed with the Issuer and the Trustee,
(A) the Facility cannot be reasonably restored within a period of one (1) year from the date of such
damage or destruction to the condition thereof immediately preceding such damage or destruction,
(B) the Institution is thereby prevented or likely to be prevented from carrying on its normal
operation at the Facility for a period of one (1) year from the date of such damage or destruction,
or (C) the restoration cost of the Facility would exceed the total amount of all insurance proceeds,
including any deductible amount, in respect of such damage or destruction; or

(i1) Title to, or the temporary use of, all or substantially all of the Facility shall have
been taken or condemned by a competent authority which taking or condemnation results, or is
likely to result, in the Institution being thereby prevented or likely to be prevented from carrying
on its normal operation at the Facility for a period of one (1) year from the date of such taking or
condemnation, as evidenced by a certificate of an Independent Engineer filed with the Issuer and
the Trustee; or

(iii))  Asaresult of changes in the Constitution of the United States of America or of the
State or of legislative or executive action of the State or any political subdivision thereof or of the
United States of America or by final decree or judgment of any court after the contest thereof by
the Institution, the Loan Agreement becomes void or unenforceable or impossible of performance
in accordance with the intent and purpose of the parties as expressed therein or unreasonable
burdens or excessive liabilities are imposed upon the Institution by reason of the operation of the
Facility.

If the Series 2021 Bonds are to be redeemed in whole as a result of the occurrence of any of the
events described above, the Institution shall deliver to the Issuer and the Trustee a certificate of an
Authorized Representative of the Institution stating that, as a result of the occurrence of the event giving
rise to such redemption, the Institution has discontinued, or at the earliest practicable date will discontinue,
its operation of the Facility for its intended purposes.

Mandatory Redemption Upon Failure to Operate the Facility for the Approved Project Operations,
Material Violation of Material Legal Requirements, False Representation or Failure to Maintain Liability
Insurance. The Series 2021 Bonds are also subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity, at the option
of the Issuer, as a whole only, in the event (i) the Issuer shall determine that (w) the Institution is operating
the Facility or any portion thereof, or is allowing the Facility or any portion thereof to be operated, not for
the Approved Project Operations, (x) the Institution, any Principal of the Institution or any Person that
directly or indirectly Controls, is Controlled by or is under common Control with the Institution has
committed a material violation of a material Legal Requirement, (y) any Conduct Representation is false,
misleading or incorrect in any material respect at any date, as if made on such date, or (z) a Required
Disclosure Statement delivered to the Issuer under any Project Document is not acceptable to the Issuer
acting in its sole discretion, or (ii) the Institution shall fail to obtain or maintain the liability insurance with
respect to the Facility required under the Loan Agreement, and, in the case of clause (i) or (ii) above, the
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Institution shall fail to cure any such default or failure within the applicable time periods set forth in the
Loan Agreement following the receipt by the Institution of written notice of such default or failure from
the Issuer and a demand by the Issuer on the Institution to cure the same. Any such redemption shall be
made upon notice or waiver of notice to the Bondholders as provided in the Bond Indenture, at the
Redemption Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the unpaid principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds,
together with interest accrued thereon to the Redemption Date.

Mandatory Redemption Upon Termination of any Lease or any Sublease. The Series 2021 Bonds
or an allocable portion thereof are subject to mandatory redemption prior to maturity, at the option of the
Issuer, in whole or in part, in the event (i) any Lease is terminated or not renewed, (ii) any Sublease is
terminated or not renewed prior to the repayment of Series 2021 Bonds allocated to such Facility. Any such
redemption shall be made upon notice or waiver to the Bondholders as provided in the Bond Indenture, at
the Redemption Price of one hundred percent (100%) of the unpaid principal amount of the Series 2021
Bonds, together with interest accrued thereon to the date of redemption, unless with the consent of the
Issuer, the Institution delivers to the Issuer and the Bond Trustee (i) an opinion of Nationally Recognized
Bond Counsel addressed to the Issuer and the Trustee substantially to the effect that (A) such termination
or expiration of any Lease or Sublease complies with the provisions of the Bond Documents and (B) neither
such termination or expiration of any Lease or Sublease nor any transaction directly related thereto
(including the mandatory redemption of a portion of the Initial Bonds) will adversely affect the exclusion
from gross income of interest on the Series 2021A Bonds for purposes of federal income taxation, and (ii)
such other opinions, certificates or documentation as the Issuer may require.

Mandatory Taxability Redemption. Upon the occurrence of a Determination of Taxability, the
Series 2021A Bonds shall be redeemed prior to maturity on any date within one hundred twenty (120) days
following such Determination of Taxability, at a Redemption Price equal to one hundred three percent
(103%) of the principal amount thereof, together with accrued interest to the Redemption Date. The Series
2021 Bonds shall be redeemed in whole unless redemption of a portion of the Series 2021A Bonds
Outstanding would have the result that interest payable on the Series 2021 A Bonds remaining Outstanding
after such redemption would not be includable in the gross income of any Holder of a Series 2021A Bond.
In such event, the Series 2021A Bonds shall be redeemed in such amount as is deemed necessary in the
opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to accomplish that result.

“Determination of Taxability” means (i) (A) the adoption, promulgation or enactment of any
federal statute or regulation, or any determination, decision, decree or ruling made by the Commissioner or
any District Director of the Internal Revenue Service; (B) the issuance of a public or private ruling or a
technical advice memorandum by the Internal Revenue Service in which the Institution has participated or
has been given the opportunity to participate, and which ruling or memorandum the Institution, in its
discretion, does not contest or from which no further right of judicial review or appeal exists; (C) a
determination from which no further right of appeal exists of any court of competent jurisdiction in the
United States in a proceeding in which the Institution has participated or has been a party, or has been given
the opportunity to participate or be a party; or (D) the admission in writing by the Institution, in any case,
to the effect that the interest payable on the Series 2021A Bond of a Holder or a former Holder thereof is
includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes; or (ii) the receipt by the Trustee of a written
opinion of Nationally Recognized Bond Counsel to the effect that the interest payable on the Series 2021A
Bonds is includable in gross income for federal income tax purposes or the refusal of any such counsel to
render a written opinion that the interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds is not so includable when required
pursuant to a request by a Bondholder in accordance with the procedures set forth in the Bond Indenture;
provided, however, that no such Determination of Taxability described in clauses (i)(B) or (i)(C) of this
definition shall be considered to exist unless (1) the Holder or former Holder of the Series 2021A Bond
involved in such proceeding (a) gives the Institution and the Trustee prompt notice of the commencement
thereof and (b) (if the Institution agrees to pay all expenses in connection therewith) offers the Institution
the opportunity to control the defense thereof and (2) either (a) the Institution does not agree within thirty
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(30) days of receipt of such offer to pay such expenses and to control such defense or (b) the Institution
shall exhaust or choose not to exhaust all available proceedings for the contest, review, appeal or rehearing
of such decree, judgment or action which the Institution determines to be appropriate. A Series 2021A
Bondholder shall have the right to request the Trustee to obtain a written opinion of Nationally Recognized
Bond Counsel pursuant to clause (ii) above, at the expense of the Institution, upon delivery by the
Bondholder to the Institution of a letter from the Bondholder’s accountant stating that, in his or her
reasonable opinion, interest on the Series 2021A Bonds is includable in the gross income of such
Bondholder for federal income tax purposes and stating the reasons for such determination. No
Determination of Taxability described above will result from the inclusion of interest on any Series 2021A
Bond in the computation of minimum or indirect taxes.

SO LONG AS CEDE & CO. IS THE REGISTERED OWNER OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS,
ALL PAYMENTS OF PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, SINKING FUND INSTALLMENTS
FOR, AND INTEREST ON THE SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL BE MADE DIRECTLY TO DTC.
DISBURSEMENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS TO DIRECT PARTICIPANTS WILL BE THE
RESPONSIBILITY OF DTC, AND DISBURSEMENT OF SUCH PAYMENTS TO BENEFICIAL
OWNERS WILL BE THE RESPONSIBILITY OF THE DIRECT PARTICIPANTS AND INDIRECT
PARTICIPANTS. SEE “APPENDIX K - BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM” IN THIS LIMITED
OFFERING MEMORANDUM.

Notice of Redemption. When redemption of any Series 2021 Bonds is requested or required
pursuant to the Bond Indenture, the Trustee shall give notice of such redemption in the name of the Issuer,
specifying the name of the Series, CUSIP number, Bond numbers, the date of original issue of such Series,
the date of mailing of the notice of redemption, maturities, interest rates and principal amounts of the Series
2021 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, the Redemption Date, the Redemption Price, and the place
or places where amounts due upon such redemption will be payable (including the name, address and
telephone number of a contact person at the Trustee) and specifying the principal amounts of the Series
2021 Bonds or portions thereof to be payable and, if less than all of the Series 2021 Bonds of any maturity
are to be redeemed, the numbers of such Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof to be so redeemed. Such
notice shall further state that on such date there shall become due and payable upon each Series 2021 Bond
or portion thereof to be redeemed the Redemption Price thereof together with interest accrued to the
Redemption Date, and that from and after such date interest thereon shall cease to accrue and be payable.
Such notice may set forth any additional information relating to such redemption. The Trustee, in the name
and on behalf of the Issuer, (i) shall mail a copy of such notice by first class mail, postage prepaid, not more
than sixty (60) nor less than thirty (30) days prior to the Redemption Date, to the registered owners of any
Series 2021 Bonds which are to be redeemed, at their last addresses, if any, appearing upon the registration
books, but any defect in such notice shall not affect the validity of the proceedings for the redemption of
such Series 2021 Bonds with respect to which proper mailing was effected; and (ii) cause notice of such
redemption to be sent to the national information service that disseminates redemption notices.

Effect of Notice. Any notice mailed as provided in the Bond Indenture shall be conclusively
presumed to have been duly given, whether or not the registered owner receives the notice. If any Series
2021 Bond shall not be presented for payment of the Redemption Price within sixty (60) days of the
Redemption Date, the Trustee shall mail a second notice of redemption to such Holder by first class mail,
postage prepaid. Any amounts held by the Trustee due to non-presentment of Series 2021 Bonds for
payments on or after any Redemption Date shall be retained by the Trustee for a period of at least one year
after the final maturity date of such Series 2021 Bonds. If notice of redemption shall have been given in the
manner provided in the Bond Indenture and as described above, the Series 2021 Bonds called for
redemption shall become due and payable on the Redemption Date, provided, however, that with respect
to any optional redemption of the Series 2021 Bonds, such notice shall state that such redemption shall be
conditional upon the receipt by the Trustee on or prior to the date fixed for such redemption of moneys
sufficient to pay the principal of, redemption premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds to be
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redeemed, and that if such moneys shall not have been so received said notice shall be of no force and effect
and the Issuer shall not be required to redeem the Series 2021 Bonds. In the event that such notice of
optional redemption contains such a condition and such moneys are not so received, the redemption shall
not be made and the Trustee shall within a reasonable time thereafter give notice, in the manner in which
the notice of redemption was given, that such moneys were not so received. If a notice of optional
redemption shall be unconditional, or if the conditions of a conditional notice of optional redemption shall
have been satisfied, then upon presentation and surrender of the Series 2021 Bonds so called for redemption
at the place or places of payment, such Series 2021 Bonds shall be redeemed.

So long as DTC is effecting book entry transfers of the Series 2021 Bonds, the Trustee shall provide
the notices specified above only to DTC. It is expected that DTC shall, in turn, notify its Participants and
that the Participants, in turn, will notify or cause to be notified the Beneficial Owners. Any failure on the
part of DTC or a Participant, or failure on the part of a nominee of a Beneficial Owner of a Series 2021
Bond (having been mailed notice from the Trustee, DTC, a Participant or otherwise) to notify the Beneficial
Owner of the Series 2021 Bond so affected, shall not affect the validity of the redemption of such Series
2021 Bond.

Payment of Redeemed Series 2021 Bonds. Notice having been given in the manner provided in the
Bond Indenture and as described above, the Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption
shall become due and payable on the Redemption Dates so designated at the Redemption Price, plus interest
accrued and unpaid to the Redemption Date. If, on the Redemption Date, moneys for the redemption of all
the Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof to be redeemed, together with interest to the Redemption Date,
shall be held by the Paying Agent so as to be available therefor on said date and if notice of redemption
shall have been given as aforesaid, then, from and after the Redemption Date, (i) interest on the Series 2021
Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to accrue and become payable, (ii) the Series
2021 Bonds or portions thereof so called for redemption shall cease to be entitled to any lien, benefit or
security under the Bond Indenture, and (iii) the Holders of the Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof so
called for redemption shall have no rights in respect thereof, except to receive payment of the Redemption
Price together with interest accrued to the Redemption Date. If said moneys shall not be so available on the
Redemption Date, such Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof shall continue to bear interest until paid at
the same rate as they would have borne had they not been called for redemption.

Selection of Series 2021 Bonds for Redemption. In the event of redemption of less than all the
Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds of the same Series and maturity, the particular Series 2021 Bonds or
portions thereof to be redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee in such manner as the Trustee in its
reasonable discretion may deem fair, except that (i) the Series 2021 Bonds of a Series to be redeemed from
Sinking Fund Installments shall be redeemed by lot, and (ii) to the extent practicable, the Trustee shall
select the Series 2021 Bonds of a Series for redemption such that no Series 2021 Bond of such Series shall
be of a denomination of less than the Authorized Denomination for such Series of Series 2021 Bonds. In
the event of redemption of less than all the Outstanding Series 2021 Bonds of the same Series stated to
mature on different dates, the principal amount of such Series of Series 2021 Bonds to be redeemed shall
be applied in inverse order of maturity of the Outstanding Series of Series 2021 Bonds to be redeemed and
by lot within a maturity. The portion of the Series 2021 Bonds of any Series to be redeemed in part shall be
in the principal amount of the minimum Authorized Denomination thereof or some integral multiple thereof
and, in selecting Series 2021 Bonds of a particular Series for redemption, the Trustee shall treat each such
Series 2021 Bond as representing that number of Series 2021 Bonds of such Series which is obtained
by dividing the principal amount of such registered Series 2021 Bond by the minimum Authorized
Denomination thereof (referred to below as a “unit”) then issuable rounded down to the integral multiple
of such minimum Authorized Denomination. If it is determined that one or more, but not all, of the units of
principal amount represented by any such Series 2021 Bond is to be called for redemption, then, upon notice
of intention to redeem such unit or units, the Holder of such Series 2021 Bond shall forthwith surrender
such Series 2021 Bond to the Trustee for (a) payment to such Holder of the Redemption Price of the unit
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or units of principal amount called for redemption and (b) delivery to such Holder of a new Series 2021
Bond or Series 2021 Bonds of such Series in the aggregate unpaid principal amount of the unredeemed
balance of the principal amount of such Series 2021 Bond. New Series 2021 Bonds of the same Series and
maturity representing the unredeemed balance of the principal amount of such Series 2021 Bond shall be
issued to the registered Holder thereof, without charge therefor. If the Holder of any such Series 2021 Bond
of a denomination greater than a unit shall fail to present such Series 2021 Bond to the Trustee for payment
and exchange as aforesaid, such Series 2021 Bond shall, nevertheless, become due and payable on the
Redemption Date to the extent of the unit or units of principal amount called for redemption (and to that
extent only).

Deemed Representations by Holders

Each Holder of a Series 2021 Bond, by the purchase and acceptance of such Series 2021 Bond, is
deemed to have represented and agreed as follows: (a) it is a qualified institutional buyer as defined in Rule
144A (“Rule 144A”) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”) and it is aware that
the sale made to it of such Series 2021 Bond has been made in reliance on Rule 144A; it has acquired such
Series 2021 Bond for its own account or for the account of a qualified institutional buyer; or (ii) it is an
“accredited investor” as defined in Rule 501 under the Securities Act; and (b) it understands that such Series
2021 Bond has not been registered under the Securities Act, and that, if in the future it decides to offer,
resell, pledge or otherwise transfer such Series 2021 Bond, such Series 2021 Bond may be offered, resold,
pledged or transferred only in accordance with the above transfer restrictions.

SECURITY AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE SERIES 2021 BONDS
Special Limited Revenue Obligations

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED REVENUE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
ISSUER, PAYABLE AS TO PRINCIPAL, REDEMPTION PRICE AND INTEREST, SOLELY FROM
THE TRUST ESTATE. NEITHER THE STATE NOR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
INCLUDING THE CITY, SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OR THE
REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. NEITHER THE FAITH
AND CREDIT NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION
THEREOF, INCLUDING THE CITY, IS PLEDGED TO SUCH PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2021
BONDS. THE SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL NOT BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY FUNDS OF THE
ISSUER OTHER THAN THOSE PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE BOND INDENTURE.
THE SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL NOT GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OR CHARGE
AGAINST THE CREDIT OR TAXING POWERS OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL
SUBDIVISION THEREOF, INCLUDING THE CITY. NO RECOURSE WILL BE HAD FOR THE
PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL OR THE REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE
SERIES 2021 BONDS AGAINST ANY MEMBER, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, EMPLOYEE OR AGENT
OF THE ISSUER. THE ISSUER HAS NO TAXING POWER.

General

The Issuer will issue the Series 2021 Bonds under the Bond Indenture. Pursuant to the Loan
Agreement, the Issuer agrees to lend the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds to the Institution to finance the
Project. Under the Loan Agreement, the Institution is obligated unconditionally to repay the loan in amounts
sufficient, together with available funds held under the Bond Indenture, to provide for the timely payment
of the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds when due (whether by maturity,
mandatory sinking fund redemption or acceleration) and to perform certain other obligations set forth
therein. In accordance with the Use Agreement, the School assumes certain provisions of the Loan
Agreement. The obligation of the Institution to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement sufficient
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to pay the Series 2021 Bonds is an absolute and unconditional obligation of the Institution; provided,
however, that the ability of the Institution to generate additional revenues is limited in the event payments
of rent by the School are insufficient for the Institution to make loan payments. Under the Loan Agreement,
a “Loan Payment Date” is defined as the first (1st) day of November and May of each year, commencing
May 1, 2022. See “APPENDIX F - FORM OF LOAN AGREEMENT” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Pursuant to the terms of the Mortgage, the Institution will grant to the Issuer and the Master Trustee
mortgage liens on and security interests in the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property,
including the Facilities, subject to Permitted Encumbrances. The liens and security interests created by the
Bond Indenture and the Mortgage are for the equal and ratable benefit of the holders of the Master Notes.
The Mortgage will be assigned by the Issuer to the Master Trustee pursuant to the Assignment of Mortgage.
The Loan Agreement and the Mortgage contain the general liability insurance and property insurance
requirements for the Institution. See “RISK FACTORS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum for a
discussion of certain limitations on the enforceability of the security for the Series 2021 Bonds.

The Institution will cause the Master Trustee to deliver the Master Notes to the Trustee, to provide
payment for, and secure the payment of, the Series 2021 Bonds. The Master Notes will constitute Debt
under the Master Indenture and will be secured equally and ratably with all other promissory notes issued
under the Master Indenture (other than any such promissory notes issued as Subordinate Debt) by (a) the
pledge and assignment of a security interest in the trust estate of the Institution established under the Master
Trust Indenture (the “Master Trust Estate”), including, without limitation, the Pledged Revenues of the
Institution and the funds established under the Master Indenture and (b) a lien on the real property and other
personal property of the Institution as described in the Mortgage.

Sublease

Payments of rent due from the School to the Institution under the Subleases during the term of such
Subleases which expire prior to the maturity date of the Series 2021 Bonds will be in amounts that are
anticipated to be sufficient to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement. Pursuant to the Mortgage,
the Institution will assign and pledge its interest in the Sublease to the Trustee as additional security for the
Master Notes. The terms of the Subleases do not extend to or past the maturity date of the Series 2021
Bonds, but are subject to extension and early termination. See “APPENDIX J-1 — FORM OFANDREWS
AVENUE NORTH SUBLEASE,” “APPENDIX J-2 - FORM OF 413 EAST 144™ STREET SUBLEASE,”
and “APPENDIX J-3 — FORM OF COURTLANDT AVENUE SUBLEASE” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

The Mortgage

Pursuant to the Mortgage, the Institution will grant, to the Master Trustee a first mortgage lien on
the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property and other real property that comprises the
Facilities (the “Mortgaged Property”) to secure the Institution’s obligations to make payments under the
Debt issued under the Master Indenture, including the Master Notes. The Institution will also grant,
pursuant to the Mortgage, a valid security interest in all of the personal property of the Institution that is
associated with the use and operation of its Facility. Pursuant to the Assignment, the Institution will assign
its interest in the Subleases to the Master Trustee. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS” and “APPENDIX G
— FORM OF MORTGAGE?” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.
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Certain Financial and Operating Covenants of the School; Additional Indebtedness
As used in the Master Covenant Agreement and in this section:

(A) “Compliance Certificate” means a certificate signed by Authorized
Representatives of the Institution and the School addressing compliance with the financial covenants set
forth in the Master Covenant Agreement.

(B) “Fiscal Year” means a 12 month fiscal period of the School commencing on July
1, and ending on June 30 of the following year, or such other annual accounting period as the School may
hereafter adopt.

© “Independent Management Consultant” means a consultant or firm of independent
professional management consultants, or an independent school management organization, knowledgeable
in the operation of public or private schools and having a favorable reputation for skill and experience in
the field of public or private school management consultation reasonably acceptable to the Trustee and the
Institution.

(D) “Lease Payment Coverage Ratio” means, for the Fiscal Year in question, the ratio
obtained by dividing (i) the Available Revenues for such Fiscal Year by (ii) the sum of the cash rent expense
of Brilla, including the aggregate actual Lease Payments due under the Leases for such Fiscal Year.

(E) “Participating Campuses” refers to the School’s campuses within the jurisdictional
boundaries of the Archdiocese of New York, New York that are (i) acquired, leased, constructed, improved,
renovated, equipped or refinanced with the proceeds of any Related Bonds, (ii) identified in and made part
of the trust estate in any supplemental master indenture, and (iii) operated under separate charters.

F “Related Bonds” means bonds, promissory notes, or other obligations with respect
to which any senior note or subordinate note of the Institution are issued pursuant to the Master Indenture
and any other revenue bonds or similar obligations issued by any state of the United States, any municipal
corporation, any non-municipal corporation, or other political subdivision formed under the laws thereof or
any constituted authority, agency or instrumentality of any of the foregoing empowered to issue obligations
on behalf thereof, the proceeds of which are loaned or otherwise made available to the Company in
consideration, whether in whole or in part, of the execution, authentication and delivery of a note or notes
to such governmental issuer.

Covenants of the School

Lease Payment Coverage Ratio. The School covenants and agrees to maintain a Lease Payment
Coverage Ratio not less than 1.10 as of the last day of each Fiscal Year. The Lease Payment Coverage
Ratio shall be tested as of June 30 of each Fiscal Year based on the results of each Fiscal Year audit,
commencing with the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2022. If the School fails to achieve the Lease Payment
Coverage Ratio for any year, the School will retain, at its sole expense, an independent management
consultant within thirty (30) days of the date of the School’s certificate of compliance to review and analyze
the School’s operations and administration, inspect the Project, and perform such other review and analysis
as necessary. The Independent Management Consultant shall deliver its report within forty-five (45) days
of its retention to the School, the Institution, the Trustee and the Master Trustee, and such report shall make
such recommendations as such independent management consultant deems appropriate to achieve
compliance with the Lease Payment Coverage Ratio obligations. Failure of the School to achieve the
required Lease Payment Coverage Ratio shall not constitute an Event of Default under the Master Covenant
Agreement if the School takes all action necessary to comply with the procedures set forth above for
adopting a plan and follows each recommendation contained in such plan or Independent Management
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Consultant’s report to the extent feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the School’s Board)
and permitted by law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, failure of the School to achieve a Lease Payment
Coverage Ratio at least equal to 1.00 shall constitute an Event of Default under the Master Covenant
Agreement.

Additional Indebtedness of the School. So long as the School is not in default under the Sublease,
the School may incur other financial obligations in any manner and in any amount, including the issuance
of bonds; provided, however, that no such obligations shall ever encumber or create a lien upon the
Project, except as Permitted by the Mortgage.

Liquidity Requirement. The School covenants and agrees to maintain unrestricted cash in an
amount equal to at least (i) forty-five (45) days of operating expenses (including interest on debt but
excluding provisions for bad debt amortization, depreciation or any other non-cash expenses), to be tested
on the last day of the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2022 and each Fiscal Year thereafter (in each case, the
“Liquidity Requirement”) as evidenced by the School’s audited financial statements for each such Fiscal
Year. Such operating reserves shall not be funded with Bond proceeds. The Liquidity Requirement shall be
tested once every year, commencing with the Fiscal Year ending June 30, 2022. Funds held in satisfaction
of the Liquidity Requirement may be used for any lawful purpose, and may be spent without any restriction
between annual testing dates other than to be in compliance with the Liquidity Requirement by the next
testing date. The foregoing is subject to the qualification that if applicable State or federal laws or
regulations, or the rules and regulations of agencies having jurisdiction, shall not permit the School to
maintain such balance, then the School shall, in conformity with the then prevailing laws, rules or
regulations, maintain a balance equal to the maximum permissible level. If the School fails to meet the
required levels of the Liquidity Requirement for any year, the School will retain, at its sole expense, an
independent management consultant within thirty (30) days of the date of the Compliance Certificate to
review and analyze the School’s operations and administration, inspect the Project, and perform such other
review and analysis as necessary. The independent management consultant shall deliver its report within
forty-five (45) days of its retention to the School, the Institution, the Trustee and the Master Trustee, and
such report shall make such recommendations as such Independent Management Consultant deems
appropriate to achieve compliance with the obligations of this Section. Failure of the School to achieve the
required Liquidity Requirement shall not constitute an Event of Default if the School takes all action
necessary to comply with the procedures set forth above for adopting a plan and follows each
recommendation contained in such plan or independent management consultant’s report to the extent
feasible (as determined in the reasonable judgment of the School’s Board) and permitted by law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, failure of the School to maintain unrestricted cash in an amount at least
equal to thirty (30) days of operating expenses on the last day of any fiscal year shall constitute an Event
of Default under this Agreement; provided, however, if, in any fiscal year, the State takes or retains money
due to the School and such action causes the School to fail to maintain the Liquidity Requirement for such
fiscal year, the Master Trustee shall waive the Liquidity Requirement for such fiscal year. No additional
waivers shall be made for future fiscal years unless additional action is taken by the State in such future
fiscal years.

Termination of Leases. The School and the Institution each covenant and agree that thirty (30) days
prior to the exercise of their respective rights under any of the Leases to terminate the lease term, they will
provide the Trustee a certificate including a projected Lease Payment Ratio reflecting that the Lease
Payments from the remaining Participating Campuses provide sufficient revenues to satisfy the Lease
Payment Ratio.

Modification of Leases. The School and the Institution shall not enter into any amendment,
modification or supplement to a Lease (a “Proposed Lease Amendment”) unless, the School and the
Institution shall deliver to the Issuer the Master Trustee, and the Trustee (v) if the amendment, modification
or supplement would affect the amount or timing of the payment of rentals by the Institution or the School
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under such Lease, evidence from each rating agency by which any Series of Outstanding Bonds are then
rated, if any, to the effect that the Proposed Lease Amendment will not result in a withdrawal, a suspension
or a reduction of the long and short-term ratings, if applicable, then assigned to any Series of Outstanding
Bonds by such rating agency, (w) a certificate of an Authorized Representative of the School or the
Institution (as applicable) to the effect that the Proposed Lease Amendment will not have an adverse effect,
or otherwise impair, the security for the Bonds, nor adversely affect the operation of the Facility by the
School as a public charter school for the Approved Project Operations (as defined in the Indenture), (x) a
substantially final draft of the Proposed Lease Amendment at least fourteen (14) days prior to the execution
thereof, (y) an Opinion of Counsel to the Institution and the School to the effect that, upon the execution
and delivery thereof by the Institution and the School, the Proposed Lease Amendment shall constitute the
legal, valid and binding enforceable obligations of the Institution and the School and (z) an opinion of Bond
Counsel to the effect that the Proposed Lease Amendment will not cause the interest on the Series 2021A
Bonds to become includable in gross income of the Holders thereof for federal income tax purposes.

Subordination of School Management Fee. The School and the Institution covenant and agree that
the payment of any school management services fee shall be subordinate and subject in right and time of
payment to (i) the payment in full of the Series 2021 Notes and the Master Notes and any additional
promissory notes hereafter issued under the Master Trust Indenture, and (ii) the payment in full of all
obligations of the School with respect to each Lease, such obligations and Participating Campuses as
identified in each Supplemental Master Trust Indenture, including but not limited to the monthly rent
payments to Seton, as landlord pursuant to that certain Lease. However, payments of school management
services fees pursuant to the CMO may be made, provided that, after giving effect thereto (i) no deficiency
exists in the Debt Service Reserve Fund pursuant to the Trust Indenture, and (ii) no Event of Default or
event which could, upon the passage of time, give rise to an Event of Default shall have then occurred and
be continuing under the Master Covenant Agreement on the date of any such payment.

The Bond Indenture

The Series 2021 Bonds are to be issued pursuant to the Bond Indenture and will be equally and
ratably secured with any Series of Additional Bonds that may be issued thereby. As security for the Series
2021 Bonds, the Issuer has pledged and assigned to the Trustee the Trust Estate, which includes: (i) all
right, title and interest of the Issuer in and to the Loan Agreement, including all loan payments, revenues
and receipts payable or receivable thereunder (other than the Issuer’s Reserved Rights, which Issuer’s
Reserved Rights may be enforced by the Issuer and the Trustee, jointly or severally); (ii) all right, title and
interest of the Issuer in and to the Series 2021 Notes and the Master Notes; (iii) all moneys and securities
from time to time held by the Trustee under the Bond Indenture (other than the Rebate Fund), and (iv) any
and all other property of every kind and nature from time to time which is delivered or by writing of any
kind conveyed, mortgaged, pledged, assigned or transferred, as and for additional security under the Bond
Indenture, by the Issuer or by any other Person, with or without the consent of the Issuer, to the Trustee
which is authorized to receive any and all such property at any time and at all times to hold and apply the
same subject to the terms of the Bond Indenture. The Bond Indenture provides that all Series 2021 Bonds
issued thereunder shall be special limited revenue obligations of the Issuer, payable solely from and secured
solely by the Trust Estate. See “APPENDIX E - FORM OF BOND INDENTURE?” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

The Master Indenture

Simultaneously with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds and the delivery of the Master Notes to
the Issuer, (i) pursuant to the Master Indenture, the Issuer will assign the Master Notes to the Trustee
(excluding the Reserved Rights), (ii) the Institution will enter into a Master Trust Indenture (the “Master
Trust Indenture”) with Trustee, as master trustee (the “Master Trustee”), as supplemented by Supplemental
Master Trust Indenture Number 1 (the “Supplemental Indenture”), each dated as of November 1, 2021 (the
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Master Trust Indenture and the Supplemental Indenture, collectively, the “Master Indenture”), and (iii) the
Institution will issue promissory notes, each in the principal amount of the respective series of the Series
2021 Bonds (collectively, the “Master Notes”), and will cause the Master Trustee to deliver the Master
Notes to the Trustee, to provide payment for, and secure the payment of, the Series 2021 Bonds. The Master
Notes will constitute Debt under the Master Indenture and will be secured equally and ratably with all other
obligations issued or to be issued under the Master Indenture (other than any Debt issued as Subordinate
Debt) by (a) the pledge and assignment of a security interest in the Master Trust Estate of the Institution,
including, without limitation, the Pledged Revenues of the Institution and the funds established under the
Master Indenture and (b) a lien on the real property and other personal property of the Institution as
described in the Mortgage and any other Leasehold Mortgage to certain trustees for the benefit of the
Institution and the Master Trustee. The Master Indenture sets forth that any Subordinate Debt incurred by
the Institution shall be subject and subordinate in right of payment and lien priority to the prior payment in
full of Senior Debt, including the Master Notes. See “APPENDIX D - FORM OF MASTER INDENTURE”
in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Under the Master Indenture, there shall be deposited in the Revenue Fund as and when received,
all lease payments and other amounts required to be paid by the School to the Institution under the
Subleases. Each month, provided no Event of Default has occurred or is continuing, on the next business
day immediately following receipt of the lease payments, the Master Trustee shall transfer amounts in the
Revenue Fund 1) to the Trustee any amounts due and payable or any additional amounts then required to
be on deposit with respect to the Series 2021 Bonds for the next ensuing month, first, for deposit in the
Principal Account or Interest Account of the Bond Fund, second, to replenish the Debt Service Reserve
Fund, and, third to pay any additional amounts owed by the Institution, all in accordance with Section 4.3(a)
of the Loan Agreement, and 2) to the Institution the balance, if any, to be expended in its sole discretion.

Application of Bond Fund Moneys

The Trustee shall (i) on each Interest Payment Date pay or cause to be paid out of the interest
account in the Bond Fund the interest due on the Bonds, and (ii) further pay out of the interest account of
the Bond Fund any amounts required for the payment of accrued interest upon any purchase or redemption
(including any mandatory Sinking Fund Installment redemption) of Bonds.

(b) The Trustee shall on each principal payment date on the Bonds pay or cause to be paid to
the respective paying agents therefor out of the principal account of the Bond Fund, the principal amount,
if any, due on the Bonds (other than such as shall be due by mandatory Sinking Fund Installment
redemption), upon the presentation and surrender of the requisite Bonds.

(©) There shall be paid from the sinking fund installment account of the Bond Fund to the
paying agents on each Sinking Fund Installment payment date in immediately available funds the amounts
required for the Sinking Fund Installment due and payable with respect to Bonds which are to be redeemed
from Sinking Fund Installments on such date (accrued interest on such Bonds being payable from the
interest account of the Bond Fund). Such amounts shall be applied by the paying agents to the payment of
such Sinking Fund Installment when due. The Trustee shall call for redemption, in the manner provided in
the Bond Indenture, Bonds for which Sinking Fund Installments are applicable in a principal amount equal
to the Sinking Fund Installment then due with respect to such Bonds. Such call for redemption shall be
made even though at the time of mailing of the notice of such redemption sufficient moneys therefor shall
not have been deposited in the Bond Fund.

(d) Amounts in the redemption account of the Bond Fund shall be applied, at the written
direction of the Institution, as promptly as practicable, to the purchase of Bonds at prices not exceeding the
redemption price thereof applicable on the earliest date upon which the Bonds are next subject to optional
redemption, plus accrued interest to the date of redemption. Any amount in the Redemption Account not
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so applied to the purchase of Bonds by forty-five (45) days prior to the next date on which the Bonds are
so redeemable shall be applied to the redemption of Bonds on such redemption date. Any amounts
deposited in the redemption account and not applied within twelve (12) months of their date of deposit to
the purchase or redemption of Bonds (except if held in accordance the Bond Indenture) shall be transferred
to the interest account. Upon the purchase of any Bonds out of advance loan payments as provided in this
subsection, or upon the redemption of any Bonds, an amount equal to the principal of such Bonds so
purchased or redeemed shall be credited against the next ensuing and future Sinking Fund Installments for
such Bonds in chronological order of the due dates of such Sinking Fund Installments until the full principal
amount of such Bonds so purchased or redeemed shall have been so credited. The portion of any such
Sinking Fund Installment remaining after the deduction of such amounts so credited shall constitute and be
deemed to be the amount of such Sinking Fund Installment for the purposes of any calculation thereof under
this Indenture. The Bonds to be purchased or redeemed shall be selected by the Trustee. Amounts in the
redemption account to be applied to the redemption of Bonds shall be paid to the respective paying agents
on or before the redemption date and applied by them on such redemption date to the payment of the
Redemption Price of the Bonds being redeemed plus interest on such Bonds accrued to the redemption date.

(e) In connection with purchases of Bonds out of the Bond Fund, the Institution shall arrange
and the Trustee shall execute such purchases (through brokers or otherwise, and with or without receiving
tenders) at the written direction of the Institution. The payment of the purchase price shall be made out of
the moneys deposited in the redemption account of the Bond Fund and the payment of accrued interest shall
be made out of moneys deposited in the interest account of the Bond Fund.

® The Issuer shall receive a credit in respect of Sinking Fund Installments for any Bonds
which are subject to mandatory Sinking Fund Installment redemption and which are delivered by the Issuer
or the Institution to the Trustee on or before the forty-fifth (45th) day next preceding any Sinking Fund
Installment payment date and for any Bonds which prior to said date have been purchased or redeemed
(otherwise than through the operation of the Sinking Fund Installment Account) and cancelled by the
Trustee and not theretofore applied as a credit against any Sinking Fund Installment. Each Bond so
delivered, cancelled or previously purchased or redeemed shall be credited by the Trustee at one hundred
per cent (100%) of the principal amount thereof against the obligation of the Issuer on such Sinking Fund
Installment payment date with respect to Bonds of such Series and maturity and the principal amount of
such Bonds to be redeemed by operation of the Sinking Fund Installment Account on the due date of such
Sinking Fund Installment shall be reduced accordingly, and any excess over such principal amount shall be
credited on future Sinking Fund Installments in direct chronological order, and the principal amount of
Bonds to be redeemed by application of Sinking Fund Installment payments shall be accordingly reduced.

(2) The Institution shall on or before the forty-fifth (45th) day next preceding each Sinking
Fund Installment payment date furnish the Trustee with the certificate of an authorized redemption of the
Institution indicating whether or not and to what extent the provisions of this Section are to be availed of
with respect to such Sinking Fund Installment payment, stating, in the case of the credit provided for, that
such credit has not theretofore been applied against any Sinking Fund Installment and confirming that
immediately available cash funds for the balance of the next succeeding prescribed Sinking Fund
Installment payment will be paid on or prior to the next succeeding Sinking Fund Installment payment date.

(h) Moneys in the redemption account of the Bond Fund which are not set aside or deposited
for the redemption or purchase of Bonds shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Interest Account, to the
Principal Account or to the Sinking Fund Installment Account of the Bond Fund.

Acceleration

Upon the occurrence of certain events, payment of the principal of and accrued interest on the
Series 2021 Bonds may be accelerated under the Bond Indenture. See “RISK FACTORS”; “APPENDIX F
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- FORM OF LOAN AGREEMENT - Events of Default” and “- Remedies on Default”; and “APPENDIX
E - FORM OF BOND INDENTURE - Events of Default; Acceleration of Due Date” and “- Enforcement
of Remedies” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Debt Service Reserve Fund

On the date of the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2021 A
Bonds in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (as defined herein) for the Series
2021A Bonds will be deposited in the Series 2021 A Bonds Debt Service Reserve Account of the Debt
Service Reserve Fund created under the Bond Indenture and a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2021B
Bonds in an amount equal to the Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement (as defined herein) for the Series
2021B Bonds will be deposited in the Series 2021B Bonds Debt Service Reserve Account of the Debt
Service Reserve Fund created under the Bond Indenture. The “Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement”
means, (A) with respect to the Series 2021 A Bonds, $969,400.00, which is the lesser of (i) ten percent
(10%) of the Stated Principal Amount as defined in the Tax Regulatory Agreement) of the Outstanding
Series 2021A Bonds, (ii) 100% of the greatest amount required in the then-current or any future calendar
year to pay the sum of the scheduled principal and interest payable on Outstanding Series 2021A Bonds; or
(ii1) 125% of the average annual amount required in the then current or any future calendar year to pay the
sum of scheduled principal and interest on Outstanding Bonds, and (B) with respect to the Series 2021B
Bonds, $65,000.00.

If on any Interest Payment Date or Redemption Date on the Bonds of a Series the amount in the
applicable subaccount of the Interest Account of the Bond Fund (after taking into account amounts available
to be transferred to the Interest Account from the applicable subaccount of the Capitalized Interest Account
of the Project Fund designated for such Series of Bonds) shall be less than the amount of interest then due
and payable on such Bonds, or if on any principal payment date on the Bonds of a Series the amount in the
applicable subaccount of the Principal Account shall be less than the amount of principal of such Bonds
then due and payable, or if on any Sinking Fund Installment payment date for the Bonds of a Series the
amount in the applicable subaccount of the Sinking Fund Installment Account of the Bond Fund shall be
less than the amount of the Sinking Fund Installment then due and payable on such Bonds, in each case,
after giving effect to all payments received by the Trustee in immediately available funds by 10:00 a.m.
(New York City time) on such date from or on behalf of the Institution or the Issuer on account of such
interest, principal or Sinking Fund Installment, the Trustee forthwith shall transfer moneys from the
applicable Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, first, to such Interest Account,
second to such Principal Account, and third, to such Sinking Fund Installment Account, all to the extent
necessary to make good any such deficiency, all pursuant to the Bond Indenture.

Upon the occurrence of an Event of Default under the Bond Indenture and the exercise by the
Trustee of remedies in the Loan Agreement and the Bond Indenture, any moneys in the Debt Service
Reserve Fund shall be transferred by the Trustee to the Bond Fund and applied in accordance with the Bond
Indenture, notice of which shall be given by the Trustee to the Institution, the Issuer and the Bondholders.
On the Loan Payment Date next preceding the final maturity date of a Series of Bonds, any moneys in the
applicable Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund shall be transferred to the Bond
Fund and used to pay the principal and interest on the Bonds of such Series on the final maturity date.

The Trustee will give to the Institution on or prior to each Loan Payment Date on which the
Institution is obligated pursuant to the Loan Agreement to pay to the Trustee amounts in respect of any
deficiency in a Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund, telephonic notice (to be
promptly confirmed in writing) specifying the amount of such deficiency and requesting the Institution to
deliver such amount to the Trustee in accordance with said Section of the Loan Agreement. The Trustee
shall deposit in such Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund the amount so
delivered by the Institution. The failure of the Trustee to deliver such notice or any defect in such notice

28



will not relieve the Issuer from any of its obligations under the Bond Indenture or any other obligor from
any of its obligations under any of the Security Documents.

In the event that the Institution delivers written notice to the Trustee of its intention to redeem
Bonds of a Series, the Institution may direct the Trustee to apply such amounts in the applicable Debt
Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund to effect such redemption such that the amount
remaining in the Debt Service Reserve Account in the Debt Service Reserve Fund upon such redemption
shall not be less than the reduced Debt Service Reserve Fund Requirement as will be applicable to the
remainder of the Bonds of such Series Outstanding.

Project Fund

On the Closing Date, the Trustee shall deposit a portion of the proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds
into the Project Fund. The Trustee is authorized to disburse from the Project Fund, pursuant to the terms of
the Bond Indenture, amounts required to pay (in whole or in part) the Project Costs, upon a requisition
submitted to the Trustee, signed by an Authorized Representative of the Institution.

Additional Bonds

So long as the Series 2021 Notes, the Loan Agreement and the other Security Documents are each
in effect, and the prior written consent of the Holders of at least sixty-six and two-thirds percent (66-2/3%)
in the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds shall have been obtained, one or more Series of Additional
Bonds may be issued, authenticated and delivered upon original issuance for the purpose of (i) completing
the Project, (ii) providing funds in excess of Net Proceeds to repair, relocate, replace, rebuild or restore the
Facility in the event of damage, destruction or taking by eminent domain, (iii) providing extensions,
additions or improvements to the Facility, the purpose of which shall be for the Approved Project
Operations, or (iv) refunding Outstanding Bonds. Such Additional Bonds shall be payable from the loan
payments, receipts and revenues of the Facility including such extensions, additions and improvements
thereto. Prior to the issuance of a Series of Additional Bonds and the execution of a Supplemental Indenture
in connection therewith, the Issuer and the Institution shall enter into an amendment to the Loan Agreement,
and the Institution shall execute new promissory notes, which shall provide, among other things, that the
loan payments payable by the Institution under the Loan Agreement and the aggregate amount to be paid
under all Series 2021 Notes shall be increased and computed so as to amortize in full the principal of and
interest on such Additional Bonds and any other costs in connection therewith. In addition, Additional
Bonds may be issued only upon receipt by the Trustee of certain items specified in the Bond Indenture.

Each Series of Additional Bonds shall be equally and ratably secured under the Bond Indenture
with the Series 2021 Bonds and all other Series of Additional Bonds, if any, issued pursuant to the Bond
Indenture, without preference, priority or distinction of any Series 2021 Bond over any other Series 2021
Bonds except as expressly provided in or permitted by the Bond Indenture.

Defeasance

Upon certain terms and conditions specified in the Bond Indenture, including provision for the
payment of such Series 2021 Bonds, the Series 2021 Bonds or portions thereof will be deemed to be paid
and the security provided in the Bond Indenture and the Mortgage may be discharged prior to maturity or
redemption of the Series 2021 Bonds. In that case, the Series 2021 Bonds will be secured solely by the cash
and securities deposited with the Trustee for such purpose. See “APPENDIX E - FORM OF BOND
INDENTURE - Discharge of Indenture; Defeasance” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.
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INVESTOR SUITABILITY STANDARDS

The Series 2021 Bonds are being offered only to Qualified Institutional Buyers and Accredited
Investors.

Each purchaser of the Series 2021 Bonds, or their representative, is sufficiently knowledgeable and
experienced in financial and business matters, including the purchase and ownership of municipal and other
tax-exempt and taxable debt obligations, to be able to evaluate the risks and merits of the investment
represented by the purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds, and it is capable of and has made its own
investigation of the Institution, the School and the Facility in connection with its decision to purchase the
Series 2021 Bonds on its own behalf or on behalf of the purchaser’s representative.

RISK FACTORS

No person should purchase any Series 2021 Bonds without carefully reviewing the following
information, which summarizes some, but not all, factors that should be carefully considered before such
purchase.

Nature of Special, Limited Obligations

THE SERIES 2021 BONDS ARE SPECIAL LIMITED REVENUE OBLIGATIONS OF THE
ISSUER, PAYABLE AS TO PRINCIPAL, REDEMPTION PRICE AND INTEREST, SOLELY FROM
THE TRUST ESTATE AND CERTAIN FUNDS AND ACCOUNTS ESTABLISHED UNDER THE
BOND INDENTURE. NEITHER THE STATE NOR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
INCLUDING THE CITY, SHALL BE OBLIGATED TO PAY THE PRINCIPAL OR REDEMPTION
PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. NEITHER THE FAITH AND CREDIT
NOR THE TAXING POWER OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
INCLUDING THE CITY, IS PLEDGED TO SUCH PAYMENT OF THE SERIES 2021 BONDS. THE
SERIES 2021 BONDS WILL NOT BE PAYABLE OUT OF ANY FUNDS OF THE ISSUER OTHER
THAN THOSE PLEDGED THEREFOR PURSUANT TO THE BOND INDENTURE. THE SERIES 2021
BONDS WILL NOT GIVE RISE TO A PECUNIARY LIABILITY OR CHARGE AGAINST THE
CREDIT OR TAXING POWERS OF THE STATE OR ANY POLITICAL SUBDIVISION THEREOF,
INCLUDING THE CITY. NO RECOURSE WILL BE HAD FOR THE PAYMENT OF THE PRINCIPAL
OR REDEMPTION PRICE OF, OR INTEREST ON, THE SERIES 2021 BONDS AGAINST ANY
MEMBER, OFFICER, DIRECTOR, EMPLOYEE OR AGENT OF THE ISSUER. THE ISSUER HAS NO
TAXING POWER.

Dependence on Institution’s Ability to Pay Loan Payments; Ability of School to Pay Rent

Payment of principal of, premium, if any, and interest on, the Series 2021 Bonds is intended to be
made from loan payments made by the Institution under the Loan Agreement, except to the extent payment
is intended to be made from other amounts held under the Bond Indenture such as Series 2021 Bond
proceeds or investment earnings. The Institution has no significant assets or business other than its leasehold
interest in the Facilities. The ability of the Institution to make loan payments will depend on the Institution’s
ability to generate revenues sufficient to pay the loan payments, which will primarily depend on the ability
of the School to make payments under the Sublease. The terms of the Subleases do not extend through the
maturity date of the Series 2021 Bonds, but are subject to extension and early termination. See
“REDEMPTION OF SERIES 2021 BONDS” “APPENDIX J-1 — FORM OF ANDREWS AVENUE
NORTH SUBLEASE,” “APPENDIX J-2 — FORM OF 413 EAST 144™ STREET SUBLEASE,” and
“APPENDIX J-3 — FORM OF COURTLANDT AVENUE SUBLEASE” and “APPENDIX A” in this
Limited Offering Memorandum.
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The School’s primary source of income is state education funding. See “CHARTER SCHOOL
FUNDING IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK? in this Limited Offering Memorandum. Prior enrollment
history of the School is no guarantee of future enrollment and revenues. See “APPENDIX A” in this Limited
Offering Memorandum.

The amounts and the timing of future revenues of the School cannot be determined with assurance.
Prior revenues and expenditures of the School are no guarantee as to future revenue and expenditures of
the School. Any event that would cause a delay, reduction or elimination of state education funding would
have a material adverse effect on the ability of the School to pay rent under the Sublease.

No Taxing Authority; Dependence on Education Aid Payments

The Institution and the School do not possess any taxing authority and the School is substantially
dependent upon the State to continue to provide funding for public charter schools. The obligation of the
State under the Charter School Act and State law to fund the School is conditioned upon the availability of
funds appropriated or allocated for the payment of such obligation. In the event the State were to withhold
the payment of money from the School for any reason, even a reason that is ultimately determined to be
invalid or unlawful, it is likely that the School would be forced to cease operations.

Failure of New York City Department of Education to Make Education Aid Payments to the School

The regulations adopted by the New York State Commissioner of Education (the “Commissioner”)
provide that a charter school shall notify the Commissioner in the event that a school district fails to make
a required bi-monthly Education Aid Payment to a charter school such as the School. Such notice shall be
given subsequent to the date a bi-monthly payment is due, but in no event later than May 31 of the school
year in which such payments are due. Upon receipt of such notice, the Commissioner must certify to the
State Comptroller (the “Comptroller”’) the amount of the unpaid obligation of the school district, which said
amount shall be deducted from any Education Aid Payment due to such school district and instead will be
paid directly by the Comptroller to the School. There can be no assurance of the timing of receipt of any
such amounts so paid by the Comptroller.

Delay in or Termination or Reduction of Education Aid Payments

Even though the State is obligated under its Constitution to provide for the maintenance and support
of a system of free common schools, it is not obligated either to continue to authorize the operation of
charter schools or to continue its current system of Education Aid Payments. Any change in the Charter
Schools Act or in the provisions of the State Education Law relating to the appropriation of Education Aid
Payments or failure by the State Legislature to appropriate funds sufficient to fund the operation of charter
schools could have a material adverse effect on the ability of the School to make the payments of rent under
the Sublease and therefore on the ability of the Institution to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement
representing debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds.

Although State law prescribes a detailed process applicable to the adoption by the State of its annual
budget, the annual budgetary process has resulted in some years in the adoption of annual budgets later,
and in some instances substantially later, than April 1, which is the start of the State’s fiscal year. No
assurance can be given as to the date of adoption of future annual budgets or as to the availability of funds
for public education purposes while the annual budget is pending. In addition, the State has had well
publicized budget issues and deficits and such State budgetary pressures could continue and cause revisions
to the funding of charter schools in the State.
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Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic on the Finances of the School

The outbreak of COVID-19, a respiratory disease caused by a new strain of coronavirus, has been
declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization. The Governor of the State of New York declared
a state of emergency, which has since been lifted. Nevertheless, the continued spread of COVID-19 and the
continued impact on social interaction, travel, economies and financial markets may adversely impact the
School’s finances and operations. The continued spread of COVID-19 and its related impacts may (a)
adversely affect the ability of the School to conduct its normal operations and/or may adversely affect the
cost of, or revenue derived from, operations, or both, (b) adversely affect financial markets generally and
consequently adversely affect the returns on, and value of, the School’s investments and liquidity and (c)
adversely affect the secondary market for, and value of, the Series 2021 Bonds. In addition, such factors
may limit the sources of liquidity available in ordinary markets, and adversely impact the School’s ability
to access capital markets generally. The School is monitoring developments and the directives of federal,
state and local officials to determine what additional precautions and procedures may need to be
implemented by the School in the event of the continued spread of COVID-19. The full impact of COVID-
19 and the scope of any adverse impact on the School’s finances and operations cannot be fully determined
at this time. Other adverse consequences of COVID-19 may include, but are not limited to, decline in net
revenue.

For additional information about the impact of COVID-19 on the School, see “APPENDIX A —
Impacts of COVID-19” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on the Finances of the State

Due principally to the COVID-19 pandemic, reduced receipts are expected through State fiscal year
2024. According to the four year financial plan released by the State on May 8, 2020, as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic, State spending may be significantly reduced. Such reductions may include
reductions to “aid to localities” which includes State aid to school districts, including the School District.
Any significant reductions or delays in the payment of State aid could adversely affect the financial
condition of school districts in the State.

Projections

The Financial Projections (the “Projections”) prepared by the School and contained in “APPENDIX
A — Projected Financial Information for Brilla” are based upon certain assumptions made by the School.
No assurance can be given that the results described in the Projections will be achieved. The School does
not intend to issue additional Projections and, accordingly, there are risks inherent in using the Projections
in the future as the Projections become outdated. The Projections are only for fiscal years ending June 30,
2022 through June 30, 2025 and do not cover the entire period during which the Series 2021 Bonds may
be outstanding. The Projections will not be updated to reflect the final pricing of the Series 2021 Bonds.
See “APPENDIX A — Projected Financial Information for Brilla” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

No guarantee can be made that the Projections will correspond with the results actually achieved
in the future by the School because there is no assurance that actual events will correspond with the
assumptions made by the School. For example, the Projections makes certain assumptions as to continued
demand for educational facilities such as the Facility and future enrollment at the School. Actual operating
results of the School may be affected by many factors, including, but not limited to, increased costs, lower
than anticipated enrollment, reduced State funding, changes in demographic trends, and local and general
economic conditions. The Projections, which appear in “APPENDIX A — Projected Financial Information
for Brilla” in this Limited Offering Memorandum, should be read in their entirety.
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Termination, Revocation or Nonrenewal of the Charters

The School’s charter may be terminated by SUNY or Board of Regents for the grounds set forth in
the Charter. The Charters also provide that they may be terminated and revoked by mutual agreement of
the parties. For more information regarding conditions under which the charters may be revoked, the
revocation procedure, and other information regarding the Charters and the Charter Schools Act, see
“CHARTER SCHOOL FUNDING IN THE STATE OF NEW YORK,” “APPENDIX A - GENERAL,”
and “APPENDIX B - SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONS OF NEW YORK EDUCATION LAW”
in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

While the School believes that it is in good standing with both SUNY and the Board of Regents
and is in material compliance with the Charters, no assurance can be given that the School will be able to
maintain such good standing in the future. In addition, even though the School does not anticipate any non-
renewal or revocation of its Charters, there can be no assurance that neither SUNY nor the Board of Regents
will revoke a Charter in the future or choose not to renew a Charter when it ends.

No Pledge of Revenues by the School

Under New York law, the School may not legally assign or pledge any interest in public education
aid payable to the School pursuant to the Charter Schools Act to secure its obligations under the Sublease
Agreement and therefore the Institution cannot assign that revenue pledge to the Trustee. In the event of a
bankruptcy or insolvency of the School, the lack of a revenue pledge could adversely impact the Trustee’s
ability to secure revenues for the benefit of the Bondholders.

Factors Associated with Education

There are a number of factors affecting schools in general, including the School, that could have
an adverse effect on the School’s financial position and its ability to make the payments required under the
Sublease and therefore on the ability of the Institution to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement.
These factors include, but are not limited to (i) the ability to attract a sufficient number of students; (ii)
future legislation and regulations affecting charter schools and the educational system in general; (iii)
increasing costs of compliance with federal or State regulatory laws or regulations, including, without
limitation, laws or regulations concerning environmental quality, work safety and accommodating persons
with disabilities; (iv) increased costs of attracting and retaining or a decreased availability of a sufficient
number of teachers, including as related to any unionization of the School’s work force with consequent
impact on wage scales and operating costs of the School; (v) decline of the reputation of the School, the
faculty or student body, either generally or with respect to certain academic or extracurricular areas; and
disruption of the operations of the School by real or perceived threats against the School, the employees or
the students; (vi) cost and availability of insurance for charter schools in the State; and (vii) changes in
existing statutes pertaining to the powers of the School and legislation or regulations which may affect
program funding. The School cannot assess or predict the ultimate effect of these factors on its operations
or the financial results of operations.

Potential Unionization

The teachers and staff at the School are not unionized, although no assurance can be given that they
will not unionize or attempt to unionize in the future.

Competition for Students

As an operator of charter schools in New York City, the School’s catchment area is the entire city.
No assurance can be given that the School will attract and retain the number of students that are needed to
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produce revenue necessary to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds, or that additional
competing schools will not be created in or near the School’s respective service areas.

Foreclosure Delays and Deficiency

Should loan payments be insufficient to pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021 Bonds,
the Trustee may seek to foreclose on the or sell the Institution’s leasehold interests in the Facilities securing
the Series 2021 Bonds. However, no assurance can be given that the value of Institution’s leasehold interests
in the Facility at the time of such foreclosure or sale would be sufficient to meet all remaining principal and
interest payments on the Series 2021 Bonds. In addition, the time necessary to institute and complete such
proceedings could substantially delay receipt of funds from a foreclosure or sale. There could also be delays
in regaining possession of the Facilities from the Institution and the School in the event of any default or
dispute under the Loan Agreement.

Effect of Federal Bankruptcy Laws on Security for the Series 2021 Bonds

Bankruptcy proceedings and equity principles may delay or otherwise adversely affect the
enforcement of Bondholders’ rights in the property granted as security for the Series 2021 Bonds.
Furthermore, if the security for the Series 2021 Bonds is inadequate for payment in full of the Series 2021
Bonds, bankruptcy proceedings and equity principles may also limit any attempt by the Trustee to seek
payment from other property of the Institution, if any. Also, federal bankruptcy law permits adoption of a
reorganization plan, even though it has not been accepted by the holders of a majority in the aggregate
principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds, if the Bondholders are provided with the benefit of their original
lien or the “indubitable equivalent.” In addition, if the bankruptcy court concludes that the Bondholders
have “adequate protection,” it may (i) substitute other security subject to the lien of the Bondholders, and
(i1) subordinate the lien of the Bondholders (a) to claims by persons supplying goods and services to the
Institution after bankruptcy and (b) to the administrative expenses of the bankruptcy proceeding. The
bankruptcy court may also have the power to invalidate certain provisions of the Mortgage that make
bankruptcy and related proceedings by the Institution an event of default thereunder.

Litigation

Educational institutions like the School are often subject to litigation. Educator's professional
liability and other actions alleging wrongful conduct and seeking punitive damages often are filed against
education providers such as the School. Litigation may also arise from the corporate and operational
activities of the School or from employee-related matters. As with educator's professional liability, many
of these risks are covered by insurance but some are not.

For example, some contract disputes and worker's compensation claims are not covered by
insurance or other sources, and may be a liability of the School if determined or settled adversely. Although
the School maintains insurance policies covering educator's professional and general liability, management
of the School is unable to predict the availability, cost or adequacy of such insurance in the future. Any
inability of the School in the future to secure affordable, adequate insurance may expose the School to
litigation risks that may adversely affect the School's ability to generate adequate funds to pay debt service
on the Bonds.

Cybersecurity

Like many organizations, the School is highly dependent on digital technologies. These systems
necessarily hold large quantities of highly sensitive protected information that is highly valued on the black
market for such information. As a result, the electronic systems and networks of organizations like the
School are considered likely targets for cyber-attacks and other potential breaches of their systems. In
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addition to regulatory fines and penalties, the educational entities subject to the breaches may be liable for
the costs of remediating the breaches, damages to individuals whose information has been breached,
reputational damage and business loss, and damage to the information technology infrastructure. The
School has taken, and continues to take, measures to protect its information technology system against such
cyber-attacks, but there can be no assurance that the School will not experience a significant breach. If
such a breach occurs, the financial consequences of such a breach could have a material adverse impact on
the School.

Key Personnel

The School’s creation, curriculum, educational philosophy, and day-to-day operations reflect the
vision and commitment of the individuals who serve on the School’s Board of Trustees and as the School’s
administrators (the “Key Personnel”). The loss of any Key Personnel could adversely affect the School’s
operations, its ability to attract and retain students and ultimately its financial results. For more information
regarding the School’s Key Personnel, see “APPENDIX A — GOVERNANCE” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Forward-Looking Statements

This Limited Offering Memorandum contains certain statements that are “forward-looking”
statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this
Limited Offering Memorandum, including without limitation statements that use terminology such as
“estimate,” “plan,” “budget,” “expect,” “intend,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “may,” “will,” “continue,” and
similar expressions, are forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, among
other things, the discussions related to the School’s operations and expectations regarding student
enrollment, future operations, revenues, capital resources, and expenditures for capital projects. Although
the Institution and the School believe that the assumptions upon which the forward-looking statements
contained in this Limited Offering Memorandum are based are reasonable, any of the assumptions could
prove to be inaccurate and, as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions also
could be incorrect. All phases of the operations of the Institution and the School involve risks and
uncertainties, many of which are outside the control of the Institution and the School and any one of which,
or a combination of which, could materially affect the results of the Institution’s or the School’s operations
and whether the forward-looking statements ultimately prove to be correct. Factors that could cause actual
results to differ from those expected include, but are not limited to, general economic conditions such as
inflation and interest rates, both nationally and in New York where the Facilities are located; the willingness
of the State to fund charter school operations at present or increased levels; competitive conditions within
the School’s market, including the acceptance of the education services offered by the School; lower
enrollments than projected; unanticipated expenses; the capabilities of the Institution and School’s
management; changes in government regulation of the education industry; future claims for accidents at the
Facility and the extent of insurance coverage for such claims; and other risks discussed in this Limited
Offering Memorandum. THE PROJECTIONS CONTAINED IN APPENDIX A ATTACHED TO THIS
LIMITED OFFERING MEMORANDUM ARE NOT A HISTORICAL STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE OF THE SCHOOL, BUT ARE A FORWARD LOOKING FORECAST OF FUTURE,
PROJECTED FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE OF THE SCHOOL.

No representation or assurance can be given that the School will realize revenues in an amount
sufficient to make the required payments under the Sublease and therefore on the ability of the Institution
to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement representing debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds. No
market study or demand analysis has been prepared for the School to analyze the existing or future demand
for the School’s charter school educational services. The realization of future Revenues is dependent upon,
among other things, the matters described in the foregoing paragraphs and future changes in economic and
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other conditions that are unpredictable and cannot be determined at this time. The Underwriter makes no
representation as to the accuracy of the projections contained herein or as to the assumptions on which the
projections are based.

Property Tax Exemption

Under present State law and rulings, property used for charter school purposes is exempt from
property taxes levied by political subdivisions of the State so long as such property is used for the exempt
purpose of the Institution. Nevertheless, such laws, regulations and rulings are subject to change, and no
assurance can be given that any future change in exempt status would not have a material adverse effect on
the Institution. If the Institution is required to pay property taxes with respect to the Facility in the future,
it would have a negative impact on the cashflow of the Institution. The Institution has assumed for purposes
of the Projections that the Institution will be exempt from property taxes with respect to the Facility;
however, no assurance can be given that such exemption will be granted.

Tax-Exempt Status of the Institution

The Institution is a Wyoming not-for-profit corporation. The Institution has been determined by
the Internal Revenue Service to be an organization described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. Under
present federal law, regulations and rulings, the income and revenue of not-for-profit, 501(c)(3) qualified
exempt organizations are exempt from federal income tax, except for any unrelated business income as
defined in the Code, and their revenues are exempt from the State sales tax except for certain services. If
the Institution fails to meet the requirements necessary to preserve its status as a not-for-profit corporation
and a tax-exempt charitable organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, the Institution could be
required to pay income tax on the payments in receives from the School pursuant to the Sublease which
would adversely affect the Institution’s ability in the future to make payments under the Loan Agreement
representing debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds. In addition, if the Institution were to lose its tax-exempt
status, the tax-exempt status of the Series 2021 A Bonds also would be adversely affected and would cause
a mandatory redemption of the Series 2021 A Bonds. The Institution will covenant in the Loan Agreement
that it will not take any actions or fail to take any actions, the result of which would adversely affect the
Institution’s status as a not-for-profit corporation and its status as a tax-exempt charitable organization
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.

Tax-Exempt Status of the School

The School is a New York not-for-profit education corporation authorized to operate five (5) public
charter schools. The School has been determined by the Internal Revenue Service to be an organization
described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. Under present federal law, regulations and rulings, the income
and revenue of not-for-profit, 501(c)(3) qualified exempt organizations are exempt from federal income
tax, except for any unrelated business income as defined in the Code, and their revenues are exempt from
the State sales tax except for certain services. If the School fails to meet the requirements necessary to
preserve its status as a not-for-profit education corporation and a tax-exempt charitable organization under
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code, the School could experience expenses which are greater than those projected
in “APPENDIX A — Projected Financial Information” and revenues which are lower than those projected
in “APPENDIX A — Projected Financial Information”, which would adversely affect the School’s ability
in the future to pay the amount due under the Sublease and therefore adversely affect the Institution’s ability
to make loan payments under the Loan Agreement representing debt service on the Series 2021 Bonds. In
addition, if the School were to lose its tax-exempt status, the tax-exempt status of the Series 2021 A Bonds
also would be adversely affected and would cause a mandatory redemption of the Series 2021 A Bonds. The
School will covenant in the Master Covenant Agreement that it will not take any actions or fail to take any
actions, the result of which would adversely affect the School’s status as a not-for-profit corporation and
its status as a tax-exempt charitable organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.
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IRS Compliance Program

The Internal Revenue Service has an active program of conducting examinations of tax-exempt
bonds through its Tax-Exempt and Government Entities Division (the “TE/GE Division”). Bond Counsel
will render an opinion with respect to the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2021A Bonds, as
described under the caption “TAX MATTERS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum. However, the
Institution has not sought and is not expected to seek, a ruling from the Internal Revenue Service with
respect to the tax-exempt status of the Series 2021 A Bonds. No assurance can be given that the Internal
Revenue Service will not examine the Series 2021 A Bonds. If the Internal Revenue Service examines the
Series 2021A Bonds, such examination may have an adverse impact on the marketability and price of the
Series 2021 A Bonds. See “TAX MATTERS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Tax-Exempt Status of the Series 2021A Bonds

The tax-exempt status of the interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds is conditioned upon the Institution
and the School complying with the requirements of the Code and applicable Treasury Regulations as they
relate to the Series 2021A Bonds. Failure of the Institution and the School to comply with the terms and
conditions of the Loan Agreement, the Tax Certificate, the Bond Indenture, the Sublease and other
documents as described herein may result in the loss of the tax-exempt status of the interest on the Series
2021A Bonds retroactive to the date of issuance of the Series 2021A Bonds. If interest on the Series 2021 A
Bonds should become includable in gross income for purposes of federal income taxation, the Series 2021 A
Bonds would be mandatorily redeemed. See “TAX MATTERS” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Changes in Law; Annual Appropriation; Inadequate Education Aid Payments

Future changes to the Charter Schools Act by the State Legislature could be adverse to the financial
interests of the Institution and the School and could adversely affect the security and sources of payment
for the Series 2021 Bonds. There can be no assurance given that the State Legislature will not in the future
amend the Charter Schools Act in a manner which is adverse to the interests of the registered owners of the
Series 2021 Bonds.

As in many states, lawsuits are occasionally filed in New York challenging the State’s system of
funding public schools. The outcome of any such public school funding cases in the State in the future
cannot be known.

New York may experience downturns in its economy and tax revenues in the future. The provisions
of the Charter Schools Act are subject to amendment by the State Legislature, including the reduction of
State funding, which could adversely affect the School.

STATE BUDGET CONSIDERATIONS MAY ALSO ADVERSELY AFFECT
APPROPRIATIONS FOR CHARTER SCHOOL FUNDING.

Damage or Destruction

The Loan Agreement, the Mortgages and the Subleases require that the Facilities be insured against
certain risks. There can be no assurance that the amount of insurance required to be obtained with respect
to the Facilities will be adequate or that the cause of any damage or destruction to the Facilities will be as
a result of a risk which is insured. Further, there can be no assurance of the ongoing creditworthiness of the
insurance companies from which the Institution and the School obtain insurance policies. The Institution
and the School believe that the risks associated with the Facilities and the operation of the Facilities are
adequately provided for through the insurance policies the School maintains. The School will provide
property insurance on the Facilities through a standard commercial insurance policy. In addition, in the
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event that the Facility is damaged or destroyed, no assurance can be given that the School would be able to
find a similar replacement school facility at a comparable cost or in a comparable location.

Environmental Risks & Hazardous Materials

The Facility is subject to various federal, State and local laws and regulations relating to human
health and safety and the environment. In general, these laws and regulations could require the owner of
the Facilities to implement mitigation to reduce the environmental impacts of the Facilities or to remediate
adverse environmental conditions on or relating to the Facility, regardless of whether arising from
preexisting conditions or arising because of the activities conducted in connection with the ownership and
operation of the Facilities. Moreover, these laws and regulations can and often do change through
legislative, judicial, or regulatory activities. The School had Phase I Environmental Site Assessments for
each of the Facilities. Such reports are available to investors upon request of the Institution and/or School.

Hazardous materials laws, including, without limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act, impose joint and several liability, without regard to fault, for
investigation and clean-up costs on persons who have disposed of or released hazardous substances into the
environment and on current and former owners and operators of real property. The Institution will own a
leasehold interest in the Facilities, and the Institution’s leasehold interest in Facilities will serve to secure
the Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to the Mortgages which is granted to the Issuer and the Trustee and assigned
to the Trustee.

In connection with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds, Phase I Environmental Site Assessments
for each of the Andrews Avenue North Facility (the “AAN Phase I”), the Courtlandt Avenue Facility (the
“CA Phase I”), and the East 144™ Street Facility (the “144 Phase 1) were performed. The AAN Phase I
shows that there were no recognized environmental conditions (“RECs”™), historic recognized
environmental conditions (“HCRECs”) or controlled recognized environmental conditions (“CRECs”)
identified for the site. However, environmental concerns relating to fluorescent light ballasts and possible
asbestos containing materials were identified. No evidence of leakage was identified relating to the
fluorescent lights and, subsequent to the date of the AAN Phase I, an asbestos monitoring and abatement
project was undertaken with a close-out report issued in April 2020. The CA Phase I dated July 2021 shows
no RECs, CRECs or HRECs. However, environmental concerns relating to fluorescent light ballasts and
possible asbestos containing materials were identified. No evidence of leakage was identified relating to
the fluorescent lights. The 144 Phase I dated June 2021 shows no RECs, CRECs or HRECs and lists one
environmental concern relating to fluorescent lights, with no evidence of leakage identified. Based on the
AAN Phase I, CA Phase I and 144th Phase I reports showing no RECs, HRECs or CRECs, there are no
immediate plans for additional remediation efforts at the Leased Facilities at this time.

Environmental Regulations

Federal, state, and local environmental and health and safety laws, regulations, and standards
regulate the Facilities. Conditions or mitigation as required by these laws and regulations may be imposed
either through permitting or by audit, either of which could result in increased costs to the School. While
the School believes that it is in material compliance with applicable environmental laws for the Facilities,
there is no assurance that the School, in operation of the Facilities as currently contemplated, is now or will
always be in compliance with these regulations. In addition, the costs incurred by the School with respect
to compliance with human health and safety and environmental laws and regulations could adversely affect
its financial condition and its ability to own and operate the Facilities.
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Limited Nature of Appraisal

An appraisal for the site of the Andrews Avenue North Facility, dated September 6, 2019 (the
“AAN Appraisal”), an appraisal for the Courtlandt Avenue Facility, dated August 12, 2016 (the “CA
Appraisal”), and an appraisal for the East 144™ Street Facility, dated September 29, 2015 (the “144
Appraisal”) were provided. The AAN Appraisal values the leasehold value of the Andrews Avenue North
Facility at $12,410,000 upon completion of the improvements at the Facility. The CA Appraisal values the
leasehold interest of the Courtlandt Avenue Facility at $6,350,000. The 144 Appraisal values the leasehold
interest of the East 144™ Street Facility at $10,300,000. Such reports are available to investors upon request
of the Institution and/or School.

Enforcement of Remedies

The remedies available to the Trustee or the registered owners of the Series 2021 Bonds upon an
Event of Default under the Bond Indenture or the Loan Agreement are in many respects dependent upon
judicial actions which are often subject to discretion and delay. Under existing constitutional and statutory
law and judicial decisions, the remedies provided in the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement may not
be readily available or may be limited. The various legal opinions to be delivered concurrently with the
delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds will be qualified as to the enforceability of the various legal instruments
by limitations imposed by the valid exercise of the sovereign powers of the State and the constitutional
powers of the United States of America, bankruptcy, reorganization, insolvency or other similar laws
affecting the rights of creditors generally.

Inability to Liquidate or Delay in Liquidating the Mortgaged Property

An Event of Default gives the Master Trustee the right to possession of, and the right to sell the
Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property pursuant to a foreclosure sale under the Mortgage.
The Mortgaged Property consists of special purpose facilities with limited alternative purposes based upon
design and construction of buildings, zoning and other facilities. There can be no assurance that if any
Event of Default were to occur (i) any or all of the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property
could be foreclosed upon or sold for an amount sufficient to pay principal of and interest on the outstanding
Series 2021 Bonds, or (ii) any bid would be received for the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged
Property and, if received, would be sufficient to fully pay the principal of and interest on the Series 2021
Bonds. Any sale of the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property would require compliance
with the laws of the State applicable thereto. Such compliance might be difficult, time-consuming and
expensive. Any delays in the ability of the Master Trustee to foreclose on the Mortgage would result in
delays in the payment of the Series 2021 Bonds.

The Facilities are designed for use as a public charter school and may not be readily adaptable to
other uses. Additionally, the Bond Indenture and the Loan Agreement require the consent of the Issuer
before any substitute use of the Facilities is implemented. As a result, in the event of a sale of the
Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property, the number of uses that could be made of the
property, and the number of entities which would be interested in purchasing the Institution’s leasehold
interest in the Mortgaged Property, could be limited and the sale price could thus be adversely affected.
The location of the Mortgaged Property might also limit the number of potential purchasers. The ability of
the Master Trustee to sell the Institution’s leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property to third parties,
thereby liquidating the investment, would be limited as a result of the nature of the Mortgaged Property.
For these reasons, no assurance can be made that the amount realized upon any sale of the Institution’s
leasehold interest in the Mortgaged Property would be fully sufficient to pay and discharge the Series 2021
Bonds. In particular, there can be no representation that the cost of the property included in the Mortgaged
Property would constitute a realizable amount upon any forced sale thereof. In the event the Master Trustee
took possession of the Mortgaged Property, the Mortgaged Property might be subject to real property
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taxation, which would adversely impact the amount realized upon any sale of the Institution’s leasehold
interest in the Mortgaged Property that could be used to pay and discharge the Series 2021 Bonds.

Failure to Provide Ongoing Disclosure

The Institution and the School will enter into the Continuing Disclosure Agreement pursuant to
Rule 15¢2-12, promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”). Neither the Institution nor the School has previously been subject to
a continuing disclosure undertaking under Rule 15¢2-12. Failure by the Institution or the School to comply
with the Continuing Disclosure Agreement and the Rule may adversely affect the liquidity of the Series
2021 Bonds and their market price in the secondary market. See “CONTINUING DISCLOSURE” and
“APPENDIX I - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

Private School Vouchers

Various proposals offering private school vouchers to families to assist with the cost of private
schools have been considered by the State Legislature and will likely be introduced again in the future.

Redemption Prior to Maturity

The Series 2021 Bonds are subject to redemption at the option of the Institution and in the event of
certain occurrences. See “THE SERIES 2021 BONDS - Redemption of Series 2021 Bonds” in this Limited
Offering Memorandum.

Conclusion

AN INVESTMENT IN THE SERIES 2021 BONDS INVOLVES A HIGH DEGREE OF RISK
AND IS SPECULATIVE IN NATURE. The relatively high interest rate borne by the Series 2021 Bonds
(as compared to prevailing interest rates on more secure bonds such as those that constitute general
obligations of fiscally sound municipalities or states or creditworthy borrowers) is intended to compensate
the investor for assuming this element of risk. Each prospective investor should carefully examine this
Limited Offering Memorandum, and the Appendices hereto, and such investor's own financial condition in
order to make a judgment as to whether the Series 2021 Bonds are an appropriate investment for such
investor.

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE SCHOOL AND INSTITUTION

The audited financial statements of the School for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 (the “Audited
Financial Statements”) are included in this Limited Offering Memorandum as APPENDIX C-1. The
financial statements in APPENDIX C-1 were audited by Mengel Mezger Barr & Co. LLP, independent
auditors, as stated in their report thereon. See “APPENDIX C-1 - AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
OF BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED
JUNE 30, 2021” in this Limited Offering Memorandum. The financial statements for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2021 are the most recent audited financial statements available for the School. The audited
financial statements for the Institution for the years ended June 30, 2020 and June 30, 2019 are included in
this Limited Offering Memorandum as APPENDIX C-2. The financial statements in APPENDIX C-2 were
audited by D.K. Weiss, Holt & Associates, PLLC, independent auditors, as stated in their report thereon.
See “APPENDIX C-2 - AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.
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THE PROJECTIONS

The School has prepared the Projections and related assumptions included in “APPENDIX A -
Projected Financial Information” in this Limited Offering Memorandum. The Projections are based on the
assumptions made by management of the School as to, among other things, future enrollment levels, future
costs and future revenues. The Projections are for the four fiscal years of the School ending June 30, 2022
through June 30, 2025. The Projections will not be updated to reflect the final pricing of the Series 2021
Bonds. The Projections (including the notes thereto) should be read in their entirety.

The Projections are based on various assumptions that represent only the beliefs of the School’s
management as to the most probable future events and are subject to material uncertainties. No assurances
can be given that the School will, in fact, be able to generate sufficient revenue and attain the enrollment
levels as stated in the Projections, and variations from the Projections for each of such matters should be
expected to occur. Accordingly, the operations and financial condition of the School in the future will
inevitably vary from those set forth in the Projections, and such variance may be material and adverse. See
“RISK FACTORS - Projections” in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

The School has not assumed any responsibility to update the Projections or to provide any financial
forecasts or projections in the future. The Underwriter and the Issuer have made no independent inquiry as
to the assumptions on which the Projections are based and assume no responsibility therefor.

TAX MATTERS - SERIES 2021A BONDS
Federal Income Taxes

The Code imposes certain requirements that must be met subsequent to the issuance and delivery
of the Series 2021 A Bonds for interest thereon to be and remain excluded from gross income for federal
income tax purposes. Noncompliance with such requirements could cause the interest on the Series 2021A
Bonds to be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issue of the
Series 2021A Bonds. Pursuant to the Indenture, the Loan Agreement, the Use Agreement, and the Tax
Regulatory Agreement, by and between the Issuer, the Institution and the School (the “Tax Certificate™),
the Issuer, the Institution and the School have covenanted to comply with the applicable requirements of
the Code in order to maintain the exclusion of the interest on the Series 2021A Bonds from gross income
for federal income tax purposes pursuant to Section 103 of the Code. In addition, the Issuer, the Institution
and the School have made certain representations and certifications in the Indenture, the Loan Agreement,
the Use Agreement and the Tax Certificate. Bond Counsel will also rely on the opinion of counsel to the
Institution and to the School as to all matters concerning (a) the status of the Institution and the School as
organizations described in Section 501(c)(3) of the Code and exempt from federal income tax under Section
501(a) of the Code, and (b) that the intended use of the facilities financed or refinanced with proceeds of
Series 2021 A Bonds will be in furtherance of the Institution’s and the School’s exempt purposes under
Section 501(c)(3) of the Code. Bond Counsel will not independently verify the accuracy of those
representations and certifications or those opinions.

In the opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, Bond Counsel, under existing law and assuming compliance
with the aforementioned covenant, and the accuracy of certain representations and certifications made by
the Issuer, the Institution and the School described above, interest on the Series 2021A Bonds is excluded
from gross income for federal income tax purposes under Section 103 of the Code. Bond Counsel is also
of the opinion that such interest is not treated as a preference item in calculating the alternative minimum
tax imposed under the Code.
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State Taxes

Bond Counsel is also of the opinion that, under existing law, interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds is
exempt from personal income taxation imposed by the State of New York or any political subdivision of
the State of New York, including The City of New York, assuming compliance with tax covenants and the
accuracy of the representations and certifications described under the heading “Federal Income Taxes”
above. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to other State of New York or local tax consequences arising
with respect to the Series 2021A Bonds nor as to the taxability of the Series 2021 A Bonds or the income
therefrom under the laws of any state other than the State of New York.

Original Issue Premium

Series 2021 A Bonds sold at prices in excess of their principal amounts are “Premium Bonds”. An
initial purchaser with an initial adjusted basis in a Premium Bond in excess of its principal amount will
have amortizable bond premium which offsets the amount of tax-exempt interest and is not deductible from
gross income for federal income tax purposes. The amount of amortizable bond premium for a taxable year
is determined actuarially on a constant interest rate basis over the term of each Premium Bond based on the
purchaser’s yield to maturity (or, in the case of Premium Bonds callable prior to their maturity, over the
period to the call date, based on the purchaser’s yield to the call date and giving effect to any call premium).
For purposes of determining gain or loss on the sale or other disposition of a Premium Bond, an initial
purchaser who acquires such obligation with an amortizable bond premium is required to decrease such
purchaser’s adjusted basis in such Premium Bond annually by the amount of amortizable bond premium
for the taxable year. The amortization of bond premium may be taken into account as a reduction in the
amount of tax-exempt income for purposes of determining various other tax consequences of owning such
Series 2021A Bonds. Owners of the Premium Bonds are advised that they should consult with their own
advisors with respect to the state and local tax consequences of owning such Premium Bonds.

Ancillary Tax Matters

Ownership of the Series 2021 A Bonds may result in other federal tax consequences to certain
taxpayers, including, without limitation, certain S corporations, foreign corporations with branches in the
United States, property and casualty insurance companies, individuals receiving Social Security or Railroad
Retirement benefits, individuals seeking to claim the earned income credit, and taxpayers (including banks,
thrift institutions and other financial institutions) who may be deemed to have incurred or continued
indebtedness to purchase or to carry the Series 2021 A Bonds. Prospective investors are advised to consult
their own tax advisors regarding these rules.

Interest paid on tax-exempt obligations such as the Series 2021A Bonds is subject to information
reporting to the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) in a manner similar to interest paid on taxable
obligations. In addition, interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds may be subject to backup withholding if such
interest is paid to a registered owner that (a) fails to provide certain identifying information (such as the
registered owner’s taxpayer identification number) in the manner required by the IRS, or (b) has been
identified by the IRS as being subject to backup withholding.

Bond Counsel is not rendering any opinion as to any federal tax matters other than those described
in the opinions attached as Appendix E. Prospective investors, particularly those who may be subject to
special rules described above, are advised to consult their own tax advisors regarding the federal tax
consequences of owning and disposing of the Series 2021 A Bonds, as well as any tax consequences arising
under the laws of any state or other taxing jurisdiction.
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Changes in Law and Post Issuance Events

Legislative or administrative actions and court decisions, at either the federal or state level, could
have an adverse impact on the potential benefits of the exclusion from gross income of the interest on the
Series 2021 A Bonds for federal or state income tax purposes, and thus on the value or marketability of the
Series 2021A Bonds. This could result from changes to federal or state income tax rates, changes in the
structure of federal or state income taxes (including replacement with another type of tax), repeal of the
exclusion of the interest on the Series 2021A Bonds from gross income for federal or state income tax
purposes, or otherwise. It is not possible to predict whether any legislative or administrative actions or court
decisions having an adverse impact on the federal or state income tax treatment of holders of the Series
2021A Bonds may occur. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2021A Bonds should consult their own tax
advisors regarding the impact of any change in law on the Series 2021A Bonds.

Bond Counsel has not undertaken to advise in the future whether any events after the date of
issuance and delivery of the Series 2021A Bonds may affect the tax status of interest on the Series 2021A
Bonds. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion as to any federal, state or local tax law consequences with
respect to the Series 2021A Bonds, or the interest thereon, if any action is taken with respect to the Series
2021A Bonds or the proceeds thereof upon the advice or approval of other counsel.

TAX MATTERS - SERIES 2021B BONDS

Federal Income Taxes

The following is a summary of certain anticipated United States federal income tax consequences
of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series 2021B Bonds. The summary is based upon the
provisions of the Code, the Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder and the judicial and
administrative rulings and decisions now in effect, all of which are subject to change. Such authorities may
be repealed, revoked, or modified, possibly with retroactive effect, so as to result in United States federal
income tax consequences different from those described below. The summary generally addresses Series
2021B Bonds held as capital assets within the meaning of Section 1221 of the Code and does not purport
to address all aspects of federal income taxation that may affect particular investors in light of their
individual circumstances or certain types of investors subject to special treatment under the federal income
tax laws, including but not limited to financial institutions, insurance companies, dealers in securities or
currencies, persons holding such Series 2021B Bonds as a hedge against currency risks or as a position in
a “straddle,” “hedge,” “constructive sale transaction” or “conversion transaction” for tax purposes, or
persons whose functional currency is not the United States dollar. It also does not deal with holders other
than original purchasers that acquire Series 2021B Bonds at their initial issue price except where otherwise
specifically noted. Potential purchasers of the Series 2021B Bonds should consult their own tax advisors
in determining the federal, state, local, foreign and other tax consequences to them of the purchase, holding
and disposition of the Series 2021B Bonds.

The Issuer has not sought and will not seek any rulings from the Internal Revenue Service with
respect to any matter discussed herein. No assurance can be given that the Internal Revenue Service would
not assert, or that a court would not sustain, a position contrary to any of the tax characterizations and tax
consequences set forth below.

U.S. Holders

As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of Series 2021B Bonds that is
(a) an individual citizen or resident of the United States for federal income tax purposes, (b) a corporation,
including an entity treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, created or organized in or under
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the laws of the United States or any State thereof (including the District of Columbia), (c) an estate whose
income is subject to federal income taxation regardless of its source, or (d) a trust if a court within the
United States can exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and one or more U.S.
persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust. Notwithstanding clause (d) of
the preceding sentence, to the extent provided in Treasury regulations, certain trusts in existence on
August 20, 1996, and treated as United States persons prior to that date that elect to continue to be treated
as United States persons also will be U.S. Holders. In addition, if a partnership (or other entity or
arrangement treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes) holds Series 2021B Bonds, the tax
treatment of a partner in the partnership generally will depend upon the status of the partner and the
activities of the partnership. If a U.S. Holder is a partner in a partnership (or other entity or arrangement
treated as a partnership for federal income tax purposes) that holds Series 2021B Bonds, the U.S. Holder is
urged to consult its own tax advisor regarding the specific tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and
dispositions of the Series 2021B Bonds.

Taxation of Interest Generally

Interest on the Series 2021B Bonds is not excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes under Section 103 of the Code and so will be fully subject to federal income taxation. Purchasers
will be subject to federal income tax accounting rules affecting the timing and/or characterization of
payments received with respect to such Series 2021B Bonds. In general, interest paid on the Series 2021B
Bonds and recovery of any accrued original issue discount and market discount will be treated as ordinary
income to a bondholder, and after adjustment for the foregoing, principal payments will be treated as a
return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder’s adjusted tax basis in the Series 2021B Bonds and capital
gain to the extent of any excess received over such basis.

Recognition of Income Generally

Section 451(b) of the Code provides that purchasers using an accrual method of accounting for U.S.
federal income tax purposes may be required to include certain amounts in income no later than the time
such amounts are reflected on certain financial statements of such purchaser. In this regard, Treasury
Regulations provide that, with the exception of certain fees, the rule in section 451(b) will generally not
apply to the timing rules for original issue discount and market discount, or to the timing rules for de
minimis original issue discount and market discount. Prospective purchasers of the Series 2021B Bonds
should consult their own tax advisors regarding any potential applicability of these rules and their impact
on the timing of the recognition of income related to the Series 2021B Bonds under the Code.

Original Issue Discount

The following summary is a general discussion of certain federal income tax consequences of the
purchase, ownership and disposition of Series 2021B Bonds issued with original issue discount (“Taxable
Discount Bonds”). A Series 2021B Bond will be treated as having been issued with an original issue
discount if the excess of its “stated redemption price at maturity” (defined below) over its issue price
(defined as the initial offering price to the public at which a substantial amount of the Series 2021B Bonds
of the same maturity have first been sold to the public, excluding bond houses and brokers) equals or
exceeds one quarter of one percent of such Series 2021B Bond’s stated redemption price at maturity
multiplied by the number of complete years to its maturity (or, in the case of an installment obligation, its
weighted average maturity).

A Series 2021B Bond’s “stated redemption price at maturity” is the total of all payments provided
by the Series 2021B Bond that are not payments of “qualified stated interest.” Generally, the term
“qualified stated interest” includes stated interest that is unconditionally payable in cash or property (other
than debt instruments of the issuer) at least annually at a single fixed rate or certain floating rates.
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In general, the amount of original issue discount includible in income by the initial holder of a
Taxable Discount Bond is the sum of the “daily portions” of original issue discount with respect to such
Taxable Discount Bond for each day during the taxable year in which such holder held such Series 2021B
Bond. The daily portion of original issue discount on any Taxable Discount Bond is determined by
allocating to each day in any “accrual period” a ratable portion of the original issue discount allocable to
that accrual period.

An accrual period may be of any length, and may vary in length over the term of a Taxable Discount
Bond, provided that each accrual period is not longer than one year and each scheduled payment of principal
or interest occurs at the end of an accrual period. The amount of original issue discount allocable to each
accrual period is equal to the difference between (i) the product of the Taxable Discount Bond’s adjusted
issue price at the beginning of such accrual period and its yield to maturity (determined on the basis of
compounding at the close of each accrual period and appropriately adjusted to take into account the length
of the particular accrual period) and (ii) the amount of any qualified stated interest payments allocable to
such accrual period. The “adjusted issue price” of a Taxable Discount Bond at the beginning of any accrual
period is the sum of the issue price of the Taxable Discount Bond plus the amount of original issue discount
allocable to all prior accrual periods minus the amount of any prior payments on the Taxable Discount Bond
that were not qualified stated interest payments. Under these rules, holders generally will have to include
in income increasingly greater amounts of original issue discount in successive accrual periods.

Holders utilizing the accrual method of accounting may generally, upon election, include in gross
income all interest (including stated interest, acquisition discount, original issue discount, de minimis
original issue discount, market discount, de minimis market discount, and unstated interest, as adjusted by
any amortizable bond premium or acquisition premium) on a Series 2021B Bond by using the constant
yield method applicable to original issue discount, subject to certain limitations and exceptions.

Market Discount

A holder who purchases a Series 2021B Bond at a price which includes market discount (i.e., at a
purchase price that is less than its adjusted issue price in the hands of an original owner) in excess of a
prescribed de minimis amount will be required to recharacterize all or a portion of the gain as ordinary
income upon receipt of each scheduled or unscheduled principal payment or upon other disposition. In
particular, such holder will generally be required either (a) to allocate each such principal payment to
accrued market discount not previously included in income and to recognize ordinary income to that extent
and to treat any gain upon sale or other disposition of such a Series 2021B Bond as ordinary income to the
extent of any remaining accrued market discount or (b) to elect to include such market discount in income
currently as it accrues on all market discount instruments acquired by such holder on or after the first day
of the taxable year to which such election applies.

The Code authorizes the Treasury Department to issue regulations providing for the method for
accruing market discount on debt instruments the principal of which is payable in more than one installment.
Until such time as regulations are issued by the Treasury Department, certain rules described in the
legislative history of the Tax Reform Act of 1986 will apply. Under those rules, market discount will be
included in income either (a) on a constant interest basis or (b) in proportion to the accrual of stated interest.

A holder of a Series 2021B Bond who acquires such Series 2021B Bond at a market discount also
may be required to defer, until the maturity date of such Series 2021B Bond or the earlier disposition in a
taxable transaction, the deduction of a portion of the amount of interest that the holder paid or accrued
during the taxable year on indebtedness incurred or maintained to purchase or carry a Series 2021B Bond
in excess of the aggregate amount of interest (including original issue discount) includable in such holder’s
gross income for the taxable year with respect to such Series 2021B Bond. The amount of such net interest
expense deferred in a taxable year may not exceed the amount of market discount accrued on the Series
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2021B Bond for the days during the taxable year on which the holder held the Series 2021B Bond and, in
general, would be deductible when such market discount is includable in income. The amount of any
remaining deferred deduction is to be taken into account in the taxable year in which the Series 2021B Bond
matures or is disposed of in a taxable transaction. In the case of a disposition in which gain or loss is not
recognized in whole or in part, any remaining deferred deduction will be allowed to the extent gain is
recognized on the disposition. This deferral rule does not apply if the bondholder elects to include such
market discount in income currently as described above.

Bond Premium

A holder of a Series 2021B Bond who purchases such Series 2021B Bond at a cost greater than its
remaining redemption amount will have amortizable bond premium. If the holder elects to amortize this
premium under Section 171 of the Code (which election will apply to all Series 2021B Bonds held by the
holder on the first day of the taxable year to which the election applies and to all Series 2021B Bonds
thereafter acquired by the holder), such a holder must amortize the premium using constant yield principles
based on the holder’s yield to maturity. Amortizable bond premium is generally treated as an offset to
interest income, and a reduction in basis is required for amortizable bond premium that is applied to reduce
interest payments. Purchasers of Series 2021B Bonds who acquire such Series 2021B Bonds at a premium
should consult with their own tax advisors with respect to federal, state and local tax consequences of
owning such Series 2021B Bonds.

Surtax on Unearned Income

Section 1411 of the Code generally imposes a tax of 3.8% on the “net investment income” of certain
individuals, trusts and estates. Among other items, net investment income generally includes gross income
from interest and net gain attributable to the disposition of certain property, less certain deductions. U.S.
Holders should consult their own tax advisors regarding the possible implications of this provision in their
particular circumstances.

Sale or Redemption of Bonds

A bondholder’s adjusted tax basis for a Series 2021B Bond is the price such holder pays for the
Series 2021B Bond plus the amount of original issue discount and market discount previously included in
income and reduced on account of any payments received on such Series 2021B Bond other than “qualified
stated interest” and any amortized bond premium. Gain or loss recognized on a sale, exchange or
redemption of a Series 2021B Bond, measured by the difference between the amount realized and the
bondholder’s tax basis as so adjusted, will generally give rise to capital gain or loss if the Series 2021B
Bond is held as a capital asset (except in the case of Series 2021B Bonds acquired at a market discount, in
which case a portion of the gain will be characterized as interest and therefore ordinary income).

If the terms of a Series 2021B Bond are materially modified, in certain circumstances, a new debt
obligation would be deemed “reissued”, or created and exchanged for the prior obligation in a taxable
transaction. Among the modifications which may be treated as material are those related to the redemption
provisions and, in the case of a nonrecourse obligation, those which involve the substitution of collateral.
In addition, the defeasance of a Series 2021B Bond under the defeasance provisions of the Indenture could
result in a deemed sale or exchange of such Series 2021B Bond.

EACH POTENTIAL HOLDER OF SERIES 2021B BONDS SHOULD CONSULT ITS OWN
TAX ADVISOR CONCERNING (1) THE TREATMENT OF GAIN OR LOSS ON SALE,
REDEMPTION OR DEFEASANCE OF THE SERIES 2021B BONDS, AND (2) THE
CIRCUMSTANCES IN WHICH SERIES 2021B BONDS WOULD BE DEEMED REISSUED AND THE
LIKELY EFFECTS, IF ANY, OF SUCH REISSUANCE.

46



Non-U.S. Holders

The following is a general discussion of certain United States federal income tax consequences
resulting from the beneficial ownership of Series 2021B Bonds by a person other than a U.S. Holder, a
former United States citizen or resident, or a partnership or entity treated as a partnership for United States
federal income tax purposes (a “Non-U.S. Holder”).

Subject to the discussion of backup withholding and the Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act
(“FATCA”), payments of principal by the Issuer or any of its agents (acting in its capacity as agent) to any
Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to federal withholding tax. In the case of payments of interest to any
Non-U.S. Holder, however, federal withholding tax will apply unless the Non-U.S. Holder (1) does not
own (actually or constructively) 10 percent or more of the voting equity interests of the Issuer, (2) is not a
controlled foreign corporation for United States tax purposes that is related to the Issuer (directly or
indirectly) through stock ownership, and (3) is not a bank receiving interest in the manner described in
Section 881(c)(3)(A) of the Code. In addition, either (1) the Non-U.S. Holder must certify on the applicable
IRS Form W-8 (series) (or successor form) to the Issuer, its agents or paying agents or a broker under
penalties of perjury that it is not a U.S. person and must provide its name and address, or (2) a securities
clearing organization, bank or other financial institution, that holds customers’ securities in the ordinary
course of its trade or business and that also holds the Series 2021B Bonds must certify to the Issuer or its
agent under penalties of perjury that such statement on the applicable IRS Form W-8 (series) (or successor
form) has been received from the Non-U.S. Holder by it or by another financial institution and must furnish
the interest payor with a copy.

Interest payments may also be exempt from federal withholding tax depending on the terms of an
existing federal income tax treaty, if any, in force between the U.S. and the resident country of the Non-
U.S. Holder. The U.S. has entered into an income tax treaty with a limited number of countries. In addition,
the terms of each treaty differ in their treatment of interest and original issue discount payments. Non-U.S.
Holders are urged to consult their own tax advisor regarding the specific tax consequences of the receipt of
interest payments, including original issue discount. A Non-U.S. Holder that does not qualify for exemption
from withholding as described above must provide the Issuer or its agent with documentation as to his, her,
or its identity to avoid the U.S. backup withholding tax on the amount allocable to a Non-U.S. Holder. The
documentation may require that the Non-U.S. Holder provide a U.S. tax identification number.

If a Non-U.S. Holder is engaged in a trade or business in the United States and interest on a Series
2021B Bond held by such holder is effectively connected with the conduct of such trade or business, the
Non-U.S. Holder, although exempt from the withholding tax discussed above (provided that such holder
timely furnishes the required certification to claim such exemption), may be subject to United States federal
income tax on such interest in the same manner as if it were a U.S. Holder. In addition, if the Non-U.S.
Holder is a foreign corporation, it may be subject to a branch profits tax equal to 30% (subject to a reduced
rate under an applicable treaty) of its effectively connected earnings and profits for the taxable year, subject
to certain adjustments. For purposes of the branch profits tax, interest on a Series 2021B Bond will be
included in the earnings and profits of the holder if the interest is effectively connected with the conduct by
the holder of a trade or business in the United States. Such a holder must provide the payor with a properly
executed IRS Form W-8ECI (or successor form) to claim an exemption from United States federal
withholding tax.

Generally, any capital gain realized on the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition of a Series
2021B Bond by a Non-U.S. Holder will not be subject to United States federal income or withholding taxes
if (1) the gain is not effectively connected with a United States trade or business of the Non-U.S. Holder,
and (2) in the case of an individual, the Non-U.S. Holder is not present in the United States for 183 days or
more in the taxable year of the sale, exchange, retirement or other disposition, and certain other conditions
are met.
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For newly issued or reissued obligations, such as the Series 2021B Bonds, FATCA imposes U.S.
withholding tax on interest payments and, for dispositions after December 31, 2018, gross proceeds of the
sale of the Series 2021B Bonds paid to certain foreign financial institutions (which is broadly defined for
this purpose to generally include non-U.S. investment funds) and certain other non-U.S. entities if certain
disclosure and due diligence requirements related to U.S. accounts or ownership are not satisfied, unless an
exemption applies. An intergovernmental agreement between the United States and an applicable non-U.S.
country may modify these requirements. In any event, bondholders or beneficial owners of the Series 2021B
Bonds shall have no recourse against the Issuer, nor will the Issuer be obligated to pay any additional
amounts to “gross up” payments to such persons, as a result of any withholding or deduction for, or on
account of, any present or future taxes, duties, assessments or government charges with respect to payments
in respect of the Series 2021B Bonds. However, it should be noted that on December 13, 2018, the IRS
issued Proposed Treasury Regulation Section 1.1473-1(a)(1) which proposes to remove gross proceeds
from the definition of “withholdable payment” for this purpose.

Non-U.S. Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the possible applicability
of federal withholding and other taxes upon income realized in respect of the Series 2021B Bonds.

Information Reporting and Backup Withholding

For each calendar year in which the Series 2021B Bonds are outstanding, the Issuer, its agents or
paying agents or a broker is required to provide the IRS with certain information, including a holder’s name,
address and taxpayer identification number (either the holder’s Social Security number or its employer
identification number, as the case may be), the aggregate amount of principal and interest paid to that holder
during the calendar year and the amount of tax withheld, if any. This obligation, however, does not apply
with respect to certain U.S. Holders, including corporations, tax-exempt organizations, qualified pension
and profit sharing trusts, and individual retirement accounts and annuities.

If a U.S. Holder subject to the reporting requirements described above fails to supply its correct
taxpayer identification number in the manner required by applicable law or under-reports its tax liability,
the Issuer, its agents or paying agents or a broker may be required to make “backup” withholding of tax on
each payment of interest or principal on the Series 2021B Bonds. This backup withholding is not an
additional tax and may be credited against the U.S. Holder’s federal income tax liability, provided that the
U.S. Holder furnishes the required information to the IRS.

Under current Treasury Regulations, backup withholding and information reporting will not apply
to payments of interest made by the Issuer, its agents (in their capacity as such) or paying agents or a broker
to a Non-U.S. Holder if such holder has provided the required certification that it is not a U.S. person (as
set forth in the second paragraph under “Non-U.S. Holders” above), or has otherwise established an
exemption (provided that neither the Issuer nor its agent has actual knowledge that the holder is a U.S.
person or that the conditions of an exemption are not in fact satisfied).

Payments of the proceeds from the sale of a Series 2021B Bond to or through a foreign office of a
broker generally will not be subject to information reporting or backup withholding. However, information
reporting (but not backup withholding) may apply to those payments if the broker is one of the following:
(1) a U.S. person; (ii) a controlled foreign corporation for U.S. tax purposes; (iii) a foreign person 50-percent
or more of whose gross income from all sources for the three-year period ending with the close of its taxable
year preceding the payment was effectively connected with a United States trade or business; or (iv) a
foreign partnership with certain connections to the United States.

Payment of the proceeds from a sale of a Series 2021B Bond to or through the United States office
of a broker is subject to information reporting and backup withholding unless the holder or beneficial owner
certifies as to its taxpayer identification number or otherwise establishes an exemption from information
reporting and backup withholding.
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The preceding federal income tax discussion is included for general information only and may not
be applicable depending upon a holder’s particular situation. Holders should consult their tax advisors with
respect to the tax consequences to them of the purchase, ownership and disposition of the Series 2021B
Bonds, including the tax consequences under federal, state, local, foreign and other tax laws and the possible
effects of changes in those tax laws.

State Taxes

Interest on the Series 2021B Bonds is not exempt from personal income taxes of the State of New
York and its political subdivisions, including The City of New York. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion
as to other state or local tax law consequences arising with respect to the Series 2021B Bonds nor as to the
taxability of the Series 2021B Bonds or the income derived therefrom under the laws of any jurisdiction
other than the State of New York.

Changes in Law and Post Issuance Events

Legislative or administrative actions and court decisions, at either the federal or state level, could
have an impact on the inclusion in gross income of interest on the Series 2021B Bonds for federal or state
income tax purposes, and thus on the value or marketability of the Series 2021B Bonds. This could result
from changes to federal or state income tax rates, changes in the structure of federal or state income taxes
(including replacement with another type of tax), or otherwise. It is not possible to predict whether any
such legislative or administrative actions or court decisions will occur or have an adverse impact on the
federal or state income tax treatment of holders of the Series 2021B Bonds. Prospective purchasers of the
Series 2021B Bonds should consult their own tax advisors regarding the impact of any change in law or
proposed change in law on the Series 2021B Bonds.

IN ALL EVENTS, ALL INVESTORS SHOULD CONSULT THEIR OWN TAX ADVISORS IN
DETERMINING THE FEDERAL, STATE, LOCAL, FOREIGN AND OTHER TAX CONSEQUENCES
TO THEM OF THE PURCHASE, OWNERSHIP AND DISPOSITION OF THE SERIES 2021B BONDS.

CONSIDERATIONS FOR ERISA AND OTHER U.S. BENEFIT PLAN INVESTORS

The Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), imposes certain
fiduciary obligations and prohibited transaction restrictions on employee pension and welfare benefit plans
subject to Title I of ERISA (“ERISA Plans™). Section 4975 of the Code imposes essentially the same
prohibited transaction restrictions on tax-qualified retirement plans described in Section 401(a) and 403(a)
of the Code, which are exempt from tax under Section 501(a) of the Code, other than governmental and
church plans as defined herein (“Qualified Retirement Plans™), and on Individual Retirement Accounts
(“IRAs”) described in Section 408(b) of the Code (collectively, “Tax-Favored Plans”). Certain employee
benefit plans such as governmental plans (as defined in Section 3(32) of ERISA) (“Governmental Plans”),
and, if no election has been made under Section 410(d) of the Code, church plans (as defined in Section
3(33) of ERISA) (“Church Plans”), are not subject to ERISA requirements. Additionally, such
Governmental and Church Plans are not subject to the requirements of Section 4975 of the Code but may
be subject to applicable federal, state or local law (“Similar Laws”) which is, to a material extent, similar
to the foregoing provisions of ERISA or the Code. Accordingly, assets of such plans may be invested in the
Series 2021 Bonds without regard to the ERISA and Code considerations described below, subject to the
provisions of Similar Laws.

In addition to the imposition of general fiduciary obligations, including those of investment
prudence and diversification and the requirement that a plan’s investment be made in accordance with the
documents governing the plan, Section 406 of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code prohibit a broad range
of transactions involving assets of ERISA Plans and Tax-Favored Plans and entities whose underlying
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assets include plan assets by reason of ERISA Plans or Tax-Favored Plans investing in such entities
(collectively, “Benefit Plans) and persons who have certain specified relationships to the Benefit Plans
(“Parties In Interest” or “Disqualified Persons”), unless a statutory or administrative exemption is available.
The definitions of “Party in Interest” and “Disqualified Person” are expansive. While other entities may be
encompassed by these definitions, they include, most notably: (1) fiduciary with respect to a plan; (2) a
person providing services to a plan; (3) an employer or employee organization any of whose employees or
members are covered by the plan; and (4) the owner of an IRA. Certain Parties in Interest (or Disqualified
Persons) that participate in a prohibited transaction may be subject to a penalty (or an excise tax) imposed
pursuant to Section 502(i) of ERISA (or Section 4975 of the Code) unless a statutory or administrative
exemption is available. Without an exemption an IRA owner may disqualify his or her IRA.

Certain transactions involving the purchase, holding or transfer of the Series 2021 Bonds might be
deemed to constitute prohibited transactions under ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code if assets of the
Issuer, the Institution or the School were deemed to be assets of a Benefit Plan. Under final regulations
issued by the United States Department of Labor (the “Plan Assets Regulation™), the assets of the Issuer,
the Institution or the School would be treated as plan assets of a Benefit Plan for the purposes of ERISA
and Section 4975 only of the Code if the Benefit Plan acquires an “equity interest” in the Issuer, the
Institution or the School and none of the exceptions contained in the Plan Assets Regulation is
applicable. An equity interest is defined under the Plan Assets Regulation as an interest in an entity other
than an instrument which is treated as indebtedness under applicable local law and which has no substantial
equity features. Although there is little guidance on this matter, it appears that the Series 2021 Bonds should
be treated as debt without substantial equity features for purposes of the Plan Assets Regulation. This
determination is based upon the traditional debt features of the Series 2021 Bonds, including the reasonable
expectation of purchasers of Series 2021 Bonds that the Series 2021 Bonds will be repaid when due,
traditional default remedies, as well as the absence of conversion rights, warrants and other typical equity
features.

However, without regard to whether the Series 2021 Bonds are treated as an equity interest for such
purposes, though, the acquisition or holding of Series 2021 Bonds by or on behalf of a Benefit Plan could
be considered to give rise to a prohibited transaction if the Issuer, the Institution, the School, the Trustee,
the Underwriter or any of their respective affiliates, is or becomes a Party in Interest or a Disqualified
Person with respect to such Benefit Plan.

Most notably, ERISA and the Code generally prohibit the lending of money or other extension of
credit between an ERISA Plan or Tax-Favored Plan and a Party in Interest or a Disqualified Person, and
the acquisition of any of the Series 2021 Bonds by a Benefit Plan would involve the lending of money or
extension of credit by the Benefit Plan. In such a case, however, certain exemptions from the prohibited
transaction rules could be applicable depending on the type and circumstances of the plan fiduciary making
the decision to acquire a Series 2021 Bond. Included among these exemptions are: Prohibited Transaction
Class Exemption (“PTCE”) 96-23, regarding transactions effected by certain “in-house asset managers”;
PTCE 90-1, regarding investments by insurance company pooled separate accounts; PTCE 95-60, regarding
transactions effected by “insurance company general accounts”; PTCE 91-38, regarding investments by
bank collective investment funds; and PTCE 84-14, regarding transactions effected by “qualified
professional asset managers.” Further, the statutory exemption in Section 408(b)(17) of ERISA and Section
4975(d)(20) of the Code provides for an exemption for transactions involving “adequate consideration”
with persons who are Parties in Interest or Disqualified Persons solely by reason of their (or their affiliate’s)
status as a service provider to the Benefit Plan involved and none of whom is a fiduciary with respect to the
Benefit Plan assets involved (or an affiliate of such a fiduciary). There can be no assurance that any class
or other exemption will be available with respect to any particular transaction involving the Series 2021
Bonds, or that, if available, the exemption would cover all possible prohibited transactions.
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By acquiring a Series 2021 Bond (or interest therein), each purchaser and transferee (and if the
purchaser or transferee is a plan, its fiduciary) is deemed to represent and warrant that either (i) it is not
acquiring the Series 2021 Bond (or interest therein) with the assets of a Benefit Plan, Governmental plan
or Church plan; or (ii) the acquisition and holding of the Series 2021 Bond (or interest therein) will not give
rise to a nonexempt prohibited transaction under Section 406 of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or
Similar Laws. A purchaser or transferee who acquires Series 2021 Bonds with assets of a Benefit Plan
represents that such purchaser or transferee has considered the fiduciary requirements of ERISA, the Code
or Similar Laws and has consulted with counsel with regard to the purchase or transfer.

Because the Issuer, the Institution, the School, the Trustee, the Underwriter or any of their
respective affiliates may receive certain benefits in connection with the sale of the Series 2021 Bonds, the
purchase of the Series 2021 Bonds using plan assets of a Benefit Plan over which any of such parties has
investment authority or provides investment advice for a direct or indirect fee may be deemed to be a
violation of the prohibited transaction rules of ERISA or Section 4975 of the Code or Similar Laws for
which no exemption may be available. Accordingly, any investor considering a purchase of Series 2021
Bonds using plan assets of a Benefit Plan should consult with its counsel if the Issuer, the Institution, the
School, the Trustee, the Underwriter or any of their respective affiliates has investment authority or provides
investment advice for a direct or indirect fee with respect to such assets or is an employer maintaining or
contributing to the Benefit Plan.

Any ERISA Plan fiduciary considering whether to purchase the Series 2021 Bonds on behalf of an
ERISA Plan should consult with its counsel regarding the applicability of the fiduciary responsibility and
prohibited transaction provisions of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code to such an investment and the
availability of any of the exemptions referred to above. Persons responsible for investing the assets of Tax-
Favored Plans that are not ERISA Plans should seek similar counsel with respect to the prohibited
transaction provisions of the Code and the applicability of Similar Laws

LEGAL MATTERS

Certain legal matters incident to the issuance and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds and with regard to
the tax-exempt status of interest on the Series 2021 A Bonds under existing laws are subject to the legal
opinion of Nixon Peabody LLP, New York, New York, as Bond Counsel to the Issuer. Certain legal matters
will be passed upon for the Issuer by its General Counsel, for the Institution and the School by its special
counsel, Hunton Andrews Kurth LLP, Austin, Texas, and for the Underwriter by its counsel, Arent Fox
LLP, Washington, DC.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The Rule imposes continuing disclosure obligations on the issuers of certain state and municipal
securities to permit participating underwriters to offer and sell the issuer’s securities. In order to comply
with the requirements of the Rule, the Institution and the School will enter into a Continuing Disclosure
Agreement, dated as of the date of issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds. Neither the Institution nor the School
has been subject to any prior continuing disclosure undertakings or obligations under Rule 15¢2-12. See
“APPENDIX I - FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

The Issuer does not have any obligation with respect to the Continuing Disclosure Agreement

because the Issuer is not an “obligated party” under the terms of Rule 15¢2-12. The Issuer will not monitor
the compliance by the Institution and the School with the terms of the Continuing Disclosure Agreement.
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RATING
BB+ stable outlook from S&P Global Ratings

S&P Global Ratings, a Standard & Poor’s Financial Services LLC business (“S&P”) has assigned
its municipal bond rating of “BB+” to the 2021 Bonds, accompanied by a Stable Outlook, based on the
creditworthiness of the Institution and other factors affecting the overall education sector.

Certain information and materials not included in this Limited Offering Memorandum was
furnished to S&P. Generally, such Rating Service bases its ratings on information and materials so
furnished and on investigations, studies and assumptions by such Rating Service. The rating and outlook
assigned to the 2021 Bonds reflects only the views of such Rating Service at the time such rating was issued,
and an explanation of the significance of such rating and outlook may be obtained only from such Rating
Service. Such rating and outlook are not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold the 2021 Bonds. There is
no assurance that any such rating or outlook will continue for any given period of time or that they will not
be lowered or withdrawn entirely by such Rating Service if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any
such downward revision of such rating or outlook or withdrawal of such rating may have an adverse effect
on the market price of the 2021 Bonds.

LITIGATION
The Issuer

There is no action, suit, proceeding or investigation at law or in equity by or before any court,
public board or body pending against the Issuer of which the Issuer has notice, or, to the Issuer’s knowledge,
overtly threatened against the Issuer, wherein an unfavorable decision, ruling or finding would adversely
affect the transactions contemplated by the Indenture or the Loan Agreement.

The Institution

No litigation, investigations or proceedings are now pending or, to the best knowledge of the
Institution, are threatened against the Institution which would have a materially adverse effect on the
financial condition or operations of the Institution or in any manner challenge or adversely affect the
corporate existence or power of the Institution to enter into and carry out the transactions described in or
contemplated by, or the execution, delivery, validity or performance by the Institution under the Sublease
Agreements, the Loan Agreement, the Mortgage, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Tax
Certificate, or the Bond Purchase Agreement, as appropriate.

The Institution is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material
financial or operational impact on the Institution.

The School

No litigation, investigations or proceedings are now pending or, to the best knowledge of the
School, are threatened against the School which would have a materially adverse effect on the financial
condition or operations of the School or in any manner challenge or adversely affect the corporate existence
or power of the School to enter into and carry out the transactions described in or contemplated by, or the
execution, delivery, validity or performance by the School under the Use Agreement, the Sublease
Agreement, the Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the Tax Certificate, the Master Covenant Agreement or
the Bond Purchase Agreement, as appropriate.
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The School is not aware of any pending or threatened litigation that would have a material financial
or operational impact on the School.

UNDERWRITING

The Series 2021 Bonds will be purchased by RBC Capital Markets, LLC, New York, New York
(the “Underwriter””). The Underwriter has agreed to purchase the Series 2021 Bonds, for a purchase price
0f $16,906,970.50, which amount represents the principal amount of the Series 2021 Bonds, $15,245,000,
less the Underwriter’s discount of $152,638.75, plus an original issue premium of $1,814,609.25. The
Underwriter is purchasing the Series 2021 Bonds pursuant to the terms of a Bond Purchase Agreement (the
“Bond Purchase Agreement”) among the Issuer, the Institution, the School and the Underwriter. The Bond
Purchase Agreement also provides that the Institution will pay miscellaneous out-of-pocket expenses of the
Underwriter. The Bond Purchase Agreement provides that the Underwriter will purchase all Series 2021
Bonds if any are purchased, and that the obligation to make such purchase is subject to certain terms and
conditions set forth in the Bond Purchase Agreement, the approval of certain legal matters by counsel, and
certain other conditions. Expenses associated with the issuance of the Series 2021 Bonds are being paid by
the Institution from proceeds of the Series 2021 Bonds and from other funds available to the Institution.
The right of the Underwriter to receive compensation in connection with the Series 2021 Bonds is
contingent upon the actual sale and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds. The initial offering prices set forth
on the inside front cover hereof may be changed from time to time by the Underwriter. The Underwriter
reserves the right to join with dealers and other investment banking firms in offering the Series 2021 Bonds
to the public. The Institution and the School have agreed under the Bond Purchase Agreement to indemnify
the Underwriter and the Issuer against certain liabilities, including certain liabilities under federal and state
securities laws.

Ordinary Course of Business Activities/Relationships Disclosure

The Underwriter and its respective affiliates are full-service financial institutions engaged in
various activities that may include securities trading, commercial and investment banking, municipal
advisory, brokerage, and asset management. In the ordinary course of business, the Underwriter and its
respective affiliates may actively trade debt and, if applicable, equity securities (or related derivative
securities) and provide financial instruments (which may include bank loans, credit support or interest rate
swaps). The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may engage in transactions for their own accounts
involving the securities and instruments made the subject of this securities offering or other offering of the
Issuer and/or the Institution. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates may make a market in credit
default swaps with respect to municipal securities in the future. The Underwriter and its respective affiliates
may also communicate independent investment recommendations, market color or trading ideas and publish
independent research views in respect of this securities offering or other offerings of the Issuer and/or the
Institution.

MISCELLANEOUS

The foregoing does not purport to be comprehensive or definitive, and all references to any
document herein are qualified in their entirety by reference to each such document. All references to the
Series 2021 Bonds are qualified in their entirety by reference to the forms thereof and the information with
respect thereto included in the aforesaid documents. Copies of these documents are available for inspection
during the period of the offering at the offices of the Underwriter in New York, New York and thereafter
at the principal corporate trust office of the Trustee. In addition to certain information provided herein, all
information contained in Appendices A, B, C, D, and E has been provided by the Institution or the School
or been derived from information provided by the Institution or the School. The Underwriter makes no
representations or warranties as to the accuracy or completeness of the information in any of the
Appendices.

53



No Registration of the Series 2021 Bonds

Registration or qualification of the offer and sale of the Series 2021 Bonds (as distinguished from
registration of the ownership of the Series 2021 Bonds) is not required under the Securities Act. THE
INSTITUTION ASSUMES NO RESPONSIBILITY FOR QUALIFICATION OR REGISTRATION OF
THE SERIES 2021 BONDS FOR SALE UNDER THE SECURITIES LAWS OF ANY JURISDICTION
IN WHICH THE SERIES 2021 BONDS MAY BE SOLD, ASSIGNED, PLEDGED, HYPOTHECATED
OR OTHERWISE TRANSFERRED.

Financial Advisor

Wye River Group, Incorporated, Annapolis, Maryland (“Wye River”), serves as financial advisor
to the Borrower. Wye River has provided services to the Institution in connection with the Series 2021
Bonds and has assisted in the preparation of this Limited Offering Memorandum. Wye River has not
undertaken to make an independent verification of, or to assume responsibility for, the accuracy,
completeness or fairness of the information contained in the Limited Offering Memorandum.

Interest of Certain Persons Named in this Limited Offering Memorandum

The fees to be paid to counsel to the Institution, counsel to the Underwriter, the Trustee and the
Underwriter are contingent upon the sale and delivery of the Series 2021 Bonds.

(The remainder of this page is intentionally left blank.)
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Limited Offering Memorandum Certification

The Institution, the School and the Issuer have authorized and approved the use and distribution of
this Limited Offering Memorandum. The Issuer has not reviewed or approved any matters herein and
assumes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness of the information herein except for the
information under the caption “THE ISSUER” and “LITIGATION - The Issuer” in this Limited Offering
Memorandum.

The preparation of this Limited Offering Memorandum and its distribution has been authorized by
the Institution and the School. This Limited Offering Memorandum is not to be construed as an agreement
or contract between the Institution or the School and any purchaser, owner or holder of any Series 2021

Bond.

SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS, a Wyoming not-
for-profit corporation

By: /s/ Matt Salvatierra
Its: Chief Financial Officer

BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER
SCHOOLS, a New Y ork not-for-profit corporation

By: /s/ Eric J. Eckholdt
Its: Chairman
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APPENDIX A

The information contained herein as Appendix A to this Limited Offering Memorandum relates to and has
been supplied by Seton Education Partners and Brilla College Preparatory Charter School. The delivery
of this Limited Offering Memorandum shall not create any implication that there has been no change in the
affairs of Seton or Brilla since the date hereof, or that the information contained, referred to or
incorporated by reference in this Appendix A is correct as of any time subsequent to its date.

GENERAL

Seton Education Partners

Seton Education Partners (“Seton”) is a Wyoming not-for-profit education corporation established
in 2009 by KIPP Foundation pioneer Scott W. Hamilton and Teach For America alumna Stephanie Saroki
de Garcia. Seton seeks to expand academically excellent and character-building educational options for
underserved children, especially in neighborhoods where traditional Catholic schools are being closed.
Seton operates several programs with its Charter School Initiative being the most prominent. Under the
Initiative, Seton is building out a secular charter school model with a particular focus on character formation
and pairing that model with optional, privately funded religious instruction and Catholic faith formation
that is offered as an option to students and parents. With a focus on results, Seton is committed to ensuring
that children develop the knowledge, skills, and character traits necessary to earn a college degree and
pursue lives of value and integrity.

Seton serves as the Charter Management Organization (“CMO”) to the Brilla College Preparatory
Charter Schools (“Brilla”), a charter school network located in the South Bronx area of New York City.
The CMO contract, revised January 2020, gives Seton authority to manage Brilla until the termination or
expiration of its charter, including any charter renewal periods. Both Seton and Brilla have the right to
terminate this agreement in the case of a material breach with 60 days written notice. In its capacity as
CMO, Seton’s Brilla Schools Network team ensures mission integration and alignment among all Brilla
schools and provides services related to instruction, data, facilities, operations, talent recruitment, human
resources and employment, budgeting and financial reporting, and fundraising. Separate from its role as
CMO, Seton also procures, constructs, and leases education facilities for use by Brilla. Apart from its New
York operations, Seton manages an independent school, Romero Academy, located in Cincinnati, Ohio and
is in the process of founding a charter school network, Brillante, in south Texas.

Brilla Schools Network

Brilla is a New York corporation founded in 2013 and is exempt from federal taxation pursuant to
section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended. Brilla operates five (5) public charter
schools, under four (4) separate charters, and currently serves more than 1,600 students in grades K-8.

Brilla’s first charter, originally granted by the New York State Board Regents (the “Board of
Regents”) in 2012, includes Brilla College Prep Elementary School (“BCPE”) and Brilla College Prep
Middle School (“BCPM”), each located in the Mott Haven community of the Bronx. Brilla’s second
charter, Brilla Veritas Elementary School (“BVE”), was granted in 2016 by the State University of New
York (“SUNY”) and is located in the Melrose community of the Bronx. The BCPE/M charter was merged
with the BVE charter in 2017 to create a single education charter authorized by SUNY. BCPE/M was
successfully renewed for a 5-year term in 2018. Brilla Caritas Elementary School (“BCE”) and Brilla Pax
Elementary School (“BPE”) were subsequently awarded charters in 2019 and are located in the University
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Heights community of the Bronx. Under the current agreement with SUNY, Brilla is authorized to operate
BCPE and BCPM through June 30, 2023, BVE through June 30, 2022 (with the renewal application
submitted in August of 2021) and BCE and BPE through July 31, 2025.

BCPE is authorized to serve up to 450 students in grades K-4. BCPM has grown by one grade level
per year until reaching full enrollment of more than 300 students in grades 5-8 during the 2020-21 school
year. BVE opened with 4 Kindergarten classes and 120 students and plans to continue to grow by one grade
per year until it reaches its full K-4 enrollment capacity of 450. BCE and BPE opened each with 3
kindergarten classes. Similar to BVE, they plan to grow by one grade level per year until reaching full K-4
enrollment capacities of 450 students in 2024. Upon reaching full enrollment, BVE, BCE and BPE plan to
each feed into their own middle schools. The current enrollment picture for all schools is strong heading
into the 2021-22 school year. See “Brilla’s Financial Projections.”

Brilla’s current and planned schools are located in one of the nation’s poorest congressional
districts. During the 2020 school year, 77% of students were Hispanic, 22% were Black or African
American, and 96% qualified for the federal Free and Reduced-Price Lunch (“FRPL”) program. Brilla also
served a high number of English Language Learners (“ELL”) and students with disabilities (“SWD”).

Brilla plans to open a second middle school in the fall of 2022 and two more middle schools in the
fall of 2025 under its existing charter which will operate under the CMO. At full enrollment, Brilla
anticipates educating 3,200 students across a network of the following eight schools in the Bronx:

NYC
Initial Projected Community
Grades Year of Charter Full School
School Served Operation Term Enrollment Location District
Brilla College Prep K-4 2013 6/30/2023 450 413 E. 144% CSD 7
Elementary Street (Mott
Haven)
Brilla College Prep 5-8 2017 6/30/2023 346 500 Courtlandt CSD 7
Middle Avenue (Mott
Haven)
Brilla Veritas K-4 2017 7/31/2022 450 600 E. 156% CSD 7
Elementary Street (Melrose)
Brilla Caritas K-4 2020 7/31/2025 450 2336 Andrews CSD 10
Elementary Avenue
(University
Heights)
Brilla Pax K-4 2020 7/31/2025 450 2336 Andrews CSD 10
Elementary Avenue
(University
Heights)
Brilla Veritas 5-8 2022° - 346 TBD TBD
Middle
Brilla Caritas 5-8 2025" - 346 TBD TBD
Middle
Brilla Pax Middle 5-8 2025" --- 346 TBD TBD
* Expected
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Brilla manages student information via the Department of Education’s Automate the Schools
system and invoices through its vendor portal. The annual budget is approved by Brilla’s Board of Trustees.
The Board is solely responsible for complying with all requirements of grants for Brilla, its governing
charter, and all applicable laws.

CHARTER SCHOOL LEGISLATION IN NEW YORK

The New York State Charter Schools Act of 1998 (the “Act”) provides that charter schools are
independent public schools that operate under charters for a term of up to five (5) years. A charter school
is free to organize around a core mission, curriculum, theme, or innovative teaching model. A charter school
controls its own budget and employs its own teachers and staff. In return for this freedom, a charter school
must demonstrate success or risk of losing its charter.

In New York, a charter school may be approved through one of two alternative “authorizers” -
SUNY or the Board of Regents. Charter schools do not charge tuition and are open to enrollment for
students eligible for admission to a public school. If more students apply than there are seats, students are
enrolled based on a lottery system. Schools can indicate a limited number of admission preferences; Brilla
has a preference given to children of staff, students residing in the school district of the charter school, and
students with siblings enrolled in the school.

The Act defines charter schools as public agents that are eligible to obtain tax-exempt financing
through various local industrial development agencies. The Act further provides that charter schools are
education corporations and deems them independent and autonomous public schools.

As public schools, charter schools are funded by public tax dollars that pass through the student’s
school district of residence. When a student transfers from a traditional public school to a public charter
school, the funding associated with that student will follow the student to the public charter school. As a
result, charter schools do not add any new costs to the State’s public education system since they constitute
a reallocation of school funding from one type of school to another. Not all money received by a public
school district is included in the charter school funding calculation; charter schools receive between 60%
and 80% of what traditional public school districts spend on a per pupil basis.

Charter schools are required to submit annual reports to their charter authorizer. The annual report
includes a charter school’s report card, discussion of progress towards its achievement of goals set forth in
its charter, certified financial statements and efforts taken by the school to meet enrollment and retention
rate targets for students with disabilities, English language learners and students eligible for free or reduced-
price lunch. Charter schools record and report the enrollment and attendance of students as well as the
number of students with disabilities. Basic tuition is provided from the State to the charter schools through
the school districts in which the charter schools are located. In addition, the charter schools receive federal
and state aid related to the costs of services provided to students with disabilities.

MISSION, VISION & APPROACH OF BRILLA
Mission
Brilla’s mission is to help students to grow intellectually, socially and physically into young men

and women of good character and spirit, and to be prepared for excellence in high school, college and
beyond.
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Vision

Brilla means “shine” in Spanish and speaks to the beacon of hope and opportunity it is working to
build in the communities served. Brilla schools are anchored on the core belief that a successful school
helps its students build moral character and achieve academic excellence through joy, balance, discipline,
and empowerment. Because of the inherent dignity and potential of each child, all children deserve an
excellent education that equips them with the necessary character and skills to excel in high school, college
and beyond.

Educational Approach

Brilla seeks to educate students to lead lives of excellence, virtue and purpose. This is done by
leveraging the best instructional practices of model charter schools — a longer school day and year, utilizing
technology-based blended learning to deliver individualized instruction, intensively supporting and
coaching teachers—and combining this with a robust character education program, centered around its core
virtues of courage, justice, wisdom and self-control.

Brilla focuses on developing the whole child by implementing a classroom-based blended learning
model that delivers both differentiated instruction and a well-rounded liberal arts education. Through data-
driven instruction and strategic partnerships, Brilla prepares students to excel in high school, college, and
beyond. Students will conclude Brilla’s eighth grade equipped with the confidence, intellectual curiosity,
analytical abilities, and habits that lead them to pose meaningful questions of themselves and of others, and
also equipped with the virtues and conviction to be leaders in creating a just society.

Brilla considers its greatest asset to be its teachers and will achieve its mission with the resources
and support to customize and coordinate adaptive computer-based and teacher-led instruction. Through a
unique co-teaching and looping model, Brilla continues focusing on enhancing effective educational
strategies. Brilla fosters a robust school culture, in which character development is uniquely integrated
across all content areas. Students will develop and practice courage, sound judgment, responsibility, and
self-mastery.

CURRICULUM

Core standards are the foundation of Brilla’s curriculum. Brilla collaborates to build a rigorous
standards-aligned curriculum. The curriculum is backwards-mapped against end-of-year standards and
vertically aligned to prepare students for college. The Brilla team (teachers, principal, and deans) work
together so instructional leads have the top curriculum resources at their disposal.

Instruction

Every Brilla class has a measurable and standards-aligned daily objective. The objective is what
drives what is delivered in the lesson. Teachers use a multitude of assessments; teachers track their students’
mastery of the objectives and measure progress towards reaching the instructional goal.

Teachers introduce the objective by clearly modeling a strategy to master the day’s objective. Then,
the teacher directs the class into a guided practice of the objective, during this time the students model their
own answers and thought process. Teachers want to ensure after this process that each student has gathered
enough information to use the skill or their own during independent practice.

Students spend the majority of time during a lesson working on their independent practice. Brilla
wants to make sure that students get multiple opportunities to practice the daily objective on their own and
wants students to be doing the majority of the thinking and having many chances to build their minds until
they get it right.
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The curriculum is split into five cycles. Each cycle concludes with an interim assessment where
students demonstrate mastery of the standards they have learned during each semester. School-wide
professional development days follow each cycle, where teachers analyze data and create unit plans, target
their small and whole group instruction. Their data-driven mindset provides teachers with the flexibility to
curtail the curriculum to fit student needs and support any challenges that may arise.

Materials & Resources

At Brilla, the classical tradition teaches students how to think instead of what to think. It is an
endeavor that takes years, but will have profound effects in high school, college and beyond. As a
classically inspired school, Brilla sets a new standard in the community. The materials utilized support this
vision of classical education at Brilla.

Professional Development

Brilla’s teachers are the key to ensuring that all students achieve. Each teacher receives weekly
professional development. All teachers have a coach. Coaches provide teachers with individualized plans
to help them attain their learning goals for each of their students. Brilla’s support as a school stems from
excellent modeling, lesson observation and feedback, and collaboration. Teachers also meet weekly in
content teams to discuss the content and adjust lessons to meet students’ needs.

Support for ELL and SWD Students

Brilla provides ELL and SWD learners with the support they need to succeed. With in-house staff,
the student services team exceeds the minimum mandated minutes for special education students.

School Culture

Culture, both student and staff, is an essential element to Brilla’s identity. Brilla fosters a robust
school culture, in which character development is uniquely integrated across all content areas. Students
develop and practice courage, justice, wisdom, and self-control. As the name suggests, Brilla scholars
“shine” as beacons of hope both within and beyond the school walls.

GOVERNANCE
As Brilla and Seton are separate and independent 501(c)3 organizations, they are overseen by
separate governance structures and board members. The relationships between Seton and Brilla are defined
by the terms of the leases and CMO agreement. Additionally, the managing director of Seton, Stephanie
Saroki de Garcia, sits as a member on Brilla’s board.

Seton Board of Directors

Seton is governed by a Board of Directors comprised of the following seven individuals, each with
indefinite tenure:

A-5



. . . e . Month/Year
Name of Director Professional Affiliation Position Appointed

Leo Linbeck III President and CEO of Aquinas Companies, Chair/President 09/2009
LLC

Samuel A. Di Piazza, Global Chief Executive Officer of Treasurer 06/2015

Jr. PricewaterhouseCoopers International
Limited (Ret.)

Carlos de Quesada VeraCruz Advisory, LLC Board Member 01/2018

Scott W. Hamilton Chief Executive Officer of Circumventure Board Member 09/2009
Learning

James N. Perry, Jr. Co-Founder and Senior Advisor of Madison ~ Board Member 01/2020
Dearborn Partners

Daniel S. Peters President of the Lovett & Ruth Peters Secretary 07/2018
Foundation

Maria Beatriz President/Executive Director of Catholic Board Member 01/2020

Rodriguez Inner-City Schools Education

Brilla Board of Trustees

Brilla is governed by a Board of Trustees, comprised of educational leaders and members of the
business community. The Board oversees Brilla’s operations at its highest level and raises funds to support
Brilla and its programs. Currently, the Board is composed of ten members, each serving a three-year term.

The Act provides that charter school Boards of Trustees are autonomous, and that their powers
include the full set of rights of trustees under the not-for-profit corporation law of the State.

A listing of the current members of the Brilla Board of Trustees is below:

Name of Trustee Professional Affiliation Position T.e rm'
Expiration

Eric J. Eckholdt Executive Director, Credit Suisse Americas Chair June 2022
Foundation

Richard Ramirez Producer, National Geographic Television Secretary June 2023
International

Charles Bozian Vice President of Finance & Treasurer June 2024

Administration/COO, CUNY York College

Brother Brian Carty, FSC | Founder, De La Salle Academy Board Member June 2022
David Ingles Partner, Pillsbury Winthrop Shaw Pittman Board Member June 2023
Stephanie Saroki de Garcia  Managing Director, Seton Education Partners Board Member June 2022
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Name of Trustee Professional Affiliation Position T.e rm'
Expiration

James Jones Business Manager Global Banking and Markets | Board Member June 2024
Technology, Bank of America Merrill Lynch

Darla Romfo President and Chief Operating Officer, Board Member June 2022
Children’s Scholarship Fund

Elena Sada PhD Candidate and, Research and Teaching Board Member =~ June 2024
Assistant at University of Connecticut; English
as a Second Language and Bilingual Consultant

Mary O’Grady Journalist, Author Board Member May 2022

Brilla also has two advisory board members (Anthony De Nicola — President, Welsh, Carson,
Anderson & Stowe, and Maryann Hedaa — Founder and Managing Director, Hunts Point Alliance for
Children). In this role, they continue to provide ad hoc advice to the organization on specific matters that
arise.

Leadership Team

Stephanie Saroki de Garcia | Co-Founder & Managing Director, Seton Education Partners

Matt Salvatierra* Chief Financial Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Luanne Zurlo* General Partner & Executive Director, Brilla Schools Network
Michael Carbone* Chief Academic Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Reyes Claudio* Chief Operations Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Brett Chappell* Chief Talent Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Kelsey LaVigne (Kopro)* Chief of Schools, Brilla Schools Network

Jolleen Wagner* Chief of Character Initiatives, Brilla Schools Network
*Member of the CMO Team

Management Biographical Information
Stephanie Saroki de Garcia, Co-Founder & Managing Director of Seton Education Partners

Ms. Saroki de Garcia is co-founder and Managing Director of Seton Education Partners. She
helped launch Seton in 2009 to give every child, regardless of background, an opportunity to have an
academically excellent, character-building, and vibrantly Catholic education—and ultimately, a chance to
live up to his or her potential. Most recently, Stephanie launched and for over five years directed the
Philanthropy Roundtable’s K-12 education programs, where she spearheaded a series of conferences,
strategy sessions, and publications on breakthroughs in education philanthropy. She co-wrote Saving
America's Urban Catholic Schools: A Guide for Donors and also served on the strategic planning
committee for the Archdiocese of New York’s school system, chairing the committee on school leadership.
Previously, Stephanie was a Teach For America corps member in Oakland, California, where she taught
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high school English. She attended Harvard’s Kennedy School of Government as a dean’s fellow. While
completing her master’s degree in public policy at the Kennedy School, Stephanie worked at the Office of
Management and Budget. She received a Bachelor of Arts degree in rhetoric from the University of
California at Berkeley.

Matt Salvatierra, Chief Financial Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Mr. Salvatierra is Seton Education Partners’ chief financial officer for the Brilla Schools Network.
In this role, he plays a key role in Brilla’s expansion efforts. Matt joined the Seton team after four years as
the operations director for Cornelia Connelly Center, an independent, Catholic middle school serving girls
from low-income families in Manhattan’s Lower East Side. He began his career in education as a middle
school teacher at Nativity Mission Center in New York City, and from there went on to work in a variety
of settings—public, private and charter—all with the goal of breaking the cycle of poverty through
education. He earned a BA in religion from Harvard University, an MA in adolescent education from
Fordham University and an MA in educational leadership from New York University.

Luanne Zurlo, Executive Director, Brilla Schools Network

Prior to joining the Seton team in January 2018, Luanne taught finance, Catholic Social Doctrine,
and education reform in developing countries at The Catholic University of America. Luanne spent much
of her early career working as a ranked, Wall Street equity analyst. After experiencing 9/11, Luanne left
Goldman Sachs to found and direct a non-profit organization, Educando, whose mission is to raise
educational quality in Latin America, through mid-career teacher training, with a special focus on Brazil
and Mexico. After graduate school, she taught elementary and middle school children at Colegio de la
Asuncion in Ponferrada, Spain. Luanne has an MBA in finance and accounting from Columbia Business
School, an MA in international affairs from Johns Hopkins University and a BA in history from Dartmouth
College.

Michael Carbone, Chief Academic Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Michael works to cultivate a focused, multi-dimensional definition of student achievement across
the network. Prior to joining the Seton Education Partners team, Michael was involved in the school
turnaround process in Connecticut, providing leadership to urban, traditional schools and public charter
schools. Scholars and teachers in both of Michael’s previous schools made exceptional academic, social,
and operational gains—maximizing efficiencies, leveraging collective genius, and focusing on student-
driven outcomes. His work was recently recognized when he was honored as one of the national finalists
for the EL Education Irwin Silverberg Leadership Award. Previously, Michael served on the Connecticut
ASCD (formerly, Association of Supervision and Curriculum Development) Board of Directors, as the
president of Kappa Delta Pi at the University of Saint Joseph, as the host of the Science and Engineering
Program for Teachers at the Massachusetts Institute of Technology, and as an adjunct professor and course
designer in graduate education and educational leadership. He graduated from the University of South
Florida with a bachelors in Cognitive Science, and from the University of Saint Joseph with a master’s
degree in curriculum and instruction.

Reyes Claudio, Chief Operations Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Reyes serves as the chief operating officer for the Brilla Schools Network. She is a Bronx native
and is the product of a Catholic education. Today, her two school-aged children attend Brilla College Prep.
Reyes has been at Brilla for nearly six years. She began her career as an operations associate at the flagship
campus, Brilla College Preparatory Elementary (BCPE), and has taken on various roles in the operations
department. Today, in her role of COO for the Brilla Schools Network, she oversees an operations lead at
each of the schools, the network operations coordinator, and the enrollment and outreach managers.
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Brett Chappell, Chief Talent Officer, Brilla Schools Network

Brett joined the Seton team in 2018 and serves as the chief talent officer for the Brilla Schools
Network. He is responsible for all talent acquisition for the Seton and Brilla teams. Prior to joining Seton,
Brett served as an enlisted US Navy SEAL where he graduated class 184 as Honorman. After earning the
coveted SEAL trident, Brett served as a member of SEAL Team 8 in Little Creek, VA. After separating
from the Navy, Brett completed a bachelor’s and master’s degree from Arizona State University and entered
the education reform space through Teach For America (“TFA”). While teaching in an urban public middle
school, Brett witnessed the character and academic impact that Military Veterans were having in the K-12
education space and joined TFA’s national staff on the Strategic Initiative and Partnership team to help lead
the Military Veteran and Veteran Spouse recruitment efforts. Brett then transitioned to TFA’s Professional
Strategy team where he managed passive prospect sourcing, connecting and cultivation strategy for over
20,000 of TFA’s top candidates. In 2016 Brett joined Success Academy Charter Network as the Director
of Talent, leading a team responsible for filling over 1,000 yearly school based instructional and operational
roles.

Kelsey LaVigne (Kopro), Chief of Schools, Brilla Schools Network

As Superintendent of the Brilla Schools Network, Kelsey manages the principals of each campus
to ensure that Brilla’s mission is reflected across all its schools. She was a founding administrator at the
flagship campus, Brilla College Prep, where she was charged with establishing and implementing the vision
for school culture and family engagement. She was promoted to Assistant Principal, and soon after became
the school leader. Prior to joining Brilla, Kelsey spent four years as a 5™ grade math teacher at Bedford
Stuyvesant Collegiate, an Uncommon School, while also serving as the school culture lead and an
instructional coach. Her first two years were taught under the umbrella of Teach For America as a 2009
Corp Member, during which she also received her master’s degree in education from Hunter College.
Kelsey completed her undergraduate studies at the University of Southern California, earning a BA in
business administration with an emphasis in leadership development.

Jolleen Wagner, Chief of Character Initiatives, Brilla Schools Network

Jolleen joined Brilla in 2015 as the chief of character initiatives and oversees all of the character-
building and social-emotional learning efforts of Brilla. After serving for three years as a Lasallian
Volunteer and teacher at the San Miguel School — Gary Comer Campus in Chicago, Jolleen became the
Lasallian Volunteers’ associate director in 2007 and director in 2011. She was responsible for the vision
and guidance of this faith-based, long-term volunteer program focused on service to at-risk populations
through education and social services. In addition to her work for Lasallian Volunteers, Jolleen has been
called upon by the De La Salle Christian Brothers to evaluate existing and develop new formation programs,
lead and design immersion trips, and present and facilitate at various events focused on faith, service, and
community around the world. As a member of the International Council of Young Lasallians and the chair
of the Regional Young Lasallian Committee, she led at the international and regional levels to illuminate
and invigorate the Young Lasallian voice for the future of the mission of the De La Salle Christian Brothers.
Jolleen, a native of Green Island, New York, graduated with a BA in English from Siena College in 2004,
where she was honored in 2014 with the Franciscan Spirit Award, a Distinguished Alumni Award.
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Faculty and Staff

All school-level employees are compensated directly by Brilla. Members of the CMO Team are
employees of Seton and compensated by Seton via the CMO fees paid by Brilla. The Brilla faculty and staff
are employed at-will pursuant to letters of hire for periods of 1 year. Brilla believes that their faculty,
administration and the Board have a strong and collaborative working relationship. None of the schools’
employees are currently represented by a collective bargaining unit. Neither the schools’ administration
nor Brilla’s Board are aware of any desire among the faculty and staff to create or join any organized union
or collective bargaining unit. Brilla believes its staff culture is excellent.

Brilla’s organizational structure continues to evolve in-line with ongoing growth in student
enrollment. Brilla currently employs approximately 187 faculty and staff members.' Brilla’s compensation
package includes a competitive and comprehensive benefits package (health, dental and 403(b) plan).

Brilla is committed to attracting and developing faculty and staff members who possess keen
leadership qualities and strength of character. The following table provides information regarding Brilla’s
current professional staff and faculty.

Faculty & Staff ]

Leadership Staff 12
Instructional Staff 146
Teaching Fellows” 38
Non-Instructional Staff 29

Total 225

Student — Teacher Ratio -

Number of Students Per Teacher? 8.7

Brilla’s 146 teachers collectively have an average of 8 years of overall teaching experience. Brilla monitors
and evaluates its teachers and staff and makes annual, performance-based determinations regarding their
ongoing employment status. The following table provides information regarding Brilla’s professional staff
and faculty for all schools for the past five (5) years:

2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-2020 2020-2021

Staff 57 75 105 132 159

Turnover 15 18 19 32 22

Retention Rate 74% 76% 82% 76% 86%
ENROLLMENT

Brilla serves an especially high-needs student population in the Mott Haven, Melrose and
University Heights communities of the Bronx where 41% of residents have less than a high school
education and 43% have achieved an undergraduate or higher college degree; and the median household
income is $20,966.

As free public charter schools, Brilla’s schools are open to students residing in any of the five
boroughs of New York City. Brilla does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin,
language spoken, intellectual or athletic ability, measures of achievement or aptitude, or status as a student
with special needs. Brilla accepts new students each year through a lottery process.

1 Not including the teaching fellows which are discussed in the following footnote.
2 “Seton Teaching Fellows” are paid separately by Seton to work as assistant teachers in the classroom.
3 Based on 184 Instructional Teachers and Seton Teaching Fellows and 1605 students for year 2021-2022.
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Brilla seeks families who will share their commitment to rigorous academics, character
development, and family partnership. BCPE, BCPM and BVE are located in New York City Community
School District (CSD) 7. BCE and BPE are located in CSD 10. Through community outreach and
information sessions, Brilla actively recruits students from Districts 2-12, all of which serve significant
populations of SWD, ELL and students eligible for the FRPL program.

Demand Statistics

The following table sets forth demand statistics for all schools by grade for Brilla for school years
2016-17 to 2020-21:

2016- | 2017- | 2018- 2019- 2020-
School Year 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Applications
K 530 | 1,075 990 899 2,872
1 153 181 247 160 310
2 165 179 173 200 280
3 155 186 162 146 296
4 107 159 161 140 203
5 103 142 143 226
6 235 195 302
. . 106
g 99
TOTAL 1,110 | 1,883 | 2,110 1,955 4,694
Acceptances
K 90 214 183 300 409
1 26 7
2 13 5
3 3 9
4 2 1
5 3 1
6 4 2
7 4 0
8 0
TOTAL 90 214 183 355 385
Enrollment
K 91 186 153 181 399
) 83 81 176 165 193
5 85 81 83 185 186
3 70 78 82 98 192
A 58 68 81 92 95
s 63 80 91 94
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2016- | 2017- [ 2018 2019- | 2020-
School Year | 2017 | 2018 | 2019 2020 | 2021
6 69 88 92

7 70 91

8 67

TOTAL 387 557 724 970 1,409
Acceptance

Rate 8% 11% 9% 18% 21%

Attrition Rate | 7.0% 7.0% 7.5% 4.0% 5.5%

Brilla experiences significant demand as evidenced by the substantial number of applications that
it receives each year. The number of applications received by Brilla has grown by more than 77% over the
last five years. For the 2020-2021 academic year, applications stood at more than 5x the number of open
seats available at the starting grade for each school. Less than 20% of applicants are accepted to a Brilla
school each year and Brilla maintains a large wait list that can more than amply cover any attrition
experienced.

Total applications and enrollment figures for each Brilla school for the past five years are
provided below:

(Inaugural Year - 2013) Inaugural Year - 2017) (Inaugural Year - 2020) (Inaugural Year - 2020
School
Year

2016-17 1,110 387

2017-18 1,422 449 461 108

2018-19 1,560 561 550 163

2019-20 1,420 705 535 265

2020-21 2145 835 989 381 757 95 803 98
Applications

Each year, each of the schools opens admissions for each grade it will have in operation.
Applications for admission to Brilla schools must be submitted by prospective students and their families
no later than April 1*'. If the applicable school receives more applications than the school has seats available
for that grade, then the school will conduct a random selection process (blind lottery) to determine which
applicants will be admitted into that grade, taking into account Brilla’s enrollment preferences (see
“Enrollment Preferences”).
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The following table reflects the eligible applications received by Brilla for all schools as of April 1, 2021

for the 2021-2022 school year:

Available
Grade Seats Applications Waitlist
K 384 1,650 1,266
1 7 361 354
2 5 189 184
3 9 159 150
4 1 168 167
5 1 125 124
6 2 238 236
7 - 68 68
8 - 47 47
TOTAL 409 3,005 2,596

Wait List

After all seats in a grade for a particular school are filled, the blind lottery continues to assign every
applicant a number on the wait list for that school. When vacancies arise, based upon the order established
by random selection from the lottery, families on the waitlist are contacted. The waitlist expires annually
at the lottery drawing for the next school year. Brilla’s wait list for all Schools, as of the lottery day, for
each school year between 2016 and 2020 is set forth below:

Grade 2016- 2017- 2018- 2019- 2020-
2017 2018 2019 2020 2021
K 440 861 807 599

2,488
1 153 181 247 134 303
2 165 179 173 187 275
3 155 186 162 143 287
4 107 159 161 138 202
5 - 103 142 140 225
6 - - 235 191 300
7 - - - 68 106
8 - - - - 99
TOTAL | 1,020 1,669 1,927 1,600 = 4285

A-13



Enrollment Preferences

Enrollment preferences for all schools are provided to eligible applicants in the following order:

1.

2.
3.

Students who attended the school the previous year and are returning to the applicable
school (returning students do not need to re-apply);

Siblings of students enrolled in the applicable school (or any of the schools);

Eligible applicants of employees of the applicable school (or any of the schools) or Seton,
as the school’s charter management organization (this preference is limited to 15% of the
school’s total enrollment);

Students who reside inside of the school’s CSD with priority given to those who qualify
for the FRPL program; and

Students who reside outside of the school’s CSD with priority given to those who qualify
for the FRPL program.

Service Area & Competition

Brilla is open to all students eligible for public education in New York. Student recruitment efforts
are mainly focused on community events and fairs, and conducting outreach at after-school programs,
elementary schools and community-based organizations serving the diverse populations of CSD 2 through
12 and are designed to meet each schools’ enrollment and retention targets for SWD, ELL and students
eligible to participate in the FRPL program.

There are numerous schools located within the Bronx and neighboring boroughs of New York City.
The following are comparable charter schools in New York City that most closely mirror the demographic
makeup of Brilla’s student body for all schools (at least 79% considered economically disadvantaged).

School Grades Location CSD #
Served

Brilla College Prep Charter School South Bronx 7
Mott Haven Academy Charter PK—8 South Bronx 7
KIPP Infinity Charter K-9 West Harlem 5
Voice Charter K-8 Queens/Long Island City 30
Bushwick Ascend Charter K-8 Brooklyn 32
Bronx Community Charter 1-8 Bronx 10
Global Community Charter PK-7 Harlem 5
NYC Montessori Charter PK-5 South Bronx 7
Demographics

Below is a summary of the key demographics of Brilla’s student body for all schools for the 2020-
2021 school year followed by a table highlighting demographic statistics by race/ethnicity and subgroup
classification for the last three school years.

e 97% live in the Bronx
72% are Hispanic/Latino and 26% are African American

e 89% of students are certified for free or reduced-price lunch

e 21% of students have been identified as students with disabilities, requiring special education

e 32% of students are English Language Learners
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Category 2018-2019 2019-2020 2020-2021

Total Enrollment 724 970 1,409
Hispanic 74% 75% T7%
African American 23% 23% 22%
Asian <1% <1% <1%
White 1% 1% <1%
FRPL 92% 93% 91%
SWD 22% 23% 18%
ELL 22% 22% 28%

Source: data.nysed.gov
English Language Learners

Compared to most recognized charter networks, Brilla serves a higher proportion of English
Language Learners (ELL) as opposed to their closest competitors. Despite this, ELL at Brilla score
significantly higher than their peers at other charter schools. In 2019-2020, Brilla was the fourth highest
performing school in math out of all New York schools serving a similar composition of children (special
needs, ELL, Hispanic and low-income).

2018-2019 NY State Exam
% Proficiency
English Language Learners

2018-2019 NYS Exam
2018-2019 NYS Exam % Proficient

% Proficient Math
ELA

18.9%
10.7% 10.2% 15.7%

NYS CSD7 Brilla NYS CSD7 Brilla
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ACADEMIC PERFORMANCE

The following tables present Brilla’s student proficiency rate for all schools on the English
Language Arts (ELA) and Math Common Core tests administered by the New York State administrators.
The demand for the unique Brilla learning experience is reflective of the academic performance results
summarized below.

ELA State Test Scores Math State Test Scores

Grade 2017- 2018- 2019- 2017- 2018- 2019-
2018 2019 2020 2018 2019 2020

3 62% 70% N/A* 71% 70%

4 60% 71% N/A 71% 67% N/A

5 29% 48% N/A 42% 52% N/A

6 - 48% N/A - 48% N/A

7 - - N/A - - N/A

8 - - N/A - - N/A
TOTAL 51% 60% N/A 62% 60% N/A

In the 2018-2019 school year, Brilla students exceeded the district, city and state pass rates in both
the ELA and math examinations.’

2018-2019 NY State Exams
% Proficient
60% 60%

47%  46% 45% 47%

ENY State
31% NYC
W District 7
m Brilla
ELA

4 State testing did not occur in the 2019-2020 school year due to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic.
5 Brilla Caritas and Brilla Pax, both in CSD 10, were not open in 2018-2019. CSD 10 information has been excluded accordingly.
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CURRENT SCHOOL FACILITIES

Brilla currently operates five schools in four facilities (total student capacity of 1,620) located in
the Bronx and educates approximately 1,605 students on a combined basis. Each facility is leased by Seton
from a parish in the Archdiocese of New York and subleased to Brilla. A description of each of these
facilities and the entity with which Seton has entered into a lease agreement is provided below:

e 413 East 144™ Street in Bronx, NY (BCPE). The approximately 28,478 square foot facility is
leased from St. Pius Church, which is able to accommodate grades K-4, comprising 450 students
and 51 staff. The current capacity of the BCPE is 450 students. The initial lease term was scheduled
to expire June 30, 2028. However, Seton has exercised a right to extend the lease term for 15
additional years. The lease term therefore expires June 30, 2043. The lease restricts the use of the
premises as a charter school and related administrative offices and precludes certain activity as
contrary to the teachings of the Roman Catholic Church. The landlord also retains the right to
exclusive use of certain classrooms at no charge on Saturday mornings and has the right to use the
auditorium for parish functions upon 30 days’ notice.

Seton subleases the premises to Brilla pursuant to a First Amended and Restated Sublease
effective as of July 1, 2018. The sublease term extends until June 3, 2023, and automatically renews
for an additional 5 years. The sublease restricts the use of the premises as a school, up to grade 5, and
related uses and precludes certain activity as contrary to the teachings of the Roman Catholic Church.
Brilla, as tenant, is required to provide its sublandlord with annual reporting on academic standards.
The sublandlord has the right to terminate the sublease if, after notice and cure periods, the reporting
is not provided, or the academic standards are not met. Either party to the sublease has the right to
terminate the sublease prior to the start of a semester upon 180 days’ notice, and the sublandlord has
an additional termination right at any time upon 90 days’ notice, provided it pays a termination fee of
approximately 6 months’ rent.

e 500 Courtlandt Avenue in Bronx, NY (BCPM). The facility is leased from St. Pius Church and
accommodates grades 5-8 with a total of 360 students and 43 staff. The current capacity of BCPM
is 360 students. The initial lease term was scheduled to expire July 31, 2036. However, Seton has
exercised a right to extend the lease term for 10 additional years. The lease term therefore expires
July 31, 2046. The lease restricts the use of the premises as a charter school and related
administrative offices and precludes certain activity as contrary to the teachings of the Roman
Catholic Church. The landlord also retains the right to exclusive use of certain classrooms at no
charge on Saturday and Sunday mornings and has the right to use the auditorium for parish
functions upon 30 days’ notice.

Seton subleases the premises to Brilla pursuant to a First Amended and Restated Sublease
effective as of July 1, 2018. The sublease term extends until June 30, 2036, and automatically renews
for two additional 5-year terms. The sublease restricts the use of the premises as a school and related
activities, up to grade 8, and related uses and precludes certain activity as contrary to the teachings of
the Roman Catholic Church. Brilla, as tenant, is required to provide its sublandlord with annual
reporting on academic standards. The sublandlord has the right to terminate the sublease if, after notice
and cure periods, the reporting is not provided, or the academic standards are not met. Either party to
the sublease has the right to terminate the sublease prior to the start of a semester upon 180 days’
notice, and the sublandlord has an additional termination right at any time upon 90 days’ notice,
provided it pays a termination fee of approximately 6 months’ rent.

e 2336 Andrews Avenue North in Bronx, NY (BPE and BCE). The facility is leased from St.
Nicholas of Tolentine Church and accommodates BPE and BCE’s kindergarten classes with a total
of 360 students and 44 staff. The current capacity of BPE and BCE is 360 students. The initial
lease term was scheduled to expire August 31, 2030. However, Seton has executed five consecutive
renewal options of 5 years, to allow for an extension of the lease term for an additional twenty-five
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years. The lease term therefore expires August 31, 2055. The lease permits the use of the premises
as a school serving Pre-K through grade 12 and related educational and ancillary services and
administrative offices and precludes certain activity as contrary to the teachings of the Roman
Catholic Church. The landlord also retains the right to exclusive use of certain classrooms at no
charge on Saturday and Sunday mornings.

Seton subleases the premises to Brilla pursuant to a First Amended and Restated Sublease
effective as of January 9, 2020. The sublease term extends until August 31, 2030 and automatically
renews upon renewal of the Andrews Avenue North Lease. The sublease automatically terminates if
the lease terminates. Brilla, as tenant, is required to provide its sublandlord with annual reporting on
academic standards. The sublandlord has the right to terminate the sublease if, after notice and cure
periods, the reporting is not provided, or the academic standards are not met.

Brilla also operates under a sublease from Seton at 600 East 156™ Street in Bronx, NY. The
facility accommodates grades K-4 with a total of 450 students and 50 staff. The lease revenues from
this facility have not been pledged by Seton in support of the Bonds.

THE PROJECT

Proceeds from the Bonds will be used to (a) refinance two loans in the outstanding amounts of
$600,000 and approximately $11,170,000, which loans financed leasehold improvements in 70,000 square
feet of space in a building located at 2336 Andrews Avenue North, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as
a site for the BPE and BCE schools (the “Leased Facility 17); (b) refinance a loan in the outstanding amount
of approximately $2,170,000, which loan financed leasehold improvements in 17,571 square feet of space
in a building located at 500 Courtlandt Avenue, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPM
school (the “Leased Facility 2”); (c) refinance a loan in the outstanding amount of approximately
$2,710,000, respectively, which loan financed leasehold improvements in 28,478 square feet of space in a
building located in 413 East 144th Street, Bronx, NY, which currently serves as the site for the BCPE school
(the “Leased Facility 3” and together with Leased Facility 1 and Leased Facility 2, the “Leased Facilities”);
(d) fund a debt service reserve fund; and (e) pay for certain costs and expenses associated with the issuance
of the Bonds. The Leased Facilities are leased to Seton and subleased to and operated by Brilla. The
refinancing of existing loans will reduce and stabilize Brilla’s occupancy costs and allow for the dedication
of more resources to educational programs.

SCHOOL FINANCES
Financial Oversight

Brilla’s Board of Trustees (the “Board”) provides effective oversight, including full engagement in
financial decision-making and overseeing the expenditure of public funds. Brilla is in good standing with
respect to governance and fiscal accountability and is in material compliance with all City, State and federal
regulations. Brilla receives independent fiscal year audit opinions each year. The most recent audit reflects
a positive financial control environment, with no significant findings or material weakness and increasing
improvement from the prior years. See Appendix D for the most recent audit of Brilla.

Each month, staff present monthly financial statements, including reports of financial condition
and operating results, as well as other pertinent information to the Board for its review. After review of the
monthly financial reports, if applicable, the Board will certify that no fund has been over expended and that
sufficient funds are available to meet the Brilla obligations for the remainder of the school year.
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Accounting & Internal Controls

Brilla maintains appropriate internal controls and procedures and has hired an outside accounting
firm to help maintain certain levels of controls. A financial consultant is responsible for paying vendors and
preparing bank reconciliations along with other ad hoc duties.

Based on industry best practices, Brilla’s internal controls are designed to minimize unauthorized
use of assets or misstatement of account balances. The control environment and accounting procedures
documented in Brilla’s Financial Policy and Procedures Manual highlight the internal controls as an integral
part of day-to-day operations. These procedures are divided into segregation of duties, restricted access,
document control, processing control, and reconciliation controls, with the Board Finance Committee
reviewing how the following duties are assigned to staff:

Segregation of Duties:  No one person controls all aspects of a transaction & functions
performed by one person are authorized by another individual.

Restricted Access: Physical access to checks or other valuable assets are restricted to
authorized personnel. Systems access to the accounting system is
also restricted to authorized personnel.

Reconciliation Controls: Variance reports and bank reconciliation are reviewed monthly by
the Chief Financial Officer.

Budgeting & Financial Condition

Brilla operates pursuant to a long-range budget —maintaining adequate financial resources to ensure
stable operations. Critical financial needs of Brilla schools are not typically dependent on variable income
(grants, donations and fundraising).

Brilla’s FY20 annual audit reflects a change in net assets of $493,915, compared to a change in net
assets of $443,464 in FY19. The onset of the COVID-19 pandemic at the end of FY20 altered the expense
expectations of Brilla. In addition, increased enrollment strengthened its revenue base while a
corresponding increase to expenses was incurred.

Brilla’s budget process utilizes conservative (revenue/expense) assumptions, based not only direct
experience operating in the NYC charter sector, but recognition of industry-wide risks that potentially
introduce unanticipated fluctuations in revenue/expenses. These risks include changes in NYS per-pupil
allocations, enrollment-levels, facilities risk, and professional talent scarcity. Variance (to budget) reports
are reviewed monthly to provide ample opportunity for appropriate action and mitigation.

Because a public charter school’s primary revenue source is per-pupil funding, Brilla proactively
monitors enrollment levels and responds quickly. Demand for seats remains high, with a waitlist of over
1,556 students across all grades and all schools, Brilla’s sustained high demand is derived from a
combination of low student attrition, positive parent engagement and overall community support.
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Summary of Brilla’s Historical Revenues and Expenses
The following tables set forth summaries of Brilla’s historical and projected revenues and expenses

for the years shown below. The information presented for the school years ended June 30, 2016 through
2020 is actual audited data.

Fiscal Year Ending June 30, 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020

Operating Revenues

Pupil Revenue $5,589,060 | $7,128,961 @ $10,424,722 @ $12,580,521 @ $16,455,382
Federal Grants 247,302 302,563 1,093,545 1,092,933 1,569,313
Local Grants 483,617 741,579 284,771 58,440 72,492
Total Revenues $6,319.979  $8,173,103 $11,803,038 $13,731,894 | $18,097,187
Operating Expenses

Program Services $3,413,053 | $4,118,261 = $6,457,099 @ $12,484,093 | $16,354,993

Supporting Services:
Management and general 1,716,867 1,896,322 4,727,879 2,482,956 4,128,953
Development 65,872 194,779 227,889 376,897 514,809
Total Operating Expenses $5,195,792  $6,209,362 $11,412,867 $15,343,946 | $20,998,755

Non-Operating Expenses
Depreciation 531,804 511,727 632,943 643,605 474,728
Total Expenses $5,727,596 | $6,721,089 $12,045,810 $15,987,551 @ $21,473,483

Support and Other Revenue

Contributions $7,911 $111,146 $847,549 $79,674 $110,940
Other income 5,543 41,892 102,792 40,568 88,553
Interest income 536 141 692 55,691 43,178

Facility Rental Assistance - - 1,700,000 2,523,191 3,627,540
Total Support and Other Revenue $13,990 $153,179 | $2,651,033 = $2,699,124  $3,870,211

Change in Net Assets $606,373 | $1,605,193 @ $2,408,261 $443,467 $493,915
Total Assets $2,713,531 @ $4,638,468 | $6,706,071 = $7,287,005 @ $10,270,855
Total Liabilities $1,238,504 = $1,558,248 © §$1,217,590  $1,355,057 @ $3,844,992
Unrestricted Net Assets $1,475,027 @ $3,034,331 | $5,488,481 @ $5,931,948  $6,425,863
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CHARTER SCHOOL FUNDING

The following table sets forth the New York state per pupil funding allocations for charter schools
for the past five (5) school years.

Historic Per Pupil NY State Funding

Per Pupil
st v Allocation

2016-2017 $14,027
2017-2018 $14,527
2018-2019 $15,307
2019-2020 $16,150
2020-2021 $16,123

In 2014, legislation was enacted that provided small supplemental increases to the per pupil funding
(while providing a reimbursement to school districts for those increases). These increases kept charter per
pupil funding relatively flat, increasing just 3.7% over three years, or a total of $500, and resulting in a total
per pupil in 2016-17 of $14,027. In addition, the State Senate provided one-time appropriations to charter
schools in both the 2016 and 2017 school years of approximately $215 and $430, respectively. After the
2016-17 school year, charter school per pupil funding was once again calculated using the then-existing
statutory formula, effectively making the per pupil once again a function of average per pupil operating
expenses of the CSD.

In addition to base per pupil funding, schools are provided additional funds based on the population
of students with disabilities that it serves — this additional funding per student ranges from $10,390 to
$19,049. As well, students that operate in private space (as does Brilla) are eligible, following a request
and appeals process, to be awarded additional rental reimbursement that is calculated at 30% of the base
per pupil funding. Brilla receives this additional rental reimbursement for every student in the network
with the exception of the Kindergarten and first graders who attend BCPE (due to the fact that Brilla had
served these grades prior to the passage of this legislation). For fiscal year 2020, this facilities funding
represented $3.6M of additional revenue for Brilla.

Apart from local-level funding, Brilla receives various sources of federal funding including Title
funding, CSP funding and federal E-Rate funding.
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SUMMARY OF BRILLA’S BUDGET TO ACTUAL RESULTS

The following table sets forth a summary comparison of Brilla’s fiscal year 2020-21 budget to
fiscal year 2020-21 audited results.

2020-2021 2020-2021
Audited Budget

REVENUES & SUPPORT
ENROLLMENT 1409 1319
State & Local Per Pupil $30,063,290 $26,057,588
Government Grants & Contracts | $2,422,200 $2,230,438
Contributions & Grants $883,599 $107,639
Other Income® $2,074,591 $51,250
TOTAL REVENUE $35,443,680 $28,446,915
EXPENSES
Program Services $23,165,530 $21,822,024
Management & General $7,940,596 $7,018,413
Fundraising $0 $0
TOTAL EXPENSES $31,106,126 $28,840,437
CHANGE IN NET ASSETS $4,337,554 ($393,522)
Beginning Balance (July 1) $6,425,863 $6,425,864
Ending Balance (June 30) $10,763,417 $6,032,342

Management Discussion & Analysis

As noted in Brilla’s projections, its primary source of income is state education funding. Brilla
receives a fixed amount of per-pupil General Education (“GED”) revenue each year. That income is further
augmented by rental assistance, which is an additional 30% of GED funding. The rental assistance funding
was initially created to fund school operations but has been expanded to include an allotment for school
expansion. In addition, Brilla receives funding based on its number of pupils with special educational needs.
The per-pupil Special Education (“SPED”) funding that is allocated varies based on the educational needs of
each pupil, with higher funding for pupils with higher need.

Pursuant to the Management Contract between Brilla and Seton, Brilla pays Seton a CMO fee equal
to a fixed percentage (15%) of Brilla’s total GED and SPED funding. Brilla’s schools operate in buildings
that are subleased from Seton. Rent paid by Brilla are fixed in the subleases entered into for each property.

¢ Includes PPP loan forgiveness ($1,795,241) as well as $275,411 in revenues that was raised directly to offset emergency
expenses related to the COVID-19 pandemic.
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All CMO fees to be paid to Seton are subordinate to rent to be paid to Seton by Brilla under the subleases.

In the past several years, Brilla has maintained its target enrollment of 100%. In the past three years,
Brilla has consistently met or exceeded its enrollment target due to strong student recruitment combined with
demand for charter school seats. Brilla budgets conservatively each year for expenses at 100% of enrollment
target and revenues at 96% of enrollment.

In addition to the main financial drivers set forth above, Brilla receives donations from various
individuals and organizations. In the 2020-2021 academic year, Brilla received $876,442 in total donations
from six specific donors:

e William E Simon Foundation
e Queen Sofia Spanish Institute
e Four Individual Donors

In addition, Seton received $1,250,000 in total donations from Charter School Growth Fund and the
Walton Foundation to support its work in supporting Brilla.

Insurance

Brilla maintains a comprehensive insurance program including Comprehensive General Liability,
Educator’s Legal Liability, Automobile, Excess Liability, Property and Workers Compensation and
Employers’ Liability.

BRILLA’S FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS

The Projections below are based upon historical operation of, and forecasts for, Brilla and the Brilla
assumptions regarding student enrollment and expenses. The Projections do not constitute a "Certified
Financial Forecast" prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. No assurance
can be given that the results described in the Projections will be achieved, or that there has been no change
in underlying considerations since the date of this Limited Offering Memorandum. Brilla does not intend
to update the Projections and, accordingly, there are risks inherent in using the Projections in the future as
they become outdated. The Projections are only for the years ending June 30, 2022 through 2026 and do
not cover the entire period during which the Bonds may be outstanding. The Underwriter has not
independently verified the Projections and makes no representations nor gives any assurances that such
Projections, or the assumptions underlying them, are complete or correct.

No representation is made that the Projections will correspond with the results achieved in the
future because there is no assurance that actual events will correspond with the assumptions made by Brilla.
Brilla's actual future operations and financial condition may differ from those projected and actual future
events and conditions may differ from those assumed by Brilla. Such differences may be material and
adverse. Actual operating results may be affected by many factors, including, but not limited to, increased
costs, lower than anticipated revenues (as a result of changes in demographic trends, insufficient enrollment,
or otherwise), and local and general economic conditions. See "BONDHOLDER’S RISKS" in this Limited
Offering Memorandum.

The Projections have not been independently verified by any party other than Brilla’s management.
No feasibility studies have been conducted with respect to Brilla’s operations pertinent to these financial

projections or the Bonds.

The Projections constitute "forward-looking" statements of the type described in Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. See "RISK FACTORS"
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in this Limited Offering Memorandum. Although management believes that the assumptions upon which
these financial projections are based are reasonable, any of the assumptions could prove to be inaccurate
and, as a result, the forward-looking statements based on those assumptions could also be incorrect. All
phases of the operations of Brilla involve risks and uncertainties, many of which are outside of Brilla's
control and any one of which, or a combination of which, could materially affect Brilla's results.

Projected Enrollment for BCPE

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BCPE. The school will serve a total of 450
students in Grades K-4. BCPE may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each
classroom with a potential enrollment of 450.

Grade 2021-22 ‘ 2022-23  2023-24 | 2024-25 2025-26

K 90 90 90 90 90
1 90 90 90 90 90
2 90 90 90 90 90
3 90 90 90 90 90
4 90 90 90 90 90
Total 450 450 450 450 450

Projected Enrollment for BCPM

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BCPM. The school will serve a total of 360
students in Grades 5-8. BCPM may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each
classroom with a potential enrollment of 360.

Grade 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26

6 89 &9 89 &9 89
7 87 86 86 86 86
8 79 82 81 81 81
Total 345 347 346 346 346

Projected Enrollment for BVE
The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BVE. The school will serve a total of 450

students in Grades K-4. BVE may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each
classroom with a potential enrollment of 450.
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Grade 2021-22 ‘ 2022-23  2023-24 | 2024-25 2025-26

K 90 90 90 90 90
1 90 90 90 90 90
2 90 90 90 90 90
3 90 90 90 90 90
4 90 90 90 90 90
Total 450 450 450 450 450

Projected Enrollment for BVM

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BVM. The school will serve a total of 346
students in Grades 5-8. BVM may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each
classroom with a potential enrollment of 360.

Grade 2021-22 2022-23 ‘ 2023-24 | 2024-25 2025-26

5 88 88 88 88
6 87 87 87
7 86 86
8 85
Total 0 88 175 261 346

Projected Enrollment for BCE

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BCE. The school will serve a total of 450
students in Grades K-4. BCE may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each
classroom with a potential enrollment of 450.

Grade 2021-22 ‘ 2022-23  2023-24 | 2024-25 2025-26

K 90 90 90 90 90
1 90 90 90 90 90
2 90 90 90 90
3 90 90 90
4 90 90
Total 180 270 360 450 450
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Projected Enrollment for BCM

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BCM. The school will serve a total of 346
students in Grades 5-8, growing one grade each year. BCM may maintain a maximum class size of
approximately 30 students in each classroom with a potential enrollment of 360.

Grade 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26‘ 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29

6 87 87 87
7 86 86
8 85
Total 88 175 261 346

Projected Enrollment for BPE

The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BPE. The school will serve a total of 450 students
in Grades K-4. BPE may maintain a maximum class size of approximately 30 students in each classroom
with a potential enrollment of 450.

Grade 2021-22 ‘ 2022-23  2023-24 | 2024-25 2025-26

K 90 90 90 90 90
1 90 90 90 90 90
2 90 90 90 90
3 90 90 90
4 90 90
Total 180 270 360 450 450

Projected Enrollment for BPM
The chart below illustrates the enrollment plan for BPM. The school will serve a total of 346

students in Grades 5-8, growing one grade each year. BPM may maintain a maximum class size of
approximately 30 students in each classroom with a potential enrollment of 360.
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Grade 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26‘ 2026-27 2027-28 2028-29

5 88 88 88 88
6 87 87 87
7 86 86
8 85
Total 88 175 261 346

Projected Financial Information for Brilla

For the Fiscal Years ending June 30, 2022 through 2026 information presented is projected data based
upon certain assumptions made by Brilla. The projections constitute “forward-looking statements™ and are
derived from the past operations and assumptions about student enrollment, level of revenue and expenses
as set forth in the table.

REVENUES

Fiscal Year

State & Local Per Pupil

Government Grants & Contracts

PPP Forgiveness

Contributions & Grants

Other Income

Total Revenue

EXPENSES

Program

Management and general

Fundraising

Total Expenses

Change In Net Assets

2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26
$34,567,402 $41,628,564 $49,331,633  $56,939,487 $64,629,471
6,031,229 3,660,121 2,158,755 1,952,522 2,197,701
184,944 282,097 361,987 409,107 457,622
T T T T

$40,783,576 $45,570,782 $51,852,375 $59,301,116 $67,284,794
$33,350,140 $38,879,473  $42,217,569 # $50,974,427 $58,574,540
4,303,591 5,203,172 6,070,767 6,975,710 8,015,765
$37,653,731 $44,082,645 $51,288,336 $57,950,137 $66,590,305
$ 3,129,844 $ 1,488,137 $564,039 $1,350,979 $ 694,480




Pro Forma Coverage Ratios Based on Projected Financial Statement of Activities for Brilla

Fiscal Year 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26
Revenues $40,783,576 = $45,570,782  $51,852,375  $59,301,116 $67,284,794
Operating Expenses $37,653,731 = $44,082,645 $51,288,336 $57,950,137 | $66,590,305
Net Income | $ 3,129,844 | $ 1,488,137 | $ 564,039 | $ 1,350,979 | $ 694,480

Operating expenses exclude (as applicable):

Sublease Rent $ 4,625942  § 5,202,675 $ 4,827,363 $ 5,435,955 § 5,995,982
(on financed properties)

Leasehold improvements & - - - - -
capital asset expenditures

Other non-cash facility related 180,000 220,000 230,000 240,000 280,000

expenses

Depreciation* 1,083,756 1,557,965 1,719,476 1,660,412 1,800,510
[ T T T T

Net Income Available for $ 9,019,542 $ 8,468,777 $ 7,340,878 $ 8,687,346 $ 8,770,972

Sublease Payments

Sublease Payments $ 4,625942  $ 5,202,675 $ 4,827,363 $ 5,435,955 $ 5,995,982
(of financed properties)

Coverage Ratio 1.95x 1.63x 1.52x 1.60x 1.46x

* Estimated, inclusive of all Brilla depreciation.

IMPACTS OF COVID-19

In response to the fears of the COVID-19 school closings, Brilla has made and will continue to
make it a priority to make sure their students and families had the ability to learn in virtual ways. When the
NYC schools closed in March 2020, Brilla had over 900 students engaged in remote learning. Many of the
students did not have devices to enable them to log into remote learning sessions, and others had devices
that were outdated and did not have the capability of loading the proper software used for remote learning.
Brilla provided iPads and/or Chromebooks, depending on their grade level in order for the students to learn
while remote.

Brilla’s top priority for the 2020-21 school year was to provide a safe schooling option for all and
bring as many scholars back to in-person learning as physically possible. Brilla returned 100% in- person
for fall 2021.

Brilla’s priority is to maximize in-person instruction time. Based on updated guidelines, Brilla has
had the capacity to welcome all of our scholars on campus safely. Brilla’s commitment remains to prioritize
health and safety. The health and safety of all stakeholders is the top priority and Brilla has adhered, and
plans to continue to adhere, to the many health and safety measures that were in place for the 2020-21
school year, including the following:

e Requiring masks in all school buildings
e Requiring individuals with COVID-19 symptoms to stay at home
¢ Requiring students, teachers and staff to complete a daily health screener
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e Requiring every school building to have a nurse
e Providing on-site COVID-19 testing as recommended by the latest health guidance

e Ensuring that the Situation Room will continue to support schools with next steps if there are

positive cases

Brilla has done and will continue to do everything possible to welcome children back and provide
the support needed to ensure a positive homecoming. Investments to hire more teachers and social workers
have been and will continue to be made and there have been and will continue be academic and social-

emotional learning programs available to support students

In response to COVID-19, Brilla obtained federal funding as described in the chart below. Funds will be

allocated in Fiscal Years 2021 — 2024 as set forth below:

FEDERAL FUNDING - COVID-19 PANDEMIC RELIEF

8
ESSER 17 CRRSA 2/ ESSER | \RP - ESSER’ TOTAL
Total funds made $556,819 $3,114,095 $6,989,220 $10,660,134
available to Brilla
Funds to be spent FY 2022 FY 2022
through fiscal year FY 2021 FY 2023 FY 2023
ough fiscal yea FY 2024

Additionally, Brilla applied for and received a federal Paycheck Protection Program loan of $1,795,241 in

fiscal year 2020; this loan was forgiven, pursuant to the program rules, in fiscal year 2021.

" Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund
8 Coronavirus Response and Relief Supplemental Appropriations Act
 American Rescue Plan ESSER
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APPENDIX B

SUMMARY OF CERTAIN PROVISIONSOF NEW YORK
EDUCATION LAW

The following summarizes certain provisions of the New York Charter Schools Act of 1998, Article
56, §§2850-2857 of the New York Education Law, as amended (the “Act”), other applicable provisions
of the New York Education Law, and related regulations. The following provides a summary only, and
is only for informational purposes. Potential investors should refer to and independently evaluate
applicable provisions of the Act in their entirety, with assistance from counsel as necessary, for a
complete understanding of their terms. Further, potential investors should note that the provisions
summarized below are subject to change, and this summary only pertains to certain aspects of currently
existing law. See "RISK FACTORS-Changes in Law; Annual Appropriation; Inadequate Education
Aid Payments" in this Limited Offering Memorandum.

Purpose (New York Education Law §2850)

The purpose of the Act is to authorize a system of charter schools to provide opportunities for
teachers, parents, and community members to establish and maintain schools that operate independently of
existing schools and school districts in order to accomplish the following objectives:

(a) Improve student learning and achievement;

(b) Increase learning opportunities for all students, with special emphasis on expanded
learning experiences for students who are at-risk of academic failure;

(©) Encourage the use of different and innovative teaching methods;

(d) Create new professional opportunities for teachers, school administrators and other
school personnel;

(e) Provide parents and students with expanded choices in the types of educational
opportunities that are available within the public school system; and

® Provide schools with a method to change from rule-based to performance-
based accountability systems by holding the schools established under the Act accountable for
meeting measurable student achievement results.

Eligible Applicants; Applications; Submission (New York Education Law §§2851(1), 2851(2)
and 2851(3))

An application to establish a charter school may be submitted by teachers, parents, school
administrators, community residents or any combination thereof. Such application may be filed in
conjunction with a college, university, museum, educational institution, not-for-profit corporation
exempt from taxation under §501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code or for-profit business or corporate
entity authorized to do business in New Y ork state. Provided however, for-profit business or corporate
entities shall not be eligible to submit an application to establish a charter school pursuant to §2852(9-a)
(arequest for proposals process) of the Act, or operate or manage a charter school for a charter issued
pursuant to §2852(9-a) (a request for proposals process) of the Act. For charter schools established in
conjunction with a for-profit business or corporate entity, the charter shall specify the extent of the entity's
participation in the management and operation of the school.



The information provided on the application shall be consistent with the provisions of the Act
andother applicable laws, rules and regulations.

An applicant shall submit the application to a charter entity for approval. For purposes of the
Act, a charter entity shall be:

(a) The board of education of a school district eligible for an apportionment of aid
under §3602(4) (apportionment of public moneys to school districts employing eight or more
teachers) of the New York Education Law; provided that a board of education shall not approve an
application for a school to be operated outside the school district's geographic boundaries and
further provided that in a city having a population of 1,000,000 or more, the chancellor of any such
city school district shall be the charter entity established by this paragraph;

(b) The Board of Trustees of the State University of New York; or
(©) The Board of Regents.

The Board of Regents shall be the only entity authorized to issue a charter pursuant to the Act.
Notwithstanding any provision of this section to the contrary, an application for the conversion ofan
existing public school to a charter school shall be submitted to, and may only be approved by, the charter
entity set forth in paragraph (a) of this section. Notwithstanding any law, rule or regulation to the
contrary,any such§2852(9-a) application for conversion shall be consistent with this section but shall not
be subjectto the process pursuant to the Act, and the charter entity shall require that the parents or
guardians of a majority of the students then enrolled in the existing public school vote in favor of
converting the school toa charter school.

Charter Renewal (New York Education Law §2851(4))

Charters may be renewed, upon application, for a term of up to five (5) years in accordance
with the provisions of the Act for the issuance of such charters pursuant to §2852 of the Act; provided
however, that a renewal application shall include:

(a) A report of the progress of the charter school m achieving the educational
objectives set forth in the charter.

(b) A detailed financial statement that discloses the cost of administration,
instructionand other spending categories for the charter school that will allow a comparison of
such costs to other schools, both public and private. Such statement shall be in a form
prescribed by the Board of Regents.

(©) Copies of each of the annual reports of the charter school required by §2857(2)
ofthe Act, including the charter school report cards and the certified financial statements.

(d) Indications of parent and student satisfaction.

(e) The means by which the charter school will meet or exceed enrollment and

retention targets as prescribed by the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees of the State
University of New York, as applicable, of students with disabilities, English language learners, and
students who are eligible applicants for the free and reduced price lunch program which shall
be considered by the charter entity prior to approving such charter school's application for
renewal. When developing such targets, the Board of Regents and the Board of Trustees
of the State University of New York shall ensure (1) that such enrollment targets are
comparable to the enrollment figures of such categories of students attending the public
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schools within the school district, or in a city school district in a city having a population
of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants, the community school district, in which the charter
school is located; and (2) that such retention targets are comparable to the rate of retention
of such categories of students attending the public schools within the school district, or in a
city school district in a city have a population of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants, the
community school district, in which the proposed charter school would be located.

Such renewal application shall be submitted to the charter entity no later than six months
prior to the expiration of the charter; provided, however, that the charter entity may waive such
deadline for good cause shown.

Charter School Organization (New York Education Law §2853(1))

(a) Upon the approval of a charter by the Board of Regents, the Board of Regents
shall incorporate the charter school as an education corporation for a term not to exceed
five (5) years, provided however in the case of charters issued pursuant to §2852(9-a) of
the Act the Board of Regents shall incorporate the charter school as an education
corporation for a term not to exceed five (5) years in which instruction is provided to pupils
plus the period commencing with the effective date of the charter and ending with the
opening of the school for instruction. Such certificate of incorporation shall not modify or
limit any terms of the charter approved by the Board of Regents. Upon approval of an
application to renew a charter, the Board of Regents shall extend the certificate of
incorporation for a term not to exceed five (5) years. Upon termination or nonrenewal of
the charter of a charter school pursuant to §2855 of the Act, the certificate of incorporation
of the charter school shall be revoked by the Board of Regents pursuant to §219 (change
of charter) of the New York Education law, provided that compliance with the notice and
hearing requirements of the Act shall be deemed to satisfy the notice and hearing
requirements of §219 of the New York Education law. It shall be the duty of the trustees
of the charter school to obtain federal tax-exempt status no later than one year following
approval of a charter school by the Board of Regents. For purposes of the Act, "certificate
of incorporation" shall mean the provisional charter issued by the Board of Regents to
form the charter school as an educational corporation pursuant to §§216 (charters) and 217
(provisional charters) of the New York Education Law.

(b) An education corporation organized to operate a charter school shall have
all corporate powers necessary and desirable for carrying out a charter school program in
accordance with the provisions of the Act, other applicable laws and regulations and the
terms of the charter, including all of the powers of an education corporation formed to
operate an elementary or secondary school and those powers granted under the provisions
of the not-for- profit corporation law that are made applicable to charter schools by §216-
a (applicability of not-for-profit corporation law) of the New York Education Law. The
powers of the trustees of the charter school shall include those powers specified in §226
(powers of trustees of institutions) of the New York Education Law.

(b-1) An education corporation operating a charter school shall be
authorized tooperate more than one school or house any grade at more than one
site, provided that a charter must be issued for each such additional school or site
in accordance with the requirements for the issuance of a charter pursuant to the
Actand that each such additional school or site shall count as a charter issued pursuant
to §2852(9) of the Act; and provided further that:

) a charter school may operate in more than one building at a single site; and
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(i1) a charter school which provides instruction to its students at
differentlocations for a portion of their school day shall be deemed to be operating at
a single site.

(c) A charter school shall be deemed an independent and autonomous public
school, except as otherwise provided in the Act and a political subdivision having boundaries
coterminous with the school district or community school district in which the charter school
is located. The charter entity and the Board of Regents shall be deemed to be the public agents
authorized to supervise and oversee the charter school.

(d) The powers granted to a charter school under the Act constitute the
performance of essential public purposes and governmental purposes of the state. A charter
school shall be exempt to the same extent as other public schools from all taxation, fees,
assessments or special ad valorem levies on its earnings and its property, including property
leased by the charter school. Instruments of conveyance to or from a charter school and any
bonds or notes issued by a charter school, together with the income therefrom, shall at all times
be exempt from taxation.

(e) A charter school shall not have the power to levy taxes or to acquire property
by eminent domain.

H The Board of Trustees of the charter school shall have final authority for policy
and operational decisions of the school. Nothing herein shall prohibit the Board of Trustees of
a charter school from delegating decision-making authority to officers and employees of the
school in accordance with the provisions of the charter.

(2) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, no civil liability shall
attachto any charter entity, the Board of Regents, or to any of their members or employees,
individuallyor collectively, for any acts or omissions of the charter school. Neither the local
school district, thecharter entity nor the state shall be liable for the debts or financial obligations
of a charter school or any person or corporate entity who operates a charter school.

Public and Private Assistance to Charter Schools (New York Education Law §2853(4))

Effective until June 30, 2024:

(a) For purposes of §§701 (power to designate text-books; purchase and loan of
text-books; purchaseof supplies), 711 (aid for purchase of school library materials), 751 (aid
for computer software purchases) and 912 (health and welfare services to all children) of the New
York Education Law, a charter school shall be deemed a nonpublic school in the school district
within which the charter school is located. Special education programs and services shall be
provided to students with a disability attending a charter school in accordance with the
individualized education program recommended by the committee or subcommittee on special
education of the student's school district of residence. The charter school may arrange to have
such services provided by such school district of residence or by the charter school directly or
by contract with another provider. Where the charter school arranges to have the school
district of residence provide such special education programs or services, such school
district shall provide services in the same manner as it serves students with disabilities in
other public schools in the school district, including the provision of supplementary and
related services on site to the same extent to which it has a policy or practice of providing
such services on the site of such other public schools.

Effective June 30, 2024:
B-4



(a) For purposes of §§701 (power to designate text-books; purchase and loan of
text-books; purchase of supplies), 711 (aid for purchase of school library materials), 751 (aid
for computer software purchases) and 912 (health and welfare services to all children) of the New
York Education Law, a charter school shall be deemed a nonpublic school in the school district
within which the charter school is located. Special education programs and services shall be
provided to students with a disability attending a charter school in accordance with the
individualized education program recommended by the committee or subcommittee on special
education of the student's school district of residence. The charter school may arrange to have
such services provided by such school district of residence or by the charter school directly or
by contract with another provider.

(b) For purposes of §3635 (transportation) of the New York Education Law, a charter
school shall be deemed a nonpublic school. The charter and application therefor shall set forth
the manner in which students ineligible for transportation pursuant to §3635 of the New York
Education Law shall be transported to and from school. Any supplemental transportation provided
by a charter school shall comply with all transportation safety laws and regulations applicable
to other public schools. A school district may enter into a contract for the provision of
supplemental transportation services to a charter school, and any such services shall be
provided by the school district at cost.

(© A charter school may contract with the governing body of a public college or
university for the use of a school building and grounds, the operation and maintenance thereof.
Any such contract shall provide such services or facilities at cost. A school district shall permit
any charter school granted approval to co-locate, to use such services and facilities without
cost.

(d) Private persons and organizations are encouraged to provide funding and other
assistance to the establishment or operation of charter schools.

(e) The school district of residence of children attending a charter school may, but
is not required to, allow such children to participate in athletic and extra-curricular activities
of the district's schools.

Applicability of Other Laws (New York Education Law §2854(1))

(a) Notwithstanding any provision of law to the contrary, to the extent that any
provision of the Act is inconsistent with any other state or local law, rule or regulation, the
provisions of the Act shall govern and be controlling.

(b) A charter school shall meet the same health and safety, civil rights, and student
assessment requirements applicable to other public schools, except as otherwise specifically
provided in the Act. A charter school shall be exempt from all other state and local laws, rules,
regulations or policies governing public or private schools, boards of education, school districts
and political subdivisions, including those relating to school personnel and students, except as
specifically provided in the school's charter or in the Act. Nothing in this section shall affect
the requirements of compulsory education of minors established by Part 1 of Article 65
(compulsory education) of the New York Education Law.

(©) A charter school shall be subject to the financial audits, the audit procedures,
and the audit requirements set forth in the charter and shall be subject to audits of the
comptroller of the city school district of The City of New York for charter schools located in
City, and to audits of the New York State Comptroller for charter schools located in the rest of
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the state, at his or herdiscretion, with respect to the school's financial operations. Such
procedures and standards shall be consistent with generally accepted accounting and audit
standards. Independent fiscal audits shall be required at least once annually.

(d) A charter school shall design its educational programs to meet or exceed the
student performance standards adopted by the Board of Regents and the student performance
standards contained in the charter. Students attending charter school shall be required to take
Regents examinations to the same extent such examinations are required of other public school
students. A charter school offering instruction in the high school grades may grant Regents
diplomas and local diplomas to the same extent as other public schools, and such other certificates
and honors as are specifically authorized by their charter, and in testimony thereof give suitable
certificates, honors and diplomas under its seal; and every certificate and diploma so granted
shall entitle the conferee to all privileges and immunities which by usage or statute are allowed
for similar diplomas of corresponding grade granted by any other public school.

(e) A charter school shall be subject to the provisions of the New York Freedom
of Information Law and New York Open Meetings Law.

® A charter school shall be subject to the provisions of§§800 (definitions), 801
(conflicts of interest prohibited), 802 (exceptions), 803 (disclosure of interest), 804 (contracts void),
804-a (certain interests prohibited), 805 (violations), 805-a (certain action prohibited), 805-b
(solemnization of marriages) and 806 (code of ethics) of the General Municipal Law to the
same extent such sections apply to school districts.

Admission; Enrollment; Students (New York Education Lawn §2854(2))

(a) A charter school shall be nonsectarian in its programs, admission policies,
employment practices, and all other operations and shall not charge tuition or fees; provided
that acharter school may require the payment of fees on the same basis and to the same extent
as other public schools. A charter school shall not discriminate against any student, employee
or any other person on the basis of ethnicity, national origin, gender, or disability or any other
ground that would be unlawful if done by a school. Admission of students shall not be limited
on the basis of intellectual ability, measures of achievement or aptitude, athletic ability,
disability, race, creed, gender, national origin, religion, or ancestry; provided, however, that
nothing in the Act shall be construed to prevent the establishment of a single-sex charter school
or a charter school designed to provide expanded learning opportunities for students at-risk of
academic failure or students withdisabilities and English language learners; and provided,
further, that the charter school shall demonstrate good faith efforts to attract and retain a
comparable or greater enrollment of students with disabilities, English language learners, and
students who are eligible applicants for the free and reduced price lunch program when compared
to the enrollment figures for such students in the school district in which the charter school is
located. A charter shall not be issued to any school that would be wholly or in part under the
control or direction of any religious denomination, or in which any denominational tenet or
doctrine would be taught.

(b) Any child who is qualified under the laws of this state for admission to a public
school is qualified for admission to a charter school. Applications for admission to a charter school
shall be submitted on a uniform application form created by the department and shall be made
available by a charter school in languages predominately spoken in the community in which such
charter school is located. The school shall enroll each eligible student who submits a timely
application by the first day of April each year, unless the number of applications exceeds the
capacity of the grade level or building. In such cases, students shall be accepted from among
applicants by a random selection process, provided, however, that an enrollment preference
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shallbe provided to pupils returning to the charter school in the second or any subsequent year of
operation and pupils residing in the school district in which the charter school is located, and
siblings of pupils already enrolled in the charter school. Preference may also be provided to
children of employees of the charter school or charter management organization, provided that such
children of employees may constitute no more than 15% of the charter school's total
enrollment. The Commissioner shall establish regulations to require that the random selection
process conducted pursuant to this paragraph be performed in a transparent and equitable
manner and to require that the time and place of the random selection process be publicized in a
manner consistent with the requirements 0f§104 of the Public Officers Law and be open to the
public. For purposes of this paragraph and paragraph (a) above, the school district in which the
charter school is located shall mean, for the city school district of The City of New York, the
community district in which the charter school is located.

(© A charter school shall serve one or more of the grades one through twelve, and
shall limit admission to pupils within the grade levels served. Nothing in the Act shall prohibit
a charter school from establishing a kindergarten program.

(d) A student may withdraw from a charter school at any time and enroll in a public
school. A charter school may refuse admission to any student who has been expelled or suspended
from a public school until the period of suspension or expulsion from the public school has expired,
consistent with the requirements of due process.

Causes for Revocation or Non-Renewal (New York Education Law §2855)

The charter entity, or the Board of Regents, may terminate a charter upon any of the
following grounds:

(a) When a charter school's outcome on student assessment measures adopted by
theBoard of Regents falls below the level that would allow the Commissioner to revoke the
registration of another public school, and student achievement on such measures has not shown
improvement over the preceding three school years;

(b) Serious violations of law;

(©) Material and substantial violation of the charter, including fiscal
mismanagement;

(d) When the public employment relations board makes a determination that the

charter school demonstrates a practice and pattern of egregious and intentional violations 0f§209-
a(i) (improper employer practices) of the Civil Service Law involving interference with or
discrimination against employee rights under Article 14 (Public Employees' Fair Employment
Act) of the Civil Service Law; or

(e) Repeated failure to comply with the requirement to meet or exceed enrollment and
retention targets of students with disabilities, English language learners, and students who are
eligible applicants for the free and reduced price lunch program pursuant to targets established
by the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees of the State University of New York, as
applicable.Provided, however, if no grounds for terminating a charter are established pursuant
to §2855 of the Act other than pursuant to this paragraph (e), and the charter school
demonstrates that it has made extensive efforts to recruit and retain such students, including
outreach to parents and families in the surrounding communities, widely publicizing the lottery
for such school, and efforts to academically support such students in such charter school, then
the charter entity or Board of Regents may retain such charter.
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Notice of intent to revoke a charter shall be provided to the Board of Trustees of a charter
school at least 30 days prior to the effective date of the proposed revocation. Such notice shall include a
statement of reasons for the proposed revocation. The charter school shall be allowed at least 30 days
to correct the problems associated with the proposed revocation. Prior to revocation of the charter, a
charter school shall be provided an opportunity to be heard, consistent with the requirements of due
process. Upon the termination of a charter, the charter school shall proceed with dissolution pursuant to
the procedures of the charter and direction of the charter entity and the Board of Regents.

In addition to the provisions of the paragraph above, the charter entity or the Board of Regents may
place a charter school falling within the provisions of paragraphs (a) through (e) above on probationary
status to allow the implementation of a remedial action plan. The failure of a charter school to comply
with the terms and conditions of a remedial action plan may result in summary revocation of the school's
charter.

Any individual or group may bring a complaint to the Board of Trustees of a charter school
alleging a violation of the provisions of the Act, the charter, or any other provision of law relating to the
management or operation of the charter school. If, after presentation of the complaint to the Board of
Trustees of a charter school, the individual or group determines that such board has not adequately
addressed the complaint, they may present that complaint to the charter entity, which shall investigate
and respond. If, after presentation of the complaint to the charter entity, the individual or group
determines that the charterentity has not adequately addressed the complaint, they may present that
complaint to the Board of Regents, which shall investigate and respond. The charter entity and the Board
of Regents shall have the power andthe duty to issue appropriate remedial orders to charter schools
under their jurisdiction to effectuate the provisions of this section.

The regulatory power of the Board of Regents and the Commissioner shall not extend to charter
schools except as otherwise specifically provided in the Act.

Review and Assessment (New York Education Law §§2857(2), 2857(3) and 2857(5))

Each charter school shall submit to the charter entity and to the Board of Regents an annual
report.Such report shall be issued no later than the first day of August of each year for the preceding
school year and shall be made publicly available by such date and shall be posted on the charter school's
website. The annual report shall be in such form as shall be prescribed by the Commissioner and shall
include at least the following components:

(a) a charter school report card, which shall include measures of the comparative
academic and fiscal performance of the school, as prescribed by the Commissioner in
regulations adopted for such purpose. Such measures shall include, but not be limited to,
graduation rates, dropout rates, performance of students on standardized tests, college entry rates,
total spending per pupil and administrative spending per pupil. Such measures shall be
presented in a format that is easily comparable to similar public schools. In addition, the charter
school shall ensure that such information is easily accessible to the community including
making it publicly available by transmitting it to local newspapers of general circulation and
making it available for distribution at board of trustee meetings;

(b) discussion of the progress made towards achievement of the goals set forth in
the charter;
(c) a certified financial statement setting forth, by appropriate categories, the revenues

and expenditures for the preceding school year, including a copy of the most recent
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independent fiscal audit of the school and any audit conducted by the New York State
Comptroller; and

(d) efforts taken by the charter school in the existing school year, and a plan for efforts
to be taken in the succeeding school year, to meet or exceed enrollment and retention targets set
by the Board of Regents or the Board of Trustees of the State University of New York, as
applicable,of students with disabilities, English language learners, and students who are eligible
applicants for the free and reduced price lunch program established pursuant to §2851(4)(e) of
the Act.

The Board of Regents shall report annually to the governor, the temporary president of the
senate,and the speaker of the assembly the following information:

(a) The number, distribution, and a brief description of new charter schools
established during the preceding year;

(a-1) A list including the number of charter schools closed during the preceding
year, and a brief description of the reasons therefor including, but not limited to, non-
renewal of the charter or revocation of the charter;

(b) The department's assessment of the current and projected programmatic and fiscal
impact of charter schools on the delivery of services by school districts;

(©) The academic progress of students attending charter schools, as measured
against comparable public and nonpublic schools with similar student population
characteristics whereverpracticable;

(d) A list of all actions taken by a charter entity on charter application and the rationale
for the renewal or revocation of any charters; and

(e) Any other information regarding charter schools that the Board of Regents
deemsnecessary. The format for this annual report shall be developed in consultation with
representatives of school districts and charter school officials.

The Board of Regents shall on an annual basis review and make available to school districts
best educational practices employed by charter schools.

Facilities (New York Education Law §2853(3))

(a) A charter school may be located in part of an existing public school building,
in space provided on a private work site, in a public building or in any other suitable location.
Provided, however, before a charter school may be located in part of an existing public school
building, the charter entity shall provide notice to the parents or guardians of the students then
enrolled in the existing school building and shall hold a public hearing for purposes of
discussing the location of the charter school. A charter school may own, lease or rent its space.

(a-1) (1) For charters issued pursuant to §2852(9-a) of the Act located
outside a city school district in a city having a population of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants,
the department shall approve plans and specifications and issue certificates of
occupancy for such charter schools. Such charter schools shall comply with all
department health, sanitary, and safety requirements applicable to facilities and shall
be treated the same as other public schools for purposes of local zoning, land use

regulation and building code compliance. Provided however, that the department shall
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be authorized to grant specific exemptions from the requirements of this paragraph to
charter schools upon a showing that compliance with such requirements creates an undue
economic hardship or that some other good cause exists that makes compliance with
this paragraph extremely impractical. Ademonstrated effort to overcome the stated
obstacles must be provided.

(a-1) (i) In a city school district in a city with a population of 1,000,000 or
more, all charters authorized to be issued by the chapter of the laws 0f2010 which amended
this subdivision shall be obligated to comply with the department's health, safety and
sanitary requirements applicable to facilities to the same extent as non-charter public
schools in such a city school district.

(a-2) A charter school shall be deemed a nonpublic school for purposes of local
zoning, land use regulation and building code compliance if it has been granted an
exemption by the department pursuant to paragraph (a-1) above or if its charter was
not issued pursuant to §2852(9-a) of the Act.

(a-3) Before a charter school may be located or co-located in an existing public
school building in a city school district in a city having a population of 1,000,000 or
moreinhabitants, the chancellor shall identify which public school buildings may be
subject to location or co-location, provide the rationale as to why such public school
building is identified for location or co-location and shall make all such information
publicly available, including via the city board's official internet website. In addition,
the chancellor shall provide widespread notice of such information including to the
community superintendent, community district education council and the school- based
management team. After a public school building has been selected for a proposed
location or co-location, the chancellor shall develop a building usage plan in
accordance with the Act.

(a-4) In a city school district in a city having a population of 1,000,000 or more
inhabitants, a shared space committee shall be established in each public school
building in which one or more charter schools are located or co-located within a public
school building with non-charter public schools. The shared space committee shall be
comprised of the principal, a teacher, and a parent of each co-located school. Such
committee shall conduct regular meetings, at least four times per school year, to review
implementation ofthe building usage plan developed pursuant to the Act.

(a-5) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary, in a city school district
ina city having a population of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants, the determination to
locate or co-locate a charter school within a public school building and the
implementation of and compliance with the building usage plan developed pursuant to
the Act that has been approved by the board of education of such city school district
pursuant to the New York Education law and after satisfying the requirements of the
New York Education law may be appealed to the commissioner pursuant to applicable
provisions of the New York Education law. Provided further, the revision of a building
usage plan approved by the board of education consistent with the requirements
pursuant to the New York Education law may also be appealed to the commissioner on
the grounds that such revision fails to meet the standards set forth in the Act. Following
a petition for such appeal pursuant to this paragraph, such city school district shall have
10 days to respond. The petition must be dismissed, adjudicated or disposed of by the
commissioner within 10 days of the receipt of the city school district's response.



(b) A charter school may pledge, assign or encumber its assets to be used as collateral for
loans or extensions of credit; provided, however, that a charter school shall not pledge or assign monies
provided, or to be provided, pursuant to §2856(1) of the Act in connection with the purchase or
construction,acquisition, reconstruction, rehabilitation or improvement of a school facility.

(c) The office of general services shall annually publish a list of vacant and unused
buildings and vacant and unused portions of buildings that are owned by the state and that may be
suitable for the operation of a charter school. Such list shall be provided to applicants for charter
schools and to existing charter schools. At the request of a charter school or a prospective applicant, a
school district shall make available a list of vacant and unused school buildings and vacant and unused
portions of school buildings,including private school buildings, within the school district that may be
suitable for the operation of a charter school.

(d) Notwithstanding any other provision to the contrary, in a city school district in a city
havinga population of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants, the chancellor must first authorize in writing any
proposed capital improvements or facility upgrades in excess of $5,000, regardless of the source of
funding, made toaccommodate the co-location of a charter school within a public school building. For
any such improvements or upgrades that have been approved by the chancellor, capital improvements
or facility upgrades shall be made in an amount equal to the expenditure of the charter school for each
non-charter public school within the public school building. For any capital improvements or facility
upgrades in excess of $5,000 that have been approved by the chancellor, regardless of the source of
funding, made in a charterschool that is already co-located within a public school building, matching
capital improvements or facility upgrades shall be made in an amount equal to the expenditure of the
charter school for each non-charter public school within the public school building within three months
of such improvements or upgrades.

(e) In a city school district in a city having a population of 1,000,000 or more inhabitants,
charter schools that first commence instruction or that require additional space due to an expansion of grade
level, pursuant to the Act, approved by their charter entity for the 2014-2015 school year or thereafter
andrequest co-location in a public school building shall be provided access to facilities pursuant to §2853-
3(e) of the Act for such charter schools that first commence instruction or that require additional space
due to an expansion of grade level, pursuant to the Act, approved by their charter entity for those grades
newly provided.

(i)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law to the contrary, within the later of
(a) five months after a charter school's written request for co-location and (b) 30 days after the
charter school's charter is approved by its charter entity, the city school district shall either: (1)
offerat no cost to the charter school a co-location site in a public school building approved by the
Board of Education as provided by law, or (2B) offer the charter school space in a privately
owned or other publicly owned facility at the expense of the city school district and at no cost
to the charter school. The space must be reasonable, appropriate and comparable and in the
community school district to be served by the charter school and otherwise in reasonable
proximity.

(i1) No later than 30 days after approval by the Board of Education or expiration of the
offer period prescribed in paragraph (i) above, the charter school shall either accept the city school
district's offer or appeal in accordance with paragraph (iii) below. If no appeal is taken, the
city's offer or refusal to make an offer is final and non-reviewable. The charter school may
appeal as early as issuance of an educational impact statement for the proposed co-location.

(iit) The charter school shall have the option of appealing the city school district's
offeror failure to offer a co-location site through binding arbitration in accordance with the
Act, an expedited appeal to the Commissioner pursuant to applicable provisions of the New
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York Education Law, or a special proceeding pursuant to Article 78 of the civil practice law
and rules. In any such appeal, the standard of review is the standard prescribed in§7803 of the
civil practicelaw and rules.

(iv) If the appeal results in a determination in favor of the city school district, the city's
offer is final and the charter school may either accept such offer and move into the space
offered by the city school district at the city school district's expense, or locate in another site at the
charter school's expense.

v) For a new charter school whose charter is granted or for an existing charter school
whose expansion of grade level, pursuant to the Charter Schools Act, is approved by their
charter entity, if the appeal results in a determination in favor of the charter school, the city
school districtwill pay the charter school an amount attributable to the grade level expansion
or the formation ofthe new charter school that is equal to the lesser of:

(D) the actual rental cost of an alternative privately owned site selected by
thecharter school or

) 30% of the product of the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current
school year and (a) for a new charter school that first commences instruction on or after
July 1, 2014, the charter school's current year enrollment; or (b) for a charter school which
expands its grade level, pursuant to the Act, the positive difference of the charter
school's enrollment in the current school year minus the charter school's enrollment in
the school year prior to the first year of the expansion.

(vi)  An arbitration in an appeal pursuant to this paragraph shall be conducted by a
single arbitrator selected in accordance with the Act.

Financing of Charter Schools (New York Education Law §2856)
Effective until June 30, 2024:

(a) The enrollment of students attending charter schools shall be included in the
enrollment, attendance, membership and, if applicable, count of students with disabilities of the school
district in which the pupil resides. The charter school shall report all such data to the school districts
of residence in a timely manner.Each school district shall report such enrollment, attendance and count
of students with disabilities to the department. The school district of residence shall pay directly to the
charter school for each student enrolled in the charter school who resides in the school district the Charter
School Basic Tuition, which shall be:

(1) for school years prior to the 2009-2010 school year, an amount equal to 100%
of the amount calculated pursuant §3602(1)(f) of the New York Education Law for the school
district for the year prior to the Base Year increased by the percentage change in the State Total
Approved Operating Expense calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Education
Law from two years prior to the Base Year to the Base Year;

(i1) for the 2009-2010 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the
amount payable by such district as Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2008-2009 school
year;

(iii))  for the 2010-2011 through 2013-2014 school years, the Charter School Basic
Tuition shall be the basic tuition computed for the 2010-2011 school year pursuant to the
provisions of subparagraph (i) above;
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(iv) for the 2014-2015 through 2016-2017 school years, the Charter School Basic
Tuition shall be the sum of the lesser of the Charter School Basic Tuition computed for the
2010- 2011 school year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) above or the Charter School
Basic Tuition computed for the current year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) above
plus the supplemental basic tuition;

(v) for the 2017-2018 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the
sum of (A) the Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2016-2017 school year plus (B) $500;

(vi) for the 2018-2019 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the lesser
of (A) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year
multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing
with the year five years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base
Year of the Total Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to
§3602(1)(t) of the New York Law Education Law for each such year divided by the Total
Approved Operating Expense for such district for the immediately preceding year, provided
that the highest and lowest annual quotients shall be excluded from the calculation of such
average or (B) the quotient of the total general fund expenditures for the school district
calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for the purpose of compliance
with§305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law published annually on May 15th for the year
prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated public enrollment for the school district
pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education Law for theyear prior to the Base Year;

(vii)  for the 2019-2020 school year the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the
lesserof (A) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year
multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing
with the year three years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base
Year of the Total Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to
§3602(1)(t) of the New York Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved
Operating Expense for such district for the immediately preceding year provided that the highest
annual quotient calculated pursuant to this subparagraph shall be replaced by the average
quotient calculated pursuant to subparagraph (vi) of this paragraph or (B) the quotient of the
total general fund expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to an electronic data
file created for the purpose of compliance with§305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law
published annually on May 15th for the year prior to the base year divided by the total estimated
public enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education
Law for the year prior to the Base Year;

(viii) for the 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 school years, the Charter School Basic
Tuition shall be the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for
the Base Year multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period
commencing with the year three years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior
to the Base Year of the Total Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated
pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Education Law for each such year divided by the Total
Approved Operating Expense for such district for the immediately preceding year multiplied by,
for the 2020- 2021 school year only, (iii) nine hundred forty-five one-thousandths (0.945) or (b)
the quotient of the total general fund expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to
an electronic data file created for the purpose of compliance with §305(21)(b) of the New York
Education Law published annually on May 15th for the year prior to the Base Year divided by
the total estimated public enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New
York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year.
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(ix)  for the 2022-2023, 2023-2024, 2024-2025 school years, the Charter School
BasicTuition shall be the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition
calculated for the Base Year multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year
in the period commencing with the year four years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the
year prior to the Base Year, excluding the 2020-2021 school year, of the Total Approved
Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York
Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved Operating Expense for such
district for the immediately preceding year or (b) the quotient of the total general fund
expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for
the purpose of compliance with §305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law published
annually on May 15th for the year prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated public
enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education Law for
the year prior to the Base Year.

x) for the 2025-2026 school year and thereafter, the Charter School Basic Tuition
shall be the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the
Base Year multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period
commencing with the year three years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior
to the Base Year of the Total Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated
pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Education Law for each such year divided by the
Total Approved Operating Expense for such district for the immediately preceding year or (b)
the quotient of the total general fund expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to
an electronic data filecreated for the purpose of compliance with§305(21)(b) of the New York
Education Law publishedannually on May 15th for the year prior to the Base Year divided by
the total estimated public enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New
York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year.

For the purposes of this subdivision, the "supplemental basic tuition" shall be (a) for a school
district for which the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current year is greater than or equal to the Charter
School Basic Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) of
this paragraph, (A) for the 2014-2015 school year $250, (B) for the 2015-2016 school year $350, (C)
for the 2016-2017 school year $500, and (D) for the 2017-2018 school year and thereafter, the sum of
(1) the supplemental basic tuition calculated for the 2016-2017 school year plus (2) $500, and (b) for school
years prior to the 2017-2018 school year, for a school district for which the Charter School Basic
Tuition for the2010-2011 school year is greater than the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current
year pursuant to theprovisions of subparagraph (i) of this paragraph, the positive difference of the Charter
School Basic Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year minus the Charter School Basic Tuition for the
current year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) of this paragraph and (c) for school years
following the 2016-2017 schools years, for a school district for which the Charter School Basic Tuition
for the 2010-2011 school year is greater than the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current year
pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph of this paragraph, the sum of (i) the supplemental basic tuition
calculated for the 2016-2017 school year plus (ii) $500.

(b) The school district shall also pay directly to the charter school any federal or state aid
attributable to a student with a disability attending charter school in proportion to the level of services
for such studentwith a disability that the charter school provides directly or indirectly. Notwithstanding
anything in this section to the contrary, amounts payable pursuant to this section from State or local funds
may be reduced pursuant to an agreement between the school and the charter entity set forth in the charter.
Payments made pursuant to this section shall be made by the school district in six substantially equal
installments each year beginning on the first business day of July and every two months thereafter.
Amounts payable under this section shall be determined by the Commissioner. Amounts payable to a
charter school in its first year of operation shall be based on the projections of initial-year enrollment
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set forth in the charter until actual enrollment data is reported to the school district by the charter
school. Such projections shall be reconciled with the actual enrollment as the actual enrollment data
is reported and at the end of the school's first year of operation, and each subsequent year based on a
final report of actual enrollment by the charter school, and any necessary adjustments resulting from
such final report shall be made to payments during the school's following year of operation.

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of this subdivision to the contrary, payment of the
federal aid attributable to a student with a disability attending a charter school shall be made in
accordance with the requirements of section 8065-a of title twenty of the United States code and
sections 76.785-76.799 and 300.209 of title thirty-four of the code of federal regulations.

(d) School districts shall be eligible for an annual apportionment equal to the amount of
the supplemental basic tuition for the charter school in the Base Year for the expenses incurred in the
2014- 2015, 2015-2016, and 2016-2017 school years and thereafter. Provided that for expenses
incurred in the 2020-2021 school year, fir a city school district in a city having a population of
1,000,000 or more, the annual apportionment shall be reduced by $35,000,000 upon certificate of the
director of the budget of the availability of a grant in the same amount from the elementary and
secondary school emergency relief funds provided through the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021.

Effective June 30, 2024:

(a) The enrollment of students attending charter schools shall be included in the
enrollment, attendance and, if applicable, count of students with disabilities of the school district
in which the pupil resides. The charter school shall report all such data to the school districts of
residence in a timely manner. Each school district shall report such enrollment, attendance and count
of students with disabilities to the department. The school district of residence shall pay directly to
the charter school for each student enrolled in the charter school who resides in the school district the
charter school basic tuition which shall be:

(i)  for school years prior to the 2009-2010 school year, an amount equal to 100% of the
amount calculated pursuant §3602(1)(f) of the New York Education Law for the school district for the
year prior to the Base Year increased by the percentage change in the State Total Approved Operating
Expense calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Education Law from two years prior to
the Base Year to the Base Year;

(i)  for the 2009-2010 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the amount
payable by such district as Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2008-2009 school year;

(ii)  for the 2010-2011 through 2013-2014 school years, the Charter School Basic Tuition
shall be the basic tuition computed for the 2010-2011 school year pursuant to the provisions of
subparagraph (i) above;

(iv) for the 2014-2015 through 2016-2017 school years, the Charter School Basic Tuition
shall be the sum of the lesser of the Charter School Basic Tuition computed for the 2010- 2011 school
year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) above or the Charter School Basic Tuition computed
for the current year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) above plus the supplemental basic
tuition;

(v)  for the 2017-2018 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the sum of (A)
the Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2016-2017 school year plus (B) $500;

(vi) for the 2018-2019 school year, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the lesser of
(A) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year multiplied by (ii)
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the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing with the year five years
prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base Year of the Total Approved
Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Law
Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved Operating Expense for such district
for the immediately preceding year, provided that the highest and lowest annual quotients shall be
excluded from the calculation of such average or (B) the quotient of the total general fund expenditures
for the school district calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for the purpose of
compliance with§305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law published annually on May 15th for the
year prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated public enrollment for the school district
pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year;

(vii) for the 2019-2020 school year the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be the lesser of
(A) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year multiplied by (ii)
the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing with the year three years
prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base Year of the Total Approved
Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York
Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved Operating Expense for such district
for the immediately preceding year provided that the highest annual quotient calculated pursuant to
this subparagraph shall be replaced by the average quotient calculated pursuant to subparagraph (vi)
of this paragraph or (B) the quotient of the total general fund expenditures for the school district
calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for the purpose of compliance with§305(21)(b) of
the New York Education Law published annually on May 15th for the year prior to the base year
divided by the total estimated public enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the
New York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year;

(viii) for the 2020-2021 and 2021-2022 school years, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall
be the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year
multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing with the
year three years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base Year of the Total
Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New
York Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved Operating Expense for such
district for the immediately preceding year multiplied by, for the 2020- 2021 school year only, (iii)
nine hundred forty-five one-thousandths (0.945) or (b) the quotient of the total general fund
expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for the purpose
of compliance with §305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law published annually on May 15th for
the year prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated public enrollment for the school district
pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year.

(ix) for the 2022-2023, 2023-2024, 2024-2025 school years, the Charter School Basic
Tuition shall be the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the
Base Year multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing
with the year four years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base Year,
excluding the 2020-2021 school year, of the Total Approved Operating Expense for such school district
calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New York Education Law for each such year divided by the
Total Approved Operating Expense for such district for the immediately preceding year or (b) the
quotient of the total general fund expenditures for the school district calculated pursuant to an
electronic data file created for the purpose of compliance with §305(21)(b) of the New York Education
Law published annually on May 15th for the year prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated
public enrollment for the school district pursuant to §3602(I)(n) of the New York Education Law for
the year prior to the Base Year.

(x)  for the 2025-2026 school year and thereafter, the Charter School Basic Tuition shall be
the lesser of (a) the product of (i) the Charter School Basic Tuition calculated for the Base Year
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multiplied by (ii) the average of the quotients for each school year in the period commencing with the
year three years prior to the Base Year and finishing with the year prior to the Base Year of the Total
Approved Operating Expense for such school district calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(t) of the New
York Education Law for each such year divided by the Total Approved Operating Expense for such
district for the immediately preceding year or (b) the quotient of the total general fund expenditures
for the school district calculated pursuant to an electronic data file created for the purpose of
compliance with§305(21)(b) of the New York Education Law published annually on May 15th for the
year prior to the Base Year divided by the total estimated public enrollment for the school district
pursuant to §3602(1)(n) of the New York Education Law for the year prior to the Base Year.

For the purposes of this subdivision, the "supplemental basic tuition" shall be (a) for a school
district for which the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current year is greater than or equal to the
Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph
(i) of this paragraph, (A) for the 2014-2015 school year $250, (B) for the 2015-2016 school year $350,
(C) for the 2016-2017 school year $500, and (D) for the 2017-2018 school year and thereafter, the sum
of (1) the supplemental basic tuition calculated for the 2016-2017 school year plus (2) $500, and (b)
for school years prior to the 2017-2018 school year, for a school district for which the Charter School
Basic Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year is greater than the Charter School Basic Tuition for the
current year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) of this paragraph, the positive difference of
the Charter School Basic Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year minus the Charter School Basic Tuition
for the current year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph (i) of this paragraph and (c) for school
years following the 2016-2017 schools years, for a school district for which the Charter School Basic
Tuition for the 2010-2011 school year is greater than the Charter School Basic Tuition for the current
year pursuant to the provisions of subparagraph of this paragraph, the sum of (i) the supplemental basic
tuition calculated for the 2016-2017 school year plus (ii) $500.

(b) The school district shall also pay directly to the charter school any federal or state aid
attributable to a student with a disability attending charter school in proportion to the level of services
for such student with a disability that the charter school provides directly or indirectly. Notwithstanding
anything in this section to the contrary, amounts payable pursuant to this section may be reduced
pursuant to an agreement between the school and the charter entity set forth in the charter. Payments
made pursuant to this section shall be made by the school district in six substantially equal installments
each year beginning on the first business day of July and every two months thereafter. Amounts payable
under this section shall be determined by the Commissioner. Amounts payable to a charter school in
its first year of operation shall be based on the projections of initial-year enrollment set forth in the
charter. Such projections shall be reconciled with the actual enrollment at the end of the school's first
year of operation, and any necessary adjustments shall be made to payments during the school's second
year of operation.

(c) School districts shall be eligible for an annual apportionment equal to the amount of
the supplemental basic tuition for the charter school in the Base Year for the expenses incurred in the
2014-2015, 2015-2016, and 2016-2017 school years and thereafter. Provided that for expenses
incurred in the 2020-2021 school year, fir a city school district in a city having a population of
1,000,000 or more, the annual apportionment shall be reduced by $35,000,000 upon certificate of the
director of the budget of the availability of a grant in the same amount from the elementary and
secondary school emergency relief funds provided through the American Rescue Plan Act of 2021.

In the event of the failure of the school district to make payments required by this section, the
statecomptroller shall deduct from any state funds which become due to such school district an amount
equal tothe unpaid obligation. The comptroller shall pay over such sum to the charter school upon
certification of the commissioner. The commissioner shall promulgate regulations to implement the
provisions of this subdivision.



Nothing in the Act shall be construed to prohibit any person or organization from providing
funding or other assistance to the establishment or operation of a charter school. The board of trustees
of a charterschool is authorized to accept gifts, donations, or grants of any kind made to the charter
school and to expend or use such gifts, donations, or grants in accordance with the conditions
prescribed by the donor; provided, however, that no gift, donation or grant may be accepted if subject
to a condition that is contrary to any provision of law or term of the charter.

Charter School Basic Tuition (New York Education Law §3602)

As referenced in §2856 of the Act, the amount calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(f) of the New York
Education Law is "Expense per Pupil," which is defined as Approved Operating Expense for the year prior
to the Base Year divided by the sum, computed using year prior to the Base Year pupil counts, of the
Total Aidable Pupil Units plus Weighted Pupils with Disabilities. Expense per Pupil for each borough in
the city school district of The City of New York shall be the Expense per Pupil of the entire city school
district.

“Current year” shall mean the school year during which the apportionment is to be paid
pursuant to this section.

"Base Year" shall mean the school year immediately preceding the current year.
"Weighted Pupils With Disabilities" shall be computed as follows:

(a) Pupils with disabilities" shall mean pupils of school age who are identified as students
with disabilities pursuant to Article 89 (Children with Handicapping Conditions) of the New York
Education Law and the regulations of the Commissioner and who receive special education services or
attend specialeducation programs which meet criteria established by the Commissioner, operated by
a school district eligible for total foundation aid pursuant to this section or by a board of cooperative
educational services,whether or not the school district is a component of such board.

(b) "Weighted Pupils with Disabilities" shall mean the attendance, as defined in the
regulations of theCommissioner, of pupils with disabilities who have been determined by a school
district committee on special education to require any of the following types and levels of programs or
services specified in this paragraph, and who receive such programs and services from the school
district of attendance during the Base Year, multiplied by a special services weighting determined as
follows:

(i)  for placement for 60% or more of the school day in a special class, or home or
hospital instruction for a period of more than 60 days, or special services or programs for more than
60% of the school day, the special services weighting shall be 170%;

(i)  for placement for 30% or more of the school week in a resource room or special
services or programs including related services required for 30% or more of the school week,
or inthe case of pupils in grades 7-12 or a multi-level middle school program as defined by the
Commissioner or in the case of pupils in grades 4-6 in an elementary school operating on a
periodbasis, the equivalent of five periods per week, but not less than the equivalent of 180
minutes in a resource room or in other special services or programs including related services, or
for at least two hours per week of direct or indirect consultant teacher services, in accordance
with regulations of the Commissioner adopted for such purpose, the special services weighting
shall be 90%.

Computation of Total Aidable Pupil Units. A district's Total Aidable Pupil Units shall be the sum
of the district's Adjusted Average Daily Attendance computed pursuant to this section for the year
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prior to the Base Year multiplied by the Enrollment Index computed pursuant to this section for the
Base Year plus the Additional Aidable Pupil Units computed for the year prior to the Base Year under
paragraph (b) below.

(a) For purposes of this section Adjusted Average Daily Attendance of a school district
forany school year shall be computed as follows:

a. Adjusted Average Daily Attendance shall be determined by using the
average daily attendance of public school pupils in a full-day kindergarten and grades 1-12
as the basic unit, with the attendance of such pupils in one-half day kindergartens measured
at one-half of such basic unit. The sum of all such units of attendance shall be the Adjusted
Average Daily Attendance.

b. In computing such attendance, the school district shall (i) determine the
number of religious holidays which fall on a school day within a school year according
to regulations established by the Commissioner, such religious holidays to be duly
recognized as such for purposes of this section by duly adopted resolution of the board
of education; (ii) deduct the aggregate attendance on such religious holidays from the total
aggregate attendance, by grade level; (iii) deduct such religious holidays from the total
number of days of session, by grade level; (iv) compute the Adjusted Average Daily
Attendance for the school year.

C. In any instance where a pupil is a resident of another state or an Indian
pupil is a resident of any portion of a reservation located wholly or partly within the
borders of the state pursuant to §4101(4) (duties of Commissioner regarding Indian
children) of the New York Education Law or a pupil is living on federally owned land
or property, such pupil's attendance shall be counted as part of the Adjusted Average
Daily Attendance of the school district in which such pupil is enrolled.

(b) Computation of Additional Aidable Pupil Units. The Additional Aidable Pupil Units
used to compute Total Aidable Pupil Units pursuant to this section shall be the sum of the attendance
of summer session pupils multiplied by 12% and the Weighted Pupils with Special Educational Needs.
Nothing contained in this paragraph shall be construed to result in the inclusion of the attendance of summer
session pupils in the computation of weighted or Adjusted Average Daily Attendance pursuant to this
section:

"Enrollment Index" shall be computed by dividing the public school enrollment for the current year
by public school enrollment for the Base Year, both as defined in the New York Education Law, with
the result carried to three places without rounding.

"Enrollment" shall mean the unduplicated count of all children registered to receive
educational services in grades kindergarten through twelve, including children in ungraded programs,
as registered on the date prior to November first that is specified by the Commissioner as the enrollment
reporting date forthe school district or nonpublic school, as reported to the Commissioner.

"Public school district enrollment" shall mean the sum of: (a) the number of children on a
regular enrollment register of a public school district on such date; (b) the number of children eligible
to receive home instruction in the school district on such date; (d) the number of children for whom
Equivalent Attendance must be computed pursuant to this Section on such date; (d) the number of
children with disabilities who are residents of such district who are registered on such date to attend
programs under theprovisions of paragraph (c¢) 0f§4401(2) (children with handicapping conditions
definitions) of the New York Education Law; (e) the number of children eligible to receive educational
services on such date but not claimed for aid pursuant to §3202(7) (public schools free to resident
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pupils; tuition from nonresident pupils) of the New York Education Law; and (f) the number of
children registered on such date to attend programs (i) pursuant to §355(2) (powers and duties of trustees
- administrative and fiscal functions) of the New York Education Law or (ii) pursuant to an agreement
between the New York City School District and Hunter College pursuant to §6216 of the New York
Education Law.

"Equivalent Attendance" shall mean the quotient of the total number of student hours of
instruction in programs in a public school of a school district or a board of cooperative educational
services leading toa high school diploma or a high school equivalency diploma as defined in regulations
of the Commissioner for pupils under the age of 21 not on a regular day school register of the district,
divided by 1,000.

The "Approved Operating Expense" for the apportionments to any school district under the
New York Education Law shall mean the amount computed as follows: The apportionment to any school
district for operating expense shall be based upon the total expenditures from its general fund and from
its capital fund and from its risk retention fund for purposes of employee benefit claims related to
salaries paid from the general fund, and for any city school districts with a population of more than
one hundred twenty-five thousand inhabitants its expenditures from the special aid fund of grant
moneys for improving pupil performance and categorical aid for special reading programs as provided
in the aid to localities budget during the applicable year as approved by the Commissioner, and in
accordance with the classification of expenditures in use by the Commissioner for the reporting by
school districts of receipts, expenditures andother financial data. For the purpose of this paragraph
"Operating Expense" shall be defined as total cash expenditures during the applicable year, but shall
exclude:

(a) any balances and transfers;

(b) any payments for transportation of pupils to and from school during the
regularschool year inclusive of capital outlays and debt service therefor;

(b-2) a portion of any payments for transportation of pupils to and from district
operated summer school programs pursuant to §3622-a(6) (aidable regular
transportation)of the New York Education Law, inclusive of capital outlays and debt
service therefor, equal to the product of such expenditures multiplied by the quotient
of the total apportionment after the proration, if any, required by such subdivision 6 of
the New York Education Law divided by the total apportionment prior to such
proration;

(©) any payments for capital outlay and debt service for school building purposes,
provided, however, that in the case of a school district which has entered into a contract with
stateuniversity pursuant to §355(2)(0) (conduct of research and experiments) of the New York
Education Law, under which the school district makes payment to state university on account
of capital outlay relating to certain children residing in such school district, such payments
shall not be so excluded;

(d) any payments for cafeteria or school lunch programs;

(e) any proceeds of short term borrowings in the general fund and any payments
fromthe proceeds of the sale of obligations in the capital fund;

§)) any cash receipts which reduce the cost of an item when applied against the
expenditure therefor, except gifts, donations, and earned interest and any refunds made;
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(2) any payments made to boards of cooperative educational services for purposes
orprograms for which an apportionment is paid pursuant to other sections of the New York
Education Law, except that payments attributable to eligible pupils with disabilities and
ineligible pupils residing in noncomponent districts shall be included in operating expense;

(h) any tuition payments made to other school districts inclusive of payments made
toa central high school district by one of its component school districts;

(1) any apportionment or payment received from the state for experimental or
specialprograms paid under provisions other than those found in this section and other than
any apportionments or payments received from the state by the city school district of the city of
Yonkers for the purpose of funding an educational improvement program pursuant to a court order
and other than any other state grants in aid identified by the Commissioner for general use as
specified by the board of education pursuant to §1718(2) (limitation upon expenditures) of the
New York Education Law;

9) any funds received from the federal government except the federal share of
Medicaid subject to the provisions 0f§3600 (9-a) (moneys apportioned, when and how payable
commencing July 1, 2007) of the New York Education Law and except Impact Aid funds
received pursuant to Public Law 81- 874 or§§2 and 6 or any law superseding such law in any
such district which received aid pursuant to both such sections; provided further, however, that
there shall be excluded from such federal funds or other apportionments any payments from such
funds already deducted pursuant to this paragraph;

(k) any payments made for which an apportionment is disallowed pursuant to
regulations of the Commissioner;

D any expenditures made for accounting, tabulation, or computer equipment, in
excess of $10,000 unless such expenditures shall have been specifically approved by the
Commissioner;

(m) any rental payments received pursuant to the provisions of §403-a (leasing of
school property) of the New York Education Law;

(n) any rentals or other annual payments received pursuant to the provisions 0f§403-
b (Leasing of school buildings and facilities) of the New York Education Law;

(0) any expenditures made for persons 21 years of age or over attending
employmentpreparation education programs pursuant to subdivision 11 of this section;

(p) any tuition payments made pursuant to a contract under the provlslons
of
§4401(2)(e) through (i) and (I) ("special services or programs" definition) of the New York
Education Law or any tuition payments on behalf of pupils attending a state school under
paragraph d of such subdivision;

(@ in any year in which expenditures are made to the New York state teachers'
retirement system or the New York state and local employees' retirement system for both the
priorschool year and the current school year, any expenditures made to such retirement systems
and recorded in the school year prior to the school year in which such obligations are paid; and

() any payments to the Commissioner of taxation and finance pursuant to Article
23 (Metropolitan Commuter Transportation Mobility Tax) of the tax law.
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Public School District Payments to Charter Schools (N.Y. Comp. Codes & Regs. Title 8, §119.1(a),

(b))

The following summarizes certain provisions of the New York Codes, Rules and Regulations

concerning charter schools.

In the event of the failure of a school district to make payments to a charter school as required
by §2856 of the New York Education Law, the Commissioner shall certify the amount of the unpaid
obligation to the Comptroller to be deducted from any State aid payments which become due to
such school district. The amount of each school district's obligation shall be calculated in
accordance with this section.

For the purposes of this section:

(a) Legally absent means to be absent for: personal illness, illness or death in the
family, impassable roads or weather, religious observance, quarantine, required court
appearances, attendance at health clinics, approved college visits, military obligations,
disciplinary detention ofan incarcerated youth, or for such other reasons as may be approved
by the Commissioner.

(b) Period of enrollment means that period commencing on the first day of the
schoolyear that a pupil is enrolled in and is physically present at, or legally absent from, an
educational program or service of a charter school and ending on the last day of the school year
that such pupilis so enrolled and physically present at, or legally absent from, such program
or service.

(c) Enrollment for each charter school student shall mean the quotient, calculated
to three decimals without rounding, obtained when the total number of weeks of the period
of enrollment of such student is divided by the total number of weeks in the full school year of
the educational program or service of the charter school. For the purposes of this section, three
consecutive days of enrollment within the same week and within the same month shall be the
equivalent of one week of enrollment, provided that no more than four weeks of enrollment
may be counted in any calendar month.

(d) Levels of service shall mean the categories of programs for students with
disabilities specified in§3602(19)(b)(1)-(4) of the New York Education Law.

(e) Approved operating expense shall mean the amount calculated pursuant
to §3602(11) of the New York Education Law.

® Expense per pupil shall mean the amount calculated pursuant to §3602(1)(f) of the
New York Education Law for the school district using year prior to the Base Year expenditures and
pupils, as established by the Commissioner based on the electronic data file prepared by the
Commissioner on May 15th of the Base Year pursuant to §305(21)(b) of the New York
Education Law. Where the expense per pupil is not available for a school district, the expense
per pupil shallbe deemed to be the average expense per pupil for the county in which the school
district is located.

(2) Adjusted expense per pupil shall be the district's expense per pupil increased
by the percent change in the State total approved operating expense calculated pursuant to
§3602(11) of the New York Education Law from two years prior to the Base Year to the Base
Year, as established by the Commissioner based on the electronic data file prepared by the
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Commissioner on May 15th of the Base Year pursuant to §305(21)(b) of the New York
Education Law.

(h) State aid attributable to a student with a disability attending a charter school
shallmean the sum of excess cost aid payable to a public school district pursuant to §3602(19)(4)
of the New York Education Law based on the resident weighted enrollment in the charter school of
pupils with disabilities receiving special services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the
charter school in the current school year and any apportionment payable to such public school
district pursuant to §3602(19)(4) of the New York Education Law that is based on the cost of
special services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the charter school to such pupil in
the current school year. Excess cost aid for the purposes of this section shall equal the product
of excess cost aid per pupil calculated pursuant to §3602(19)(3) of the New York Education Law,
the proportion of the weighting attributable to the student's level of service provided directly or
indirectly by the charter school pursuant to §3602(19)(b)(1)-(4) of the New York Education
Law, and the student's enrollment in such charter school in the current school year.

(1) Federal aid attributable to a student with a disability attending a charter school,
and receiving special education services or programs provided directly or indirectly by the
charterschool, shall mean:

1) for the first year of operation of the charter school, the allocation that
would be attributable to the charter school pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 1411 and 1419
(United States Code, 1994 edition, Supplement III, Volume 2; Superintendent of
Documents, U.S.Government Printing Office, Washington, DC 20402-9328; 1998 -
available at the Office of Vocational and Educational Services for Individuals with
Disabilities, Room 1624, One Commerce Plaza, Albany, New York 12234) for a pupil
who is identified as a student with a disability, as such term is defined in the New York
Education Law §200.1, who is included in a report to the Commissioner of pupils so
identified as of December 1st of thecurrent school year, or for such other pupil count
as specified by the Federal government for the current school year, provided that the
enrollment of such students in the charter school during the current school year shall
be used for this purpose until such report, or a report of such other pupil count, has been
received by the Commissioner; and

(i1) for the second year of operation of the charter school and thereafter, the
allocation that would be attributable to the charter school pursuant to 20 U.S.C. 1411
and 1419 (United States Code, 1994 edition, Supplement III, Volume 2;
Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, DC
20402-9328; 1998 - available at the Office of Vocational and Educational Services for
Individuals with Disabilities, Room 1624, One Commerce Plaza, Albany, New York
12234) for a pupil who is identified as a student with a disability, as such term is defined
in the New York Education Law §200.1, who is included in a report to the
Commissioner of pupils so identified as of December 1st of the Base Year, or for such
other pupil count as specified by the Federal government.

Financial Obligations of Charter Schools, Public School Districts and Education Department
(N.Y. Comp. Codes & Regs. Title 8, §119.1(¢)-(e))

Charter school obligations:

(a) No later than 30 days prior to the first business day of July, September, November,
January, March and May, each charter school shall report to each public school district with resident
pupils attending the charter school and to the department an updated estimate of the enrollment
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ofstudents attending the charter school in the current school year who are residents of such
public school district and any reduced amounts per pupil that shall be payable to the charter
school for such students pursuant to subdivision one 0f§2856 of the New York Education Law
that has beenestablished pursuant to an agreement between the charter school and the charter school
entity as set forth in the charter. For each student with a disability attending such charter school,
such report shall also indicate the level of special programs or services to be provided directly
or indirectly to such student by the charter school and an estimated annual cost to be incurred by
the charter school in providing such special programs or services. The Commissioner may
excuse any delay in reporting under this paragraph for the length of time of a school closure
ordered pursuant to an Executive Order of the Governor pursuant to a State of emergency for
the COVID-19 crisis, however, such delay shall not exceed 30 days from such reporting
deadline.

(b) On or before the last day of July, each charter school shall provide a final report
ofactual enrollment to the department and to each school district with resident pupils attending
the charter school in the prior school year. For each student with a disability attending such
charter school, such report shall also indicate the level of special programs or services actually
provided directly or indirectly to such student by the charter school and the annual cost incurred
by the charter school in providing such special programs or services.

(c) In the event of the failure of a school district to fulfill the financial obligation
required by §2856 of the New York Education Law equal to the amounts calculated pursuant
to this section, the charter school shall notify the Commissioner no later than May 31st of the
schoolyear in which the payments were due.

Public school district of residence obligations:

(a) No later than the first business day of July, September, November, January, March
and May of the current school year, each public school district with resident pupils attending
a charter school shall pay directly to such charter school the appropriate payment amounts as
specified in subdivision one 0f§2856 of the New York Education Law that are attributable to
the enrollment of such pupils as reported to the public school district by the charter school no later
than 30 days prior to each such payment date.

(b) The total amount of payments due and payable to a charter school for the
currentschool year by a public school district shall be paid as follows:

(1) on or before the first business day of July, one sixth of the total amount
due, as adjusted for any supplemental payments due or overpayments to be recovered
for the prior school year;

(i1)  on or before the first business day of September, two sixths of the total
amount due, as adjusted for any supplemental payments due or overpayments to be
recovered for the prior school year, minus any payments made before such date
pursuant to subparagraph (i) of this subsection;

(1i1))  on or before the first business day of November, three sixths of the total
amount due, as adjusted for any supplemental payments due on overpayments to be
recovered for the prior school year, minus any payments made before such date
pursuant to subparagraphs (i) and (ii) of this subsection;

(iv)  on or before the first business day of January, four sixths of the total
amount due, as adjusted for any supplemental payments due or overpayments to be
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recovered for the prior school year, minus any payments made before such date
pursuant to subparagraphs (i), (ii) and (iii) of this subsection;

v) on or before the first business day of March, five sixths of the total amount
due, as adjusted for any supplemental payments due or overpayments to be recovered
for the prior school year, minus any payments made before such date pursuant to
subparagraphs (i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) of this subsection and

(vi)  onorbefore the first business day of May, the total amount due, as adjusted
for any supplemental payments due or overpayments to be recovered for the prior
school year, minus any payments made before such date pursuant to subparagraphs
(1), (i), (iii), (iv) and (v) of this subsection.

(©) The school district financial obligation per resident student enrolled in a charter
school shall equal the sum of:

(i)  the product of the school district's adjusted expense per pupil and the
current year enrollment of the pupil in the charter school as defined in paragraph (b)(3) of
this subsection; and

(i1)  the amounts of State and Federal aid, if any, that may be attributable to
such pupil as defined in paragraphs (b)(8) and (9) of this subsection, or the amount
established pursuant to an agreement between the charter school and the charter entity
asset forth in the charter.

(d) The total annual obligation due to a charter school by a public school district shall
be the sum of the annual financial obligations for all resident students enrolled at any time
during the current school year in the charter school.

(e) School districts shall include the enrollment of resident students attending
charter schools in the enrollment, attendance and, if applicable, count of students with
disabilities reported to the department for the purposes of claiming State aid.

(H) If there is a delay in reporting pursuant to paragraph (a) under the heading "Charter
school obligations," the Commissioner shall excuse any delay in payments required under this
subdivision for the length of time of a school closure ordered pursuant to an Executive Order of the
Governor pursuant to a State of emergency for the COVID-19 crisis, however, such delay shall not
exceed 30 days from such payment deadline.

Department obligations:

(a) On or before the first day of June of each year, or as soon as practicable upon
the receipt of Federal notice of the estimated State appropriation for the next school year, the
Commissioner shall notify all school districts and all charter schools of the adjusted expense
per pupil of each public school district and the estimated per pupil allocation under part B of the
Federal Individuals with Disabilities Education Act to be used in the calculation of payments due
to charter schools in next school year. Notice of final Federal per pupil allocation will be issued
as soon as practicable upon the State's receipt of the notice of final allocation from the Federal
government.

(b) In the event of the failure of a school district to fulfill the financial obligation
required by §2956 of the New York Education Law equal to the amounts calculated pursuant
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to this section, upon notification by the charter school, the Commissioner shall certify the amounts
of the unpaid obligations to the comptroller to be deducted from State aid due the school district
and paid to the applicable charter schools.
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MENGEL METZGER BARR & CO. e

Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Board of Trustees
Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools, which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2021, and the related statements of activities and
changes in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the
financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the
United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools as of June 30, 2021, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America.

Report on Summarized Comparative Information

We have previously audited Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools’ June 30, 2020 financial statements, and we
expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated October 28, 2020.
In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of June 30, 2020 is consistent, in all
material respects, with the audited financial statements from which it has been derived.

WWW%Q Lif

Rochester, New York
October 27, 2021
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

June 30,
ASSETS 2021 2020

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,417,281 $ 6,051,857
Grants and other receivables 1,144,393 1,226,695
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 1,011,823 633,521
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS 12,573,497 7,912,073
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, net 1,906,085 1,794,220

OTHER ASSETS

Security deposits 414,178 414,178
Cash in escrow 200,013 150,384
614,191 564,562

TOTAL ASSETS  § 15,093,773 $ 10,270,855

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Paycheck Protection Program note payable - current portion $ - $ 794,563
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 624,356 927,204
Accrued payroll and benefits 808.927 685,433
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES 1,433,283 2,407,200

OTHER LIABILITIES

Deferred lease liability 2,897,073 437,114
Paycheck Protection Program note payable - 1,000,678
2,897,073 1,437,792
TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,330,356 3,844,992
NET ASSETS - without donor restrictions 10,763,417 6,425,863

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS ~ §$ 15,093,773 $ 10,270,855

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

Revenue, gains and other support:
Public school district:
Resident student enrollment
Students with disabilities
Grants and contracts:
State and local
Federal - Title and IDEA
Federal - other
NYC DOE Rental Assistance
TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS
AND OTHER SUPPORT

Expenses:
Program:
Regular education
Special education
Total program services
Management and general

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES
SURPLUS FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS

Support and other revenue:
Contributions
Foundations
Individuals
In-kind
Fundraising
Paycheck Protection Program note forgiveness
Interest income
Miscellaneous income

TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

Net assets at beginning of year

NET ASSETS AT END OF YEAR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Year ended June 30,

2021 2020
$ 21,774,821 $ 15,018,034
2,910,766 1,437,348
- 72,492
980,041 681,317
1,442,159 887,996
5,377,703 3,627,540
32,485,490 21,724,727
17,588,059 12,235,117
5,577,471 4,119,876
23,165,530 16,354,993
7,940,596 5,118,490
31,106,126 21,473,483
1,379,364 251,244
852,852 54,935
23,590 56,005
- 10,800
7,157 11,404
1,795,241 -
3,938 43,178
275,412 66,349
2,958,190 242,671
4,337,554 493,915
6,425,863 5,931,948
$ 10,763,417 $ 6,425,863




BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

Personnel services costs:
Administrative staff personnel
Instructional personnel

Total salaries and wages

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes
Retirement benefits

Legal services
Accounting/Audit services
Management company fees

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services

Building rent

Repairs and maintenance
Insurance expense
Supplies/Materials
Equipment/Furnishings
Leased equipment

Staff development
Marketing/Recruitment
Technology

Food services

Student services

Office expense

Travel and conferences
Depreciation and amortization
Other

Year ended June 30,
2021
Supporting
Program Services Services
Management Year Ended
No. of Regular Special and June 30,
Positions Education Education Sub-total general Total 2020
29 $ 1,753,044 $ 477,163 $ 2,230,207 $ 1,122,510 $ 3,352,717 $ 3,210,292
120 5,894,130 2,415,073 8,309,203 - 8,309,203 6,131,819
149 7,647,174 2,892,236 10,539,410 1,122,510 11,661,920 9,342,111
1,371,783 521,053 1,892,836 199,929 2,092,765 1,638,331
212,469 80,525 292,994 31,121 324,115 237,855
- - - 42,902 42,902 51,211
- - - 36,100 36,100 38,750
- - - 3,691,870 3,691,870 1,860,295
1,034,100 282,682 1,316,782 337,647 1,654,429 1,321,584
5,280,459 1,257,718 6,538,177 1,491,420 8,029,597 4,329,068
28,241 6,800 35,041 7,717 42,758 25,198
99,886 27,374 127,260 28,061 155,321 98,220
526,106 127,255 653,361 - 653,361 501,603
21,212 3,982 25,194 6,125 31,319 27,145
52,700 14,652 67,352 14,820 82,172 65,255
241,095 80,598 321,693 67,838 389,531 266,905
194,586 49,776 244,362 35,721 280,083 247,904
183,939 50,105 234,044 51,716 285,760 195,215
799 258 1,057 - 1,057 866
197,337 47,195 244,532 - 244,532 293,134
12,313 3,217 15,530 65,540 81,070 93,518
1,515 405 1,920 426 2,346 34,191
433,698 112,217 545,915 121,662 667,577 474,728
48,647 19,423 68,070 587,471 655,541 330,396
$ 17,588,059 $§ 5577471 $ 23,165530 $ 7,940,596 $ 31,106,126 $ 21,473,483

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

Year ended June 30,
2021 2020

CASH FLOWS - OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in net assets $ 4,337,554 $ 493915
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash
provided from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 667,577 474,728
Paycheck Protection Program note forgiveness (1,795,241) -
Bad debt expense 15,003 20,033
Changes in certain assets and liabilities affecting operations:
Grants and other receivables 67,299 (807,645)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (378,302) (324,442)
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (302,848) 3,776
Accrued payroll and benefits 123,494 176,345
Deferred revenue - (31,705)
Deferred lease liability 2,459,959 360,513
NET CASH PROVIDED FROM
OPERATING ACTIVITIES 5,194,495 365,518
CASH FLOWS - INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment (779,442) (850,018)
NET CASH USED FOR
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (779,442) (850,018)

CASH FLOWS - FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Borrowings Paycheck Protection Program note payable - 1,795,241
Repayments on long-term debt - (207,528)
NET CASH PROVIDED FROM
FINANCING ACTIVITIES - 1,587,713
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS AND RESTRICTED CASH 4,415,053 1,103,213
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 6,202,241 5,099,028

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

AND RESTRICTED CASH AT END OF YEAR  § 10,617,294 $ 6,202,241
NON-CASH OPERATING AND INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ - $ 393,293

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The Charter School
Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools (the “Charter School”) is an educational corporation that operates as
a charter school in Bronx, New York.

The Charter currently operates Brilla College Preparatory Charter School and Brilla College Preparatory
Charter School Veritas, that charter expires in July 2022. In October 2018, the SUNY Board of Trustees’
Charter School Committee (SUNY) approved the initial five year charters for Brilla Caritas Charter School and
Brilla Pax Charter School which opened in August of 2020 and expire June 2025.

The Charter School was established to provide its students in grades K-8 with traditional academic skills to
develop their cognitive, social, emotional, and physical excellence.

In December 2020, the Charter School received approval from SUNY for a revision to its charter to create a
joint high school program with another Charter School beginning in the 2022-2023 school year; however, this
was rejected by the NY State Education Department and SUNY has yet to override this rejection.

Classification of net assets

The financial statements of the Charter School have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP). The
Charter School reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to two classes of net
assets: net assets without donor restrictions and net assets with donor restrictions.

These classes of net assets are defined as follows:

Net Assets Without Donor Restrictions

The net assets over which the Board of Trustees has discretionary control to use in carrying on the Charter
School’s operations in accordance with the guidelines established by the Charter School. The Board may
designate portions of the current net assets without donor restrictions for specific purposes, projects or
investment.

Net Assets With Donor Restrictions

Net assets subject to donor (or certain grantor) imposed restrictions. Some donor-imposed restrictions are
temporary in nature, such as those that will be met by the passage of time or other events specified by the
donor. Other donor-imposed restrictions are perpetual in nature, where the donor stipulates that resources be
maintained in perpetuity. Donor-imposed restrictions are released when a restriction expires, that is, when
the stipulated time has elapsed, when the stipulated purpose for which the resource was restricted has been
fulfilled, or both. The Charter School had no net assets with donor restrictions at June 30, 2021 or 2020.




BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d

Revenue and support recognition

Revenue from Exchange Transactions: The Charter School recognizes revenue in accordance with Financial
Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts
with Customers, as amended. ASU 2014-09 applies to exchange transactions with customers that are bound by
contracts or similar arrangements and establishes a performance obligation approach to revenue recognition.

The Charter School records substantially all revenues over time as follows:

Public school district revenue

The Charter School recognizes revenue as educational programming is provided to students throughout the
year. The Charter School earns state and local per pupil revenue based on the approved per pupil tuition rate of
the public school district in which the pupil resides. The amount received each year from the resident district is
the product of the approved per pupil tuition rate and the full-time equivalent student enrollment of the School.
Each NYS school district has a fixed per pupil tuition rate which is calculated annually by NYSED in
accordance with NYS Education Law. Amounts are billed in advance every other month and payments are
typically received in six installments during the year. At the end of each school year, a reconciliation of actual
enrollment to billed enrollment is performed and any additional amounts due or excess funds received are
agreed upon between the Charter School and the district(s) and are paid or recouped. Additional funding is
available for students requiring special education services. The amount of additional funding is dependent
upon the length of time and types of services provided by the Charter School to each student, subject to a
maximum amount based upon a set rate for each district as calculated by NYSED.

Rental assistance

Facilities rental assistance funding is provided by the New York City Dept of Education (NYCDOE) to
qualifying charter schools located in the five boroughs of NYC. In order to receive rental assistance funding, a
charter school must have commenced instruction or added grade levels in the 2014-15 school year or thereafter,
and go through a space request process with the NYCDOE. If NYCDOE is not able to provide adequate space,
the charter school can become eligible for rental assistance. Rental assistance is calculated as the lesser of 30%
of the per-pupil tuition rate for NYC times the number of students enrolled, or actual total rental costs. As
rental assistance is based on the number of students enrolled, revenue is recognized throughout the year as
educational programming is provided to students.

The following table summarizes contract balances at their respective statement of financial position dates:

June 30,
2021 2020 2019
Grants and other receivables $ 94,061 $ 906,532 $ 196,467

Contributions

The Charter School recognizes contributions when cash, securities or other assets, an unconditional promise to
give, or a notification of a beneficial interest is received. Conditional promises to give, that is, those with a
measurable performance or other barrier, and a right of return, are not recognized until the conditions on which
they depend have been substantially met.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30, 2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d

Contributions that are restricted by the donor are reported as increases in net assets without donor restrictions if
the restrictions expire in the fiscal year in which the contributions are recognized. All other donor-restricted
contributions are reported as increases in net assets with donor restrictions. When a restriction expires, net
assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the
statement of activities and changes in net assets as net assets released from restrictions.

Grant revenue

Some of the Charter School’s revenue is derived from cost-reimbursable federal and state contracts and grants,
which are conditioned upon certain performance requirements and/or the incurrence of allowable qualifying
expenses. Amounts received are recognized as revenue when the Charter School has incurred expenditures in
compliance with specific contract or grant provisions. Certain grants are subject to audit and retroactive
adjustments by its funders. Any changes resulting from these audits are recognized in the year they become
known. Qualifying expenditures that have been incurred but are yet to be reimbursed are reported as grants and
contracts receivable in the accompanying statement of financial position. Amounts received prior to incurring
qualifying expenditures are reported as deferred revenue in the accompanying statement of financial position.
The Charter School received cost-reimbursement grants of approximately $412,000 and $224,000 that have not
been recognized at June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively, because qualifying expenditures have not yet been
incurred.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and certificates of deposit balances are maintained at financial institutions located in New York and are
insured by the FDIC up to $250,000 at each institution. The Charter School considers all highly liquid
investments with a maturity of six months of less when purchased to be cash equivalents. In the normal course
of business, the cash account balances at any given time may exceed insured limits. However, the Charter
School has not experienced any losses in such accounts and does not believe it is exposed to significant risk in
cash and cash equivalents.

Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash balances for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 consisted of
the following:

June 30,
2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $10,417,281 $6,051,857
Cash in escrow 200,013 150,384

$10,617,294 $6,202,241

Cash in escrow
The Charter School maintained cash in an escrow account in accordance with the terms of its Charter
agreement, to pay off expenses in the event of dissolution of the Charter School.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d

Grants and other receivables

Grants and other receivables are stated at the amount management expects to collect from outstanding balances.
Management provides for probable uncollectible amounts based on its assessment of the current status of
individual receivables from grants, agencies and others. Balances that are still outstanding after management has
used reasonable collection efforts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts. There was no
allowance for doubtful accounts at June 30, 2021 and 2020.

Property and equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed using the straight-
line method on a basis considered adequate to depreciate the assets over their estimated useful lives, which
range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the term of the lease.

Major renewals and betterments are capitalized, while repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as
incurred. Upon sale or retirement, the related cost and allowances for depreciation are removed from the
accounts and the related gain or loss is reflect in operations.

Contributed services

The Charter School receives contributed services from volunteers to serve on the Board of Trustees. These
services are not valued in the financial statements because they do not require “specialized skills” and would
typically not be purchased if they were not contributed. The Charter School received food supplies and
services, speech and occupational therapy, paraprofessionals, nursing services, counseling services and metro
cards for student transportation from the local district.

In-kind contributions

Gifts and donations other than cash are recorded at fair market value at the date of contribution. There were no
in-kind contributions received for the year ended June 30, 2021. There were in-kind contributions of $10,800
received for year ended June 30, 2020.

Tax exempt status

The Charter School is a tax-exempt organization under section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and
applicable state regulations and, accordingly, is exempt from federal and state taxes on income. The Charter
School has filed for and received income tax exemptions in the various jurisdictions where it is required to do
SO.

The Charter School files Form 990 tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction. The tax returns for the years
ended June 30, 2018 through June 30, 2021 are still subject to potential audit by the IRS. Management of the
Charter School believes it has no material uncertain tax positions and, accordingly it will not recognize any
liability for unrecognized tax benefits.

Marketing costs
The Charter School expenses marketing costs as they are incurred. Total marketing and recruiting costs

approximated $280,100 and $247,900 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d

Deferred lease liability

The Charter School leases its facilities. The leases contain significant pre-determined fixed escalations of the
base rent. In accordance with GAAP, the Charter School recognizes the related rent expense on a straight-line
basis and records the difference between the recognized rental expense and the amounts paid under the lease as
a deferred lease liability.

Security deposits
Security deposits are made up of payments to third parties in connection with facility lease agreements.

Use of estimates in the preparation of financial statements

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.

Comparatives for the period ended June 30, 2020

The financial statements include certain prior year summarized comparative information in total but not by
functional classification. Such information does not include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such
information should be read in conjunction with Charter School’s financial statements for the period ended
June 30, 2020, from which the summarized information was derived.

New accounting pronouncements

Leases

In February 2016, the FASB issued a new standard related to leases to increase transparency and
comparability among entities by requiring the recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and lease liabilities
on the statement of financial position. Most prominent among the changes in the standard is the recognition
of ROU assets and lease liabilities by lessees for those leases classified as operating leases under current U.S.
GAAP. For nonpublic entities, the FASB voted on May 20, 2020 to extend the guidance in this new standard
to be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021, and interim periods within fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022. The Charter School is currently evaluating the provisions of this
standard to determine the impact the new standard will have on the Charter School’s financial position or
results of operations.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE A: THE CHARTER SCHOOL AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES, Cont’d

Gifts-in-kind

In September 2020, the FASB issued a new accounting update to improve transparency in the reporting of
contributed nonfinancial assets, also known as gifts-in-kind. The update requires not-for-profit entities to
present contributed nonfinancial assets separately on the statement of activities, apart from contributions of
cash and other financial assets. In addition, the update requires not-for-profit entities to disclose in the notes to
the financial statements a breakout of the different types of gifts-in-kind recognized, any donor restrictions
associated with the gift, the valuation technique(s) used to arrive at the fair value measure, whether or not the
gift-in-kind was monetized, and any policies on monetization. The update is effective for fiscal years
beginning after June 15, 2021 and will be applied on a retrospective basis. The Charter School is currently
evaluating the provisions of this update to determine the impact it will have on the Charter School’s financial
statements.

Subsequent events

The Charter School has conducted an evaluation of potential subsequent events occurring after the statement of
financial position date through October 27, 2021, which is the date the financial statements are available to be
issued. No subsequent events requiring disclosure were noted, except as disclosed in Note F.

NOTE B: LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY

The Charter School regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs and other contractual
commitments. The Charter School’s main source of liquidity is its cash accounts.

For purposes of analyzing resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the Charter
School considers all expenditures related to its ongoing activities of teaching, and public service as well as the
conduct of services undertaken to support those activities to be general expenditures.

In addition to financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Charter
School operates with a balanced budget and anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general
expenditures not covered by donor-restricted resources. Refer to the statement of cash flows which identifies
the sources and uses of the Charter School’s cash and shows positive cash generated by operations for fiscal
years 2021 and 2020.

Financial assets available for general expenditure, that is, without donor or other restrictions limiting their use,
within one year of the statement of financial position date, comprise the following at June 30, 2021 and 2020:

June 30,
2021 2020
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,417,281 $ 6,051,857
Grants and other receivables 1,144,393 1,226,695

Total financial assets available to management
for general expenditures within one year  $ 11,561,674 $ 7,278,552

The Charter School has a line of credit with a maximum borrowings of $1,000,000 which they could draw upon
in the event of unanticipated liquidity needs. At June 30, 2021, no amount was outstanding on this line.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE C: PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consist of the following:

June 30,
2021 2020
Furniture and fixtures $ 1,047,342 $ 873,219
Computer equipment and software 1,288,752 1,174,378
Office equipment 443,923 441,309
Leasehold improvements 2,928,254 2,254,424
Construction in progress - 185,499
5,708,271 4,928,829
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization 3,802,186 3,134,609

$ 1,906,085 § 1,794,220

At June 30, 2020, a portion of the Charter School’s property and equipment was in progress. No provision for
depreciation is made on construction in progress until such time as the relevant assets are completed and put into
use. During the year 2021, the project was completed and the Charter School began depreciating the assets.
Total depreciation and amortization expense was approximately $667,600 and $474,000 for the years ended
June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

NOTE D: LINE OF CREDIT

The Charter School has available $1,000,000 of a line of credit with a bank, with an interest rate at the current
12 month CD rate plus 1% (an effective rate of 1.25% at June 30, 2021). There were no borrowings
outstanding on this line at June 30, 2021.

NOTE E: COMMITMENTS

The Charter School has an Academic and Business Services Agreement with Seton Education Partners, Inc.
(Seton). The agreement began on July 1, 2017 and renews annually on June 30. Seton will be responsible and
accountable to the Board for the administration, operations, education, and performance of the Charter School
in accordance with the Charter and the Charter School’s budget.

The Charter School will pay Seton a percentage of the total enrollment of students multiplied by the approved
per pupil operating expenses, payable six times a year. The fee ranges from ten percent for the first three years
of a school and then twelve percent thereafter. Effective July 1, 2020, the fee increased to fifteen percent. The
fee for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020 was approximately $3,692,000 and $1,860,000, respectively.
There was approximately $500 due to Seton at June 30, 2021. There were no amounts due to Seton at June 30,
2020. There was approximately $28,700 and $135,700 due from Seton, at June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE F: SCHOOL FACILITIES

The Charter School currently subleases all of its facilities from Seton, totaling approximately 151,000 square
feet of classrooms and office facilities along with 1,900 square feet of play-yard at June 30, 2021.

The Charter School subleases a property at East 144™ Street under a non-cancelable lease agreement expiring in
June 2023. The current monthly payment is $130,820 and will increase each year of the lease term by the
agreed upon amount as described in the lease.

In November 2016, the Charter School signed a sublease for the middle school located on Courtlandt Avenue
and made an additional security deposit of $100,000. The lease was to begin in August 2017 and go through
June 2036 with two optional 5 year renewal options. In July 2018, the Charter School revised this agreement.
The lease began on July 1, 2018. The current monthly payment is $98,451 and will increase each year of the
lease term by the agreed upon amount as described in the lease. (1)

The Charter School also signed a sublease agreement for a property located on College Avenue which
commenced in July 2019 and expired in June 2020. This lease renewed in September 2021, for $101,000 per
month through June 2022.

The Charter School signed a rental agreement for property located on East 156" Street in which substantial
improvements must be made by the lessor before the commencement date and made a security deposit of
$300,000. The lease commenced September 2020 and expires June 2051. The current monthly payment is
$141,838. The payment will increase each year of the lease by the agreed upon amount as described in the
lease.

In January 2020, the Charter School signed an agreement to guarantee debt related to property at 2336 Andrews
Avenue North, for the Caritas and Pax Elementary Schools. The initial amount of the construction loan was
$11,136,000; terms are currently being negotiated and will be set during the year ending June 30, 2022. The
current monthly payment is $116,167 and will increase each year of the lease term by the agreed upon amount
as described in the lease. (1)

(1) As a condition of the lease the Charter School has certain financial covenants with Seton’s lender. The
Charter School was in compliance with these covenants at June 30, 2021.

Rent expense was approximately $8,030,000 and $4,329,000 for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE F: SCHOOL FACILITIES, Cont’d

The future minimum payments on these agreements for base rent are as follows:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2022 $ 7,375,000
2023 6,987,100
2024 4,967,700
2025 5,573,400
2026 6,130,100
Thereafter 101,248,600

5 132.281.900

NOTE G: OPERATING LEASES

The Charter School leases office equipment under non-cancelable lease agreements expiring at various dates
through July 2024. The approximate future minimum payments on these agreements are as follows:

Year ending June 30, Amount
2022 $ 64,900
2023 33,400
2024 18,000
2025 1,400
$ 117,700

NOTE H: CONCENTRATIONS

At June 30,2021 and 2020, approximately 97% and 88%, respectively, of grants and other receivables were due
from New York State and federal agencies.

During both of the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, approximately 76% of total operating revenue and
support came from per-pupil funding provided by New York State. The per-pupil rate is set annually by the

State based on the school district in which the Charter School’s students are located.

During both of the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, approximately 17% of total operating revenue and
support came from rental assistance provided by New York City Department of Education.
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE I: RETIREMENT PLAN

The Charter School sponsors a defined contribution 403(b) plan covering all regular employees. The Charter
School may make a discretionary contribution to the plan. In 2019 the board approved the Charter School to
make up to a 5% match of employee contributions. The Charter School contributed approximately $324,000
and $238,000 to the Plan for the years ended June 30, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

NOTE J: CONTINGENCIES

Certain grants and contracts may be subject to audit by funding sources. Such audits might result in
disallowance of costs submitted for reimbursement by the Charter School. Management is of the opinion that
such disallowances, if any, will not have a material effect on the accompanying financial statements.
Accordingly, no amounts have been provided in the accompanying financial statements for such potential
claims.

NOTE K: FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one program or
supporting function. Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied.
All expenses that are allocated to more than one program or supporting function are allocated on the basis of
estimates of time and effort.

NOTE L: NET ASSETS

Net assets without donor restrictions are as follows:

June 30,
2021 2020
Property and equipment $ 1,906,085 $ 1,794,220
Undesignated 8,857,332 4,631,643

$ 10,763,417 $ 6,425,863
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS, Cont’d

JUNE 30,2021
(With Comparative Totals for 2020)

NOTE M: ACCOUNTING IMPACT OF COVID-19 OUTBREAK

On January 30, 2020, the World Health Organization (“WHO”) announced a global health emergency because
of a new strain of coronavirus (the “COVID-19 outbreak™) and the risks to the international community as the
virus spreads globally beyond its point of origin. In March 2020, the WHO classified the COVID-19 outbreak
as a pandemic, based on the rapid increase in exposure globally. The full impact of the COVID-19 outbreak
continues to evolve as of the date of this report. As such, it is uncertain as to the full magnitude that the
pandemic will have on the Charter School’s financial condition, liquidity, and future results of operations.
Management is actively monitoring the global situation on its financial condition, liquidity, operations,
suppliers, industry, and workforce. Given the daily evolution of the COVID-19 outbreak and the global
responses to curb its spread, the Charter School is not able to estimate the effects of the COVID-19 outbreak on
its results of operations, financial condition, or liquidity for fiscal year 2022.

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, in May 2020, the Charter School applied for and was approved by a
bank for a loan of $1,795,241 through the Paycheck Protection Program established by the Small Business
Administration. The loan had a maturity of two years and an interest rate of 1%. The loan had the potential for
forgiveness provided certain requirements were met by the Charter School. The loan was funded in May 2020
and was reported as note payable in the accompanying statement of financial position at June 30, 2020. On
January 25, 2021, the loan was forgiven in full by the Small Business Administration, which is reported as
Paycheck Protection Program note forgiveness on the accompanying statement of activities and changes in net
assets for the year ended June 30, 2021.

In response to the COVID-19 outbreak, the Federal Government passed several COVID relief acts which
include funding for elementary and secondary education. The Elementary and Secondary School Emergency
Relief Fund (ESSER Fund) was established to award grants to state and local educational agencies. The Charter
School has recognized $556,819 of revenue relative to ESSER grants during the year ended June 30, 2021.

NOTE N: RENEWAL PROCESS

The Charter School is currently in the process of renewing its charter as granted by the New York State Board
of Regents. The Charter for Brilla Preparatory Charter School Veritas currently expires July 31, 2022. The
renewal process includes review by State University of New York Charter Schools Institute (CSI) of various
operational and governance aspects, including fiscal health and internal controls, board governance, and
academic performance. The Charter School has submitted its application for renewal. Upon review of the
application and results, CSI will determine if the charter should be renewed and if so, for how long. Successful
charter renewals can range from one to five years. At this time, management of the Charter School expects the
charter to be renewed.

-19-



BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION




MIMIB

MENGEL METZGER BARR & CO. e

Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Board of Trustees
Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools

We have audited the financial statements of Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools for the year ended June 30,
2021, and have issued our reports thereon dated October 27, 2021, which contained an unmodified opinion on those
financial statements. Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as
a whole. The financial information hereinafter is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required
part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and
other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial

statements for the year ended June 30, 2021, as a whole.
/ ’

Rochester, New York
October 27, 2021
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

COMBINING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS BY CHARTER

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Revenue, gains and other support:
Public school district
Resident student enrollment
Students with disabilities
Grants and contracts:
Federal - Title and IDEA
Federal - other
NYC DOE Rental Assistance
TOTAL REVENUE, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT

Expenses:
Program:
Regular education
Special education
TOTAL PROGRAM EXPENSES
Management and general
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FROM SCHOOL OPERATIONS

Support and other revenue:
Contributions
Foundations
Individuals
Fundraising
Paycheck Protection Program note forgiveness
Interest income
Miscellaneous income
TOTAL SUPPORT AND OTHER REVENUE

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

Net assets (deficiency) at beginning of year
NET ASSETS (DEFICIENCY) AT END OF YEAR
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Brilla College Preparatory

Elementary Middle Brilla Brilla Brilla

School School Total Veritas Caritas Pax Total
$ 7,408,309 $ 5,360,688 $ 12,768,997 $ 5,920,833 1,558,691 $ 1,526,300 $ 21,774,821
1,183,143 805,417 1,988,560 704,227 69,614 148,365 2,910,766
345,248 254,238 599,486 254,545 61,097 64,913 980,041
238,939 176,090 415,029 138,937 522,193 366,000 1,442,159
1,305,963 1,445,291 2,751,254 1,700,908 467,607 457,934 5,377,703
10,481,602 8,041,724 18,523,326 8,719,450 2,679,202 2,563,512 32,485,490
4,648,347 3,985,251 8,633,598 4,619,482 2,250,083 2,084,896 17,588,059
1,857,118 1,567,587 3,424,705 1,368,706 419,348 364,712 5,577,471
6,505,465 5,552,838 12,058,303 5,988,188 2,669,431 2,449,608 23,165,530
2,304,984 1,711,954 4,016,938 2,114,197 946,917 862,544 7,940,596
8,810,449 7,264,792 16,075,241 8,102,385 3,616,348 3,312,152 31,106,126
1,671,153 776,932 2,448,085 617,065 (937,146) (748,640) 1,379,364
69,459 34,210 103,669 78,475 335,361 335,347 852,852
23,590 - 23,590 - - - 23,590
2,705 1,540 4,245 1,747 575 590 7,157
747,246 465,365 1,212,611 481,586 54,632 46,412 1,795,241
1,332 928 2,260 1,153 267 258 3,938
56,598 33,146 89,744 116,629 34,719 34,320 275,412
900,930 535,189 1,436,119 679,590 425,554 416,927 2,958,190
2,572,083 1,312,121 3,884,204 1,296,655 (511,592) (331,713) 4,337,554
5,035,598 (129,121) 4,906,477 1,234,335 362,514 (77,963) 6,425,363
$ 7,607,681 $ 1,183,000 $ 8,790,681 $ 2,531,490 (149,078) $§ (409,676) § 10,763,417




BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BY CHARTER

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Personnel Services Costs:
Administrative staff personnel
Instructional personnel

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes
Retirement benefits

Legal services
Accounting/Audit services
Management company fees
Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services
Building rent

Repairs and maintenance
Insurance expense
Supplies/Materials
Equipment/Furnishings
Leased equipment

Staff development

Student services

Technology

Food services

Student services

Office expense

Travel and conferences
Depreciation and amortization
Other

Total salaries and wages
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Brilla College Preparatory

Program Services

Supporting Services

Management
No. of Regular Special and
Positions Education Education Sub-total general Sub-total Total
16 $ 1,024,914 $ 330,476 $ 1,355,390 $ 453,532 $ 453,532 $ 1,808,922
69 3,350,022 1,591,443 4,941,465 - - 4,941,465
85 4,374,936 1,921,919 6,296,855 453,532 453,532 6,750,387
783,600 344,237 1,127,837 81,233 81,233 1,209,070
122,420 53,780 176,200 12,691 12,691 188,891
- - - 24,762 24,762 24,762
- - - 21,205 21,205 21,205
- - - 2,200,615 2,200,615 2,200,615
503,580 171,168 674,748 200,065 200,065 874,813
1,891,956 610,048 2,502,004 537,064 537,064 3,039,068
2,917 941 3,858 828 828 4,686
56,909 18,350 75,259 16,155 16,155 91,414
220,957 71,246 292,203 - - 292,203
3,093 997 4,090 878 878 4,968
33,290 10,734 44,024 9,450 9,450 53,474
120,652 49,395 170,047 34,249 34,249 204,296
86,785 27,983 114,768 15,898 15,898 130,666
103,938 33,514 137,452 29,504 29,504 166,956
799 258 1,057 - - 1,057
80,253 25,877 106,130 - - 106,130
6,481 2,090 8,571 28,122 28,122 36,693
846 273 1,119 240 240 1,359
212,342 68,468 280,810 60,277 60,277 341,087
27,844 13,427 41,271 290,170 290,170 331,441
$ 8,633,598 $ 3,424,705 $ 12,058,303 $ 4,016,938 $ 4,016,938 $ 16,075,241




BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BY CHARTER

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Brilla Veritas
Program Services Supporting Services
Management
No. of Regular Special and
Positions Education Education Sub-total general Sub-total Total

Personnel Services Costs:
Administrative staff personnel 7 $ 383,294 $ 91,534 $ 474,828 $ 327,927 $ 327,927 $ 802,755
Instructional personnel 33 1,601,800 593,630 2,195,430 - - 2,195,430
Total salaries and wages 40 1,985,094 685,164 2,670,258 327,927 327,927 2,998,185
Fringe benefits and payroll taxes 373,599 128,949 502,548 61,717 61,717 564,265
Retirement benefits 54,595 18,844 73,439 9,019 9,019 82,458
Legal services - - - 12,106 12,106 12,106
Accounting/Audit services - - - 9,725 9,725 9,725
Management company fees - - - 996,794 996,794 996,794
Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services 270,617 68,685 339,302 87,564 87,564 426,866
Building rent 1,420,565 339,245 1,759,810 383,370 383,370 2,143,180
Repairs and maintenance 22,871 5,462 28,333 6,172 6,172 34,505
Insurance expense 27,869 6,655 34,524 7,521 7,521 42,045
Supplies/Materials 102,948 24,585 127,533 - - 127,533
Equipment/Furnishings 1,306 312 1,618 352 352 1,970
Leased equipment 11,458 2,736 14,194 3,092 3,092 17,286
Staff development 67,636 20,285 87,921 18,253 18,253 106,174
Marketing/Recruitment 58,357 13,936 72,293 10,185 10,185 82,478
Technology 49,357 11,787 61,144 13,320 13,320 74,464
Student services 38,551 9,206 47,757 - - 47,757
Office expense 2,656 634 3,290 13,002 13,002 16,292
Travel and conferences 343 82 425 92 92 517
Depreciation and amortization 121,071 28,913 149,984 32,674 32,674 182,658
Other 10,589 3,226 13,815 121,312 121,312 135,127

$ 4,619,482 $ 1,368,706 $ 5,988,188 $ 2,114,197 $ 2,114,197 $ 8,102,385
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BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BY CHARTER

Personnel Services Costs:
Administrative staff personnel
Instructional personnel

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes
Retirement benefits

Legal services
Accounting/Audit services
Management company fees

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Total salaries and wages

Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services

Building rent

Repairs and maintenance
Insurance expense
Supplies/Materials
Equipment/Furnishings
Leased equipment

Staff development
Marketing/Recruitment
Technology

Student services

Office expense

Travel and conferences
Depreciation and amortization
Other
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Brilla Caritas
Program Services Supporting Services
Management
No. of Regular Special and
Positions Education Education Sub-total general Sub-total Total
308 144422 $ 20,370 $ 164,792 $ 180,551 $ 180,551 $ 345343
9 493,459 152,100 645,559 - - 645,559
12 637,881 172,470 810,351 180,551 180,551 990,902
109,730 29,669 139,399 31,059 31,059 170,458
18,057 4,882 22,939 5,111 5,111 28,050
- - - 3,080 3,080 3,080
- - - 2,639 2,639 2,639
- - - 243,155 243,155 243,155
133,125 19,805 152,930 27,097 27,097 180,027
1,018,775 143,693 1,162,468 288,588 288,588 1,451,056
898 127 1,025 254 254 1,279
7,779 1,097 8,876 2,204 2,204 11,080
112,877 15,921 128,798 - - 128,798
7,531 1,062 8,593 2,133 2,133 10,726
6,105 861 6,966 1,729 1,729 8,695
26,331 5,046 31,377 7,459 7,459 38,836
22,266 3,140 25,406 4914 4914 30,320
15,805 2,229 18,034 4,477 4,477 22,511
46,692 6,586 53,278 - - 53,278
1,801 254 2,055 12,400 12,400 14,455
204 29 233 58 58 291
79,004 11,143 90,147 22,379 22,379 112,526
5,222 1,334 6,556 107,630 107,630 114,186
$ 2,250,083 $ 419,348 $ 2,669,431 $ 946,917 $§ 946,917 $ 3,616,348




BRILLA COLLEGE PREPARATORY CHARTER SCHOOLS

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES BY CHARTER

Personnel Services Costs:
Administrative staff personnel
Instructional personnel

Fringe benefits and payroll taxes
Retirement benefits

Legal services
Accounting/Audit services
Management company fees

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2021

Other Purchased/Professional/Consulting Services

Building rent

Repairs and maintenance
Insurance expense
Supplies/Materials
Equipment/Furnishings
Leased equipment

Staff development
Marketing/Recruitment
Technology

Student services

Office expense

Travel and conferences
Depreciation and amortization
Other

Brilla Pax
Program Services Supporting Services
Management
No. of Regular Special and
Positions Education Education Sub-total general Sub-total Total
3 $ 200414 $ 34,783 $ 235,197 $ 160,500 $ 160,500 $ 395,697
9 448,849 77,900 526,749 - - 526,749
Total salaries and wages 12 649,263 112,683 761,946 160,500 160,500 922,446
104,854 18,198 123,052 25,920 25,920 148,972
17,397 3,019 20,416 4,300 4,300 24,716
- - - 2,954 2,954 2,954
- - - 2,531 2,531 2,531
- - - 251,306 251,306 251,306
126,778 23,024 149,802 22,921 22,921 172,723
949,163 164,732 1,113,895 282,398 282,398 1,396,293
1,555 270 1,825 463 463 2,288
7,329 1,272 8,601 2,181 2,181 10,782
89,324 15,503 104,827 - - 104,827
9,282 1,611 10,893 2,762 2,762 13,655
1,847 321 2,168 549 549 2,717
26,476 5,872 32,348 7,877 7,877 40,225
27,178 4,717 31,895 4,724 4,724 36,619
14,839 2,575 17,414 4,415 4,415 21,829
31,841 5,526 37,367 - - 37,367
1,375 239 1,614 12,016 12,016 13,630
122 21 143 36 36 179
21,281 3,693 24,974 6,332 6,332 31,306
4,992 1,436 6,428 68,359 68,359 74,787
$ 2,084,896 $ 364,712 $§ 2,449,608 $ 862,544 § 862,544 $ 3,312,152
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APPENDIX C-2

AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE SCHOOL FOR THE FISCAL YEARS ENDED
JUNE 30, 2020 AND JUNE 30, 2019
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Board of Directors
Seton Education Partners
New York, New York

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Seton Education Partners (a nonprofit
organization), which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the related
statements of activities and changes in net assets, functional expenses and cash flows for the years then
ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’'s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Seton Education Partners as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, and the changes in its net assets and its
cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.

2. K Whise, Holtc™ Qecocistze, PLLL

Kentwood, Michigan
November 6, 2020

D.K. Weiss, Holt & Associates, PLLC

£660 N. Breton Ct. SE, St 107, Kentwood, MI 49508 711233 f Al6R71.1244 w Dkweissholtcom




SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

June 30,
2020 2019
Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,192,555 $§ 5997476
Accounts and contributions receivable 47,233 407,997
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 388,329 157,160
Total current assets 8,628,117 6,562,633
Property and Equipment (Note 3) 14,314,960 4,984,188
Other Assets
Intangible assets (Note 4) 121,408 143,590
Security deposits 406,500 403,408
Total other assets 527,908 546,998
Total Assets $ 23470985 S 12,093,819
Liabilities and Net Assets
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable $ 1,538980 $ 108,051
Current portion of long-term debt 7,714,514 203,769
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 1,137,311 795,676
Total current liabilities 10,360,805 1,107,496
Long-term Debt (Note 5) 6,139,000 5,408,973
Deferred Rent (Note 7) 1,181,666 444 453
Total liabilities 17,711,471 6,960,922
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions 4,326,188 3,050,659
With donor restrictions (Note 6) 1,433,326 2,082,238
Total net assets 5,759,514 5,132,897
Total Liabilities and Net Assets § 23,470,985 § 12,093,819

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

2



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Without Donor  With Donor
Restrictions Restrictions Total

Revenue, Gains, and Other Support

Contributions $ 817,401 $ 2,236,583 $ 3,053,984

Emergency fund donations 232,561 - 232,561

Management and network fee income 1,962,196 - 1,962,196

Rental income 3,968,555 - 3,968,555

After-school tuition 61,504 - 61,504

Interest income 21,045 - 21,045

Other income 685,389 - 685,389

Net assets released from restriction 2,885,495 (2,885.495) -

Total revenue, gains, and other support 10,634,146 (648,912) 9,985,234

Expenses

Program services 8,835,037 - 8.835,037

Management and general 513,635 - 513,635

Fundraising 9,945 - 9,945

Total expenses 9,358,617 - 9,358,617

Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets 1,275,529 (648,912) 626,617
Net Assets - Beginning of Year 3,050,659 2,082,238 5,132,897
Net Assets - End of Year $ 4,326,188 S 1,433,326 $ 5,759,514

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Revenue, Gains, and Other Support
Contributions
Management and network fee income
Rental income
After-school tuition
Interest income
Other income
Net assets released from restriction

Total revenue, gains, and other support
Expenses

Program services
Management and general
Fundraising

Total expenses
Increase (Decrease) in Net Assets
Net Assets - Beginning of Year

Net Assets - End of Year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Without Donor  With Donor

Restrictions Restrictions Total

$ 164,973 $ 1,517,536 $ 1.682,509
1,484,514 - 1,484,514
2,731,200 - 2,731,200
59,031 - 59,031
10,887 - 10,887
404,084 - 404,084

1,271,480 (1,271,480) -
6,126,169 246,056 6,372,225
6,199,763 - 6,199,763
354,112 - 354,112
20,312 - 20,312
6,574,187 - 6,574,187

(448,018) 246,056 (201,962)

3,498,677 1,836,182 5,334,859
$ 3,050,659 S 2,082,238 § 5,132,897




SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020

Supporting Activities

Supporting
Program Management Activities Total
Services and General  Fundraising Subtotal Expenses

Amortization expense $ 22,182 § - $ - $ - $ 22,182
Building operations 999,274 - - - 999,274
COVID expenses 203,053 - - - 203,053
Depreciation expense 363,495 12,207 - 12,207 375,702
Events 44,522 1,430 - 1,430 45,952
Insurance 82,018 14,930 - 14,930 96,948
Interest expense 298,746 - - - 298,746
Marketing 60,678 9,681 176 9,857 70,535
Miscellaneous expense 413,298 17,489 - 17,489 430,787
Occupancy 1,436,923 18,059 - 18,059 1,454,982
Office expense 62,783 23,536 89 23,625 86,408
Outside services 397,313 159,390 - 159,390 556,703
Payroll taxes and benefits 454,273 41,957 1,066 43,023 497,296
Program supplies 236,279 - - - 236,279
Property taxes 5,197 - - - 5,197
Recruiting and training 221,730 9,478 - 9,478 231,208
Salaries and wages 2,820,131 194,707 7,800 202,507 3,022,638
Teaching fellowship 544,068 - - - 544,068
Travel 169,076 10,772 815 11,587 180,663

Total S 8,835,037 $§ 513,635 § 9,945 § 523,582 § 9,358,617

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS

STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2019

Supporting Activities

Supporting
Program Management Activities Total
Services and General  Fundraising Subtotal Expenses

Amortization expense $ 29,256 $ - $ - $ - $ 29,256
Building operations 931,667 - - - 931,667
Contingency 474 - - - 474
Depreciation expense 340,160 1,516 416 1,932 342,092
Events 21,787 - 5 5 21,792
Insurance 77,700 1,723 473 2,196 79,896
Interest expense 335,042 - - - 335,042
Marketing 26,368 1,376 389 1,765 28,133
Miscellaneous expense 23,919 801 1,748 2,549 26,468
Occupancy 641,282 1,840 505 2,345 643,627
Office expense 60,191 4,102 1,320 5,422 65,613
Outside services 328,260 7,693 2,113 9,806 338,066
Payroll taxes and benefits 331,005 50,201 1,659 51,860 382,865
Program supplies 302,484 138 38 176 302,660
Property taxes 4,777 - - - 4,777
Recruiting and training 127,169 2,779 763 3,542 130,711
Salaries and wages 1,942,949 278,375 3,663 282,038 2,224,987
Teaching fellowship 493,210 126 35 161 493,371
Travel 182,063 3,442 7,185 10,627 192,690

Total $ 6,199,763 § 354,112 § 20312 § 374424 S 6,574,187

See accompanying notes to financial statements.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year-ended June 30,

2020 2019
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Increase (decrease) in net assets $ 626,617 $ (201,962)
Adjustments to reconcile increase (decrease) in net assets
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation 375,702 342,092
Loss on sale of property and equipment 714 354
Amortization 22,182 29,256
(Increase) decrease in assets:
Accounts and contributions receivable 360,764 1,516,082
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (231,169) (2,045)
Security deposits (3,092) (36,328)
Increase (decrease) in liabilities:
Accounts payable 1,430,929 (17,094)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 341,635 (54,471)
Deferred rent 737,213 444 453
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,661,495 2,020,337
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment - 859
Purchase of property and equipment (9,707,188) (447,129)
Net cash used in investing activities (9,707,188) (446,270)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from issuance on long-term debt 8,444,540 -
Principal payments on long-term debt (203,768) (192,234)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 8,240,772 (192,234)
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 2,195,079 1,381,833
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of year 5,997,476 4,615,643
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of year $ 8,192,555 § 5,997,476
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 298,746 $ 335,042

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Seton Education Partners (the “Organization”), was established in February, 2009
and seeks to expand opportunities for parents in underserved communities to
choose an academically excellent, character rich, and - for those who seek it —
vibrantly Catholic education for their children.

The Organization was born of the belief that a tremendous opportunity exists to
revitalize urban Catholic schools in America and strengthen the education they
provide.

In addition to working directly with Catholic schools serving the poor, the
Organization also helps to launch and manage public charter schools of virtue in
places where large numbers of Catholic schools have closed.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 1 - NATURE OF OPERATIONS (CONTINUED)

Significant programs consist of the following:

Program

Description

Blended Learning Network

El Camino Network

Brilla Charter School
Network

Brillante Charter School
Network

Seton Teaching Fellows

Romero Academics

The Organization partners with existing urban Catholic schools to
implement the blended learning program. The Organization will
hire one on-site manager to lead this effort and train the school staff
on how to use data effectively to improve the student’s academic
performance. The Organization will help the school improve its
college-going culture and teach the administration how to become
more financially sustainable.

An optional after-school faith formation and enrichment program.

Brilla Public Charter Schools ('Brilla’) is a 301(c)(3) charter school
network inspired by the classical education tradition that aims to
help students grow intellectually, socially, and physically into
young men and women of good character and spirit; to be prepared
for excellence in high school, college, and beyond. The
Organization has a contractual relationship with the board of
trustees of Brilla to be its charter management organization (CMO).

Brillante Charter Schools (‘Brillante') is a 501(c)(3) charter school
network seeking to ensure children in underserved communities
have access to a holistic education that produces outstanding
academic growth, strong moral character, and vibrant communities.
The Organization is in the process of developing a contractual
relationship with the Brillante board for its startup phase and will
serve as its charter management organization (CMO).

A program designed for recent college graduates who have an
interest in service, community building, faith and teaching. The
graduates co-teach in a classroom at the Organization's charter
schools and lead classes at El Camino. Fellows live in an
intentional faith community.

An initiative in its pilot phase with its first school in Cincinnati,
Ohio. The schools will be vibrantly Catholic and academically
excellent and will be located in states with robust public financing
for private schools.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30,2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation

The financial statements of the Organization have been prepared on the accrual
basis in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The financial statements are presented in accordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification
(ASC) 958 dated August 2016, and the provisions of the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) “Audit and Accounting Guide for Not-for-
Profit Organizations” (the “Guide”). ASC 958-205 became effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2017.

Under the provisions of the Guide, net assets and revenues, and gains and losses
are classified based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, the net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified
as follows:

e Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to
donor-imposed restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in
performing the primary objectives of the Organization. The Organization’s
board may designate assets without restrictions for specific operational
purposes from time to time.

e Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations
imposed by donors, and grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in
nature; those restrictions will be met by actions of the Organization or by
the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in nature, where
by the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Contributions

Unconditional contributions are recognized when pledged and recorded as net
assets without donor restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions, depending on
the existence and / or nature of any donor-imposed restrictions. Conditional
promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend are
substantially met. Gifts of cash and other assets are reported with donor restricted
support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated
assets.

When a restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a
purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are
reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the statement of
activities as net assets released from restrictions. Donor-restricted contributions
whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period are reported as net assets
without donor restriction support. Donations of property and equipment are
recorded as support at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.
Contributions restricted for the acquisition of land, buildings, and equipment are
reported as net assets without donor restriction upon acquisition of the assets and
the assets are placed in service.

Revenue and Revenue Recognition

The Organization recognizes contributions when cash, securities or other
assets; an unconditional promise to give; or a notification of a beneficial
interest is received. Conditional promises to give — that is, those with a
measurable performance or other barrier and a right of return — are not
recognized until the conditions on which they depend have been met.

The Organization has adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-
09 — Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), as amended as
management believes the standard improves the usefulness and
understandability of the Organization’s financial reporting.

Analysis of the various provisions of this standard resulted in no significant
changes in the way the Organization recognizes revenue, and therefore no
changes to the previously issued audited financial statements were required on
a retrospective basis.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30,2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Organization considers all investments with an original maturity of three
months or less when purchased to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash
equivalents consist of demand deposits in banks, cash on hand, money market
investments, and certificates of deposit balances that approximate cost.

The Organization maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times, may
exceed the federally insured limits. Accounts are guaranteed by the Federal Deposit
Insurance Corporation (FDIC) up to $250,000 per account. At June 30, 2020 and
2019, the Organization had approximately $4,253,000 and $4,676,000 on deposit
in excess of FDIC insured limits. However, the Organization has never experienced
any loss in such accounts and management believes it is not exposed to any
significant credit risk to cash.

Accounts and Contributions Receivable

Contributions receivable are carried at anticipated net realizable value. The
Organization will establish an allowance for doubtful accounts based on
historical collection experience and a review of outstanding amounts
receivable. A receivable is considered past due if the Organization has not
received payment within agreed upon stated terms. After all attempts to collect
have failed, the receivable is written off against the allowance for doubtful
accounts. At June 30, 2020 and 2019, management considered all amounts to
be collectible and accordingly, no allowance for doubtful accounts has been
established.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment with a projected useful life exceeding one year and in
excess of $1.000 are recorded at cost. Depreciation is computed principally
using the straight-line method, based on estimated useful lives of the assets.
Costs of maintenance and repairs that do not extend the life of the asset are
charged to expense when incurred.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property and Equipment (continued)

Donations of property and equipment are recorded as support at their estimated
fair value at the date of donation. Such donations are reported as unrestricted
support unless the donor has restricted the donated asset to a specific purpose.
Assets donated with explicit restrictions regarding their use and contributions
of cash that must be used to acquire property and equipment are reported as
restricted support. Absent donor stipulations regarding how long those
donated assets must be maintained, the Organization reports expirations of
donor restrictions when the donated or acquired assets are placed in service as
instructed by the donor.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets consist of costs incurred to secure long-term debt and costs
incurred in connection with its sub-leased property. These costs are
capitalized and amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the related
debt or lease.

After-School Tuition

The Organization recognizes after-school tuition revenue in the period in
which the related educational instruction is performed.

Measure of Operations

The statements of activities and changes in net assets reports all changes in net
assets, including changes in net assets from operating and non-operating
activities. Operating activities consist of those items attributable to the
Organization’s ongoing activities. Non-operating activities are limited to
resources that generate return from investments, endowment contributions,
financing costs, and other activities considered to be of a more unusual or
nonrecurring nature.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30,2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Recent Accounting Pronouncement

On August 18, 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities
(Topic 958) — Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities.
The update addresses the complexity and understandability of net asset
classification, deficiencies in information about liquidity and availability of
resources, and the lack of consistency in the type of information provided
about expenses and investment return. The Organization has adjusted the
presentation of these statements accordingly.

Functional Allocation of Expenses

The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that are attributable
to one or more program or supporting functions of the Organization. Therefore,
these expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied.
The expenses that are allocated include salaries and benefits — which are allocated
based on estimated time and effort. All other expenses are allocated based on the
benefit received, estimates of time and costs of specific technology utilized and / or
estimates of time and effort.

Although the methods of allocation used are considered reasonable, other methods
could be used that would produce a different amount.



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Tax Status

The Organization is a not-for-profit organization and has been granted tax-exempt
status by the Internal Revenue Service under the provisions of Code Section
501(c)(3). Net income from activities unrelated to the Organization’s tax-exempt
purpose is subject to taxation. The Organization had no significant unrelated
business income during 2020 or 2019, and accordingly, no provision for income
taxes has been made in the accompanying financial statements.

The Organization annually files IRS Form 990 — Return of Organization
Exempt from Income Tax and reports various information that the IRS uses to
monitor the activities of tax-exempt entities. The tax returns are subject to
review by the taxing authorities generally for a period of three years after they
were filed. With few exceptions, the Organization is no longer subject to tax
examinations by tax authorities for years before 2017. Further, there were no
tax penalties or interest recognized during the year or accrued at year end.

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

The Organization has adopted the provisions of ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes,
relating to uncertain tax positions. ASC Topic 740 provides a consistent framework
to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain for uncertain tax
positions.

The effects of tax positions are recognized in the financial statements
consistent with amounts reflected in tax returns filed or expected to be filed
with taxing authorities. For tax positions the Organization considers to be
uncertain, current or deferred tax liabilities are recognized or assets de-
recognized, when it is probable that an income tax liability has been incurred
and the amount is reasonably estimable, or when it is probable that a tax
benefit, such as a tax credit or loss carryforward, will be disallowed by a taxing
authority.

No amounts have been identified, or recorded, as uncertain tax positions.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Marketing

Marketing costs are expensed when incurred. Marketing costs totaled $70,534
and $28,133 during 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America require management to make
many estimates and assumptions that may have a material impact on the
Organization's financial statements and related disclosures and on the
comparability of such information over different reporting periods. All such
estimates and assumptions affect reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses, as well as disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Estimates
and assumptions are based on management's experience and other information
available prior to the issuance of the financial statements. Materially different
results can occur as circumstances change and additional information becomes
known.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Costs and depreciable lives of property and equipment are summarized as

follows:
Depreciable
2020 2019 Life-Years

Buildings and improvements $ 5,996,664 § 5,766,196 15-39
Computer equipment 48,733 39,265 3
Construction in progress 9,415,742 28.277 n/a
Furniture and fixtures 34,529 4,566 5
Leasehold improvements 438,303 392,258 6

Total property and equipment 15,933,971 6,230,562
Less accumulated depreciation 1,619,011 1,246,374

Net property and equipment $ 14,314,960 § 4,984,188

Depreciation expense totaled $375,702 and $342,092 during 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30,2020 and 2019

NOTE 4 - INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible assets consist of the following:

June 30,
2020 2019
Deferred financing costs $ 278,467 $ 278467
Deferred leasing costs 21,653 21,653
Total intangible assets 300,120 300,120
Less: accumulated amortization 178,712 156,530
Net intangible assets $ 121,408 § 143,590
Estimated future amortization expense is as follows:
2021 $ 8,033
2022 8,033
2023 8,033
2024 8,033
2025 and after 89,276
Total $ 121,408
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt consists of the following:

June 30,

2020 2019

Note payable to real estate development fund, due
in monthly installments of $22,818 including
interest at 5.75%. The note is secured by
substantially all of the assets of the Organization
as well as the assignment of certain sublease rents
(Note 6), balance due June 30, 2033. $ 2,784,792 § 2,895,016

Construction note payable to real estate
investment fund allowing for advances up to
$2,375,960, due in monthly installments of
$18,248 including interest at 6.14%. The note is
secured by substantially all of the assets of the
Organization, balance due May 1, 2036. 2,220,851 2,300,779

Mortgage note payable to bank, due in monthly
installments of $2,948 including interest at
5.21%. The note is secured by substantially all of
the assets of the Organization, balance due
December 2, 2027. 403,331 416,947

Note payable to real estate development fund.
The note is unsecured and bears interest at 2.75%,
balance due November 30, 2024. 600,000 -

Construction note payable to real estate
investment fund, allowing for advances up to
$11,169,000, bearing interest at 3.94%. The note
is secured by substantially all of the assets of the
Organization. The loan will convert to a term
loan upon construction completion. 7,360,738

19



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 5 - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED)

2020 2019
Paycheck protection program ('PPP') note payable
to bank, maturing April 7, 2022. The note is
unsecured, due in monthly interest only
installments at 1.00%. All payments have been
deferred until January 7, 2021. Some or all of the
note payable could be forgiven as a non-taxable
grant. $ 483,802 $ -
Total: 13,853,514 5,612,742
Less: current portion 7,714,514 203,769
Long-term portion $ 6,139,000 S 5,408,973
Minimum principal payments on long-term debt to maturity as of June 30, 2020 are
as follows:
2021 $ 7,714,514
2022 575,309
2023 242,988
2024 857,599
2025 273,197
2026 and after 4,189,907
Total $ 13,853,514

In connection with certain long-term notes payable described above, the
Organization has agreed to various financial covenants, including the
maintenance of a minimum debt service coverage ratio, the maintenance of a
minimum lease service coverage ratio (with that of an entity affiliated through
similar management), and the maintenance of minimum level of unrestricted
net assets. At June 30, 2020, the Organization was in compliance with all
financial covenants.

20



SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 6 —~ NET ASSETS - WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
The Oi‘ganization received contributions totaling $2,236,583 and $1,517,536
during 2020 and 2019, respectively that were subject to expenditure for

specified purposes.

Net assets with donor restrictions are for the following purposes at June 30:

2020 2019
Program:
Blended Learning Network $ 579,618 $ 1,574,358
Brilla Charter School Network - 200,000
Brillante Charter School Network - 7,880
Romero Academy 853,707 300,000
Total $ 1433325 § 2,082,238

Releases of net assets with donor restrictions during 2020, are as follows:

2020 2019
Program:

Blended Learning Network $ 753,420 § 779,977
Brilla Charter School Network 975,000 346,883
Brillante Charter School Network 257,880 29,620
El Camino Network 90,000 15,000
General and Administrative 180,000 -
Romero Academy 629,195 75,000
Seton Teaching Fellows - 25,000

Total $ 2885495 § 1,271,480
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 7 - LEASES

The Organization leases four facilities from the Roman Catholic Church in Bronx,
New York. The leases expire at various dates between 2024 and 2036 but contain
provisions to be extended for additional terms ranging from one to fifteen years.
The lease agreements required total rent payments of $492,825 during the period
July 1, 2019 through June 30, 2020. Three of the leases contain escalating rent
clauses that increase rent payments to a maximum of $285,915, $325,000 and
$2.190,073 during the last year of the respective lease period.

The Organization also leases an apartment in New York City, under an agreement
that expires June 30, 2021. The lease requires monthly payments totaling $6,500.
Rent expense totaled $68,000 and $69,300 during 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The Organization entered into three subleases for the above-mentioned properties
with charter schools. The subleases expire at various dates between 2020 and 2046
and contain options to extend the subleases in accordance with the terms of the
respective leases. In accordance with the sublease agreements, annual rent totaled
$3,968,555 and $2,731,200 during 2020 and 2019, respectively. Annual rent is set
to increase based on the percentage change in the consumer price index (CPI) for
the immediate prior 12-month period. In addition to the base lease requirements,
the charter schools are responsible for their allocable share of operating costs of the
premises. While the Organization has the responsibility to pay for ongoing facility
costs, the general operations of the school are the responsibility of the charter
school.

In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America, for leases containing provisions for future rent increases, the Organization
records annual rent expense equal to the total of the payments due over the lease
term, divided by the number of years of the lease term. The difference between
rent expense recorded and the amount paid is credited or charged to “Deferred
Rent” - which is included in the accompanying Statement of Financial Position,
and totaled $1,181,666 and $444.,453 as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 7 - LEASES (CONTINUED)

Required future minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2020 are as follows:

2021 $ 687,261
2022 758,335
2023 903,502
2024 1,090,405
2025 1,035,713

Total $ 4475216

NOTE 8 — RETIREMENT PLAN

The Organization offers all full-time employees who meet certain age and length
of service requirements participation in its 401(k)-retirement savings program.
Employees have the option to defer amounts from their paycheck into either pre-
tax (traditional) or post-tax (ROTH) retirement accounts. Upon eligibility, the
Organization will match deferrals dollar for dollar up to 3% of compensation, and
further match 50% of deferrals up to 5% of compensation. Employer contributions
are 100% vested at the date of contribution. Participants over age 50 may also make
an additional catch-up contribution.

Employer contributions to the Plan totaled $82,285 and $53,648 during 2020 and
2019, respectively.

NOTE 9 - MAJOR DONORS

Three donors accounted for $2,011,583 (approximately 66%) of the
Organization’s total contributions during 2020. There were no amounts due
from these donors at June 30, 2020.

Four donors accounted for $1,089,000 (approximately 58%) of the

Organization’s total contributions during 2019. Amounts due from these
donors at June 30, 2019 totaled $200,000 (approximately 49%).
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 10 - LIQUIDITY

The Organization’s financial assets available within one year of the statement
of financial position date for general expenditure are as follows:

June 30,
2020 2019
Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,192,555 § 5,997.476
Accounts and contributions receivable 477233 407,997
Total S 8,239.788 § 6,405,473

The Organization has a policy to structure its financial assets to be available as its
general expenditures, liabilities, and other obligations come due. The accounts and
contributions receivable are expected to be collected within one year.

NOTE 11 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS

On March 11, 2020 the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a
respiratory disease caused by a novel coronavirus as a “pandemic.” First
identified in late 2019 and known now as COVID-19, the outbreak has
impacted hundreds of thousands of individuals worldwide. In response, many
countries have implemented measures to combat the outbreak which have
impacted global business operations.

No impairments have been recorded in the accompanying statement of
activities and changes in net assets as no triggering events or changes in
circumstances had occurred as of year-end; however, due to significant
uncertainty surrounding the situation, management’s judgement regarding this
could change in the future.

Subsequent to year-end, the Organization transitioned staff to work remotely,
implemented remote learning for its elementary schools and increased
fundraising efforts to establish an emergency fund to assist schools and parents
in need.
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SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
JUNE 30, 2020 and 2019

NOTE 11 — SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AND MANAGEMENT PLANS
(CONTINUED)

To mitigate any additional reductions in cash flow and to stabilize liquidity in
the short term, the Organization has:

e Utilized the Paycheck Protection Program (‘PPP’) under the CARES
Act - - which allowed for payroll assistance through a federally
guaranteed loan backed by the Small Business Administration
(‘SBA’). Some or all of the PPP loan could be forgiven as a non-
taxable grant.

e Revised its 2020 operating budget and reduced costs associated with
non-critical expenses.

Management believes these actions will allow the Organization to meet its
obligations as they become due within one year of November 6, 2020, the date
these financial statements were available to be issued.

With the exception of the matters described above, there were no material

subsequent events that required recognition or further disclosure in these
financial statements.
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MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT

THIS MASTER TRUST INDENTURE AND SECURITY AGREEMENT (this “Master
Indenture”), dated as of November 1, 2021, is between SETON EDUCATION PARTNERS, a
Wyoming nonprofit corporation (the “Company’), and THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON,
a banking corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of New York, not in its
individual capacity but solely as the Master Trustee (the “Master Trustee”).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Company is authorized by law and deems it necessary and desirable to
enter into this Master Indenture for the purpose of providing for the incurrence of Debt and the
issuance of Notes hereunder to evidence and secure such Debt for the benefit of Participating
Campuses within Brilla College Preparatory Charter Schools, a New York, education corporation
(“Brilla”);

WHEREAS, from time to time the Company may enter into additional master trust
indentures and security agreements for additional organizations with each such indenture secured
by mutually exclusive collateral;

WHEREAS, all acts and things necessary to constitute these presents a valid indenture and
agreement according to its terms have been done and performed and the execution of this Master
Indenture has in all respects been duly authorized, and the Company, in the exercise of the legal
right and power vested in it, has executed this Master Indenture and may incur Debt and make,
execute, issue and deliver Notes hereunder.

NOW, THEREFORE, THIS MASTER INDENTURE WITNESSETH:
GRANTING CLAUSES

In order to declare the terms and conditions upon which Notes are to be authenticated,
issued and delivered, and to secure the payment of Notes and the performance and observance of
all of the covenants and conditions herein or therein contained, and in consideration of the
premises, of the purchase and acceptance of Notes by the holders thereof and of the sum of One
Dollar to them duly paid by the Master Trustee at the execution of these presents, the receipt and
sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the Company has executed and delivered this Master
Indenture and by these presents does hereby convey, grant, assign, transfer, pledge, set over,
confirm and grant a security interest in and to the Master Trustee, its successor or successors and
its or their assigns forever, all and singular the property, real and personal, hereinafter described
(said property being herein sometimes referred to as the “Trust Estate”) to wit:

(a) all Pledged Revenues of the Company except and excluding all such items,
whether now owned or hereafter acquired by the Company, which by their terms or by
reason of applicable law would become void or voidable if granted, assigned, or pledged
hereunder by the Company, or which cannot be granted, pledged, or assigned hereunder
without the consent of other parties whose consent is not secured, or without subjecting the
Master Trustee to a liability not otherwise contemplated by the provisions hereof, or which
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otherwise may not be, or are not, hereby lawfully and effectively granted, pledged, and
assigned by the Company, provided that the Company may subject to the lien hereof any
such excepted property, whereupon the same shall cease to be excepted property;

(b) all moneys and securities, if any, at any time held by the Master Trustee in
the Revenue Fund and any other fund or account established under the terms of this Master
Indenture, or held by other banks or fiduciary institutions which are collaterally assigned
to the Master Trustee as security for the Notes including any depository account specified
in the Company Deposit Account Control Agreement and all securities, financial assets (as
defined in Section 8-102(a)(9) of the UCC) and securities entitlements (within the meaning
of Section 8-102(a)(17) of the UCC) and, with respect to Book-Entry Securities, in the
applicable Federal Book-Entry Regulations, carried in or credited to such fund or account;

(c) All right, title and interests of the Company in the Leases (as defined
below), as amended from time to time and as assigned to the Master Trustee under the
Assignment of Rents and Leases, between the Company and Brilla, including but not
limited to the Lease Revenues (as defined herein), any and all security heretofore or
hereafter granted or held for the payment thereof, and the present and continuing right to
bring actions and proceedings under the Lease or for the enforcement thereof and to do any
and all things which the Master Trustee is or may become entitled to do thereunder, but
excluding the Company’s Unassigned Rights (as defined herein);

(d) all accounts, general intangibles, bank accounts holding any portion of the
Pledged Revenues, contract rights and related rights of the Company (each as defined in
the UCC), whether now owned or hereafter acquired or arising and wherever located;

(e) any and all other property of every kind and nature from time to time
hereafter, by delivery or by writing of any kind, conveyed, pledged, assigned or transferred
as additional security hereunder by the Company or by anyone on its behalf to the Master
Trustee, subject to the terms thereof, including without limitation, funds of the Company
held by the Master Trustee as security for the Notes;

63) any real and personal property subject to the lien of any Leasehold
Mortgage (as hereinafter defined); and

(2) proceeds of the foregoing, including cash proceeds and cash equivalents,
products, accessions and replacements.

In addition to the foregoing, the “Trust Estate” includes all goods, documents, instruments,

tangible and electronic chattel paper, letter of credit rights, investment property, accounts, deposit
accounts, general intangibles (including payment intangibles and software) money and other items
of personal property, including proceeds (as each such term is defined in the UCC) which
constitute any of the property described in the foregoing Granting Clauses; provided that, the Trust
Estate described above shall never include and no collateral described herein may ever be included
within the trust estate described in any Other Master Indenture (as defined herein).

TO HAVE AND TO HOLD IN TRUST, upon the terms herein set forth, subject to Section

210 hereof, for the equal and proportionate benefit, security, and protection of all Note Holders
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issued under and secured by this Master Indenture without privilege, priority or distinction as to
the lien or otherwise of any of the Notes over any other; provided, however, that if the Company
shall pay, or cause to be paid, the principal of the Notes or the obligations secured thereby and the
redemption or prepayment premium, if any, and the interest and any other amounts due or to
become due thereon in full at the times and in the manner mentioned in the Notes according to the
true intent and meaning thereof, and the Company shall keep, perform and observe all the
covenants and conditions pursuant to the terms of this Master Indenture to be kept, performed and
observed by it, and shall pay or cause to be paid to the Master Trustee all sums of money due or
to become due to it in accordance with the terms and provisions hereof, then upon such final
payment this Master Indenture and the rights hereby granted and the restrictions hereby incurred
shall cease, determine and be void; otherwise this Master Indenture shall be and remain in full
force and effect. Notwithstanding anything in this Master Indenture to the contrary, when all of
the Notes are no longer Outstanding, the Master Trustee may execute a release of the lien of this
Master Indenture on the Leasehold Mortgage and any property of the Company encumbered
thereby.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, the Company covenants and agrees
with the Master Trustee, for the equal and proportionate benefit of the respective Note Holders
from time to time, as follows:

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS AND OTHER PROVISIONS OF GENERAL APPLICATION

Section 101. Construction of Terms; Definitions

(a) For all purposes of this Master Indenture, except as otherwise expressly provided
or unless the context otherwise requires:

(1) The term “Master Indenture” means this instrument as originally executed
or as it may from time to time be supplemented or amended by one or more indentures
supplemental hereto entered into pursuant to the applicable provisions hereof.

(2) All references in this instrument to designated “Articles,” “Sections” and
other subdivisions are to the designated Articles, Sections and other subdivisions of this
instrument as originally executed. The words “herein,” “hereof” and “hereunder”” and other
words of similar import refer to this Master Indenture as a whole and not to any particular
Article, Section or other subdivision.

3) The terms defined in this Article have the meanings assigned to them in this
Article throughout this Master Indenture, and include the plural as well as the singular.
Reference to any Person means that Person and its successors and assigns.

4) All accounting terms not otherwise defined herein have the meanings
assigned to them in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
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(%) The terms used in this Master Indenture and not defined herein have the
meanings assigned to them in the Related Bond Documents.

(b) The following terms have the meanings assigned to them below whenever they are
used in this Master Indenture:

“Accountant” means a Person engaged in the practice of accounting who is a
certified public accountant and who (except as otherwise expressly provided herein) may be
employed by or affiliated with the Company.

“Annual Debt Service Requirements” of any specified Person means, for any
Fiscal Year, the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest and other debt service charges
(which include for purposes hereof, any fees or premiums for any letter of credit, surety bond,
policy of insurance, bond purchase agreement, or any similar credit or liquidity support secured in
connection therewith) on all Debt of such Person coming due at Maturity or Stated Maturity, and,
for such purposes, any one or more of the following rules shall apply:

(a) Committed Take Out - if such Person has received a binding commitment,
within normal commercial practice, from any bank, savings and loan association, insurance
company, or similar institution to refund or purchase any of its Debt at its Stated Maturity
(or, if due on demand, or payable in respect of any required purchase of such Debt by such
Person, at any date on which demand may be made), then the portion of the Debt committed
to be refunded or purchased shall be excluded from such calculation and the principal of
(and premium, if any) and interest on the Debt incurred for such refunding or purchase that
would be due in the Fiscal Year for which the calculation is being made, if incurred at the
Maturity or purchase date of the Debt to be refunded or purchased, shall be added;

(b) Pro Forma Refunding - in the case of Balloon Debt, if the Person obligated
thereon shall deliver to the Master Trustee a certificate of a nationally recognized firm of
investment bankers or financial consultants dated within ninety (90) days prior to the date
of delivery of such certificate to the Master Trustee stating that financing at a stated interest
rate (which shall not be less than the Bond Buyer Revenue Bond Index or, if the Bond
Buyer Revenue Bond Index is unavailable, a comparable index on the date of such
certificate to refund any of such Balloon Debt) with a Stated Maturity of not greater than
30 years is reasonably attainable, then for the purpose of calculating what future Annual
Debt Service Requirements will be, any installment of principal of (and premium, if any)
and interest and other debt service charges on such Balloon Debt that could so be refunded
shall be excluded from such calculation and the principal plus interest of the refunding debt
shall be evenly allocated over the life of the refunding debt with equal principal payments
plus interest deemed due each year but solely for the purpose of spreading the principal
requirements for calculation of coverage;

(©) Prefunded Payments - principal of (and premium, if any) and interest and
other debt service charges on Debt, or portions thereof, shall not be included in the
computation of the Annual Debt Service Requirements for any Fiscal Year for which such
principal, premium, interest, or other debt service charges are payable from funds
irrevocably deposited or set aside in trust for the payment thereof at the time of such
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calculations (including without limitation capitalized interest and accrued interest so
deposited or set aside in trust or escrowed with the Master Trustee or another Independent
Person approved by the Master Trustee);

(d) Variable Rate Debt - as to any Debt that bears interest at a variable interest
rate which cannot be ascertained at the time of calculation, an interest rate equal to the
greater of an annual interest rate equal to the Bond Buyer Revenue Bond Index (or, if the
Bond Buyer Revenue Bond Index is unavailable, a comparable index chosen by the
Company’s financial advisor) and the weighted average rate of interest borne by such Debt
(or other indebtedness of comparable credit quality, maturity and purchase terms in the
event that such Debt was not outstanding) during the preceding Fiscal Year (or any period
of comparable length ending within 180 days) prior to the date of calculation shall be
presumed to apply for all future dates and the principal shall be evenly allocated over the
life of the Debt issue with an equal amount of principal deemed due each year but solely
for the purpose of spreading the principal requirements for calculation of coverage;

(e) Contingent Obligations - in the case of any guarantees or other Debt
described in clause (iii) of the definition of Debt, the principal of (and premium, if any)
and interest and other debt service charges on such Debt for any Fiscal Year shall be
deemed to be 25% of the principal of (and premium, if any) and interest and other debt
service charges on the indebtedness guaranteed due in such Fiscal Year; provided,
however, that if the Person that guarantees or is otherwise obligated in respect of such Debt
is actually required to make any payment in respect of such Debt, the total amount payable
by such Person in respect of such guarantee or other obligation in such Fiscal Year shall
be included in any computation of the Annual Debt Service Requirements of such Person
for such year and the amount payable by such Person in respect of such guarantee or other
obligation in any future Fiscal Year shall be included in any computation of the estimated
Annual Debt Service Requirements for such Fiscal Year; and

) Financial Products - in the event there shall have been issued or entered into
in respect of all or a portion of any Debt a Financial Products Agreement with a Qualified
Provider with respect to Debt, interest on such Debt shall be included in the calculation of
Annual Debt Service Requirements by including for such period an amount equal to the
amount payable on such Debt in such period at the rate or rates stated in such Debt plus
any payments payable by such Person in respect of such Financial Products Agreement
minus any payments receivable by such Person in respect of such Financial Products
Agreement, as calculated by the financial advisor to the Company.

“Assignment of Rents and Leases” means any assignment of rents and leases,

whether in a separate instrument or agreement or contained in the Leasehold Mortgage, and in
either case executed by the Company encumbering the Participating Campuses in favor the Master
Trustee as beneficiary.

“Authorized Denominations” means the amounts, if any, set forth therefor in the

Supplemental Master Indenture authorizing any series of Notes.
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“Authorized Representative” means the President, Chief Executive Officer, or
Chief Financial and Operating Officer of any Person, or any other person duly appointed by the
Governing Body of such Person to act on behalf of such Person, each as evidenced by a written
certificate furnished to the Master Trustee containing the specimen signature of such person or
persons and signed by an authorized officer. The Master Trustee may conclusively rely on such
written certificate until it is given written notice to the contrary.

“Balloon Debt’ means Debt where the principal of (and premium, if any) and
interest and other debt service charges on such Debt due (or payable in respect of any required
purchase of such Debt by such Person on demand) in any Fiscal Year either are equal to or exceed
25% of the total principal of (any premium, if any) and interest and other debt service charges on
such Debt or exceed by more than 50% the greatest amount of principal of (and premium, if any)
and interest and other debt service charges on such Debt due in any preceding or succeeding Fiscal
Year.

“Base Rent” means all amounts payable to the Company from Brilla as Base Rent
pursuant to a Lease.

“Board Resolution” means a copy of a resolution certified by the Person
responsible for maintaining the records of the Governing Body to have been duly adopted by the
Governing Body and to be in full force and effect on the date of such certification and delivered
to the Master Trustee.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time,
and the corresponding provisions, if any, of any successor internal revenue laws of the United
States.

“Company” means Seton Education Partners, a Wyoming nonprofit corporation,
its permitted successors and assigns, and any resulting, surviving or transferee Person permitted
hereunder.

"Company Unassigned Rights" means, under the Leases, the rights of the Company to
(a) inspect books and records of Brilla, (b) give or receive notices, approvals, consents, requests and
other communications, (c) receive payment or reimbursement for expenses, (d) immunity from and
limitation of liability, (e) indemnification from liability by Brilla, and (f) security for Brilla’s
indemnification obligation.

“Consent,” “Order,” and “Request’ each means a written consent, order or request
signed in the name of the Company and delivered to the Master Trustee by an Authorized
Representative, or any other Person designated by the Company to execute any such instrument
on behalf of the Company as evidenced by an Officer’s Certificate.

“Corporate Trust Office” means the address or addresses of the Master Trustee
designated from time to time in accordance with Section 104.

“Debt’ means all Senior and Subordinate Debt and all:
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(1) indebtedness incurred or assumed by the Company, whether on a
senior or subordinate basis as provided herein, for borrowed money or for the
acquisition, construction or improvement of property other than goods that are
acquired in the ordinary course of business of the Company;

(i1) lease obligations of the Company that, in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, are shown on the liability side of a balance sheet;

(ii1))  all indebtedness (other than indebtedness otherwise treated as Debt
hereunder) for borrowed money for the acquisition, construction or improvement
of property or capitalized lease obligations guaranteed, directly or indirectly, in any
manner by the Company, or in effect guaranteed, directly or indirectly, by the
Company through an agreement, contingent or otherwise, to purchase any such
indebtedness or to advance or supply funds for the payment or purchase of any such
indebtedness or to purchase property or services primarily for the purpose of
enabling the debtor or seller to make payment of such indebtedness, or to assure
the owner of the indebtedness against loss, or to supply funds to or in any other
manner invest in the debtor (including any agreement to pay for property or services
irrespective of whether or not such property is delivered or such services are
rendered), or otherwise; and

(iv)  all indebtedness (other than items described under Section 201(c))
secured by any mortgage, lien, charge, encumbrance, pledge or other security
interest upon property owned by the Company whether or not the Company has
assumed or become liable for the payment thereof.

For the purpose of computing “Debt”, there shall be excluded (A) any particular Debt if upon or
prior to the Maturity thereof, there shall have been deposited with the proper depository in trust
the necessary funds (or evidences of such Debt or investments that will provide sufficient funds,
if permitted by the instrument creating such Debt) for the payment, redemption or satisfaction of
such Debt and (B) any Debt that is incurred pursuant to, secured under or for the benefit of any
facility described within any Other Master Indenture, whether parity thereunder or subordinate
thereto; and thereafter such funds, evidences of Debt and investments so deposited shall not be
included in any computation of the assets of the Company, and the income from any such deposits
shall not be included in the calculation of Pledged Revenues.

“Defeasance Obligations” means any obligations authorized under New York law
and the related financing documents to be deposited in escrow for the defeasance of any Debt.

“Event of Default’ is defined in Section 601 of this Master Indenture.

“Financial Products Agreement” means any type of financial management
instrument or contract, which shall include, but not be limited to, (i) any contract known as or
referred to or which performs the function of an interest rate swap agreement, currency swap
agreement, forward payment conversion agreement or futures contract; (ii) any contract providing
for payments based on levels of, or changes or differences in, interest rates, currency exchange
rates, or stock or other indices; (iii) any contract to exchange cash flows or payments or a series of
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payments; (iv) any type of contract called, or designed to perform the function of, interest rate
floors or caps, options, puts or calls, to hedge or minimize any type of financial risk, including,
without limitation, payment, currency, rate or other financial risk forward supply agreements; and
(v) any other type of contract or arrangement that the Governing Body of the Company determines
is to be used, or is intended to be used, to manage or reduce the cost of debt (including but not
limited to a bond insurance policy), to convert any element of debt from one form to another, to
maximize or increase investment return, to minimize investment return risk or to protect against
any type of financial risk or uncertainty.

“Fiscal Year” means any twelve-month period beginning on July 1 of any calendar
year and ending on June 30 of the following year or such other twelve-month period selected by
the Company as the fiscal year for the Company.

“Governing Body” means the board of directors of the Company or any duly
authorized committee of the board of directors of the Company.

“Independent’, when used with respect to any specified Person, means such a
Person who (i) is in fact independent, (ii) does not have any direct financial interest or any material
indirect financial interest in the Company or Brilla and (iii) is not connected with the Company or
Brilla, as an officer, employee, promoter, trustee, partner, director or person performing similar
functions. Whenever it is provided that any Independent Person’s opinion or certificate shall be
furnished to the Master Trustee, such Person shall be appointed by Order and such opinion or
certificate shall state that the signer has read this definition and that the signer is Independent
within the meaning hereof.

“Interest Payment Date” means the Stated Maturity of an installment of interest on
any Note.

“Lease” or “Leases’ means, individually or collectively, as the context shall
require, the Leases of the Participating Campuses identified in the Supplemental Master Indenture
and any lease agreement now or hereinafter approved by the Company and Brilla pursuant to which
Brilla leases or subleases any Participating Campuses from the Company, as the same may be
amended or supplemented, including in connection with the issuance of additional Debt, provided
that, the Lease shall never include the properties or payments within any Other Lease.

“Lease Revenues” means, for any period of time for which calculated, the total of
all moneys received by the Company from Brilla pursuant to each Lease during such period.

“Leasehold Mortgage” each Leasehold Mortgage, mortgage, security agreement,
assignment of rents and leases and fixture filing or similar agreement executed by the Company
encumbering the Participating Campuses in favor of the Master Trustee, as beneficiary, and/or any
security instrument executed in substitution therefore or in addition thereto, as such substitute or
additional security instrument may be amended, supplemented or restated from time to time.

“Limited Jurisdiction” means the jurisdictional boundaries of the Archdiocese of
New York, New York.
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“Master Indenture” means this Master Trust Indenture and Security Agreement,
as amended and supplemented from time to time in accordance with its terms.

“Master Trustee” means The Bank of New York Mellon, an New York state
banking corporation, serving as trustee pursuant to this Master Indenture, and its successors and
assigns.

“Maturity,” when used with respect to any Debt (or any Note), means the date on
which the principal of such Debt (or Note) becomes due and payable as therein or herein provided,
whether at the Stated Maturity thereof or by declaration of acceleration, call for redemption or
otherwise.

“Maximum Annual Debt Service” means, as of any date of calculation, the highest
Annual Debt Service Requirements with respect to all Outstanding Debt for the applicable or any
succeeding Fiscal Year.

“Note” means any Senior Note or Subordinate Note of the Company issued
pursuant to Section 201 of this Master Indenture and executed, authenticated, and delivered
pursuant to Section 203 hereof.

“Note Holder” means a Person in whose name a Note is registered in the Note
Register; or in the case of additional Debt in the process of issuance, the underwriter or bank who
has executed the related purchase contract.

“Note Register” and “Note Registrar” have the respective meanings specified in
Section 205 hereof.

“Officer’s Certificate” means a certificate of the Company signed by an Authorized
Representative or any other Person designated by any of such Persons to execute an Officer’s
Certificate as evidenced by a certificate of the Company delivered to the Master Trustee.

“Opinion of Counsel” means a written opinion of counsel selected by the
Company, who may (except as otherwise expressly provided) be counsel to any party to any
transaction involving the issuance of Notes pursuant to Section 201 hereof.

“Other Lease” means any lease agreement now or hereafter entered into by the
Company related to financed facilities in any jurisdiction other than the Limited Jurisdiction
pursuant to any Other Master Indenture.

“Other Master Indenture” means any Master Indenture and Security Agreement
now or hereafter enacted into by the Company and identified in any Supplemental Master
Indenture related to financing facilities in any jurisdiction other than the Limited Jurisdiction.

“Outstanding,” when used with respect to the Notes means, as of the date of
determination, all Notes theretofore authenticated and delivered under this Master Indenture,
except:
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(1) Notes theretofore cancelled by the Master Trustee or the Paying
Agent;

(i1))  Notes for whose payment or redemption money (or Defeasance
Obligations to the extent permitted by Section 902 of this Master Indenture) in the
necessary amount has been theretofore deposited with the Master Trustee or any
Paying Agent for such Notes in trust for such Note Holders pursuant to this Master
Indenture or any Supplemental Master Indenture authorizing such Notes; provided,
that if such Notes are to be redeemed, notice of such redemption has been duly
given pursuant to this Master Indenture or irrevocable provision therefor
satisfactory to the Master Trustee has been made; and

(ii1))  Notes upon transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of which other
Notes have been authenticated and delivered pursuant to this Master Indenture or
any Supplemental Master Indenture authorizing such Notes; provided, however,
that in determining whether the holders of the requisite principal amount of
Outstanding Notes have given any request, demand, authorization, direction,
notice, consent or waiver hereunder, Notes owned by the Company shall be
disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding, except that, in determining whether
the Master Trustee shall be protected in relying upon any such request, demand,
authorization, direction, notice, consent or waiver, only Notes which the Master
Trustee actually knows to be so owned shall be so disregarded. Notes so owned
which have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding if the
pledgee establishes to the satisfaction of the Master Trustee the pledgee’s right so
to act with respect to such Notes and that the pledgee is not the Company or any
other obligor upon the Notes or any other Person obligated thereon. If there is any
conflict between the aforementioned provisions of this subsection (iii) and Section
103 of this Master Indenture, Section 103 shall control.

“Participating Campus(es)” refers to the Brilla campuses within the Limited
Jurisdiction that are (i) acquired, leased, constructed, improved, renovated, equipped or refinanced
with the proceeds of any Related Bonds, (ii) identified in and made part of the Trust Estate in any
Supplemental Master Indenture, and (iii) operated under separate charters.

“Paying Agent” means any Person authorized by the Company in any Related Bond
Document to pay the principal of (and premium, if any) or interest on any series of Notes.

“Person” means any individual, corporation, limited liability company,
partnership, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or
government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

“Place of Payment” for any series of Notes means a city or any political subdivision
thereof designated as such in the Notes of such series.

“Pledged Revenues” means, for any period of calculation, the total of all Lease
Revenues of the Company directly attributable to the Participating Campuses, including accounts
receivable and rights to receive same plus investment and other income or loss of the Company in
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any fund or account created under this Master Indenture or Related Bond Documents for such
period; provided, however, that no determination thereof shall take into account (a) any other
income or revenues received by the Company from the operation of any other facility located in
any other diocese or archdiocese under any Other Lease, (b) revenues from any management
agreement between the Company and Brilla, (¢) income from any or all of the Romero Academy
network, the El Camino Programs, Seton Teaching Fellows or the Brillante Academy Network,
(d) income derived from Defeasance Obligations that are irrevocably deposited in escrow to pay
the principal of or interest on Debt or Related Bonds, (¢) any gains or losses resulting from the
early extinguishment of Debt or the reappraisal, reevaluation or write-up of assets, (f) gifts, grants,
bequests or donations and income thereon that is not expressly dedicated for the benefit of the
Participating Campuses or Brilla by the donor or grantor or is dedicated for a purpose inconsistent
with paying principal and interest on the Notes, and (h) net unrealized gain (losses) on investments
and Financial Products Agreements.

“Principal Payment Date” means the Stated Maturity of any installment of
principal on any Note.

“Qualified Provider” means any financial institution or insurance company that is
a party to a Financial Products Agreement if the unsecured long-term debt obligations of such
financial institution or insurance company (or of the parent or a subsidiary of such financial
institution or insurance company if such parent or subsidiary guarantees the performance of such
financial institution or insurance company under such Financial Products Agreement), or
obligations secured or supported by a letter of credit, contract, guarantee, agreement, insurance
policy or surety bond issued by such financial institution or insurance company (or such guarantor
parent or subsidiary), are rated in one of the two highest rating categories of a Rating Service at
the time of the execution and delivery of the Financial Products Agreement.

“Rating Service” means each nationally recognized securities rating service which
at the time has a credit rating assigned to any series of Notes or Related Bonds (or any other
indebtedness secured by Notes) at the request of the Company.

“Record Date” means the regular record date specified for each series of Notes.

“Related Bond Documents” means the Related Bonds, the Related Bond Indenture,
the Related Loan Documents, and the Related Leasehold Mortgage.

“Related Bond Indenture” means any indenture, bond resolution or similar
instrument pursuant to which any series of Related Bonds is issued.

“Related Bonds” means bonds, promissory notes, or other obligations with respect
to which any Notes are issued and any other revenue bonds or similar obligations issued by any
state of the United States, any municipal corporation, any non-municipal corporation, or other
political subdivision formed under the laws thereof or any constituted authority, agency or
instrumentality of any of the foregoing empowered to issue obligations on behalf thereof, the
proceeds of which are loaned or otherwise made available to the Company in consideration,
whether in whole or in part, of the execution, authentication and delivery of a Note or Notes to
such governmental issuer.
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“Related Bonds Outstanding” means all Related Bonds which have been duly
authenticated and delivered by a Related Bond Trustee under a Related Bond Indenture that remain
Outstanding thereunder and under the laws of the State.

“Related Bond Trustee” means any trustee or lender, if applicable, under any
Related Bond Indenture, and any successor trustee thereunder or, if no trustee is appointed under
a Related Bond Indenture, the Related Issuer.

“Related Issuer” means any issuer of a series of Related Bonds.

“Related Leasehold Mortgage” means any Leasehold Mortgage or other mortgage
instrument delivered by the Company to the Master Trustee in connection with Related Bonds or
any Debt.

“Related Lender” means any lender to the Company of Debt, other than a Related
Issuer, with respect to which any Notes are issued and which are secured by such Notes.

“Related Loan” means a loan made by a Related Lender to the Company pursuant
to a Related Loan Document that is secured by a Note or a series of Notes issued hereunder.

“Related Loan Documents” means any loan agreement, credit agreement or other
document pursuant to which a Related Issuer loans the proceeds of a series of Related Bonds to
the Company.

“Responsible Officer,” when used with respect to the Master Trustee, means the
officer in the Corporate Trust Office of the Master Trustee having direct responsibility for
administration of this Master Indenture.

“Revenue Fund has the meaning specified in Section 405 hereof.

“Senior Debt” means and principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any Debt
authorized under Section 212(a) issued by the Company or issued to refund or refinance any Senior
Debt and evidenced by Senior Notes issued pursuant to the provisions of this Master Indenture.

“Senior Notes” means the Series 2021 Notes and any series of Notes now or
hereafter issued pursuant to Section 201 (excluding any Subordinate Note) hereof and designated
as Senior Notes pursuant to any Supplemental Master Indenture authorizing their issuance.

“Series 2021 Notes” means any of the Notes issued pursuant to a Supplemental
Master Indenture and secured by this Master Indenture to evidence payment obligations of the
Company with respect to Build NYC Resource Corporation (Seton Education Partners—ABrilla
Project), Series 2021.

“State” means the State of New York unless otherwise noted.

“Stated Maturity,” when used with respect to any Debt or any Note or any
installment of interest thereon, means the date specified in such Debt or Note as the fixed date on
which the principal of such Debt or Note or such installment of interest is due and payable.
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“Subordinate Debt” means and principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any
Debt authorized under Section 212(c) issued by the Company or issued to refund or refinance any
Subordinate Debt and evidenced by Subordinate Notes issued pursuant to the provisions of this
Master Indenture.

“Subordinate Lender” for so long as the Series 2021 notes remain outstanding,
means an owner of Subordinate Debt.

“Subordinate Note(s) " means any Notes issued pursuant to Section 201 (excluding
any Senior Note) hereof and designated as Subordinate Notes pursuant to any Supplemental Master
Indenture authorizing their issuance.

“Supplemental Master Indenture” means an indenture amending or supplementing
this Master Indenture entered into pursuant to Article VIII hereof.

“Supplement to the Leasehold Mortgage” means any supplement or amendment
to the Leasehold Mortgage.

“Trust Estate” means the property described as the Trust Estate in the Granting
Clauses of this Master Indenture or any Supplemental Master Indenture that is subject to the lien
and security interest of this Master Indenture.

“UCC” means the Uniform Commercial Code as in effect in the State.

Section 102. Form of Documents Delivered to Master Trustee

Every certificate and every Opinion of Counsel with respect to compliance with a
condition or covenant provided for in this Master Indenture shall include a statement that the
Person making such certification or opinion has read such covenant or condition and the definitions
relating thereto, has made or caused to be made such examination or investigation as is necessary
to enable such Person to express an informed opinion as to whether such covenant or condition
has been complied with, and a statement whether such condition or covenant has been complied
with. In any case where several matters are required to be certified by, or covered by an opinion
of, any specified Person, it is not necessary that all such matters be certified by, or covered by the
opinion of, only one such Person, or that they be so certified or covered by only one document,
but one such Person may certify or give an opinion with respect to some matters and one or more
other such Persons as to other matters, and any such Person may certify or give an opinion as to
such matters in one or several documents.

Any certificate or opinion of any officer of a Person may be based, insofar as it relates to
legal matters, upon a certificate or opinion of, or representations by, counsel, unless such officer
knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know, that the certificate or opinion or
representations with respect to the matters upon which such Person’s certificate or opinion is based
are erroneous. Any such certificate or Opinion of Counsel may be based, insofar as it relates to
factual matters, upon a certificate or opinion of, or representations by, an officer or officers of a
specified Person stating that the information with respect to such factual matters is in the
possession of such Person, unless such counsel knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should
know, that the certificate or opinion or representations with respect to such matters are erroneous.
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Where any Person is required to make, give or execute two or more applications, requests,
consents, certificates, statements, opinions or other instruments under this Master Indenture, they
may, but need not, be consolidated and form one instrument.

Section 103. Acts of Note Holders

(a) Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other
action provided by this Master Indenture to be given or taken by Note Holders may be embodied
in and evidenced by one or more instruments of substantially similar tenor signed by such Note
Holders in person or by an agent duly appointed in writing; and, except as herein otherwise
expressly provided, such action shall become effective when such instrument or instruments are
delivered to the Master Trustee or Paying Agent, and, where it is hereby expressly required, to the
Company. Such instrument or instruments (and the action embodied therein and evidenced
thereby) are herein sometimes referred to as the “Act” of the Note Holders signing such instrument
or instruments. Proof of execution of any such instrument, or of a writing appointing any such
agent, shall be sufficient for any purpose of this Master Indenture and (subject to Section 701)
conclusive in favor of the Master Trustee and the Company, if made in the manner provided in
this Section.

(b) The fact and date of the execution by any Person of any such instrument or writing
may be proved by the affidavit of a witness of such execution or by the certificate of any notary
public or other officer authorized by law to take acknowledgments of deeds, certifying that the
individual signing such instrument or writing acknowledged to him the execution thereof. Where
such execution is by an officer of a corporation or a member of a partnership, on behalf of such
corporation or partnership, such certificate or affidavit shall also constitute sufficient proof of his
authority. The fact and date of the execution of any such instrument or writing, or the authority of
the person executing the same, may also be proved in any other manner which the Master Trustee
deems sufficient.

(©) The ownership of Notes shall be proved by the Note Register.

(d) Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice, consent, waiver or other
action by any Note Holder shall bind every holder of any Note issued upon the transfer thereof or
in exchange therefor or in lieu thereof, in respect of anything done or suffered to be done by the
Master Trustee or the Company in reliance thereon, whether or not notation of such action is made
upon such Note.

(e) The ownership of Related Bonds may be proved by the registration books for such
Related Bonds maintained pursuant to the Related Bond Indenture.

§)) In determining whether the holders of the requisite aggregate principal amount of
Notes have concurred in any demand, direction, request, notice, consent, waiver or other action
under this Master Indenture, or for any other purpose of this Master Indenture, Notes or Related
Bonds that are owned by the Company shall be disregarded and deemed not to be Outstanding or
outstanding under the Related Bond Indenture, as the case may be, for the purpose of any such
determination, provided that for the purposes of determining whether the Master Trustee shall be
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protected in relying on any such direction, consent or waiver, only such Notes or Related Bonds
which the Master Trustee has actual notice or knowledge are so owned shall be so disregarded and
deemed not to be Outstanding Notes or Related Bonds. Outstanding Notes or Related Bonds so
owned that have been pledged in good faith may be regarded as Outstanding or outstanding under
the Related Bond Indenture, as the case may be, for purposes of this Section, if the pledgee shall
establish to the satisfaction of the Master Trustee the pledgee’s right to vote such Notes or Related
Bonds. In case of a dispute as to such right, any decision by the Master Trustee taken upon the
advice of counsel shall be full protection to the Master Trustee. In the event that a Note secures
the obligation of a Person under an agreement or instrument that provides for the making of
advances to or on behalf of such Person, such Note shall only be counted to be Outstanding in a
principal amount equal to the amount so advanced or otherwise due and owing under the terms of
such agreement (and only if such amount remains outstanding or unpaid) to or on behalf of such
Person. In the event that a Note secures a Financial Products Agreement, such Note shall only be
deemed to be Outstanding in a principal amount equal to any amount with which the Company is
in default with respect to the payment thereof. In no event, however, shall the amount owed to a
Note Holder be counted twice because there are the same amounts due and owing under two Notes
relating to the same obligations (e.g., the principal amount reimbursable to the provider of a
liquidity facility as the holder of bonds purchased by such liquidity provider as well as the principal
amount of such purchased bonds by such liquidity provider as holder of the purchased bonds).

(2) At any time prior to (but not after) the time the Master Trustee takes action in
reliance upon evidence, as provided in this Section 103, of the taking of any action by the holders
of the percentage in aggregate principal amount of Notes specified herein in connection with such
action, any holder of such Note or Related Bond that is shown by such evidence to be included in
Notes the holders of which have consented to such action may, by filing written notice with the
Master Trustee and upon proof of holding as provided in this Section 103, revoke such action so
far as it concerns such Note or Related Bond. Except upon such revocation or such action taken
by the holder of a Note or Related Bond in any direction, demand, request, waiver, consent, vote
or other action of the holder of such Note or Related Bond which by any provision hereof is
required or permitted to be given shall be conclusive and binding upon such Note Holder and upon
all future Note Holders and owners of such Note or Related Bond, and of any Note or Related
Bond issued in lieu thereof, whether or not any notation in regard thereto is made upon such Note
or Related Bond. Any action taken by the holders of the percentage in aggregate principal amount
of Notes specified herein in connection with such action shall be conclusively binding upon the
Company, the Master Trustee and the holders of all of such Notes or Related Bonds.

Section 104. Notices, etc.

. to Master Trustee and Company. Any request, demand, authorization, direction, notice,
consent, waiver or Act of Note Holders or other document provided or permitted by this Master
Indenture to be made upon, given or furnished to, or filed with:

(1) the Master Trustee by any Note Holder or by any specified Person shall be
sufficient for every purpose hereunder if made, given, furnished or filed in writing to or
with and actually received by a Responsible Officer of the Master Trustee at Trustee at its
Corporate Trust Office located at 240 Greenwich Street, New York, New York 10286,
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Attention: Corporate Trust, or at any other address subsequently furnished in writing to the
Company and the Note Holders by the Master Trustee;

(2) the Company by any Note Holder or by any Person shall be sufficient for
every purpose hereunder if in writing and mailed, first-class postage prepaid, to the
Company at Seton Education Partners, 413 East 144™ Street, Bronx, New York 10454,
Attention: Chief Financial and Operating Officer, or at any other address subsequently
furnished in writing to the Master Trustee by the Company.

Section 105. Notices to Note Holders: Waiver

. Where this Master Indenture provides for notice to Note Holders of any event, such notice
shall be sufficiently given (unless otherwise herein expressly provided) if in writing and mailed,
first-class postage prepaid, to each Note Holder affected by such event, at his address as it appears
on the Note Register, not later than the latest date, and not earlier than the earliest date, prescribed
for the first giving of such notice. In any case where notice to Note Holders is given by mail,
neither the failure to mail such notice, nor any default in any notice so mailed to any particular
Note Holder shall affect the sufficiency of such notice with respect to other Note Holders. Where
this Master Indenture provides for notice in any manner, such notice may be waived in writing by
the Person entitled to receive such notice, either before or after the event, and such waiver shall be
the equivalent of such notice. Waivers of notice by Note Holders shall be filed with the Master
Trustee, but such filing shall not be a condition precedent to the validity of any action taken in
reliance upon such waiver.

Section 106. Successors and Assigns

. All covenants and agreements in this Master Indenture by the Company and the Master
Trustee shall bind their respective successors and assigns, whether so expressed or not.

Section 107. Severability Clause

. If any provision of this Master Indenture shall be held or deemed to be, or shall in fact
be, inoperative or unenforceable as applied to any particular case in any jurisdiction or
jurisdictions, or in all jurisdictions or in all cases because of the conflicting of any provision with
any constitution or statute or rule of public policy or for any other reasons, such circumstance shall
not have the effect of rendering the provision or provisions in question inoperative or
unenforceable in any other jurisdiction or in any other case or circumstance or of rendering any
other provision or provisions herein contained invalid, inoperative or unenforceable to the extent
that such other provisions are not themselves actually in conflict with such constitution, statute or
rule of public policy.

Section 108. Benefits of Master Indenture

. Nothing in this Master Indenture or in the Notes, express or implied, shall give to any
Person, other than the parties hereto, and their successors hereunder and the Note Holders, any
benefit or any legal or equitable right, remedy or claim under this Master Indenture.
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Section 109. Governing Law

. This Master Indenture shall be governed in all respects, including validity, interpretation
and effect by, and shall be enforceable in accordance with, the law of the State.

Section 110. Effect of Headings and Table of Contents

. The Article and Section headings herein and the Table of Contents are for convenience
only and shall not affect the construction hereof.

ARTICLE II
ISSUANCE AND FORM OF NOTES

Section 201. Series, Amount and Denomination of Notes

(a) At any time and from time to time after the execution and delivery of this Master
Indenture, Notes shall be issued under this Master Indenture in series issued pursuant to a
Supplemental Master Indenture. Each series shall be designated to differentiate the Notes of such
series from the Notes of any other series. Notes shall be issued as fully registered notes with the
Notes of each series to be lettered and numbered as may be designated in the Supplemental Master
Indenture authorizing any series. The aggregate principal amount of Notes of each series that may
be created under this Master Indenture is not limited, except by the additional Debt limitations
provided in this Master Indenture. A series of Notes may consist of a single Note or more than
one Note.

(b) Each Supplemental Master Indenture authorizing the issuance of a Note or series
of Notes shall set forth the purpose for which the Debt evidenced thereby is being incurred, the
principal amount, maturity date or dates, interest rate or rates and the other pertinent terms of the
Note or series of Notes and the name of the Company.

(c) Notes may be issued hereunder to evidence (i) any type of Debt, including without
limitation any Debt in a form other than a promissory note (such as commercial paper, bonds, or
similar debt instruments), (ii) any obligation to make payments pursuant to a Financial Products
Agreement, (iii) any obligations to make payments pursuant to a Contingent Obligation (as such
term is used in Section (e) of the definition of Annual Debt Service Requirements), or (iv) debt
consisting of an obligation to reimburse payments made under a letter of credit, surety bond, bond
insurance policy, standby bond purchase agreement or similar credit or liquidity support obtained
to secure payment of other Debt. The Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to which any Notes
are issued may provide for such supplements or amendments to the provisions hereof, including
without limitation Article II hereof, as are necessary to permit the issuance of such Notes
hereunder.

(d) Any Note evidencing obligations under a Financial Products Agreement shall be
equally and ratably secured hereunder with all other Notes issued hereunder, except as otherwise
expressly provided herein; provided, however, that (i) to be secured hereunder, the Master Trustee
must receive, at the time of execution and delivery of such Financial Products Agreement, an
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Officer’s Certificate stating that such Financial Products Agreement was entered into by the
Company with a Qualified Provider, as provided hereunder, and is entitled to the benefits of this
Master Indenture and (ii) such Note, with respect to such Financial Products Agreement, shall be
deemed to be Outstanding hereunder solely for the purpose of receiving payment hereunder and
the Qualified Provider shall not be entitled to exercise any rights of a Note Holder hereunder unless
amounts payable by the Company are due and unpaid.

(e) Any Subordinate Note shall be expressly subordinated to all Senior Notes pursuant
to the provisions set forth in Sections 212(c) and 410 of this Master Indenture.

Section 202. Conditions to Issuance of Notes

. Any Note or series of Notes shall be authenticated by the Master Trustee and delivered
to the lender or purchaser only upon its receipt of the following:

(a) An Officer’s Certificate stating (1) that no Event of Default has occurred or is
continuing or will result from the issuance of such Note or series of Notes and (2) that the
Supplemental Master Indenture relating thereto authorizes such Debt and that such Supplemental
Master Indenture complies with the provisions of Article VIII hereof; and

(b) An original executed counterpart of a Supplemental Master Indenture providing for
the issuance of such Note or series of Notes; and

(c) An Opinion of Counsel to the effect that (1) the conditions to issuance of any
particular Note or series of Notes set forth in this Section 202 and in Section 212 (except, with
respect to Section 212, in connection with the Series 2021 Notes) of this Master Indenture have
been satisfied, (2) upon the execution of such Note or series of Notes by the Company and the
authentication thereof by the Master Trustee, such Note or series of Notes will be the valid and
binding obligations of the Company enforceable in accordance with its (their) terms, subject to the
customary bankruptcy, insolvency and equitable principles exceptions and such other exceptions
as may be acceptable to the initial payee thereof, (3) registration of such Note or series of Notes
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, is not required, or, if such registration is required,
that the Company has complied with all applicable provisions of said Act, and (4) qualification of
this Master Indenture and any Supplemental Master Trust Indenture providing for the issuance of
such Note or series of Notes under the Trust Indenture Act of 1939, is not required, or if such
qualification is required, that the Company has complied with all applicable provisions of such
Act.

(d) The title insurance policy, or endorsement thereof, required by Section 212, if
necessary and if permitted by the laws of the State.

(e) The Insurance Certificate as set forth and required in Section 213(c) hereof.

§)) If in connection with the issuance of additional Debt, any other certificate, report
or other item required under Section 212.
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(2) The fully executed Lease or any fully executed amendment or supplement thereto
necessary to evidence either or both the additional Participating Campus subject to the Lease or
the payment obligations of Brilla associated with such Note or series of Notes.

Section 203. Execution, Authentication and Delivery

(a) Notes shall be executed by the Company through the chairman of its Governing
Body or its president or any officer authorized by the Governing Body and may be attested to by
the secretary or an assistant secretary of the Company, as appropriate or necessary, and Notes may
have the corporate seal impressed or reproduced thereon. The signature of any officer on the Notes
may be manual or facsimile.

(b) Notes bearing the manual or facsimile signatures of individuals who were at any
time the proper officers of the Company shall bind the Company, notwithstanding that such
individuals or any of them have ceased to hold such offices prior to the authentication and delivery
of such Notes or did not hold such offices at the date of such Notes.

(c) At any time, and from time to time, after the execution and delivery of this Master
Indenture, the Company may deliver executed Notes to the Master Trustee together with the
Supplemental Master Indenture creating such series; and upon the receipt of the Supplemental
Master Indenture, the Master Trustee shall authenticate and deliver such Notes as provided in this
Master Indenture and the relevant Supplemental Master Indenture.

(d) No Note shall be entitled to any benefit under this Master Indenture or be valid or
obligatory for any purpose, unless there appears on or attached to such Note a certificate of
authentication substantially in the form set forth below executed by the Master Trustee by its
manual signature, and such certificate upon any Note shall be conclusive evidence, and the only
evidence, that such Note has been duly authenticated and delivered hereunder. The form of
certificate of authentication shall be as follows:

CERTIFICATE OF AUTHENTICATION
This is one of the Notes referred to in the Master Indenture.

Date of Authentication:
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THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON, as Master
Trustee, or its agent

By:

Authorized Signature

Section 204. Form and Terms of Notes

. The Notes of each series of Notes shall contain such terms, and be in substantially the
form set forth in the Supplemental Master Indenture creating such series, with such appropriate
insertions, omissions, substitutions and other variations as are required or permitted by this Master
Indenture and may have such letters, numbers or other marks of identification and such legends or
endorsements placed thereon as may be required to comply with the rules of any regulatory body,
or as may, consistently herewith, be determined by the officers executing such Notes, as evidenced
by their signing of the Notes. The Notes of any series or the relevant Supplemental Master
Indenture may contain additional (or different) representations, warranties, covenants, defaults and
remedies and other provisions which do not contradict the terms of this Master Indenture, to the
extent provided in the related Supplemental Master Indenture, and such additional terms shall
supplement and be in addition to the terms of this Master Indenture. Unless the Notes of a series
have been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, each Note of such series shall be endorsed
with a legend which shall read substantially as follows: “This Note has not been registered under
the Securities Act of 1933.”

Section 205. Registration, Transfer and Exchange

(a) The Company shall cause to be kept at the Corporate Trust Office of the Master
Trustee in New York, New York, a register (sometimes herein referred to as the “/Note Register’)
in which, subject to such reasonable regulations as it may prescribe, the Company shall provide
for the registration of Notes and of transfers of Notes. The Master Trustee is hereby appointed
Note Registrar (the “Note Registrar”) for the purpose of registering Notes and transfers of Notes
as herein provided. The Master Trustee may delegate any of its duties hereunder pursuant to the
terms of a Supplemental Master Indenture. In such case, the Note Register may consist of one or
more records of ownership of the various series of Notes and any part of such register may be
maintained by the agent of the Master Trustee relating to such series.

(b) Upon surrender for transfer of any Note at the office or agency of the Company in
a Place of Payment, the Company shall execute, and the Master Trustee or its designated agent
shall authenticate and deliver, in the name of the designated transferee, one or more new Notes of
any Authorized Denominations, of a like aggregate principal amount, series, Stated Maturity and
interest rate.

(c) At the option of the Note Holder, Notes may be exchanged for Notes of any
Authorized Denomination, of a like aggregate principal amount, series, Stated Maturity and
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interest rate, upon the surrender of the Notes to be exchanged at such office or agency. Whenever
any Notes are so surrendered for exchange, the Master Trustee or its designated agent shall
authenticate and deliver the Notes which the Note Holder making the exchange is entitled to
receive.

(d) All Notes issued upon any transfer or exchange of Notes shall be the valid
obligations of the Company, evidencing the same debt, and entitled to the same benefits under this
Master Indenture as the Notes surrendered upon such transfer or exchange.

(e) Every Note presented or surrendered for transfer or exchange shall (if so required
by the Company or the Master Trustee) be duly endorsed, or be accompanied by a written
instrument of transfer in form satisfactory to the Company and the Master Trustee or its designated
agent duly executed by the holder thereof or his attorney duly authorized in writing.

6y} No charge shall be made for any transfer or exchange of Notes, and any transfer or
exchange of Notes shall be made without expense or without charge to Note Holders; however,
the Master Trustee or its designated agent under any Supplemental Master Indenture may require
the payment of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed
in relation to such transfer or exchange.

Section 206. Mutilated, Destroyed, Lost and Stolen Notes

(a) If (1) any mutilated Note is surrendered to the Master Trustee or the Paying Agent,
and the Master Trustee receives evidence to its satisfaction of the destruction, loss or theft of any
Note, and (ii) there is delivered to the Master Trustee such security or indemnity as may be required
by the Master Trustee to save each of the Master Trustee and the Company harmless, then, in the
absence of notice to the Company or the Master Trustee that such Note has been acquired by a
bona fide purchaser, the Company shall execute and, upon its request, the Master Trustee shall
authenticate and deliver in exchange for or in lieu of any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen
Note, a new Note of like tenor, series, interest rate and principal amount, bearing a number not
contemporaneously outstanding.

(b) In case any such mutilated, destroyed, lost or stolen Note has become or is about to
become due and payable, the Company may, in its discretion, instead of issuing a new Note, pay
such Note.

(©) Upon the issuance of any new Note under this Section, the Master Trustee or its
designated agent under any Supplemental Master Indenture may require the payment by the
Company of a sum sufficient to cover any tax or other governmental charge that may be imposed
in relation thereto and any other expenses (including the fees and expenses of the Master Trustee)
connected therewith.

(d) Every new Note issued pursuant to this Section in lieu of any destroyed, lost or
stolen Note shall constitute an original additional contractual obligation of the Company, whether
or not the destroyed, lost or stolen Note shall be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be
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entitled to all the benefits and security of this Master Indenture equally and proportionately with
any and all other Notes duly issued hereunder.

(e) The provisions of this Section are exclusive and shall preclude (to the extent lawful)
all other rights and remedies with respect to the replacement or payment of mutilated, destroyed,
lost or stolen Notes.

Section 207. Method of Payment of Notes

(a) The principal of, premium, if any, and interest on the Notes shall be payable in any
currency of the United States of America which, at the respective dates of payment thereof, is legal
tender for the payment of public and private debts, and such principal, premium, if any, and interest
shall be payable at the principal payment office of the Master Trustee in New York, New York, or
at the office of any alternate Paying Agent or agents named in any such Notes. Unless contrary
provision is made in the Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to which such Note is issued or
the election referred to in the next sentence is made, payment of the principal of, premium, if any,
and interest on the Notes and payment of any redemption or prepayment price on any Note
pursuant to Section 303 hereof shall be made to the Person appearing on the Note Register as the
Note Holder and shall be paid by check or draft mailed to the Note Holder at his address as it
appears on such registration books or at such other address as is furnished to the Master Trustee in
writing by the Note Holder; provided, however, that any Supplemental Master Indenture creating
any Note may provide that the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on such Note may be
paid, upon the request of the Note Holder, by wire transfer. Anything to the contrary in this Master
Indenture notwithstanding, if an Event of Default has not occurred and is not continuing hereunder
and the Company so elects or is required, payments on a Note shall be made directly by the
Company, by check or draft hand delivered to the Note Holder or its designee or shall be made by
the Company by wire transfer to the Note Holder, in either case delivered on or prior to the date
on which such payment is due. The Company shall give written notice to the Master Trustee (on
which the Master Trustee may conclusively rely) of any such payment to the Master Trustee
concurrently with the making thereof, specifying the amount paid and identifying the Note or
Notes with respect to which such payment was made by series designation, number and the Note
Holder. Except with respect to Notes directly paid, the Company agrees to deposit with the Master
Trustee on or prior to each due date, as specified in the Related Bond Documents, a sum sufficient
to pay the principal of, premium, if any, and interest on any of the Notes due on or before such due
date. Such moneys shall be held in trust exclusively for the holder of the Note for which such
payment is intended to be made. Any such moneys shall, upon direction of the Company set forth
in an Officer’s Certificate, be invested as set forth therein. The foregoing notwithstanding,
amounts deposited with the Master Trustee to provide for the payment of Notes pledged to the
payment of Related Bonds shall be invested in accordance with the provisions of the Related Bond
Indenture and Related Loan Documents. The Master Trustee shall not be liable or responsible for
any loss resulting from any such investments, and shall not be responsible for determining whether
any such investment is permitted hereunder or in accordance with any such Related Bond
Indenture or Related Loan Document.
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(b) Subject to the foregoing provisions of this Section 207, each Note delivered under
this Master Indenture upon transfer of or in exchange for or in lieu of any other Note shall carry
the rights to principal of, premium, if any, and interest accrued and unpaid, and to accrue, which
were carried by such Note.

Section 208. Persons Deemed Owners

. The Company, the Master Trustee and any agent thereof shall treat the Person in whose
name any Note is registered as the owner of such Note for the purpose of receiving payment of
principal of (and premium, if any) and interest on such Note and for all other purposes whatsoever
whether or not such payment is past due, and neither the Company, the Master Trustee, nor any
agent of the Company or the Master Trustee shall be affected by notice to the contrary.

Section 209. Cancellation

. All Notes surrendered for payment, redemption, transfer or exchange shall, if delivered
to any Person other than the Master Trustee, be delivered to the Master Trustee and, if not already
cancelled or required to be otherwise delivered by the terms of the Supplemental Master Indenture
authorizing the series of Notes of which such Note is a part, shall be promptly cancelled by the
Master Trustee. The Company may at any time deliver to the Master Trustee for cancellation any
Notes previously authenticated and delivered hereunder which the Company may have acquired
in any manner whatsoever, and all Notes so delivered shall be promptly cancelled by the Master
Trustee. No Notes shall be authenticated in lieu of or in exchange for any Notes cancelled as
provided in this Section, except as expressly permitted by this Master Indenture. All cancelled
Notes held by the Master Trustee shall be disposed of according to the retention policies of the
Master Trustee.

Section 210. Security for Notes

(a) All Senior Notes issued and Outstanding under this Master Indenture are equally
and ratably secured by the pledge and assignment of a security interest in the Trust Estate pursuant
to the Granting Clauses of this Master Indenture. Any one or more series of Senior Notes issued
hereunder may be secured by additional and separate security (including without limitation letters
or lines of credit, property or security interests in debt service reserve funds or debt service,
purchase, construction or similar funds or guarantees of payment by third parties). Such security
need not extend to any other Senior Debt (including any other Notes or series of Notes) unless so
specified and may contain provisions not inconsistent with this Master Indenture which provide
for separate realization upon such security. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in
any Supplemental Master Indenture pursuant to which such Senior Note is issued, all Senior Notes
issued hereunder shall be equally and ratably secured by any lien created pursuant to or constituting
a part of the Trust Estate under this Master Indenture.

(b) All Subordinate Notes issued and Outstanding under this Master Indenture are
equally and ratably secured by a parity pledge and assignment of a security interest in the Trust
Estate pursuant to the Granting Clauses of this Master Indenture subordinate only to any Senior
Debt. Any one or more series of Subordinate Notes issued hereunder may be secured by additional
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and separate security (including without limitation letters or lines of credit, property or security
interests in debt service reserve funds or debt service, purchase, construction or similar funds or
guarantees of payment by third parties). Such security need not extend to any other Subordinate
Debt (including any other Notes or series of Notes) unless so specified and may contain provisions
not inconsistent with this Master Indenture which provide for separate realization upon such
security. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein or in any Supplemental Master Indenture
pursuant to which such Subordinate Note is issued, all Subordinate Notes issued hereunder shall
be equally and ratably secured by any subordinate lien created pursuant to or constituting a part of
the Trust Estate under this Master Indenture.

(c) To the extent that any Debt which is permitted to be issued pursuant to this Master
Indenture is not issued directly in the form of a Note, a Note may be issued hereunder and pledged
as security for the payment of such Debt in lieu of directly issuing such Debt as a Note hereunder.

Section 211. Mortgage. Pledge and Assignment; Further Assurances

(a) Subject only to the provisions of this Master Indenture permitting the application
thereof for the purposes and on the terms and conditions set forth herein and in order to secure the
payment of the Notes and the performance of the duties and obligations of the Company under the
Notes and this Master Indenture, the Company has pledged and assigned unto the Master Trustee
and its successors and assigns forever, and granted a security interest thereunto in, among other
things, all of the Pledged Revenues and any other amounts (including proceeds of the sale of
Bonds) held in the Revenue Fund to secure the payment of the principal of and interest on the
Notes in accordance with their terms and the provisions of this Master Indenture and the Leasehold
Mortgage. Said pledge shall constitute a lien on and security interest in such assets and shall
attach, be perfected and be valid and binding from and after delivery of the Notes, without any
physical delivery thereof or further act.

Upon the occurrence and continuance of an Event of Default, the Master Trustee
shall be entitled to, subject to its rights to be indemnified pursuant to Article VII, collect and
receive Pledged Revenues. The Master Trustee also shall be entitled to and shall (1) enforce the
terms, covenants and conditions of, and preserve and protect the priority of its interest in and under
this Master Indenture and any Leasehold Mortgage and (2) monitor compliance with all covenants,
agreements and conditions of the Company contained in this Master Indenture with respect to the
Pledged Revenues; provided that, without limiting the generality of any of the provisions of this
Master Indenture or the Leasehold Mortgage, the Master Trustee need not foreclose any Leasehold
Mortgage (or accept a deed in lieu of foreclosure or otherwise exercise remedies with respect to
the Mortgaged Property, as such term is defined in such Leasehold Mortgage) if the effect of any
such foreclosure (or acceptance of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, or other exercise of remedies with
respect to the Mortgaged Property) would be to cause the Master Trustee to: (i) incur financial
liability for any environmental contamination at or from the Mortgaged Property, (ii) risk its own
funds for the remediation of any such existing environmental contamination or (iii) require any
approval of a governmental regulator.
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(b) The Company shall, at its own expense, take all necessary action to maintain and
preserve lien upon and the security interest in the property granted by 